

Phenotypic screening for pharmacological compounds promoting p57kip2's protein nuclear shuttling and myelin repair

Inaugural dissertation

for the attainment of the title of doctor in the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences

at the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

presented by

Anastasia Manousi

from Kavala, Greece

Düsseldorf, April 2021

from the Laboratory for Neuroregeneration, Department of Neurology, Medical Faculty at the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

Published by permission of the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry

Co-supervisor: Prof. Dr. Markus Pauly

Date of the oral examination: 15.07.2021

To my family

"ἐὰν μὴ ἕλπηται ἀνέλπιστον οὐκ ἐξευρήσει, ἀνεξερεύνητον ἐὸν καὶ ἅπορον"

Ἡράκλειτος, Αρχαίος Ἐλληνας Φιλόσοφος 544-486 π.Χ.

"If you do not expect the unexpected you will not find it, for it is not to be reached by search or trail"

Heraclitus, Ancient Greek Philosopher 544-486 BC

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	SUI	MARY/ ZUSSAMMENFASSUNG	4
	1.1.	Summary	4
	1.2.	Zusammenfassung	5
2.	INT	RODUCTION	7
	2.1.	Cells of the nervous system	7
	2.1.	1. Neurons and glial cells in health and disease	7
	2.1.	2. Oligodendroglial cell characterization and origin	8
	2.1.	3. Migration, proliferation and differentiation of oligodendroglial cells	11
	2.1.	4. Prominent markers of oligodendroglial cell differentiation	13
	2.2.	Myelination	15
	2.2.	1. Myelin	15
	2.2.	2. Myelin formation	18
	2.3.	Demyelination and remyelination	20
	2.3.	1. Demyelination	20
	2.3.	2. Remyelination	21
	2.3.	3. Multiple sclerosis: a prominent demyelinating disease	25
	2.3. and	4. <i>Ex vivo</i> and <i>in vivo</i> experimental models for the study of demyelinat remyelination	
	2.4.	Intrinsic and extrinsic regulators of oligodendroglial cell differentiation	31
	2.4.	1. Extrinsic signals from other cell types	31
	2.4.	2. Regulatory role of the extracellular matrix	34
	2.4.	3. Other secreted regulatory signals	35
	2.4.	4. Opioids and nuclear receptors	37
	2.4.	5. Major regulatory pathways and metabolic control	39
	2.4.	6. Transcriptional control	43
	2.4.	7. Epigenetic control	44
	2.4.	8. p57kip2: a potent inhibitor of OPC differentiation	48
	2.5.	Development of therapeutic approaches for myelin repair	50
	2.5.	1. Oligodendrocyte and myelin plasticity	50
	2.5. diff	2. Phenotypical screenings for pharmacological modulation of OPC erentiation	51
	2.5.	3. Target-driven screenings and singe substance based studies	55
	2.6.	Aim of the study	57

3.	MATER	IALS AND METHODS	. 59			
3	3.1. Mat	erial	. 59			
	3.1.1.	Animals and human tissue	. 59			
	3.1.2.	Chemicals	. 59			
	3.1.2.1.	Reagents/buffers/chemicals	. 59			
	3.1.2.2.	Media for cell culture	. 61			
	3.1.2.3.	Commercial Assays	. 63			
	3.1.2.4.	Antibodies	. 63			
	3.1.3.	Culture flasks, plates, and dishes	. 65			
	3.1.4.	Material for in vivo experimentation and immunostaining	. 65			
	3.1.5.	Hardware and software	. 65			
	3.1.5.1.	Technical devices	. 65			
	3.1.5.2.	Software/algorithm	. 66			
3	3.2. Met	hods	. 66			
	3.2.1.1.	PDL Coating of culture dishes	. 66			
	3.2.1.2.	Preparation of rat oligodendroglial cell culture	. 67			
	3.2.1.3.	Immunocytochemistry for the rat oligodendroglial cells	. 69			
	3.2.1.4.	Chemical compound library screening	. 70			
	3.2.2.	Human fetal oligodendroglial cell culture	. 73			
	3.2.2.1.	Preparation of human fetal oligodendroglial cell culture	. 73			
	3.2.2.2.	Immunocytochemistry for the human fetal oligodendroglial cells	. 73			
	3.2.3.	Western blotting	. 74			
	3.2.4.	Organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices	. 78			
	3.2.4.1.	Preparation of organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices	. 78			
	3.2.4.2.	Immunohistochemistry for organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices	. 79			
	3.2.5.	Cuprizone-mediated demyelination and remyelination mouse model	. 80			
	3.2.6.	Statistical analysis	. 83			
4.	RESUL	۲S	. 85			
		enotypic screening for compounds that promote p57kip2's	05			
	-	oplasmic shuttling				
		condary screening resulted in identification of compounds that promote rentiation <i>in vitro</i>				
		ected hit compounds promote oligodendroglial cell differentiation in				
primary human fetal OPCs						
	4.4. Members of the benzimidazole class of compounds accelerate developmenta					
r	nyennatio	on ex vivo	.9/			

4.5. Parbendazole and danazol enhance remyelination <i>in vivo</i> . 100 4.6. Parbendazole treatment induces early activation of p38MAPK <i>in vitro</i> 103 5. DISCUSSION 105 5.1. Large scale screening for pharmacological compounds with the potential to promote p57kip2's nuclear exclusion and OPC differentiation 106 5.2. Translation to the human system 111 5.3. Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activities. 113 5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development 117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification 126 5.6. Conclusion 124 6. REFERENCES 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 189 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4. Negative results (unpublished data) 197 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202			
5. DISCUSSION 105 5.1. Large scale screening for pharmacological compounds with the potential to promote p57kip2's nuclear exclusion and OPC differentiation 106 5.2. Translation to the human system 111 5.3. Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activities. 113 5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development 117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification 120 5.6. Conclusion 124 6. REFERENCES 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 189 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.2. Secondary screening 196 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	4.5.	Parbendazole and danazol enhance remyelination in vivo	100
5.1. Large scale screening for pharmacological compounds with the potential to promote p57kip2's nuclear exclusion and OPC differentiation 106 5.2. Translation to the human system 111 5.3. Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activities. 113 5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development 117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification 120 5.6. Conclusion 124 6. REFERENCES 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 189 8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4. Negative results (unpublished data) 197 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	4.6.	Parbendazole treatment induces early activation of p38MAPK in vitro	103
promote p57kip2's nuclear exclusion and OPC differentiation 106 5.2. Translation to the human system 111 5.3. Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activities. 113 5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development 117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification 120 5.6. Conclusion 124 6. REFERENCES 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 188 8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	5. DIS	CUSSION	105
5.3. Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activities. 113 5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development 117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification			
5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development 117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification 124 6. Conclusion 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 197 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination	5.2.	Translation to the human system	111
117 5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification 120 5.6. Conclusion 124 6. REFERENCES 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 189 8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.2. Secondary screening 199 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	5.3.	Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activiti	i es . 113
5.6. Conclusion 124 6. REFERENCES 125 7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 189 8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.2. Secondary screening 199 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	5.4.		ment
6. REFERENCES1257. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS1898. ANNEX1938. ANNEX1938.1. Published research article1938.2. Manuscript in preparation1948.3. Full western blots1948.4. Negative results (unpublished data)1978.4.1. Validation of primary hits1978.4.2. Secondary screening1998.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination202	5.5.	Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification	120
7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 189 8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4. Negative results (unpublished data) 197 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.2. Secondary screening 199 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	5.6.	Conclusion	124
8. ANNEX 193 8.1. Published research article 193 8.2. Manuscript in preparation 194 8.3. Full western blots 194 8.4. Negative results (unpublished data) 197 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits 197 8.4.2. Secondary screening 199 8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination 202	6. RE	FERENCES	125
8.1.Published research article1938.2.Manuscript in preparation1948.3.Full western blots1948.4.Negative results (unpublished data)1978.4.1.Validation of primary hits1978.4.2.Secondary screening1998.4.3.Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination202	7. LIS	T OF ABBREVIATIONS	189
8.2.Manuscript in preparation1948.3.Full western blots1948.4.Negative results (unpublished data)1978.4.1.Validation of primary hits1978.4.2.Secondary screening1998.4.3.Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination202	8. AN	NEX	193
8.3. Full western blots1948.4. Negative results (unpublished data)1978.4.1. Validation of primary hits1978.4.2. Secondary screening1998.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination202	8.1.	Published research article	193
 8.4. Negative results (unpublished data)	8.2.	Manuscript in preparation	194
 8.4.1. Validation of primary hits	8.3.	Full western blots	194
 8.4.2. Secondary screening	8.4.	Negative results (unpublished data)	197
8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination	8.4.1.	Validation of primary hits	197
·····	8.4.2.	Secondary screening	199
	8.4.3.	Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination	202
9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	9. AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	203
10. DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP	10. D	ECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP	205

1. SUMMARY/ ZUSSAMMENFASSUNG

1.1. Summary

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is one of the most widespread and debilitating demyelinating diseases, mainly affecting young people. An altered immune attack leads to oligodendrocyte, the myelinating cells of the central nervous system (CNS), and myelin loss and eventually to neuronal death and permanent neurological deficits. A population of resident oligodendroglial precursor cells (OPCs) remains an undifferentiated state throughout adulthood. In response to injury or disease, these cells can differentiate to myelinating oligodendrocytes, thus contributing to myelin repair. However, the innate remyelination capacity of the CNS is inefficient and declines with disease progression or ageing, due to the presence of inhibitory signals or the absence of stimulatory cues. The currently used therapeutic approaches for MS are mostly immunomodulatory and lack regenerative properties. There is nonetheless a plethora of studies focusing on remyelination promoting therapies with many of them, especially during the past decade, unraveling pharmacological approaches with these properties. As the inefficient capacity of adult OPCs to differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes is the rate-limiting factor for remyelination, most studies attempt to promote this process. Despite the large number of the already suggested pharmacological compounds and the fact that some of them have already entered clinical trials, sufficient remyelination in MS patients is still an unmet need and deciphering the molecular mechanisms regulating oligodendroglial cell development is going to pave the way for efficient regenerative treatments.

In this regard, previous work from our research group shed light to the early inhibitory role of the nuclear localization of the protein p57kip2. Although, nuclear exclusion of the protein is associated with OPC differentiation in a way that is dependent on binding to protein partners, the exact mechanism is not yet known. In this study, the subcellular localization of the p57kip2 protein was used as readout to establish a phenotypic screening for pharmacological compounds with the potential to promote transition from the OPC stage to mature myelinating oligodendrocytes. Out of the 21 preliminary hits that emerged from this

screening, four exerted differentiation promoting effects in rat primary OPCs. Danazol, a steroid drug, and the benzimidazoles parbendazole and methiazole, induced similar effects in human fetal OPCs and promoted developmental myelination in rat cerebellar organotypic cultures. Interestingly, danazol and parbendazole also promoted spontaneous OPC differentiation and remyelination in the cuprizone-induced mouse model of demyelination. In summary, this study suggests that early and evolutionary conserved cellular processes involved in the process of differentiation are applicable for identification of regeneration promoting treatments. Specifically, using a novel differentiation competence marker, a few substances were found to promote oligodendroglial cell development, while parbendazole and danazol are suggested as promising therapeutic candidates for demyelinating diseases, such as MS.

1.2. Zusammenfassung

Multiple Sklerose (MS) ist eine der häufigsten und belastendsten demyelinisierenden Krankheiten, die vor allem junge Menschen betrifft. Ein veränderter Immunangriff führt zum Verlust von Oligodendrozyten, den myelinisierenden Zellen des zentralen Nervensystems (ZNS), und von Myelin und schließlich zum Zelltod von Neuronen und zu dauerhaften neurologischen Defiziten. Eine Population von residenten oligodendroglialen Vorläuferzellen (engl.: oligodendroglial precursor cells, OPCs) bleibt im gesamten Erwachsenenalter in einem undifferenzierten Zustand. Als Reaktion auf Verletzungen oder Erkrankungen können sich diese Zellen zu myelinisierenden Oligodendrozyten differenzieren und so zur Myelinreparatur beitragen. Der Grad der angeborenen Remyelinisierungskapazität des ZNS ist jedoch insgesamt ineffizient und nimmt mit dem Fortschreiten der Erkrankung oder mit dem Alter ab, da hemmende Signale vorhanden sind oder stimulierende Reize fehlen. Die derzeit verwendeten therapeutischen Ansätze für MS sind meist immunmodulatorisch und haben keine regenerativen Eigenschaften. Dennoch gibt es eine Vielzahl von Studien, die sich auf remyelinisierungsfördernde Therapien konzentrieren, wobei viele von ihnen, insbesondere im letzten Jahrzehnt, pharmakologische Ansätze mit eben diesen Eigenschaften hervorgebracht haben. Da die Fähigkeit der adulten OPCs, sich in reife

Oligodendrozyten zu differenzieren, unzureichend und somit der limitierende Faktor für die Remyelinisierung ist, zielen die meisten Studien darauf ab, eben diesen Prozess zu fördern. Trotz der großen Anzahl dieser vorgeschlagenen pharmakologischen Substanzen und der Tatsache, dass einige von ihnen bereits in klinische Studien eingetreten sind, ist eine ausreichende Remyelinisierung bei MS-Patienten immer noch ein ungedeckter Bedarf, und die Entschlüsselung der molekularen Mechanismen, die die oligodendrogliale Zellentwicklung regulieren, wird den Weg für effiziente regenerative Behandlungen ebnen.

In diesem Zusammenhang haben frühere Arbeiten unserer Forschungsgruppe die frühe inhibitorische Rolle der nukleären Lokalisierung des Proteins p57kip2 beleuchtet. Obwohl der nukleäre Ausschluss des Proteins mit der OPC-Differenzierung insofern verbunden ist, dass er von der Bindung an Proteinpartner abhängt, ist der genaue Mechanismus noch nicht bekannt. In dieser Studie wurde die subzelluläre Lokalisation des p57kip2-Proteins als Indikator verwendet, um ein phänotypisches Screening nach pharmakologischen Substanzen zu etablieren, die das Potenzial haben, den Übergang von OPCs zu reifen myelinisierenden Oligodendrozyten zu fördern. Von den 21 vorläufigen Treffern, die aus diesem Screening hervorgingen, übten vier differenzierungsfördernde Effekte auf primäre OPCs der Ratte aus. Danazol, ein Steroid-Medikament, und die Benzimidazole Parbendazol und Methiazol induzierten ähnliche Effekte in menschlichen fetalen OPCs und förderten die entwicklungsbedingte Myelinisierung in organotypischen Kleinhirnkulturen von Ratten. Interessanterweise förderten Danazol und Parbendazol auch die spontane OPC-Remyelinisierung Differenzierung und im Cuprizon-induzierten Mausmodell der Demyelinisierung. Zusammenfassend konnte in dieser Studie gezeigt werden, dass frühe und evolutionär konservierte zelluläre Prozesse, die in den Prozess der Differenzierung involviert sind, für die Identifizierung regenerationsfördernder Substanzen geeignet sind. Mit einem neuartigen Differenzierungskompetenzmarker konnten einige Substanzen identifiziert werden, die die Entwicklung oligodendroglialer Zellen fördern, während Parbendazol und Danazol als potente therapeutische Kandidaten für demyelinisierende Erkrankungen wie MS vorgeschlagen werden.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1. Cells of the nervous system

2.1.1. Neurons and glial cells in health and disease

Neurons and glial cells are the two major cell types of the vertebrate nervous system. Neuronal cells process and convey information via electrical and chemical signals (Rizo, 2018; Rutecki, 1992). While initially glial cells, also termed neuroglia, were considered to simply fill the space among neurons or to exert structural support, ideas originating from Rudolf Virchof, further work from descended neuroscientists like Santiago Ramon y Cajal and Pio del Rio-Hortega highlighted the cellular and functional properties of it, thus leading the way to an extended field of studies (Kettenmann & Verkhratsky, 2008). Nowadays we know that glial cells consist 50% of the cells in the human brain and they can reach up to 66.4% in other organisms (Azevedo et al., 2009; Herculano-Houzel, 2014). Neuroglia is divided into macroglia and microglia (Butt & Verkhratsky, 2018). The latter are cells of mesodermal/mesenchymal origin which constitute the innate immunity of the central nervous system (CNS), performing cell debris clearance both in development and adulthood, thus contributing to proper axonal development and survival, response to injury and disease and tissue repair (Ginhoux et al., 2013; Lima et al., 2010). Astrocytes along with oligodendrocytes, the myelinating cells of the CNS, are the major cell types belonging to macroglia, cells of neuroectodermal origin. Among their numerous functions, astrocytes are responsible for osmotic and neurotransmitter regulation, formation of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB), ion and energy homeostasis (Kimelberg, 2010; Kimelberg & Nedergaard, 2010; Verkhratsky & Nedergaard, 2018). Other cells of the CNS macroglia are ependymal cells, which line along the ventricular system and radial glia, multipotent progenitors that give rise both to neurons and astrocytes (Del Bigio, 1995; Howard et al., 2008). Only recently chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan NG2-positive cells were described as a distinct glial type of the CNS according to their diverse antigen repertoire (ffrench-Constant & Raff, 1986; Peters, 2004). NG2-glia belongs to the oligodendroglial cell lineage and keeps on giving rise to mature oligodendrocytes even throughout adulthood (Nishiyama et al., 2016). Schwann cells

and satellite cells are the macroglial types in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) that can be considered the counterparts of oligodendrocytes and astrocytes, respectively, in the periphery (Bhatheja & Field, 2006; Hanani, 2005).

Complex neuron-glial interactions are required for proper function of the nervous system. Pathologic conditions and ageing both in the CNS and the PNS can exert a direct or indirect negative impact on neurons (Conforti et al., 2014; Dugger & Dickson, 2017; Hughes, 2002; O'Shea et al., 2017; Whitesell, 2010), oligodendrocytes (will be discussed in chapter 2.3.1), astrocytes (Molofsky et al., 2012; Sofroniew & Vinters, 2010; Trujillo-Estrada et al., 2019), microglia (Colonna & Butovsky, 2017; Hickman et al., 2018; Norden & Godbout, 2013), and Schwann cells (Balakrishnan et al., 2020; Monk et al., 2015). Alterations in the functionality of each of these cell types induces perturbations in the neuron-glial network and the rest of the cell types are called to adapt their functions in order to correct the imbalance and reestablish homeostasis. The following chapters will focus on oligodendroglial cell development and functions, as well as the molecular and cellular signals that regulate their biology both in health and disease. This information is important for the understanding of oligodendrocyte related pathologies and the successful development of corresponding therapies.

2.1.2. Oligodendroglial cell characterization and origin

Oligodendrocytes produce myelin sheaths which then enwrap axonal segments, thus facilitating rapid action potential propagation and trophic support, while at the same time they preserve axonal integrity (Bunge, 1968; Dupree et al., 2004; Nave, 2010a, 2010b; Wilkins et al., 2001). Mature myelinating oligodendrocytes extent several processes, each of which repeatedly enwraps single axonal segments (internodes) in a concentric way to form a multispiral myelin sheath. The unmyelinated segments between the internodes are called nodes of Ranvier and each axon is being myelinated by several oligodendrocytes (Bunge et al., 1962; Bunge, 1968). The number of processes of a single oligodendrocyte which can myelinate varies from one to forty according to the location in the CNS and the species (Bjartmar et al., 1994; Bunge et al., 1961; Peters et al., 1991). Oligodendrocytes have been

assigned to four categories according to their size and the thickness of myelin they produce. The first category consists of the smallest cells which produce short and thin myelin and they can usually myelinate up to fifteen to thirty axons, while in the fourth category belong the largest cells which myelinate one to three axons with long and thick myelin sheaths (Butt et al., 1995). Oligodendroglial cell heterogeneity is also reflected by differences in their cytoplasmic densities and the degree of chromatin compaction. In this regard, electron microscopy enabled identification of light, medium and dark types of oligodendrocytes (Mori & Leblond, 1970).

Oligodendroglial precursor cells (OPCs) arise through sequential waves both in the vertebrate spinal cord and brain and they migrate until they reach their final destination, where they exit cell cycle and differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes [reviewed in (Bergles & Richardson, 2015)]. Cells positive for early oligodendroglial markers (OLIG2, Sox10, PDGFRa) are first detected in ventral ventricular germinal zones (VZ) of the spinal cord and brain. This event takes place around the embryonic day 12.5 (E12.5) in mice, E14 in rats and E45 in humans (Hajihosseini et al., 1996; Orentas & Miller, 1996; Pringle & Richardson, 1993; Timsit et al., 1995; Warf et al., 1991). During spinal cord development OPCs from the ventral neuroepithilium of the neural tube and specifically from the motor neuron progenitor domain (pMN) migrate throughout the spinal cord. Later, a second wave of OPCs derives from the dorsal spinal cord and migrates from the central canal to the pial surface (Cai et al., 2005; Fogarty et al., 2005; Tripathi et al., 2011; Vallstedt et al., 2005). Dorsally derived OPCs do not migrate as much as the ventrally derived ones. They populate the dorsal part of spinal cord to eventually replace their ventrally derived counterparts and they consist 20% of the total OPC population in the mouse spinal cord (Tripathi et al., 2011). A third wave occurs around birth and consists of expansion of the OPCs from the other waves and new ones from the central canal parenchyma, reviewed in (Rowitch & Kriegstein, 2010).

Similarly, in the forebrain, OPCs from the ventral VZ of the medial ganglionic eminence (MGE) and anterior entopeduncular area (AEP) populate the entire developing telencephalon (embryonic developmental stage of the forebrain) including the cerebral cortex (Kessaris et al., 2006). This first wave is followed by a second dorsal one from the lateral and/or caudal ganglionic eminence (LGE and CGE) which moves dorsally to the cortex. A third wave arises within the early postnatal brain starting from the dorsal and outer subventricular zone (SVZ) to populate mainly the corpus callosum and in part the overlying cortex (Kessaris et al., 2006). Postnatally, ventrally derived OPCs are gradually eliminated in forebrain. The adult mouse brain is eventually mainly populated by OPCs derived from the SVZ and only 20% from the LGE (Tripathi et al., 2011).

The first wave of cerebellar OPCs stems from the metencephalic ventral rhombomere 1 region and migrates towards the cerebellum where it expands to populate the whole region, thus constituting the main pool of OPCs (Grimaldi et al., 2009; Hashimoto et al., 2016). A second local wave is generated around the cerebellar ventricular zone and it contributes only by 6% to the total population (Hashimoto et al., 2016). Finally, after birth neuroepithelial regions around the fourth ventricle may constitute source of cerebellar OPCs (Reynolds & Wilkin, 1988; Zhang & Goldman, 1996).

Specification of OPCs in the pMN progenitor domain is directed via the Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signaling from the notochord and the floor plate at the ventral midline which drives OLIG1 and OLIG2 transcription under the control of Nkx6.1 and Nkx6.2 (Agius et al., 2004; Cai et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2000; Orentas & Miller, 1996; Poncet et al., 1996; Vallstedt et al., 2005). The second wave of OPCs in the spinal cord is Shh independent and is regulated by the transcription factors Dbx1 and Ascl1, while reduction of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) and regulation by fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling are also required (Fogarty et al., 2005; Mekki-Dauriac et al., 2002; Miller et al., 2004; Sugimori et al., 2008). The Notch signaling also collaborates with the Shh signaling for OPC specification (Kim et al., 2008; Park & Appel, 2003; Rabadán et al., 2012). In forebrain, Shh is expressed by precursor/stem

cells of the MGE and LGE to induce OPC production under the transcriptional control of Nkx2.1 and migration throughout the forebrain (Nery et al., 2001; Tekki-Kessaris et al., 2001). OPC specification of the second and third waves of production in the brain is regulated by the transcriptional factors Gsx2 and Emx1, respectively (Chapman et al., 2013; Kessaris et al., 2006). Wnt signals also influence OPC generation in the telencephalon (Langseth et al., 2010). In addition, collaboration between Shh and FGF signaling pathways is considered prerequisite for OPC specification in ventral telencephalon (Furusho et al., 2011; Kessaris et al., 2004).

2.1.3. Migration, proliferation and differentiation of oligodendroglial cells

Migrating OPCs are proliferative cells which are seeking for their final destination under the guidance of various extrinsic signals (Cohen, 2005; de Castro & Bribián, 2005; R. H. Miller et al., 1997; Pfeiffer et al., 1993). OPC migration is regulated by growth factors and morphogens like FGF-2, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-AA) or Shh and chemokines, like CXCL12, secreted by neurons and astrocytes. These chemotropic signals interact with molecules from the extracellular matrix (ECM) to exert motogenic effects. In addition, adhesion and contact molecules presented in the surfaces of neuronal axons and astrocytes, as well as in the ECM, interact with each other to regulate OPC adhesion. OPCs respond to extrinsic guidance according to their repertoire of receptors which are dynamically expressed during oligodendroglial development, reviewed in (de Castro et al., 2013). Migration and proliferation together constitute the recruitment of OPCs and as they are mainly concomitant events it is not a surprise that both processes share several similar regulatory mechanisms (Gard & Pfeiffer, 1990; Gard & Pfeiffer, 1993; Merchán et al., 2007). Neuronal activity is a crucial regulator of OPC proliferation (Barres & Raff, 1993). Most of the signals that promote OPC proliferation inhibit differentiation and support survival, thus fine-tuning oligodendroglial cell development (Baron et al., 2005; Canoll et al., 1996; Cui et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2007), reviewed in (Mitew et al., 2014). Once they reach their destination in the developing brain, OPCs expand to reach a homeostatic balance of their numbers and then they become less motile, exit the cell cycle and differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes which share similar morphology, express myelin markers and have the potential to form myelin sheaths (Hughes et al., 2013), reviewed in (Baumann & Pham-Dinh, 2001). Cell cycle exit requires the cell cycle inhibitor p27kip1 and transcriptional repression of c-myc and e2f1 (Casaccia-Bonnefil et al., 1999; Larocque et al., 2005).

The oligodendroglial lineage is characterized by ubiquitously expressed markers with specific roles in the development, namely OLIG1 and 2, Sox10, Nkx2.2 (Emery, 2010). OLIG1 and OLIG2 are two related transcription factors with the first one playing a role in OPC differentiation in brain but not in spinal cord and the second one being essential for OPC specification (Dai et al., 2015; Rowitch, 2004; Xin et al., 2005; Zhou & Anderson, 2002). Sox10 is essential for OPC specification and differentiation and Nkx2.2 regulates the timing of differentiation (Kuhlbrodt et al., 1998; Pozniak et al., 2010; Qi et al., 2001; Stolt et al., 2004; Stolt et al., 2002; Zhu et al., 2014). Each stage of the oligodendroglial cell development can be defined by dynamic expression of numerous stage-specific markers and concomitant morphological changes [Fig. 1; reviewed in (Baumann & Pham-Dinh, 2001)]. Newly generated OPCs, are characterized by almost absolute absence of cell processes and expression of DM-20 mRNA, a splice variant of the proteolipid protein (PLP), the embryonic polysialylated form of neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), namely PSA-NCAM, PDGFRa and they still express the neuroepithelial stem cell marker nestin (Gallo & Armstrong, 1995; Grinspan & Franceschini, 1995; Lendahl et al., 1990; Pringle & Richardson, 1993; Timsit et al., 1995). Once committed to the oligodendroglial lineage, cells acquire a bipolar shape and do not express PSA-NCAM and nestin anymore, but surface antigens specific for the A2B5 antibody (Raff et al., 1984). These cells are called oligodendrocyte-type-2 astrocyte (O-2A) progenitor cells because they not only give rise to oligodendrocytes, but also to astrocytes under specific conditions (Hardy & Reynolds, 1991; Hughes et al., 1988; Noble et al., 1988; Raff, 1989; Raff et al., 1983). Progenitor cells also express the gangliosides chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan type 4 (CSPG4 or NG2) and GD3 (Chang et al., 2000; Dawson et al., 2000; Hardy & Reynolds, 1991; Levine et al., 2001). Pre-oligodendrocytes extent more processes and are defined by additional expression of the surface lipid sulfatide, recognized by the O4 antibody and 2'3'-cyclic nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (CNP) (Braun et al., 1988; Sommer & Schachner, 1981). Maturing oligodendrocytes contact neuronal axons and express mature oligodendroglial markers including adenomatous polyposis coli protein (APC) clone CC1, glutathione-S-transferase pi cytoplasmic isoform (GST-pi) (Bhat et al., 1996; Tansey & Cammer, 1991) and myelin markers like the membrane marker galactocerebroside (GalC), myelin basic protein (MBP), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), and myelin proteolipid protein (PLP) while they are becoming capable of producing functional myelin sheaths (Brunner et al., 1989; Linnington et al., 1984; Michalski et al., 2011; Raff et al., 1978; Timsit et al., 1995; Trapp, 1990).





2.1.4. Prominent markers of oligodendroglial cell differentiation

MBP is one of the most abundant membrane associated proteins representing 30% of the protein content in the CNS myelin and is expressed in numerous isoforms which are generated by alternative splicing (de Ferra et al., 1985; Nakajima et al., 1993; Zeller et al.,

1984). Deletion of the *mpb* gene, revealed implication of the protein in myelin compaction, a function which is most likely attributed to its positively charged residues and its interaction with the acidic lipids located in the opposing membrane (Cheifetz & Moscarello, 1985; Ding & Brunden, 1994; Roach et al., 1985). Low MBP expression levels are detected in immature cells, whereas these levels are increasing significantly during maturation, emphasizing its important role for the process of myelination (Baumann & Pham-Dinh, 2001; Dubois-Dalcq et al., 1986; Monge et al., 1986).

PLP is the most abundant myelin protein and contributes to physical stability of the myelin sheath via stabilization of the membrane junction upon myelin compaction (Boison et al., 1995; Klugmann et al., 1997). PLP and its isoform DM-20 are encoded by the same gene, formed by alternative splicing, and constitute 50% of the protein content in CNS myelin (Eng et al., 1968; Lees & Brostoff, 1984; Morello et al., 1986; Nave et al., 1987). Their expression starts early in development with DM-20 mRNA proceeding PLP, thus suggesting additional roles in migration and differentiation (Hudson, 2004). PLP interacts with molecules involved in vesicular transport and with integrins to modulate protein transfer in endoplasmic reticulum, abnormal protein elimination and interactions with the extracellular matrix (Gow & Lazzarini, 1996; Gudz et al., 2002; Yamaguchi et al., 1990).

APC (clone CC1) protein expression is detected in the cytoplasm of mature oligodendrocytes and regulates OPC differentiation in a Wnt/β-catenin signaling-dependent manner but also with additional β-catenin-independent mechanisms (Bhat et al., 1996; Lang et al., 2013). Significant indications suggest that APC regulates oligodendroglial cell differentiation via remodeling of the cytoskeleton (Lang et al., 2013; Näthke, 2006). APC expression is much higher in neurons than in mature oligodendrocytes and studies have shown that the CC1 antibody actually binds an epitope different than APC (Bhat et al., 1996; Brakeman et al., 1999; Lang et al., 2013). Recently was shown that the CC1 antibody, one of the most common tools to detect mature oligodendrocytes, binds a specific isoform of the RNA-

binding protein Quaking (QKI)7, which is enriched in myelinating oligodendrocytes (Bin et al., 2016).

Glutathione-S-transferases (GSTs) constitute a family of enzymes with many functions, including cellular detoxification. Cytosolic GSTs are assigned into five classes (alpha, mu, pi, sigma, theta), according to their structure and substrate specificity (Buetler & Eaton, 1992; Mannervik et al., 1985; Meyer et al., 1991). GST-pi isoform was initially described to be detected in the cytoplasm of mature oligodendrocytes and is a broadly used marker for this developmental stage (Tansey & Cammer, 1991). Analysis of the adult rat cerebral cortex showed that the intracellular localization of GST-pi can vary according to the differentiation state of the cell, with the nuclear localization being associated with progenitor stages and cytoplasmic with differentiated cells (Tamura et al., 2007).

The lysosomal galactocerebrosidase (GALC) enzyme catalyzes among others digestion of galactocerebroside, the major glycolipid in myelin, both in oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells (Kondo et al., 2005; Suzuki & Suzuki, 1970). Galactocerebroside (CG) has been described and is widely used as cell-surface marker for mature myelinating oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells (Cui et al., 2010; Raff et al., 1978; Ranscht et al., 1982).

2.2. Myelination

2.2.1. Myelin

The myelin sheath is an extension of myelinating cell plasma membrane that enwraps axonal segments in a concentric manner (Raine, 1984). Myelin sheaths wrap around axons forming the so-called internodes, in a form of alternating concentric layers consisting of compact and non-compact myelin [Fig. 2; (Bunge et al., 1962; Peters, 1964), reviewed in (Baumann & Pham-Dinh, 2001)]. Myelin membrane has a unique composition, low water content (40%), richness in lipids (70-85%) and low protein proportion (15-30%) that differentiates it from other biological membranes and ensures insulating properties, reviewed in (Rasband & Macklin, 2012). Cholesterol, phospholipids and galactolipids are the major lipids in CNS myelin and their content varies between 4:3:2 and 4:2:2, reviewed in (Rasband & Macklin,

2012). PLP and MBP, as mentioned above, are the main myelin proteins in the CNS, both exerting among others, stabilizing properties. PLP presumably forms "zipper-like" structures once myelin compaction is completed, while MBP locates in the cytoplasmic surface and stabilizes the major dense lines via dimer formation and interaction with negatively charged lipids (Boison et al., 1995; Klugmann et al., 1997; Privat et al., 1979; Roach et al., 1985), reviewed in (Rasband & Macklin, 2012). CNP is another prominent myelin protein which is concentrated in the cytoplasm of non-compact myelin but in close contact to the membrane surfaces and regulates extension and compaction of the myelin sheath (Barradas et al., 2000). MAG is also a non-compact myelin associated protein, localized specifically in the periaxonal myelin membranes, and is involved in adhesion and signaling between myelinforming cells and axolemma (Li et al., 1994; Montag et al., 1994; Trapp & Quarles, 1982). MOG protein is localized on the outer surface of the sheaths and most likely participates in signal transduction (Taylor et al., 2004; Trapp et al., 1989).

Most of the internode is comprised of compact myelin which contains closely apposed plasma membranes and lacks cytoplasm. Internodal regions are visualized via electron microscopy as a series of alternating dark (major dense lines) and less-dark lines (intraperiod lines) which respectively represent the fused cytosolic protein layers of the cell membrane, emerged due to the lack of cytoplasm, and the outer protein layers, that are in close apposition but not fused with the neighboring membrane. Major dense lines and intraperiod lines are separated by unstained zones which correspond to lipid hydrocarbon chains, reviewed in (Rasband & Macklin, 2012).

Under the compact myelin are arranged the juxtaparanodal regions which are essential for the clustering of ion channels (Peles & Salzer, 2000; Rasband & Shrager, 2000). At the paranodal region, myelin is not compacted and contains cytoplasm as continuum of the cell body cytoplasm. At the lateral terminations of the internode, flanking cytoplasm containing membrane loops, called paranodal loops, form membrane complexes with the axonal membrane, the so-called transverse lines (Hirano & Dembitzer, 1982; Ichimura & Ellisman,

1991; Poliak & Peles, 2003). Another characteristic structure of the myelin sheath which contains cytoplasm is called Schmidt-Lantermann clefts. These clefts are located in the intermodal region and they are rare in the CNS but common in the periphery (Hall & Williams, 1970; Rasband & Macklin, 2012).



Figure 2. Simplified illustration of two axons myelinated by the same oligodendrocyte. Myelin sheaths enwrap axonal segments in a concentric way forming internodes, which are separated by unmyelinated segments, called the nodes of Ranvier. The central part of the internode consists of compact myelin which contains closely apposed plasma membranes and lacks cytoplasm. Laterally located structures called juxtaparanode and paranode regions consist of compacted and uncompacted myelin, respectively, and they play a role in ion channel clustering and oligodendrocyte-neuron interactions.

Along myelinated axons, adjacent internodes are separated by unmyelinated axonal segments, the nodes of Ranvier [Fig. 2; (Bunge, 1968)]. In these nodes a high density of voltage-gated Na⁺ channels, Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, Ca²⁺ ATPase and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchangers are

clustered to mediate generation of action potentials, reviewed in (Waxman & Ritchie, 1993). Fast K⁺ channels, responsible for re-excitation following an action potential are accumulated in the internodal and paranodal axolemma, underneath the myelin sheath, while slow K⁺ channels, which modulate repetitive firing are located in the nodal axolemma, reviewed in (Waxman & Ritchie, 1993). Both via the insulating properties of its composition and the segmental formation which leads to clustering of the ion channels, myelin enables saltatory neuronal signal transduction. Electrical pulses are jumping from node to node, instead of progressing along the whole axon, thus increasing the conduction velocity 10 to 100-fold faster as compared to unmyelinated axons and reducing the energy demand (Hartline & Colman, 2007; Huxley & Stämpeli, 1949; Waxman, 1977, 1980).

2.2.2. Myelin formation

Several models have been proposed in attempt to explain how myelin sheaths are enwrapping axonal segments, reviewed in (Rosenbluth, 1999). The basis of the currently accepted model has been proposed already in 1954 and suggested that Schwann cell plasma membrane is extended as inner tongue, forms contact to the axon and expands laterally down to the axonal segment to form paranodal loops (Geren & Schmitt, 1954). Recently, combination of life cell imaging with 3D reconstruction led to the confirmation of this model. According to the model of "liquid croissant" and the work from Snaidero et al., upon conduct to the axon, oligodendroglial processes extend into a triangular shape and the inner tongue is wrapping around the axonal segment, while being in contact to the outer tongue, to form compact myelin. As soon as the myelin wrapping is sufficient, the cytoplasmic channels which allow communication between the inner and outer tongue are closing and myelination is terminated (Snaidero et al., 2014; Sobottka et al., 2012).

Myelination is a fine-tuned and restricted in terms of time and space process, which is regulated by several signals, reviewed in (Mitew et al., 2014; Nave & Werner, 2014). Axon ensheathment has four crucial steps a) selection of axon and initiation of cell-cell interactions b) establishment of stable contact and assembly of the nodes of Ranvier, c) regulation of

myelin thickness, d) longitudinal extension of myelin sheaths in response to axonal growth during postnatal life, reviewed in (Sherman & Brophy, 2005). Once differentiation has been completed oligodendrocytes have a narrow window of time to detect adjacent axonal segments and select which ones to myelinate. This time varies from five hours in the developmental zebrafish to 12 hours in myelinating co-cultures of rodent origin (Czopka et al., 2013; Watkins et al., 2008). *In vivo* time-lapse studies in zebrafish showed that oligodendrocytes dynamically extent and retract their processes towards adjacent neurons until they reach their final destination (Kirby et al., 2006). Sensing neighboring cells allows them to form myelin segments uniformly to ensure nodal regions of even length (Simons & Trotter, 2007).

Neuronal signals can negatively influence myelination, as for example the neuronal PSA-NCAM and LINGO-1 (leucine-rich repeat and Ig domain-containing, Nogo receptorinteracting protein), the latter of which upon binding to its NOGO receptor inhibits both myelination and process outgrowth (Decker et al., 2000; Fewou et al., 2007; Mi et al., 2005). On the other hand, neuronally produced laminin-a2 upon binding to β1 integrin receptors on oligodendrocytes promotes process extension (Colognato et al., 2002; Hu et al., 2009; Morissette & Carbonetto, 1995) and regulates myelin thickness, thus acting as positive regulator of myelination (Barros et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2006). Activation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) and Raf-MEK-ERK pathways act as additional positive regulatory signals for myelin thickness (Flores et al., 2008; Ishii et al., 2013). Myelination is also dependent on the density of OPCs (Rosenberg et al., 2008), oligodendrocyte Ca⁺² concentration (Baraban et al., 2018), neuronal electrical activity (Gibson et al., 2014), astrocytic (Back et al., 2005; Hammond et al., 2014) and microglial/macrophage signals (Miron et al., 2013; Ruckh et al., 2012; Yuen et al., 2013). Although extrinsic signals, mostly derived from neuronal axons, tightly regulate myelin sheath formation, using microfibers Bechler et al. showed that oligodendrocytes can self-regulate formation of compact myelin and the length of the sheaths according to the axon caliber and their regional origin (Bechler et al., 2015).

2.3. Demyelination and remyelination

2.3.1. Demyelination

Demyelination is a pathological condition in which myelin sheaths covering axonal segments are lost either as consequence of an attack targeting oligodendrocytes, known as primary demyelination, or as secondary effect upon axonal injury or loss (Wallerian degeneration) (Qin et al., 2012; Traka et al., 2016; Valk & van der Knaap, 1989). Myelin destruction can be caused by several causes, including genetic mutations, toxicity, infections, or immune insult, reviewed in (Deber & Reynolds, 1991; Ludwin, 1997). Persistent demyelination leads to oligodendrocyte apoptosis, impaired saltatory nerve pulse conduction and prolonged refractory period, neurodegeneration and astrogliosis (Becher et al., 2006; Ferguson et al., 1997; Hemmer et al., 2002; Holley et al., 2003; Trapp et al., 1998). In response to demyelination, axons redistribute sodium channels along the axolemma resulting in excess of sodium influx into the axon. As demyelinated axons are bioenergetically challenged, their survival and the maintenance of the action potential are heavily dependent on the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. When ATP is not sufficient, calcium is accumulated and leads to activation of calcium dependent proteases and degeneration (Waxman, 2006). In general, imbalance between energy demand and generation of ATP leads to axonal loss both in acute and chronic demyelination, reviewed in (Mahad et al., 2015; Trapp & Stys, 2009). Increased mitochondrial activity in neurons is an innate neuroprotective mechanism in response to demyelination (Licht-Mayer et al., 2020; Mahad et al., 2015; Mahad et al., 2009; Mutsaers & Carroll, 1998). Despite the innate neuroprotective mechanisms, due to the deep axonal dependence to myelin in terms of preservation of integrity and trophic support and the importance of saltatory way of nerve conduction, normal conduction velocity, electrophysiological functions and energetic balance can only be restored via reestablishment of the myelin sheath (Nave, 2010a, 2010b).

As mentioned, myelin loss can be caused by a significant number of heterogeneous pathological conditions, reviewed in (Bercury & Macklin, 2015; Kremer et al., 2016a; Love, 2006). Inflammatory diseases such as multiple sclerosis (MS), reviewed in (Höftberger &

Lassmann, 2018), leukodystropathies including Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease (Garbern, 2007), reviewed in (Bonkowsky et al., 2010), psychiatric disorders like schizophrenia (Flynn et al., 2003; Tkachev et al., 2003), reviewed in (Haroutunian et al., 2014; Nave & Ehrenreich, 2014), developmental disorders including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Wu et al., 2014) and Down syndrome (Fenoll et al., 2017; Reiche et al., 2021), and neurodegenerative disorders like Alzheimer's, Parkinson's and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Defrancesco et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2013; Philips et al., 2013) have been associated with oligodendrocyte dysfunctions and demyelination.

2.3.2. Remyelination

Although CNS is not considered to acquire much regenerative potential, upon oligodendrocyte injury and demyelination a naturally occurring process, called remyelination, takes place leading to re-establishment of myelin sheaths and subsequent enwrapping of the demyelinated axons (Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2008, 2017). Remyelination prevents neurodegeneration, sustains metabolic support, and restores rapid nerve conduction (Duncan et al., 2009; Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2017; Irvine & Blakemore, 2008; Kornek et al., 2000; Mei et al., 2016b; Smith et al., 1979; Smith & Koles, 1970). The latter is dependent both on the thickness of the newly formed myelin sheath and re-arrangement of sodium channels in the node of Ranvier, which takes place during remyelination even earlier than the myelin repair [Fig. 3; (Coman et al., 2005; Smith & Koles, 1970)].





Remyelination in the CNS is mainly mediated by a resident NG2-positive oligodendroglial projenitor cell population which remains an undifferentiated state throughout adulthood and contributes to myelin maintenance and repair in case of disease or injury (Dawson et al., 2003; Nishiyama et al., 2016; Nishiyama et al., 2009). Often in the literature these cells are equated with precursor cells, therefore for simplicity reasons they will be referred to as OPCs throughout this thesis. Adult OPCs are distributed widely throughout both white and gray matter, comprise approximately 5% of the cells in the CNS and are characterized by slower

motility, poorer survival, and a prolonged cell cycle in comparison to developmental OPCs (Duncan et al., 2009). NG2-positive cells are mostly committed to the oligodendroglial cell lineage, thus contributing to re-establishment of the myelin sheath, however they have been associated with generation of astrocytes and neurons, as well (Kang et al., 2010; Kondo & Raff, 2000; Rivers et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2008). Interestingly, it is also known that adult OPCs can give rise even to Schwann cells which can contribute to CNS myelin repair (Zawadzka et al., 2010). The determination of their fate is not yet well understood, therefore more delicate studies are required for this purposed, reviewed in (Nishiyama et al., 2016).

Remyelination, like myelination, is a fine-tuned process with distinguishable phases which are regulated by a plethora of factors, reviewed in (Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2017; Taveggia et al., 2010). Adult OPCs are dispersed in the brain and they extend filopodia to detect perturbations, each of them conveying surveillance of its own territory (Hughes et al., 2013). Once they are activated, in response to injury, the recruitment phase initiates. Specifically, they re-enter the cell cycle to rapidly proliferate and then migrate to populate the site of the lesion where they eventually differentiate to myelinating oligodendrocytes (Kang et al., 2010; Moyon et al., 2015; Simon et al., 2011). Glial cells of the injured region secrete migration promoting and mitogenic signals, which induce differential gene expression in OPCs that leads to their activation (Fancy et al., 2004; Watanabe et al., 2004). Chemokine and cytokine release stimulate proliferation and migration, as well as differentiation and initiation of myelination (Arnett et al., 2001; Fok-Seang et al., 1998; Maysami et al., 2006; Vela et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2006). Moreover, microglia/macrophage-mediated myelin debris clearance along with immune cell- and astrocyte-mediated growth factor release, positively affect OPC differentiation and remyelination (Döring et al., 2015; Kotter et al., 2006).

Whether pre-existing mature oligodendrocytes can also contribute to myelin repair is not yet clear, however for years it was thought that this is not the case, a notion based on genetic fate mapping studies which showed that these cells are post-mitotic, not motile and they fail

to remyelinate upon transplantation into lesion (Crawford et al., 2016; Targett et al., 1996). Moreover, it was shown that although pre-existing oligodendrocytes re-extent processes towards the axons upon injury, functional ensheathment does not take place (Keirstead & Blakemore, 1997). This notion was recently brought into question first by Duncan et al. who showed connections between pre-existing oligodendrocytes both with myelinated and remyelinated axons, using rodent and non-human primate models (Duncan et al., 2018). One year later Yeung et al., provided more evidence supporting those findings via measurements of ¹⁴C integration levels in the genomic DNA (Yeung et al., 2019).

Despite the regenerative potential of the CNS, neurodegeneration can be detected despite remyelination, which is a phenomenon that intensifies with age (Hampton et al., 2012; Irvine & Blakemore, 2006; Lindner et al., 2009; Shields et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 2006). In addition, myelin sheath thickness upon remyelination is always thinner compared to sheaths emerged during myelination and according to computational studies the velocity of nerve pulse conduction cannot completely reach the normal levels (Gupta et al., 2004; Smith & Koles, 1970). Several studies addressing every phase of remyelination have attempted to explain the reasons for its failure and the relation to ageing. Regarding OPC availability, there are no available data indicating that adult OPC density declines with ageing (Doucette et al., 2010; Sim et al., 2002). In addition, it was shown that increasing the OPC numbers in focal demyelination mouse models does not enhance the remyelination capacity (Woodruff et al., 2004). Insufficient OPC migration into demyelinated sites was shown to cause delayed remyelination both in MS (see next chapter) and mouse models (Boyd et al., 2013). Changes in the lesion environment, as for example an increase in secreted signals from reactive astrocytes, can inhibit OPC migration (Omari et al., 2006; Sobel, 2005). In fact, it was postulated that astrocytes in the lesion impede the rate of remyelination via inhibition of process extension and migration (Fok-Seang et al., 1998). However, there are other studies which suggest that the presence of astrocytes in the lesion is necessary for remyelination to take place, and that they secrete factors which positively regulate this process (Ishibashi et al., 2006; Talbott et al., 2005). OPC activation is also regulated by the rate of inflammation

and myelin breakdown in the lesion (Chari et al., 2006; Franklin & Kotter, 2008). Moreover, recently was shown that proliferation is a prerequisite for differentiation of adult OPCs (Foerster et al., 2020). Finally, also factors that influence the myelin sheath thickness and length have attracted the scientific interest and studies have been developed towards the optimization of the process (Baraban et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2013; Mitew et al., 2014). All these studies prove that every stage of remyelination is dependent on regulatory mechanisms and can become a potential therapeutic target. However, the most prevailed postulation is that adult OPC differentiation is the rate-limiting phase of the process and the most potent target for the development of myelin repair treatments. This suggestion is supported both by studies using agents that promote OPC differentiation with recurrent enhancement of remyelinated lesions in MS patients possess sufficient numbers of OPCs which are likely arrested in an undifferentiated state (Chang et al., 2002; J. Huang et al., 2011; Kuhlmann et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2020; Wolswijk, 1998).

2.3.3. Multiple sclerosis: a prominent demyelinating disease

Multiple sclerosis is the most commonly occurring autoimmune demyelinating disease of the CNS, causing neurological deficits associated with both motoric and cognitive dysfunctions (Noseworthy, 1999; Weiner, 2004). Mostly affected are young adults aged between twentyand forty-years and the ratio of incidence between men and women is 1:2 (Koch-Henriksen & Sørensen, 2010; Kurtzke, 2000). The etiology of MS is complex and still not completely understood; however, prevalence and migration data clearly show that environmental influences play a role (Kurtzke, 2000; Pugliatti et al., 2002; Rosati, 2001). Viral infections have also been suggested to trigger MS development with Epstein-Barr virus and human herpesvirus 6 to be the most consistently implicated ones (Álvarez-Lafuente et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 2004). In addition, there is growing evidence of implication of human endogenous retroviruses of the HERV-W family both in MS and oligodendroglial cell development (Göttle et al., 2019; Kremer et al., 2019a; Kremer et al., 2013; Morris et al., 2019). Viral attacks likely act as MS co-factors either via an induction of an immune

response, which targets myelin, thus exposing myelin antigens, or via molecular mimicry between viral and myelin antigens (Virtanen & Jacobson, 2012). Genetic factors lead to a higher incidence among siblings and especially identical twins, while the major histocompatibility complex gene on chromosome 6p21 and the human leucocyte-antigen-DR2 allele have been suggested to be implicated (Barcellos & Thomson, 2003; The Multiple Sclerosis Genetics et al., 2002).

Most commonly, initial MS development is characterized by alternating relapses and phases of recovery, a disease form called relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS). Approximately 60-70% of those patients will develop later during the disease course secondary progressive MS (SPMS), which constitutes a progressive worsening of the symptoms. About 10% of the MS patients develop a similar disease course already during early stages, namely primary progressive MS (PPMS) (Dutta & Trapp, 2014; Hauser & Oksenberg, 2006; Trapp & Nave, 2008).

Tissue injury in MS is caused by an altered immune response, which initially is characterized by activation of autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells in the periphery and their migration to the CNS (Frohman et al., 2006), reviewed in (Lassmann, 2014). Release of pro-inflammatory cytokines by activated lymphocytes leads to activation of infiltrated cytotoxic CD8⁺ cells, production of antibodies and activation of microglia and macrophages, all of which target oligodendrocytes and myelin proteins (Coleman, 2005; Lassmann et al., 2007; Lucchinetti et al., 2000; Neumann et al., 2002; O'Loughlin et al., 2018; Trapp & Stys, 2009). As disease progresses, mechanisms like mitochondrial injury amplify oxidative stress (Murphy, 2009). Concomitant progressive axonal degeneration and oligodendrocyte loss lead to further activation of microglia, which exhibits cytotoxicity upon exposure to pro-inflammatory cytokines (O'Loughlin et al., 2018). Eventually, inflammation leads to activation of astrocytes and subsequent decrease in toxin clearance from the ECM, loss of trophic support to oligodendrocytes and neurons and additional production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the CNS parenchyma (Ponath et al., 2018). As result, MS lesions are characterized by

breakdown of the blood-brain-barrier, inflammation, glial scar formation, oligodendrocyte apoptosis, demyelination and axonal degeneration (Trapp & Nave, 2008; Trapp & Stys, 2009).

Current MS therapies aim to prevent or suppress the autoimmune attacks via immunomodulation; therefore, they have no regenerative properties which could reverse already existed neurological deficits (Kremer et al., 2019b; Kremer et al., 2019c). CNS has innate capacity of myelin repair during initial stages of the disease; however, this regeneration potential is not sufficient, differs among MS patients and declines with the disease course due to inhibitory signals and absence of stimulatory cues, thus neurodegeneration and irreversible neurological damage remain inevitable (Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2017; Gruchot et al., 2019; Kotter et al., 2011; Kremer et al., 2011; Kremer et al., 2016a; Louapre et al., 2015). Given that endogenous myelin repair by means of cell replacement takes place via recruitment, activation and differentiation of resident OPCs of the adult CNS (Chang et al., 2000; Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2017), investigation of intrinsic and extrinsic factors that regulate these processes may lead to the development of myelin repair interventions which can be applied in MS therapy. As previously discussed, among the distinct phases of remyelination, differentiation of adult OPCs is considered to be the rate-limiting one especially in MS lesions (Chang et al., 2002; Kuhlmann et al., 2008; Wolswijk, 1998). Therefore, understanding the underlying regulatory mechanisms of this process may be the most promising approach for the development of successful myelin repair promoting treatments for MS.

2.3.4. *Ex vivo* and *in vivo* experimental models for the study of demyelination and remyelination

There is a number of available *ex vivo* and *in vivo* experimental models for the study of demyelination and remyelination, with some of them including activation of the immune system as means of mimicking the pathology of MS and others only addressing the pathophysiology of demyelination per se, reviewed in (Denic et al., 2011; Lassmann & Bradl,

2017; Merrill, 2009; Procaccini et al., 2015; Ransohoff, 2012; Torre-Fuentes et al., 2020). The currently used *in vivo* models are toxin-mediated, auto-immune and inflammatory, viral induced, genetic or zebrafish models. Until recently *ex vivo* demyelination models were only induced by means of toxin application, while recently another approach was developed to recapitulate disease pathologies (Liu, 2019).

In 2004, an *ex vivo* lysolecithin (lysophosphatidylcholine, LPC)-mediated model of demyelination using cerebellar slices from postnatal day 10 (P10) rats was established (Birgbauer et al., 2004). Lysolecithin, a bioactive lipid, induces focal demyelination of white matter tracts when injected into areas such as the cerebellar peduncle and spinal cord (Hall, 1972; Plemel et al., 2018; Woodruff & Franklin, 1999). This model has been proven effective for the identification of remyelination-promoting properties of chemical compounds (Eleuteri et al., 2017; Miron et al., 2010). Recently, IgG1 monoclonal recombinant antibodies from clonally expanded cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) plasmablasts from MS and neuromyelitis optica (NMO) patients were applied on cerebellar organotypic slices (Liu, 2019). These disease-specific antibodies were used for induction of a complement-dependent cytotoxicity that initiates mimicking of the disease pathologies. This is the first approach to induct immune mediated demyelination *ex vivo* for the study of demyelination and remyelination.

Cuprizone is a copper chelator that causes mitochondrial dysfunction selectively in mature oligodendrocytes leading to apoptosis and eventually demyelination which can mainly be detected in corpus callosum, anterior commissure, thalamus and cerebellar peduncles (Matsushima & Morell, 2001). Upon dietary treatment of mice with cuprizone, demyelination takes place with little or no implication of adaptive immunity and upon retrieval of the treatment spontaneous remyelination initiates, thus making this model one of the first choices when it comes to testing remyelination capacity of chemical compounds and ideal to investigate molecular and cellular aspects of de- and remyelination (Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Kipp et al., 2009; Suo et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019) reviewed in (Kipp et al., 2009; Skripuletz et al., 2011; Vega-Riquer et al., 2019). Cuprizone-

mediated lesions resemble those of pattern III MS and demyelination and remyelination in part coincide similar to MS pathology (Liu et al., 2010). A modification of this model consists of additional rapamycin injections that induce more extensive demyelination and prolonged remyelination period, characteristics which help the evaluation of the impact of remyelination treatments (Chen et al., 2017; Narayanan et al., 2009; Sachs et al., 2014). Another approach for induction of focal demyelination involves microinjections with LPC or ethidium bromide, with the latter one being less used nowadays (Blakemore et al., 1977). These two chemicals cause lesion formation in areas such as the hippocampus, striatum, optic nerve and spinal cord (van der Star, 2012). LPC damages directly the myelin sheath but also causes inflammatory response via chemoattraction of monocytes (Jeffery & Blakemore, 1995). The effect of ethidium bromide is based on intercalation with DNA mainly in astrocytes and is mediated via a reduction in the trophic support by those cells (Lassmann & Bradl, 2017; Merrill, 2009).

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is an inducible, T-helper cell-mediated rodent model for MS which is used as tool to investigate pathophysiological aspects of the disease and therapeutic interventions, including regenerative therapies. The main targets of the immune response are proteins produced by myelinating oligodendrocytes and the primary results of the immune attack are demyelination of axonal tracts, impaired neuronal signal transduction and motoric symptoms, thus making this model suitable for the assessment of the impact of pharmacological treatments both based on their remyelination promoting and immunomodulatory properties, reviewed in (Denic et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 2014). However, the occurrence of the lesion development and the initiation of the regenerative processes cannot be well defined in this model; therefore, it is not suggested for exclusive study of remyelination (Ransohoff, 2012). Even though EAE application in primates results in pathology closer to MS in the human system than rodent models, the latter ones are more broadly used due to ethical and economic reasons (Kap et al., 2016; Torre-Fuentes et al., 2020). EAE can be induced directly by immunization with myelin proteins or peptides (active EAE) or via transfer of myelin specific CD4+ T lymphocytes to naïve animals (passive

EAE), with each approach recapitulating different characteristics of the disease progression, reviewed in (Robinson et al., 2014). In mice, EAE is actively induced by an immune response triggered by injection of immunogens derived from the myelin proteins PLP, MOG and MBP along with an adjuvant (Haanstra et al., 2013; Ransohoff, 2012; Yasuda et al., 1975). Immunization of SJL/J mice with the epitope PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁ induces relapsing–remitting EAE (Tuohy et al., 1989), while immunization of C57BL6/J mice with the MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide is associated with a relative controlled immune response and chronic progressive demyelination (Procaccini et al., 2015; Tompkins et al., 2002). While mice EAE models are the most prominent, the pathology has been successfully induced also in guinea pigs, zebrafish and rats, with the latter one manifesting inflammatory infiltration of mononuclear cells in cerebellum, spinal cord and medulla oblongata (Gambi et al., 1989; Kulkarni et al., 2017; Robinson et al., 2014).

Demyelination in the CNS can be induced by viruses such as the picornavirus Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) and the coronavirus mouse hepatitis virus (MHV), reviewed in (Procaccini et al., 2015; Ransohoff, 2012; Torre-Fuentes et al., 2020). In these cases, demyelination is a result of an inflammation that is clinically manifested as encephalitis. TMEV induces an acute inflammation which is followed by a chronic, progressive stage of spinal cord demyelination and remyelination where oligodendrocytes, macrophages, microglia and astrocytes are affected (DePaula-Silva et al., 2017; McCarthy et al., 2012; S. Miller et al., 1997; Rivera-Quiñones et al., 1998; Tsunoda et al., 2007). Like in MS, demyelination occurs in sites where activated microglia and macrophages are accumulated (Lassmann & Bradl, 2017). MHV-mediated inflammation has a well-defined biphasic progression and can be used as an additional model for the study of MS pathology (Bergmann et al., 2006).

Zebrafish is a small, simple organism, with short embryonic development and a relatively well studied mechanism of myelin formation, reviewed in (D'Rozario et al., 2017; Preston & Macklin, 2015). For these reasons zebrafish is well-established in the study of

oligodendroglial cell differentiation, myelination and remyelination *in vivo*, reviewed in (Ackerman & Monk, 2016; Czopka, 2016). Transgenic zebrafish lines expressing green fluorescent protein have contributed both to the study of remyelination and the identification of compounds promoting myelin repair (Buckley et al., 2008; Buckley et al., 2010; Diamantopoulou et al., 2019; Early et al., 2018; Gong et al., 2001; Preston et al., 2019; Udvadia & Linney, 2003).

Finally, transgenic mice have also contributed to the study of myelin damage and repair. In order to investigate the role of myelin proteins both during myelination and remyelination, mouse models with duplication and inversion of the MBP gene (Shiverer) or PLP gene mutations (Rumpshaker and Jimpy), which lead to myelin damage, have been developed, reviewed in (van der Star, 2012). A few transgenic mouse models have been either used to induce or to alter the progression of EAE Pathology, reviewed in (Procaccini et al., 2015). Moreover, oligodendrocyte death can be induced by means of genetic manipulation. Specifically, in this approach, first genetic engineering allows insertion of a specific gene (e.g. diphtheria toxin A receptor) in the organism which can be conditionally expressed only in oligodendrocytes, and following administration of a chemical compound (such as diphtheria toxin A) to induce oligodendrocyte specific cell death (Pohl et al., 2011; Traka et al., 2010).

2.4. Intrinsic and extrinsic regulators of oligodendroglial cell differentiation

2.4.1. Extrinsic signals from other cell types

Neuronal activity regulates both oligodendroglial cell development and myelination, reviewed in (Baydyuk et al., 2020; de Faria et al., 2019). Although this regulatory role merely affects migration, proliferation, and myelination in an axon-specific manner, OPC differentiation is also affected (Barres & Raff, 1993; Gibson et al., 2014; Mitew et al., 2018). Studies based on optogenetic stimulation, pharmacogenomic activation and introduction of a complex motor learning task indicate that the increase of the number of mature oligodendrocytes in response to neuronal activity can be a result of both increased OPC proliferation and

differentiation but also a direct outcome of potentiated differentiation of newly formed OPCs without prior cell division (Gibson et al., 2014; McKenzie et al., 2014; Mitew et al., 2018; Xiao et al., 2016).

OPCs respond to neuronal activity via synaptic inputs, they express voltage-gated ion channels and several neurotransmitter receptors, reviewed in (Marinelli et al., 2016). In fact, voltage-gated Ca⁺⁺ entry was shown to promote OPC maturation, voltage-gated K⁺ channels mostly regulate proliferation and cell cycle progression, thus fine-tuning the initiation of differentiation, and while the role of Na⁺ channels in oligodendroglial cell development is not clear yet, their expression decreases as OPCs mature (Cheli et al., 2015; Ghiani et al., 1999a; Paez et al., 2009).

Neuronal activity and glutamate release promote OPC differentiation and myelin repair via α amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)/kainate receptors (Gautier et al., 2015). Activation of specific N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunits in OPCs regulates differentiation divergently, as revealed by the upregulation of the NMDAR1 and NMDAR2A and downregulation of NMDAR2B and NMDAR3 protein levels during the transition from OPCs to mature oligodendrocytes (Cavaliere et al., 2012; Sawada et al., 1996). OPCs also express functional adenosine receptors, which are activated upon action potential firing to stimulate differentiation and myelin formation (Stevens et al., 2002). In addition, ATP liberated from axons indirectly regulates OPC development, via triggering leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) release from astrocytes, a molecule that promotes OPC maturation (Ishibashi et al., 2006; Mayer et al., 1994). Gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA), acting via the GABAA receptors, was shown to positively regulate cerebellar NG2-positive cell proliferation and differentiation (Zonouzi et al., 2015). The oligodendroglial lineage expresses serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) receptor subtypes 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A and 5-HT exposure was shown to adversely affect oligodendroglial cell development via aberrant outgrowth of cell processes and reduced myelin protein expression (Fan et al., 2015). Regarding catecholaminergic signals, differentiating oligodendrocytes express the

dopamine receptors D1 and D3 and it has been suggested that especially the receptor D3 plays a role in differentiation and myelin formation (Bongarzone et al., 1998; Rosin et al., 2005). Moreover, there are indications that β -adrenergic receptor activation stimulates the process of differentiation as well (Ghiani et al., 1999b). Rat OPCs express all types of muscarinic cholinergic receptors, with the M3 type being the most abundant, while mature oligodendrocytes express only moderate levels of M2, suggesting a regulatory role of cholinergic signals during cell maturation (De Angelis et al., 2012). Muscarine treatment was shown to alter myelin marker expression, hence suggesting a role in terminal differentiation, while acetylcholine release from neurons along with pharmacological interventions suggest that M3 antagonism could promote OPC differentiation and myelin repair (Abiraman et al., 2015; De Angelis et al., 2012; Goldman et al., 2012; Maruyama et al., 2008). Finally, modest levels of nitric oxide (NO), a gaseous neurotransmitter, promotes oligodendroglial cell growth coordinates myelination, while high concentrations and maturation and induce oxidative/nitrosative stress and uncontrolled MBP phosphorylation (Atkins & Sweatt, 1999; Garthwaite et al., 2015).

Astrocyte-derived factors tightly regulate oligodendroglial cell development, reviewed in (Baydyuk et al., 2020). As mentioned above, release of the factor LIF from astrocytes regulates the timing of oligodendrocyte development and myelination via promotion of cell maturation (Ishibashi et al., 2006; Ishibashi et al., 2009). Astrocyte-released PDGF inhibits OPC maturation, while FGF exerts the opposite effect, however, when these two factors act together, they keep cells in an immature and proliferative state (Bögler et al., 1990). OPCs express receptors for another soluble astrocyte-released signal called endothelin-1, which was shown to reduce OPC differentiation in the postnatal brain (Gadea et al., 2009; Yuen et al., 2013). Finally, astrocytes also secrete ECM proteins such as laminin and fibronectin, which affect oligodendroglial cell development, as will be discussed later, reviewed in (Kiray et al., 2016).
Macrophages and microglia support oligodendroglial cell development after injury via myelin clearance, which is a prerequisite for the initiation of differentiation, reviewed in (Miron & Franklin, 2014). Factors secreted by anti-inflammatory/immunoregulatory (M2) type microglia drive oligodendrocyte differentiation as seen by conditioned media application on oligodendrocytes *in vitro* or by M2 microglia depletion *in vivo* experiments (Miron et al., 2013; Pang et al., 2013). These factors are mainly cytokines which are either secreted directly from microglial cells or through astrocytes. Such examples are the interleukins IL-1b and IL-6 and the tumor necrosis factor a (TNFa), which act through astrocytes and LIF secretion, thus enhancing OPC differentiation (Fischer et al., 2014; Vela et al., 2002). Finally, in MS lesions and in EAE the cytokine CXCL12 is upregulated in endothelial cells, activated microglia and activated astrocytes. CXCL12 which is synthesized also in the meninges and by specific neurons under physiological conditions, was shown to promote spontaneous OPC differentiation *in vitro* via its CXCR7 receptor and *in vivo* during remyelination via the CXCR4 receptor, reviewed in (Chu et al., 2017).

2.4.2. Regulatory role of the extracellular matrix

ECM in the CNS is composed of hyaluronan (HA), chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) and proteins such as laminin and fibronectin. Regulation and homeostasis of the expression of these molecules are essential for the timely transition of OPCs into mature oligododendrocytes in development and for myelin repair, while they are perturbed in the injured CNS and during ageing (Lau et al., 2013; Marangon et al., 2020; Segel et al., 2019; Srivastava et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018; You & Gupta, 2018). HA interacts with the TLR2/4 and CD44 receptors, which are predominantly expressed by astrocytes and OPCs and acts as inhibitor of OPC differentiation as seen upon its accumulation in the injured white matter or upon conditional overexpression of CD44 (Su et al., 2017; Tuohy et al., 2004; Vinukonda et al., 2016). Selective pharmacological hyaluronidase inhibition was shown to effectively promote OPC maturation and remyelination *in vivo* (Preston et al., 2013; Su et al., 2020). CSPGs are expressed by all neural cell types, their function depends on their core proteins and they include four lecticans, namely aggrecan, versican, brevican and neurocan, the

RPTP/phosphacan and neuron-glial antigen-2 (NG2) (Dyck & Karimi-Abdolrezaee, 2015; Pu et al., 2018). CSPGs impair OPC differentiation and process extension (Karus et al., 2016; Pendleton et al., 2013), while reduction of their production or neutralization of their effects enhances oligodendroglial progression both in development and remyelination (Keough et al., 2016; Kuboyama et al., 2017; Stephenson et al., 2019). Fibronectin aggregation and fibroblast-secreted fibronectin were demonstrated to also inhibit OPC differentiation in LPC-induced demyelination model and EAE respectively, prompting the development of myelin repair therapeutic approaches which target this molecule (Qin et al., 2017; Stoffels et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2018; Yahn et al., 2020). On the other hand, laminin-2 is a positive regulator of OPC maturation, an effect which is exerted via interactions with the oligodendroglial receptor $\alpha 6\beta$ 1 and activation of the tyrosine-protein kinase Fyn (Buttery & ffrench-Constant, 1999; Lourenço & Grãos, 2016; Ly et al., 2018).

2.4.3. Other secreted regulatory signals

BMPs are secreted ECM-associated proteins and negative regulators of OPC differentiation, an effect mediated via an increase in the expression of the transcription factor Id4 and decrease in the expression of the transcription factors OLIG1 and 2, all of which will be discussed later, as well as via inhibition of interactions between Id4 and the OLIG proteins (Cheng et al., 2007; Samanta & Kessler, 2004). BMP2 and BMP4 were shown to inhibit oligodendrocyte maturation *in vitro* and at early stages they even shifted the cell fate towards the astrocytic lineage, while at the same time BMP levels below a critical threshold are considered prerequisite for the initiation of OPC differentiation during development (Gomes et al., 2003; Grinspan et al., 2000; Mabie et al., 1997; Miller et al., 2004; See et al., 2004). Increased BMP levels are associated with spinal cord injury, demyelination and MS, and hypoxic/ischemic injury and interestingly, BMP inhibition in experimental models of these pathologies led to recovery via an increase of oligodendrocyte maturation, reviewed in (Wheeler & Fuss, 2016).

The PSA-NCAM is another negative regulator of OPC differentiation and myelination, the down-regulation of which is required for the initiation of both processes (Decker et al., 2002; Fewou et al., 2007; Trotter et al., 1989).

LINGO-1 is expressed both in neurons and oligodendrocytes and negatively regulates OPC differentiation and (re)myelination (Lee et al., 2007; Mi et al., 2007; Mi et al., 2005). During development LINGO-1 expression is down-regulated at the onset of OPC differentiation, while during adulthood the injured CNS is characterized by higher levels of the protein (Mi et al., 2004; Mohan et al., 2014; Satoh et al., 2007). Lingo-1 mediates its effects via a tripartite formation with the Nogo-66 receptor (NgR1) and either the p75 neurotrophin receptor or the TAJ/TROY receptor (Mi et al., 2004; Park et al., 2005; Shao et al., 2005). Additionally, Lingo-1 was found to block the translocation and activation of a positive regulator of differentiation, called ErbB2 (Lee et al., 2014).

Autotaxin (ATX) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) are on the other hand two secreted positive regulators of OPC maturation with the first one inducing changes in morphological and gene expression level, reviewed in (Wheeler & Fuss, 2016) and the second one via activation of the ERK1/2 kinases which will be discussed later (Hsieh et al., 2004; Shi et al., 2014; Ye et al., 1995).

Semaphorins are a family of secreted and transmembrane proteins which were found to be expressed by cells of the oligodendroglial lineage along with their receptors (Cohen et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2014). Several members of this family were shown to regulate different stages of oligodendroglial development, reviewed in (Wheeler & Fuss, 2016) and regarding OPC differentiation Sema6A has been identified as a positive regulator, while Sema3A as a negative one (Bernard et al., 2012; Syed et al., 2011).

Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P) is a lipid signaling molecule which exerts its functions upon extracellular release via five G protein-coupled S1P receptors, named S1P1–S1P5 (Maceyka et al., 2012; Proia & Hla, 2015). Oligodendrocytes express the subtypes S1P1, S1P2, S1P3

and S1P5 (Novgorodov et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2004). A structural analog of S1P, termed FTY720-phosphate (Fingolimod) is a potent agonist for S1P1, S1P3, S1P4, and S1P5 (Zemann et al., 2006). Low concentrations of Fingolimod exert cytoprotective effects and promote OPC differentiation (Coelho et al., 2007; Cui et al., 2014; Jung et al., 2007), while higher concentrations induce negative effects (Coelho et al., 2007; Jung et al., 2007; Miron et al., 2008; Novgorodov et al., 2007). Fingolimod failed to induce remyelination in toxin-mediated *in vivo* models of demyelination, when in contrary increased remyelination in organotypic cerebellar slices (Hu et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2011; Miron et al., 2010). Light in the exact role of S1P receptors in oligodendroglial development are called to shed the newly developed selective S1P receptor modulators, whose function is mostly examined regarding their immunomodulatory effects (Roggeri et al., 2020; Subei & Cohen, 2015).

The G protein–coupled receptor Gpr17 exerts an interesting regulatory role in OPC differentiation. At early stages of the lineage, this receptor acts as positive regulator of the process, while later on, its downregulation is required for further maturation, reviewed in (Wheeler & Fuss, 2016).

Extrinsic signals also activate the Notch and the Wnt pathways in oligodendrocytes and their role in OPC differentiation will be discussed below.

2.4.4. Opioids and nuclear receptors

Mu opioid receptors (MORs) stimulate DNA synthesis in OPCs and are downregulated throughout differentiation, thus suggesting a regulatory role in the process (Knapp et al., 1998; Tryoen-Tóth et al., 2000). Methadone, a MOR agonist, leads to increased OPC proliferation and maturation rates *in vitro* and increased myelin proteins in the developing rat brain when applied in therapeutic doses (Vestal-Laborde et al., 2014). In addition, it was found that MORs stimulate oligodendrogenesis from neural progenitor cell-derived NG2+ OPCs via the ERK and p38 signaling pathways (Hahn et al., 2010). While the role of MORs in oligodendrocyte development is not clear yet, the importance of Kappa opioid receptors (KORs) in the regulation of OPC differentiation and (re)myelination has been elucidated more

extensively (Wang et al., 2019). It was recently demonstrated that selective KOR agonism effectively promotes OPC proliferation, differentiation and (re)myelination (Du et al., 2016; Mei et al., 2016b). It has been suggested that KORs exert these effects either via sequential activation of the ERK signaling, CREB phosphorylation and myelin gene expression or via activation of the JAK2/STAT3 signaling (Borniger & Hesp, 2016).

Steroid hormone receptors are divided in the brain into mineralocorticoid receptors (MRs) and glucocorticoid receptors (GRs), and they are among the nuclear receptor types which are implicated in oligodendroglial cell development (Vielkind et al., 1990). GR signaling modulates the expression of genes that regulate myelin gene expression (Barres et al., 1994; Kumar et al., 1989). In accordance, the glucocorticoid clobetasol was shown to promote OPC differentiation and remyelination in the EAE model via GR activation (Najm et al., 2015). Dexamethasone, another GR agonist also regulates OPC differentiation and myelination in a developmental stage-specific way (Almazan et al., 1986; Tsuneishi et al., 1991). Sex hormones especially progesterone, are also implicated in the regulation of oligodendroglial cell development. Specifically, it was demonstrated that both progesterone and nestorone promote OPC differentiation and remyelination in cuprizone-induced chronic demyelination (EI-Etr et al., 2015). Similar effects mediated by testosterone and its synthetic analogue 7α methyl-19-nortestosterone were attributed to activation of the androgen receptor (Bielecki et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2013). Selective estrogen receptor modulators have been suggested as targets for the generation of myelin repair therapies, based on their capacity to promote OPC differentiation and myelination (Karim et al., 2019; Khalaj et al., 2016), however their effects at least in part are mediated via mechanisms other than estrogen receptor activation (Rankin et al., 2019).

The liver X receptor (LXR), which is activated by oxysterols, products of cholesterol oxidation, was similarly shown to promote OPC differentiation and remyelination on organotypic cerebellar slice cultures (Freemantle et al., 2013; Meffre et al., 2015). Functional analyses in cultured OPCs have revealed the positive regulatory role of the Retinoic x

Receptor gamma (RxRγ) in the process of differentiation (J. K. Huang et al., 2011). A few years later a pharmacological compound screening has revealed the potential of glucocorticoids to promote OPC differentiation with the best candidates promoting MBP expression via RxRγ activation (Porcu et al., 2015). The same year de la Fuente et al. provided evidence indicating RxRγ binding to several nuclear receptors, including the vitamin D receptor, which activates another positive regulatory signaling for OPC differentiation (de la Fuente et al., 2015).

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) activation promotes OPC differentiation and myelination via mitochondria-related mechanisms and regulation of Ca⁺⁺ availability (Bernardo et al., 2009; Bernardo et al., 2013). Finally, thyroid hormone receptor expression increases with OPC maturation and its activation induces myelin gene expression and promotes differentiation and myelination, reviewed in (Marinelli et al., 2016).

2.4.5. Major regulatory pathways and metabolic control

The role of the Wnt pathway from OPC specification until myelination and remyelination has been extensively studied, reviewed in (Gaesser & Fyffe-Maricich, 2016; Guo et al., 2015; Xie et al., 2014). A few studies have shown that activation of the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin pathway by extracellular Wnt ligands impairs OPC differentiation both in embryonic and early postnatal life (Fancy et al., 2009; Feigenson et al., 2009; Shimizu et al., 2005; Ye et al., 2009). In early postnatal life, this effect is at least in part mediated via recruitment of the TCF7L2 (also known as TCF4) as will be discussed later (Fancy et al., 2009). Several pharmacological and genetic studies revealed association between upregulation of the Wnt signaling and impaired myelin marker expression, as well as impaired differentiation (Azim & Butt, 2011; Fancy et al., 2011; Lang et al., 2013). The inhibitory role of the Wnt signaling in OPC differentiation is not only restricted in development but also regulates remyelination after white matter injury in the adult CNS (Fancy et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2015a; Lee et al., 2015b).

The Notch signaling is also a negative regulatory signaling for OPC differentiation which is activated by extracellular signals like Wnt signaling. Specifically, extracellular ligands induce proteolytic cleavage of the membrane-associated receptor Notch and its translocation to the nucleus (Louvi & Artavanis-Tsakonas, 2006). Treatment of OPC cultures with either Notch or its ligand Delta inhibited differentiation (Wang et al., 1998). Similarly, expression of the Jagged1 ligand by astrocytes in MS lesions led to inhibition of OPC maturation (John et al., 2002). Notch mediates its negative regulatory effects mainly via activation of the inhibitory factors Hes1 and Hes5 (Jarriault et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1998). Contactin is another Notch ligand, which is secreted by neuronal axons and activates a non-canonical Notch pathway with positive regulatory role in oligodendroglial cell differentiation (Hu et al., 2003). Notch signaling is crucial during development; however, its role in adult OPC differentiation is not yet clear. From one side, there are studies suggesting the existence of regulatory role of Notch1 signaling in oligodendrocyte development during CNS remyelination, while others failed to detect such a role when using animal models of demyelination (Stidworthy et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2009). Possible suggested explanations for these contradictory results are either the investigation of different subpopulations from different CNS areas or the implication of different inflammatory signals from the environment (Kremer et al., 2011).

The Akt/mTOR pathway is a major regulatory pathway during oligodendroglial cell lineage progression both in development and adulthood, reviewed in (Gaesser & Fyffe-Maricich, 2016). Conditional knockout of the PI3K/AKT upstream inhibitor, phosphatase PTEN in mice leads to hypermyelination, without affecting OPC differentiation (Goebbels et al., 2010; Harrington et al., 2010). However, mTOR, a downstream effector molecule, positively affects the process as revealed by studies involving pharmacological inhibition and conditional knockout (Guardiola-Diaz et al., 2012; Tyler et al., 2009; Tyler et al., 2011; Wahl et al., 2014). mTOR1 and mTOR2 are two distinct protein complexes with distinct roles in oligodendroglial cell development. In the spinal cord, conditional knockout of both the mTORC1 protein subunit Raptor and the mTORC2 protein subunit Rictor, resulted in decreased OPC differentiation with the mTORC1 signaling ablation exerting a more potent effect (Bercury et

al., 2014). siRNA mediated knockdown of the same subunits induced reduction in myelin protein expression *in vitro* with mTORC2 alone controlling myelin gene expression at the mRNA level, and mTORC1 inducing MBP expression via an alternative mechanism (Tyler et al., 2009). Proteomic analysis has shown that during differentiation mTOR is required for the induction of proteins involved in cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis, the expression of cytoskeletal proteins, cell signaling components, and transcriptional factors (Tyler et al., 2011). However, a number of studies have shown that mTOR activity regulates OPC differentiation in different ways according to the developmental state of the cell and the location in the CNS, hence indicating implication of more than one regulatory mechanisms which have to be spatially and timely orchestrated in a delicate manner to ensure appropriate OPC differentiation and myelination, reviewed in (Gaesser & Fyffe-Maricich, 2016).

The Raf-MAPK-ERK1/2 signaling pathway has been described to positive regulate OPC differentiation. Several in vitro pharmacological studies showed impaired differentiation upon inhibition of MAPK-ERK activation, reviewed in (Gaesser & Fyffe-Maricich, 2016). Interestingly, the cytokine IL-17A, which is found in active MS lesions, increased the activity of both ERK1 and ERK2 and OPC differentiation in organotypic cerebellar slice cultures (Rodgers et al., 2015). In accordance, erk2 deletion led to decrease in MBP expression and OPC differentiation in P10 mice and so did *b-raf* (upstream activation of the MAPK-ERK1/2 pathway) conditional knockout in P18 mice (Fyffe-Maricich et al., 2011; Galabova-Kovacs et al., 2008). However, some other studies failed to demonstrate ERK1- and ERK2-mediated effects on OPC differentiation in vivo indicating contribution of compensatory mechanisms which are not activated in vitro, as hypothesized by Gaesser and Fyffe-Maricich (Gaesser & Fyffe-Maricich, 2016; Ishii et al., 2012; Xiao et al., 2012). ERK2 is known to also positive regulate remyelination upon LPC-induced demyelination via control of the MBP translation (Michel et al., 2015). In addition, robust activation of ERK1/2 by pharmacological means boosted remyelination mainly via promotion of OPC differentiation (Najm et al., 2015). On the other hand, Suo et al. recently showed that pharmacological inhibition of the MAPK-ERK1/2 pathway promotes oligodendrocyte generation and recovery following EAE and cuprizone mediated demyelination (Suo et al., 2019). These two studies also presented controversial MAPK-ERK1/2-mediated effects, which may be also attributed in time-specific effects, as proposed by the authors of the latter.

Lipids regulate oligodendroglial cell development and myelination and their metabolism has been suggested as target for myelin repair therapies, reviewed in (Marangon et al., 2020; Montani, 2020). Lipid homeostasis is regulated by mTOR and its downstream targets, namely SREBP cleavage activating protein (SCAP), and sterol responsive element binding proteins (SREBPs), reviewed in (Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). Already from their progenitor stage, cells of the oligodendroglial cell lineage start expressing immunoreactivity to antibodies recognizing specific lipids, as for example the A2B5 antibody which is specific for the gangliosides GD3, GT3, and O-acetylated GT3, whose expression ceases as the cells differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes (Jackman et al., 2009). Cholesterol plays an important role in myelin generation and dysfunctions in its metabolism have been associated with hypomyelinating disorders (Chrast et al., 2011). Regarding OPCs differentiation, cholesterol homeostasis, uptake and intracellular transport are essential for oligodendrocyte generation (Lin et al., 2017; Yu & Lieberman, 2013). In addition, pharmacological inhibition of the CYP51, TM7SF2 and EBP, intermediate enzymes of the cholesterol biosynthesis pathway and the subsequent accumulation of the 8,9-unsaturated sterol substrates of these enzymes was shown to promote OPC differentiation (Hubler et al., 2018; Rankin et al., 2019). Oxysterols, a group of cholesterol derivatives, promote myelin gene expression both in development and in the diseased CNS, thus acting as positive regulators of oligodendroglial cell differentiation (Meffre et al., 2015). In vitro studies also proposed fatty acids as important players in the regulation of the process, as seen by the promoting effects of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and the supportive role of the ratio of 1:3 linoleic acid to alpha linoleic acid (Hejr et al., 2017; Trapp & Bernsohn, 1978). Further highlightening the regulatory role of lipids, ganglioside GD1a was shown to promote OPC proliferation and differentiation, while galactocerebroside and sulfatide, the major galactosphingolipids in oligodendrocyte plasma membranes and myelin act as inhibitors of differentiation (Bansal et

al., 1999; Qin et al., 2017). Finally, the positive (although debated) effects of the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor (S1PR) modulator, Fingolimod (FTY720), on OPC differentiation and process extension also underlines the regulatory role of sphingolipids (Cui et al., 2014; Miron et al., 2010).

2.4.6. Transcriptional control

The transition of OPCs to mature myelinating oligodendrocytes is controlled by several transcription factors, with some of them regulating also different stages of oligodendroglial cell development, reviewed in (Elbaz & Popko, 2019; Emery, 2010; Emery & Lu, 2015; Mitew et al., 2014; Tiane et al., 2019). OPCs are characterized by high levels of transcription factors such as Id2, Id4, Sox5, Sox6 and Hes5 which act as negative regulators of terminal differentiation. Id2 and Id4 mediate the anti-differentiation effects upon activation of BMPs (Cheng et al., 2007; Samanta & Kessler, 2004) and the G protein-coupled receptor Gpr17 (Chen et al., 2009). Physical interaction of Id4 and Id5 with the transcription factors OLIG1 and OLIG2 in the nucleus leads to inhibition of the activity of the latter two and differentiation blocking (Samanta & Kessler, 2004). Delta/Notch signaling activates Hes5 which in turn inhibits the transcription factor Sox10, thus preventing expression of myelin markers such as MBP and PLP (A. Liu et al., 2006; Samanta & Kessler, 2004; Wang et al., 1998). Sox5 and Sox6 bind directly to Sox10 targets, such as the MBP promoter, hence antagonizing its prodifferentiation effects (Stolt et al., 2006). Formation of a transcriptional complex between βcatenin and the transcription factor TCF7L2 mediates the inhibitory effects of the extracellular Wnt signaling, possibly via interactions with Id2 (Fancy et al., 2009; Fu et al., 2009; Ye et al., 2009). However, there are indications of a more complex role of β -catenin and TCF7L2 in the regulation of OPC differentiation, with the latter one being involved in chromatin remodeling (Emery & Lu, 2015; Ye et al., 2009).

OPC differentiation is also controlled by several transcription factors with positive regulatory properties. OLIG2 is a prominent positive regulator and although it is not clear yet how it exerts its functions, it has been shown that it recruits the chromatin-remodeling enzyme

brahma-related 1 (BRG1) to regulatory genes during differentiation including Sox10, sip1/zhfx1b and myelin regulatory factor (myrf) (Mei et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2013). OLIG1 deficiency has been associated with delay in OPC differentiation and delay or complete loss of mature markers such as MBP, however its expression merely regulates later stages of oligodendroglial cell development which correspond to myelin sheath formation (de Faria et al., 2014; Li et al., 2007; Niu et al., 2012; Xin et al., 2005). Myrf controls both the transition to mature oligodendrocytes and the process of myelination (Emery et al., 2009; Xin et al., 2005). According to Genome-wide binding studies (ChIP-Seq) Myrf directly targets genes regulating cytoskeletal dynamics, lipid metabolism, myelin protein genes such as mbp and plp and other transcriptional factors such as nkx6.2 and smad7 (Bujalka et al., 2013). Sox10 is constantly expressed throughout the whole oligodendroglial cell development and positively regulates terminal cell differentiation and myelination via binding to promoter regions of myelin genes (Hornig et al., 2013; Turnescu et al., 2018). Of note, synergistic effects between Myrf and Sox10 and a functional relationship with OLIG2 have been elucidated (Bujalka et al., 2013; Hornig et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2013). Zhfx1b positively regulates differentiation via antagonism of the inhibitory effects of Id2, Id4, and Hes5 and by extension BMPs and the Notch and Wnt signaling pathways (Weng et al., 2012). Smad7 is also induced by Zhfx1b and acts as a negative-feedback regulator of the BMPs (Weng et al., 2012). Similarly, Sox17 promotes cell cycle exit and differentiation via inhibition of the Wnt signaling (Chew et al., 2011; Sohn et al., 2006). Yin Yang 1 (YY1) transcription factor induces differentiation via inhibition of Id4 and the TCF7L2 downstream effector of the Wnt signaling (He, Sandoval, et al., 2007; Korinek et al., 1998). Finally, the achaete-scute homolog 1 (ASCL1/MASH1) promotes both oligodendroglial lineage progression and (re)myelination both in development and adulthood (Nakatani et al., 2013; Sugimori et al., 2008). Ascl1 knockout leads to reduction in nkx2.2 expression, whose absence is also related with blocking of OPC differentiation (Qi et al., 2001; Sugimori et al., 2008).

2.4.7. Epigenetic control

Epigenetic changes in the DNA are associated with oligodendroglial cell development, reviewed in (Emery & Lu, 2015; Fitzpatrick et al., 2015; Galloway & Moore, 2016; Tiane et al., 2019). DNA methylation, in particular CG methylation, regulates oligodendroglial cell development and myelination. This is reflected, among others, by alterations in the levels of DNA methylation in MS-affected brains, which are associated with hypomyelination (Huynh et al., 2014; Mastronardi et al., 2007). DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) add a methyl-group to cytosine (5mC) which mostly leads to suppression of gene expression due to inability of transcription factors to bind to regulatory elements (Chen & Riggs, 2011). Neonatal inhibition of DNA methylation via a DNMT-inhibitor led to disrupted gliogenesis, reduced number of oligodendrocytes and caused hypomyelination in the rat optic nerve (Ransom et al., 1985). Similarly, genetic ablation of the *dnmt1* gene in embryonic OPCs led to hypomyelination which was associated with alternative splicing in genes related to lipid metabolism, myelination and cell cycle (Moyon et al., 2016). A less prominent role of DNA methylation in the adult remyelinating brain was shown upon LPS-mediated demyelination, where methylation was increased in differentiating oligodendrocytes (Moyon et al., 2017). OPC differentiation is highly influenced by ten-eleven translocation (TET) enzymes, which remove DNA methylation (Zhao et al., 2014). Knockdown of tet mRNA levels is associated with increased expression of inhibitory transcription factors such as Id2 and Hes5 (Zhao et al., 2014). Two histone-modification enzymes PRMT5 and SIRT2 promote initiation of OPC differentiation via induction of DNA methylation and gene silencing of the Id2 and Id4 and pdgfra genes, respectively (Fang et al., 2019; J. Huang et al., 2011).

Histone modifications like (de)acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination, and phosphorylation regulate chromatin dynamics and structure, thus altering DNA accessibility for transcription factors and polymerases (Bannister & Kouzarides, 2011). Histone acetyltransferases (HATs) are the enzymes which establish acetylation, while histone deacetylases (HDACs) remove acetyl groups contributing to chromatin compaction, a conformation that prevents transcription (Bannister & Kouzarides, 2011; He et al., 2018). HDACs are predominantly expressed in early stages of oligodendroglial cell development, and their inhibition is

associated with decreased levels of OPC maturation and differentiation (Conway et al., 2012; Egawa et al., 2019; Marin-Husstege et al., 2002; Shen et al., 2005; Swiss et al., 2011). HDACs promote the switch from OPCs to mature oligodendrocytes via inhibition of expression of genes such as *Id2*, *Sox2* and *tcf7/2* that keep OPCs in a proliferative and undifferentiated state (Conway et al., 2012; Swiss et al., 2011). The pro-differentiation effects of these enzymes can also result via direct interaction with transcription factors and the formation of regulatory complexes. As example, YY1 is recruited via HDAC1 to the promoter of *Id2*, *Id4* and *hes5* and blocks their expression (He, Dupree, et al., 2007). HDAC mediated deacetylation of OLIG1 prevents interaction with the inhibitory Id2 transcription factor and as a result OLIG1 translocates to the nucleus to mediate OPC differentiation (Dai et al., 2015). In addition, the Wnt signaling is inhibited via interactions between the HDAC1/2 and TCF7L2 which lead to antagonism of the TCF7L2's binding site to β -catenin (Ye et al., 2009).

Histone methylation is another histone modification that has been associated with regulation of oligodendroglial cell differentiation. During the transition from OPC to mature myelinating oligodendrocytes, the activity of Histone H3 Lysine 9 (H3K9) methylation enzyme is higher (Liu et al., 2015). Accordingly, decreased histone methylation via genetic ablation or pharmacological inhibition of the protein arginine methyltransferases 1 and 5 (PRMT1 and PRMT5) lead to decreased OPC differentiation and hypomyelination (Hashimoto et al., 2016; Scaglione et al., 2018).

Moreover, ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes which also alter histone accessibility and gene transcription have a regulatory role in oligodendroglial lineage progression. Such a complex, called brahma-related 1 (BRG1) regulates the expression of the *olig2* gene early in development via interaction with its promoter and as a positive feedback loop, is being in turn recruited by OLIG2 to enhance myelin related gene expression (Matsumoto et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2013). CDH7 is another ATP-dependent chromatin remodeler, and it is activated via OLIG2 and BRG1, predominantly in

differentiating oligodendrocytes, to promote myelin associated gene expression in synergy with Sox10 and to induce expression of pro-differentiation transcription factors, such as OLIG1 and Myrf (He et al., 2016).

Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation are key regulatory mechanisms throughout cell development which can modulate for example main regulatory pathways, such as the Raf-MAPK-ERK1/2 pathway (Fyffe-Maricich et al., 2011). As another example, the phosphorylation state of transcription factors, such as OLIG1 and ZFP24 determines the differentiation potential of OPCs (Elbaz et al., 2018; Niu et al., 2012).

Several miRNAs, small noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) with negative regulatory roles in mRNA translation, represent another important regulatory player in OPC differentiation, reviewed in (Fitzpatrick et al., 2015; Galloway & Moore, 2016; Tiane et al., 2019). Interestingly, some miRNAs were shown to be differentially expressed in MS-affected brains from different stages of the disease progression (Junker et al., 2009; Noorbakhsh et al., 2011). An interesting example constitutes the miRNA-219 which along with the miRNA-338 is essential for cell cycle exit and transition from OPCs to mature oligodendrocytes (Dugas et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2017). miR-219, together with others was shown to be upregulated during OPC differentiation and also to cooperate with the miRNA-138, while boosting the expression of both was shown to be sufficient for the promotion of the process *in vitro* (Dugas et al., 2010; Ebrahimi-Barough et al., 2013; Shin et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2017). The absence of miRNA-219 in the CSF of MS patients has been proposed as diagnostic marker for the disease (Bruinsma et al., 2017). Of note, as some miRNAs promote cell differentiation, via for example suppression of negative regulatory transcription factors, such as Hes5 and Sox6 (Liu et al., 2017), some others like miR-205, miR-214 and miR-715 suppress the expression of myelin markers, such as MBP, O4 and myelin-associated oligodendrocyte basic protein (MOBP), thus inhibiting OPC maturation (Bauer et al., 2012; Bronstein et al., 2000; Letzen et al., 2010). In addition, two members of another subgroup of ncRNAs, called long noncoding RNAs (IncRNAs) have been associated with control of OPC differentiation. Specifically, IncOL1 promotes differentiation via inhibition of the expression of negative regulators and

Inc158 by regulating the transcription of the nuclear factor-IB (NFIB) (He et al., 2017; Li et al., 2018).

2.4.8. p57kip2: a potent inhibitor of OPC differentiation

The p57kip2 protein is a member of the Cip/Kip family of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CKDI) originally described to negatively regulate the G1 phase of cell cycle progression in mammals (Besson et al., 2008; Lee et al., 1995; Matsuoka et al., 1995). Complexes of cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK) are positive regulators of cell cycle progression, whereas binding of CDKIs blocks these complexes, thus exerting negative regulation. Cip/Kip protein family consists of three members, termed p21cip1, p27kip1 and p57kip2, which have been shown to bind to cyclins and CDK subunits and modulate their functions (Besson et al., 2008; Sherr & Roberts, 1995; Sherr & Roberts, 1999). p57kip2 binds to of G1- and S-phase CDKs, cyclin E-cdk2, cyclin D2-cdk4, and cyclin A-cdk2 and with lower affinity to the mitotic cyclin B-Cdc2 (Lee et al., 1995).

The p57kip2 gene (*cdkn1c*) is located in the chromosomal region 11p15.5 and the primary localization of the protein is in the nucleus. p57kip2 expression has a tissue-specific pattern during embryogenesis and adulthood, is required for embryonic development and its transcription is tightly regulated by factors important for this developmental stage such as Notch, MyoD, BMPs, and p73, reviewed in (Besson et al., 2008). The p57kip2 protein has a molecular weight of 57 kDa and consists of four different domains (Lee et al., 1995; Tokino et al., 1996). The CDK inhibitory domain containing cyclin and CDK binding sites is located in the N-terminus. The C-terminus consists of a glutamine- and threonine-rich QT domain which contains a nuclear localization sequence (NLS). The area between the N- and C- terminals is composed of a central proline-rich domain and an acidic domain containing glutamic or aspartic acidics in tandem repeats (Lee et al., 1995). N- and C- termini are homologous in mouse, rat and human p57kip2. The human p57kip2 protein differentiates by the lack of the proline-rich and acidic domains, which are substituted by a domain rich in proline-alanine repeats, called PAPA repeats domain (Tokino et al., 1996).

p57kip2 has an additional role as regulator of cytoskeletal dynamics via modulation of the RhoA/Rock/LIMK-1/cofilin pathway (Yokoo et al., 2003). Activation of the small GTPase RhoA, triggers the Rho-associated kinase (ROCK), which phosphorylates the downstream effector molecule LIM kinase-1 (LIMK-1). Upon phosphorylation, LIMK-1 is activated and via phosphorylation inactivates cofilin, a protein responsible for the depolymerization of actin, thus leading to assembly and stability of actin filaments (Arber et al., 1998). p57kip2 binds to LIMK-1, via its central proline-rich region and causes its translocation into the nucleus, promoting this way an increase in the levels of actin disassembly (Yokoo et al., 2003).

A novel role of p57kip2 as intrinsic negative regulator of peripheral glial cell differentiation has been suggested upon observation of its transient down-regulation following sciatic nerve crush (Küry et al., 2002). In this respect, it was shown that p57kip2 negatively affects myelinating glial cell differentiation both in PNS and CNS and that it controls glial fate decision by adult neural stem cells (Heinen et al., 2008; Jadasz et al., 2012; Kremer et al., 2009). Furthermore, transient p57kip2 down-regulation in a MOG-induced EAE was accompanied by relocation to the cytoplasm (Kremer et al., 2009). The same study also reported increased maturation and differentiation in OPC cultures upon transient p57kip2 down-regulation, thus strengthening the notion of its negative regulatory role in oligodendroglial differentiation and maturation. In this context, the negative impact of p57kip2 on differentiation was shown to be associated with alterations in p57kip2 subcellular localization during rat and human oligodendroglial differentiation in vitro (Göttle et al., 2015). Enforced nuclear export of p57kip2 was correlated with enhanced myelin expression, cell maturation and myelination in vitro. The same study suggested that p57kip2's inhibitory role is dependent on binding partners such as LIMK-1, CDK2, Mash1 and Hes5, which leads to control of their subcellular distribution and/or activity. Of note, p57kip2's nuclear exclusion does not seem to exert the same regulatory effects on cultured hippocampal adult neural stem cells (aNSCs) (Jadasz et al., 2018). Finally, a recent in vivo study demonstrated that in the healthy adult CNS, p57kip2 knockdown promotes adult neural stem cell survival and differentiation towards myelinating oligodendrocytes at the expense of the astrocytic lineage,

while upon injury these effects were less prominent and the cells showed higher vulnerability (Beyer et al., 2020). Taken together, these studies suggest a therapeutic potential of the modulation of p57kip2's protein subcellular localization and activity for functional restoration of myelin sheaths in demyelinating diseases.

2.5. Development of therapeutic approaches for myelin repair

2.5.1. Oligodendrocyte and myelin plasticity

In the previous chapters the factors that regulate oligodendroglial cell lineage progression and myelin formation both during development and adulthood have been discussed. Fine orchestration of them contributes to preservation of oligodendrocyte, myelin, and neuronal network homeostasis in the CNS in response to development, learning and injury. There is evidence for ongoing oligodendrogenesis throughout lifetime, mainly upon differentiation of adult OPCs. Under physiological conditions up-regulation of this process is correlated with myelin remodeling in an experience-dependent manner, as for example during motor skill learning (Dawson et al., 2003; Hill et al., 2018; Hughes et al., 2018; McKenzie et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2016). An example of how oligodendrocyte lineage plasticity ensures proper CNS development constitutes the study of Kessaris et al., where upon ablation of mouse telencephalic OPCs, recovery and normal development took place following migration of OPCs from other areas (Kessaris et al., 2006). Similarly, in the adult brain, OPCs create their own territory of surveillance via self-repulsion and in case of OPC loss due to cell death or differentiation they migrate and proliferate to repopulate the vacant areas, thus participating to myelin repair upon CNS injury (Hughes et al., 2013). In addition, it has been suggested that adult OPCs, although pretty much committed to the oligodendroglial fate, they have the ability to adopt a different cell fate in response to injury (Cassiani-Ingoni et al., 2006; Nishiyama et al., 2009; Zawadzka et al., 2010), and even be reprogrammed to multipotent neural stem-like cells upon pharmacological inhibition of HDAC activity (Lyssiotis et al., 2007). Taken together, the last studies suggest that OPC programming and transplantation can constitute a therapeutic strategy for CNS injury, however this approach still faces crucial limitations (Lopez Juarez et al., 2016). In addition, as discussed earlier, the rate-limiting

factor for efficient myelin repair is not the availability of OPCs, but rather their ability to differentiate and give rise to functional myelinating oligodendrocytes, which deteriorates with age and under pathophysiological conditions due to lack of stimulatory cues or presence of inhibitory signals. Therefore, the development of therapeutic interventions which aim to boost the differentiation of OPCs seems to be one of the most promising approaches for myelin repair. In this respect, it is important to keep in mind that although myelination and remyelination share many common aspects, the latter cannot be considered as recapitulation of the first one since there are differences in their outcome, such as the thickness of the myelin sheaths, and also in their regulation (Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2008; Taveggia et al., 2010). Hence, understanding the signals that regulate oligodendroglial cell development and plasticity both in development and in adulthood is important for deciphering myelin repair processes and the development of effective therapies.

2.5.2. Phenotypical screenings for pharmacological modulation of OPC differentiation

Although there is ongoing progress in the development of active compounds with neuroregenerative properties, with some of them having already entered clinical trials, induction of sufficient remyelination as therapeutic approach has not been yet achieved (Kremer et al., 2019b; Kremer et al., 2019c; Küry et al., 2018). Many research groups now are working towards the same direction using related approaches. On one hand, there are the unbiased large scale screening approaches, experimental or in silico, which use large numbers of available active compounds and the existing knowledge in different contexts about them, to identify and repurpose a few of them for myelin repair. On the other hand, we have approaches can be assigned in three different categories, (i) target-driven screenings, which aim to identify compounds that modulate molecular pathways with known implication in oligodendroglial development, (ii) pharmacological approaches, which aim to determine whether or how specific molecular pathways are implicated in the process and whether their

modulation can constitute a therapeutic approach, and (iii) single substance repurposing approaches (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Overview of the existing pharmacological approaches for the identification of promyelinating compounds and the study of molecular mechanisms underlying myelin repair (a). Brief presentation of the main hit validation steps, following a screening for pro-myelinating compounds (b).

Most of the phenotypic compound screenings aim to identify substances able to boost oligodendroglial cell differentiation, a pivotal process for myelin repair. Several cell culture based studies have been designed to screen pharmacological compounds on primary OPC cultures (Chen et al., 2017; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Eleuteri et al., 2017; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a; Rosler et al., 2016), cell lines (Joubert et al., 2010; Peppard et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015), neural precursor cells (NPCs) (Cui et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2018; Suo et al., 2019) and pluripotent mouse epiblast stem cell (EpiSC)-derived OPCs (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Elitt et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018; Najm et al., 2015). Most of these screenings used

MBP expression as readout to identify compounds that promote OPC differentiation (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a; Mei et al., 2014; Najm et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015; Suo et al., 2019). Alternatively, morphological parameters (Joubert et al., 2010; Peppard et al., 2015) and metabolic activity were used by others for the same purpose (Eleuteri et al., 2017). Of note, a number of cell-based screenings have been designed for direct identification of compounds that promote myelination (Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a; Mei et al., 2014) and some others for compounds that increase OPC viability as alternative means of boosting remyelination (Elitt et al., 2018; Rosler et al., 2016).

Of note, the use of zebrafish, as whole organism, has been demonstrated to be effective for the study of oligodendroglial cell differentiation and myelination *in vivo*, reviewed in (Czopka, 2016). In this respect, pharmacological screening platforms have been developed for compounds that promote oligodendroglial cell development and myelin production both in development (Buckley et al., 2010; Early et al., 2018; Preston et al., 2019) and as rescuing effect in disease (Diamantopoulou et al., 2019).

In silico drug repurposing approaches apply analytical methods to data from available databases to elucidate associations between pathophysiological conditions and drugs. Molecular in silico approaches are based on drug- and disease-focused databases and tools that link drugs and disease to identify drug-induced changes in transcriptomic and genomic signatures in the concept of a disease. In silico virtual screenings are complementary to experimental high-throughput screening (HTS) since they are often producing false positive hits but their contribution is valuable since they are cheap and efficient (Cha et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2019). Recently, a virtual target-driven HTS of approximately 130.000 lead like compounds for the identification of agonists with binding affinity to the GPR17 protein, an inhibitor of OPC differentiation and myelination led to identification of 29 compounds belonging to 3 distinct families. After focusing on one of them, the library was expanded via cheminformatical methods to increase diversity and drug-likeness. Ultimately, some of the

top hits turned out to be commercially available, the pro-oligodendroglial properties of some of them were shown experimentally and one of them delayed the onset of EAE *in vivo* (Parravicini et al., 2020). Another recent study that highlights the importance of in silico screening involves the use of public microarray results from the GEO database and interrogation of the connectivity map (CMAP) (Zhu et al., 2019). This screening led to the identification of differential gene expression in corpus callosum from naïve and cuprizonetreated mice and gave rise to a list of compounds with pro-remyelinating properties, the best of which were confirmed and validated experimentally *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Zhu et al., 2019).

The choice of the compound library which will be tested in a phenotypic screening is a decisive factor for the efficiency of the approach. The decision is being made after taking into account criteria like molecular and pharmacological properties of the compounds, the size and the cost of the library and its previous applications. A few reviews can provide guidance and easy to use tools, like cheminformatics software tools, for careful selection of a compound library (Dandapani et al., 2012; Volochnyuk et al., 2019). As example, the Bemis-Murcko scaffold analysis is a tool that determines the structural and topological uniqueness of each compound within a collection or upon comparison of more than one collections providing knowledge about the actual number of unique molecules the purchaser will receive (Bemis & Murcko, 1996). ZINC constitutes a useful free database of purchasable compound libraries (Sterling & Irwin, 2015).

Large scale pharmacological screenings are succeeded by a row of validation steps which lead to confirmation of hits, as well as determination of their pharmacological properties, toxicity, translational potential to the human system and effects on myelination and remyelination (Fig. 4b). Toxic effects in cell culture can be detected by a diminish in the total cell count (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Elitt et al., 2018; Najm et al., 2015) or via use of viability assays based on luminescent indicators of metabolic activity (Peppard et al., 2015; Rosler et al., 2016). Studies commonly include validation and ranking of primary hits according to their

potency by means of half maximal effective concentration (EC50) determination (Chen et al., 2017; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a, 2016b; Najm et al., 2015; Parravicini et al., 2020; Peppard et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015; Rosler et al., 2016). To assess the translational potential of the primary hits, cells of human origin, as for example human OPCs generated from skin fibroblast-derived human induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) line and human embryonic stem cell (hESC) lines H7 and H9 (Najm et al., 2015), human glioma cell line GBM528 (Hubler et al., 2018), and human Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease (PMD) patient iPSC-derived cells used for generation of oligocortical spheroids (Elitt et al., 2018) have been used to reproduce the effect on cells of rodent origin. Hit validation in terms of the impact on developmental myelination is a crucial step for the determination of the efficacy of a drug for use in myelin repair. For this purpose, neuron-oligodendrocyte coculture systems (Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Parravicini et al., 2020; Suo et al., 2019), electrospun microfibers (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Elitt et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018), organotypic cerebellar slices (Eleuteri et al., 2017; Najm et al., 2015) and in vivo drug administration (Najm et al., 2015) have been used to detect beneficial effects on developmental myelination upon hit compound application. Finally, to demonstrate remyelination promoting properties of hit compounds LPC-mediated demyelination has been used both ex vivo (Eleuteri et al., 2017) and in vivo (Hubler et al., 2018; Mei et al., 2014; Najm et al., 2015). More often, the cuprizone model of demyelination (Chen et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Suo et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019) or the EAE model for MS (Deshmukh et al., 2013; Najm et al., 2015; Parravicini et al., 2020; Suo et al., 2019) have been used for the same purpose. In some studies, even more than one models were combined to demonstrate detailed effects of a treatment (Deshmukh et al., 2013; Najm et al., 2015; Suo et al., 2019).

2.5.3. Target-driven screenings and singe substance based studies

Large scale screenings are mostly biased free and aim to identify novel compounds with desired properties and whose molecular targets can then be used to identify cellular pathways that are implicated in the process of interest. A different approach with a significant contribution to the study of oligodendrocyte biology and myelin repair, as well as to the identification of modulatory compounds, is the development of targeted screenings or single substance testing that are based either on hypothesis or prior knowledge about the implication of specific molecular mechanisms in the aforementioned processes.

Targeted screens for pro-myelinating compounds are based on prior knowledge of the implication of specific signaling pathways or molecules in oligodendroglial cell development, as for example GPCRs or the RhoA//ROCK and PKCa signaling pathways and the use of known modulators of them for the detection of pro-oligodendroglial effects (Gonzalez et al., 2016; Mei et al., 2016a). Interestingly, information about hit compounds from a few biased-free high content screenings (Mei et al., 2014; Najm et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015) led to development of follow-up targeted screenings, further characterization of their mode of action and identification of additional compounds with pro-myelinating properties (Ashikawa et al., 2016; Rankin et al., 2019).

Many studies have used bioactive compounds to either determine whether specific molecular pathways can become targets of pro-myelinating drugs or to shed light on their implication in oligodendroglial biology or myelination. Among the molecules and signaling/processes that have been identified as druggable targets in this context are K_{ATP} channels and cell hyperpolarization (Fogal et al., 2010), major chromatin regulators BET and lysine acetylation (Gacias et al., 2014), ROCK and the Rho-A/ROCK signaling (Pedraza et al., 2014), cAMP-specific phosphodiesterase 7 (PDE7) and glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) (Medina-Rodríguez et al., 2013; Medina-Rodríguez et al., 2017), neurotrophin brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Fletcher et al., 2018), BMP4 (Govier-Cole et al., 2019), mTOR (Tyler et al., 2009), cannabinoid receptors (Gomez et al., 2011), thyroid hormone (Hartley et al., 2019) and GPR17 (Hennen et al., 2013; Merten et al., 2018).

Finally, another approach for the identification of pro-myelinating drugs is the investigation of the effects on oligodendroglial biology and myelination of agents with known immunomodulatory or neuroprotective properties, with some of them being approved or

suggested candidates for neurodegenerative diseases, such as MS. Interesting examples in this context are olexisome, a suggested candidate agent for the treatment of amyotropic lateral sclerosis with neuroprotective and neuroregenerative properties (Magalon et al., 2012), the approved immunomodulatory drugs for RRMS fingolimod and teriflunomide (Göttle et al., 2018; Miron et al., 2008; Miron et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2015), aspirin which has neuroprotective effects and a broad spectrum of therapeutic applications (Chen et al., 2014), Vitamin D which has reported immunomodulatory and protective effects in EAE (de la Fuente et al., 2015; Shirazi et al., 2015) and the anti-psychotic drug quentiapine (Xiao et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2012).

2.6. Aim of the study

Multiple sclerosis is among the most debilitating autoimmune demyelinating diseases, affects a great number of mostly young people, and leads to permanent neurological deficits (Noseworthy, 1999). The currently available therapies are focused on immunomodulation, but they fail to invert the already existed damage, which develops as neurodegeneration progresses due to the absence of myelin sheaths and oligodendrocyte loss (Kremer et al., 2019b). Adult OPCs remain an undifferentiated state throughout adulthood and in response to injury or disease they are getting activated to eventually differentiate into myelinating oligodendrocytes which give rise to new myelin sheaths, a process called remyelination (Dawson et al., 2003). The innate capacity of the CNS for myelin repair is, however, not sufficient and declines as the disease progression worsens (Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2017). The rate-limiting event for remyelination is the inability of the OPCs to differentiate due to lack of stimulatory cues or the presence of inhibitory signals (Gruchot et al., 2019). Over the past few years many scientific approaches have led to the identification of pharmacological compounds which boost OPC differentiation and eventually myelin repair, with some of them already been in clinical trials (Deshmukh et al., 2013; Hubler et al., 2018; Najm et al., 2015). Despite all this progress, an effective treatment has not yet been developed.

This study is based on knowledge regarding the inhibitory role of the p57kip2 protein in oligodendrogenesis, which is only exerted when the protein is localized in the nucleus, while nuclear exclusion is associated with later stages of development and initiation of differentiation (Göttle et al., 2015). p57kip2's subcellular localization was used as readout for the development of a phenotypic screening for compounds with the potential to promote OPC differentiation and myelin repair and knowledge about the hit compounds was used to shed light on the underlying mode of actions.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Material

3.1.1. Animals and human tissue

The animals used for this study were ordered from the Janvier Labs (Le Genest-Saint-Isle, France) and/or bred within the animal facility of the Heinrich-Heine-University of Düsseldorf, under pathogenic free standard conditions (temperature 21°C, humidity 50 (+/-5)%, 12 hours (h) light/12 h dark cycle. During *in vivo* experiments, animals were kept in specified groups in standard cages with water and food supplies available ad libitum. For the generation of the primary oligodendroglial cell and organotypic cerebellar slice cultures Wistar rats of either sex on postnatal day 0 or 1 (P0 or P1) and P7, respectively, were used. For the cuprizone-mediated demyelination seven-week-old female C57BL/6 mice ordered from Janvier Labs, were directly split into groups, and left for one week to get acquainted to the environment before the initiation of the experiment.

Ethical approval for the generation of rodent primary oligodendroglial cell and organotypic cerebellar slice cultures was provided by the ZETT (Zentrale Einrichtung für Tierforschung und wissenschaftliche Tierschutzaufgaben; O69/11, V54/09). The cuprizone-mediated demyelination animal model used in this study was approved by the authorities at LANUV (Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz Nordrhein-Westfalen; Az.: 81-02.04.2019.A203) and carried out with ethical care.

The human OPCs derived from fetal tissue supplied by a National Institutes of Health (NIH) supported program, called the U of Washington. Second trimester (14-17 weeks) fetal samples were obtained from the University of Washington Birth Defects Research Laboratory (MP-37-2014-540; 13-244-PED; eReviews 3345).

3.1.2. Chemicals

3.1.2.1. Reagents/buffers/chemicals

Reagent/buffer/chemical	Supplier
4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI)	Roche
Agarose, UltraPure Low Melting Point	Thermo Fisher Scientific

Ringer solution Magnesium chloride (MgCl2·6H2O) **HEPES** buffer 1 M Bovine Albumin Fraction V (BSA; 7.5% solution) Bovine Albumin Fraction V (BSA; powder) Citifluor AF1 Cat #17970-100 **Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO)** Isoflurane Ethanol 96% Skimmed milk powder Trypan blue, 0.4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) Sodium chloride (NaCl) Trishydroxymethylaminomethan (Tris) Triton X-100 Tween 80 Tween 20 0.2% (w/w) cuprizone containing diet pellets Cat#TD.140803 Cuprizone CAS 370-81-0 V1534 implemented Cat#V1534 Prestwick Chemical Library Cat#PCL1280.10-50-G96 Fingolimod (FTY720) CAS 402616-26-6 Parbendazole CAS 14255-87-9 Danazol CAS 17230-88-5 Poly-D-lysine coated (PDL) **Trypsin-EDTA RIPA** buffer HALT[™] Protease-/Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail **EDTA** Bolt 12% Bis-Tris Plus mini protein gel Nitrocellulose membranes **1x ReBlot Plus Strong Solution 10x Bolt Sample Reducing Agent** 4x Bolt LDS Sample Buffer 20x Bolt MOPS SDS Run Buffer Pierce[™] 1-Step Transfer Buffer

Fresenius Kabi SERVA Thermo Fisher Scientific Thermo Fisher Scientific Carl Roth **Electron Microscopy Sciences** Sigma-Aldrich Piramal Merck Carl Roth Lonza Merck Merch Carl Roth Sigma-Aldrich Sigma-Aldrich Sigma-Aldrich Envigo Sigma-Aldrich SSNIFF Prestwick **Echelon Biosciences MedChem Express** Sigma-Aldrich Sigma-Aldrich **Capricorn Scientific** Cell Signaling Technology **Thermo Fisher Scientific** Thermo Fisher Scientific Thermo Fisher Scientific **Thermo Fisher Scientific** Merck Millipore **Thermo Fisher Scientific** Thermo Fisher Scientific Thermo Fisher Scientific Thermo Fisher Scientific

Magic marker (MM)	Thermo Fisher Scientific
SeeBlue™ Pre-stained Protein Standard	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Pierce™ Lane Marker Non-Reducing Sample Buffer	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Fetal bovine serum (FBS)	Lonza, Basel; Capricorn
	Scientific
Superglue	UHU
Heat inactivated horse serum	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (PBS)	Sigma-Aldrich
Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS)	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Normal goat serum (NGS)	Sigma-Aldrich
Trypsin	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Poly-L-lysine (PLL)	Sigma-Aldrich
Poly-D-lysine (PDL)	Sigma-Aldrich
ECM-gel from Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm murine sarcoma	Sigma-Aldrich
Sterile saline solution (0,9% NaCl)	Fresenius Kabi
Sucrose	Carl Roth
Tissue-Tek OCT compound	Sakura Finetek
Acetone	Merck
Normal donkey serum	Sigma-Aldrich
Shandon™ Immu-Mount	Thermo Fisher Scientific
2-Methylbutane	Merck

3.1.2.2. Media for cell culture

Medium	Supplier/Composition	
Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM)	Thermo Fisher Scientific	
Dulbecco's modified eagle medium GlutaMax-I (DMEM	Thermo Fisher Scientific	
GlutaMax-I)		
Minimum essential medium (MEM), c/HEPES, s/L-Glu	Thermo Fisher Scientific	
Leibovitz's medium L-15	Thermo Fisher Scientific	
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium/Nutrient Mixture	Sigma-Aldrich	
F-12 Ham		
Rat cortical tissue digestion medium MEM implemented v		
	µg/ml DNAse; 0.24 mg/ml L-	
	cystein; 30 U/ml papain (all	
	Sigma-Aldrich)	
Trypsin inhibitor solution	Leibvitz's medium L-15	
	implemented with 1 mg/ml	

	trypsin inhibitor (Sigma-
	Aldrich); 50 mg/ml BSA (Carl
	Roth); 40µg/ml DNase I type
	IV (Sigma-Aldrich)
Mixed glial culture medium	DMEM implemented with 10%
	FBS; 4 mM L-glutamine
	(Thermo Fisher Scientific);
	100 U/ml penicillin/0.1 mg/ml
	streptomycin (Thermo Fisher
	Scientific)
Rat oligodendroglial cell culture medium (SATO)	DMEM GlutaMax-I
	implemented with 5 µg/ml
	bovine insulin; 50 µg/ml
	human transferrin; 100 µg/ml
	BSA (Carl Roth); 6.2 ng/ml
	progesterone; 16 µg/ml
	putrescine, 5 ng/ml sodium
	selenite; 400 ng/ml T3 (tri-
	iodo-thyronine); 400 ng/ml T4
	(thyroxin; all Sigma-Aldrich); 4
	mM L-glutamine; 100 U/ml
	penicillin/0.1 mg/l streptomycin
	(both Thermo Fisher Scientific)
Oligodendroglial cell culture differentiation medium	SATO implemented with
	0.5% FBS
Slice culture medium	50% MEM; 25% HBSS +/+;
	25% heat inactivated horse
	serum; implemented with
	100 U/ml penicillin/0.1 mg/ml
	streptomycin (Thermo Fisher
	Scientific); 5 mg/ml D-glucose
	monohydrate (Merck Millipore)
Human telencephalic tissue digestion medium	0.25% Trypsin (Thermo Fisher
	Scientific); 25 µg/mL DNase I
	(Roche, Laval, Canada)
Human oligodendroglial cell culture medium	DMEM-F12 media
	supplemented with N1 (Sigma-

Aldrich); B27 supplement (Sigma-Aldrich); 10ng/ml PDGF-AA; 10 ng/ml bFGF (Sigma-Aldrich)

3.1.2.3. Commercial Assays

Assay	Supplier
DC™ Protein Assay Kit II Cat#5000112	BIO-RAD
Pierce™ Reversible Protein Stain Kit Cat#24580	Thermo Fisher Scientific
SuperSignal™ West Pico PLUS Chemiluminescent	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Substrate Cat#34579	

Antibody Supplier Identifier
Cupplier Mentilier
Rabbit polyclonal anti-p57kip2 (1:250)Sigma-AldrichCat#P0357,
RRID:AB_260850
Rabbit polyclonal anti-p38 (1:1000)CellSignalingCat#9212,
Technology RRID:AB_330713
Rabbit polyclonal anti-p-p38 (1:1000)CellSignalingCat#9211,
Technology RRID:AB_331641
Rabbit polyclonal anti-NF (1:1000)AbcamCat#ab8135,
RRID:AB_306298
Rabbit polyclonal anti-GSTpi (1:2000)Enzo Life SciencesCat#ADI-MSA-101-E,
RRID:AB_2039147
Rat monoclonal anti-MBP (1:250)Bio-RadCat#MCA409S,
RRID:AB_325004
Rat anti-PLP monoclonal (1:250) Kind gift from B. (Chen et al., 2015)
Trapp and R. Dutta,
Dept. of
Neurosciences,
Cleveland Clinic, OH
Mouse monoclonal anti-GAPDH (1:5000) Merck Millipore Cat#MAB374,
RRID:AB_2107445
Mouse monoclonal anti-OLIG2 (1:500) Merck Millipore Cat#MABN50,
RRID:AB_10807410
Mouse monoclonal anti-O4 (1:200) R and D Systems Cat#MAB1326,
RRID:AB_357617

3.1.2.4. Antibodies

Mouse monoclonal anti-CC1 (1:1000 ICC,	GeneTex	Cat#GTX16794,
1:500 IHC)		RRID:AB_422404
Mouse monoclonal anti-MOG (1:500)	Merck Millipore	Cat#MAB5680,
		RRID:AB_1587278
Goat polyclonal anti-PDGFR (1:250)	Neuromics	Cat#GT15150,
		RRID:AB_2737233
Hybridoma anti-GalC IgG3 (1:50)	Jack. P. Antel,	(Kremer et al., 2016b)
	Montreal Neurological	
	Institute, McGill	
	University, Montreal,	
	Quebec, Canada	
Goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 594 (1:500)	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A-11037,
	Scientific	RRID:AB_2534095
Goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 405 (1:500)	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A-31556,
	Scientific	RRID:AB_221605
Goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200)	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A-11008,
	Scientific	RRID:AB_143165
Goat anti-rat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500 ICC,	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A-11006,
1:200 IHC)	Scientific	RRID:AB_2534074
Goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 647 (1:500)	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A32728,
	Scientific	RRID:AB_2633277)
Goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A32728,
ICC, 1:200 IHC)	Scientific	RRID:AB_2633277
Donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200)	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A-11055,
	Scientific	RRID:AB_2534102
Goat anti-mouse IgM-Alexa Fluor 647	SouthernBiotech	Cat#1021-31,
(1:500)		RRID:AB_2794254
Goat anti-mouse IgG3-Alexa Fluor 488	Thermo Fisher	Cat#A-21151,
(1:500)	Scientific	RRID:AB_2535784
Anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked (1:2000)	Cell Signaling	Cat#7074,
	Technology	RRID:AB_2099233
Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L), made in horse	Vector Laboratories	Cat#PI-2000,
(1:5000)		RRID:AB_2336177
Hoechst 33258 (1:1000)	Thermo Fisher	Cat#H3569,
	Scientific	RRID:AB_2651133

3.1.3. Culture flasks, plates, and dishes		
Flask/plate/dish	Supplier	
T-75 cell culture flask	Greiner Bio-One	
Cell Culture Dish, ø 100 mm	Greiner Bio-One	
Cell Culture Multiwell Plate, 24 Well	Greiner Bio-One	
Cell Culture Multiwell Plate, 12 Well	Greiner Bio-One	
Microplate, 96 well, PS, U-Bottom, Clear	Greiner Bio-One	
96-well Black/Clear Flat Bottom TC-treated Imaging	Corning	
Microplate with Lid		
ø 13 mm microscope cover glasses	Hecht Assistent	
Cell culture inserts, hydrophilic PTFE, pore size: 0.4	Merck Millipore	
μm, diameter 30 mm		

3.1.4. Material for in vivo experimentation and immunostaining

Material	Supplier
SuperFrost Plus microscope slides	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Microscope slides (76 x 26 mm)	Engelbrecht
Mini Pap Pen	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Butterfly needles	BD Vacutainer
1 ml syringe	Braun
Needles (0.45 x 10 mm)	BD Microlance 3

3.1.5. Hardware and software

3.1.5.1. Technical devices

Device	Supplier
Eppendorf Centrifuge 5804	Eppendorf
Thermo Scientific Fresco 21 Microcentrifuge	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Heraeus Megafuge 3.0R Refrigerated Centrifuge	Thermo Fisher Scientific
New Brunswick Excella® E24/E24R	Eppendorf
Heraeus Hera Safe incubator BBD 6220	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Infinite M200 Pro plate reader	TECAN
SonopulsHD2070 ultrasonic homogenizer	Bandelin
Zeiss Axionplan2 microscope	Carl Zeiss Microscopy
Safe 2020 Class II Biological Safety Cabinets	Thermo Fisher Scientific
CLSM 510 confocal microscope	Carl Zeiss Microscopy
XCell SureLock Mini-Cell Electrophoresis System	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Power Blotter–Semi-dry Transfer System	Thermo Fisher Scientific

Fusion FX BD Pathway 855 High-Content Cell Analyzer HM 650V microtome Leica CM3050S cryostat Light microscope Stereoscope Vilber Lourmat BD Biosciences Thermo Fisher Scientific Leica Leica Olympus

Software/algorithm	Supplier	Identifier
ImageJ	BioVoxxel	http://www.biovoxxel.de/ RRID:SCR_015825
BioVoxxel	Toolbox	
software		
Fusion FX	Vilber Lourmat	https://www.vilber.com/fusion-fx/#specs/
software		
Attovision v.1.7.1	BD	https://www.bdbiosciences.com/en-us/site-terms-and-
software package	Biosciences	conditions/ RRID:SCR_014315
	Systems	
ZEN 2 Blue	Carl ZEISS	https://www.zeiss.com/microscopy/us/products/micros
Edition software	Microscopy	cope-software/zen.html RRID:SCR_013672
Matlab Software	Mathworks, Inc	http://www.mathworks.com/products/matlab/
R2015a		RRID:SCR_001622
GraphPad Prism	GraphPad	http://www.graphpad.com/ RRID:SCR_002798
8.0.2 software	Prism	
Custom Code	(Manousi et	https://github.com/anastasiamanousi/p57kip2-
	al., 2021)	translocation-Manousi-et-al2020
G*Power 3.1.9.2	Heinrich-	(Faul et al., 2009)
software	Heine-	
	University	
Microsof Excel	Microsoft office	https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/ RRID:SCR_016137

3.1.5.2. Software/algorithm

3.2. Methods

3.2.1. Primary rat oligodendroglial cell culture

3.2.1.1. PDL Coating of culture dishes

For the primary rat oligodendroglial precursor cell culture either 24-well plates (Greiner Bio-One) with glass coverslips (Hecht Assistent; 13 mm), 6-well plates (Greiner Bio-One) without coverslips or 96-well Black/Clear Flat Bottom TC-treated Imaging Microplates (Corning) were used. 24-well plates were coated overnight at 4°C with 500 µl/well sterile filtered poly-Dlysine (PDL, Sigma) diluted in PBS (Sigma) for a final concentration of 0.25 mg/ml, to allow cell adhesion. 6-well plates were coated with 1500 µl/well of the same PDL solution overnight. 96-well plates were coated with 100 µl/well of 1 mg/ml PDL for 4 days. Plates were washed three times with PBS before addition of the cell suspension to avoid cytotoxic PDL remnants.

3.2.1.2. Preparation of rat oligodendroglial cell culture

Primary rat OPC cultures were generated as previously described (Göttle et al., 2015; Kremer et al., 2009; McCarthy & de Vellis, 1980). For this purpose, postnatal day 0 and 1 rats (Wistar rats of either sex) were anaesthetized with isoflurane (Piramal) for 3 minutes (min), disinfected with 70% ethanol (Merck) and sacrificed via decapitation. The brain was carefully detached from the skull, the lobules were then separated from each other with a spatula and cut with a scalpel. Following, meninges and blood vessels were carefully removed under the stereoscope. Afterwards, cortices were cut into small pieces and placed in MEM-Hepes medium (MEM, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Upon centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 1 min the pellet was resuspended in 1 ml digestion medium [MEM; 40 µg/ml DNAse; 0.24 mg/ml L-cystein; 30 U/ml papain (all Sigma-Aldrich)]. Following incubation at 37°C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂ for 45 min, 1 ml of trypsin inhibitor solution [Leibvitz's medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific); 1 mg/ml trypsin inhibitor (Sigma-Aldrich); 50 mg/ml (BSA, Carl Roth); 40µg/ml DNase I type IV (Sigma-Aldrich)] was added and another incubation for 4 min at room temperature (RT) took place. Upon careful elimination of the supernatant, 1 additional ml of trypsin inhibitor solution was added to the pellet, followed by thorough mixing with an Eppendorf pipette (volume 1000 µl) and addition of 10 ml DMEM medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific) containing 10% FBS (Lonza/Capricorn). The solution was then centrifuged for 5 min at 1200 rpm and supernatant was discarded. In the next step, pellet was resuspended with a glass Pasteur pipette in 1 ml of mixed glial culture medium [DMEM; 10% FBS; 4 mM L-glutamine (Thermo Fisher Scientific); 100 U/ml penicillin/0.1 mg/ml streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific)] and afterwards, another 14 ml of medium (for 6 rats) were added to the cell suspension. Uncoated T-75 cell culture flasks (Greiner Bio-One) were equilibrated with 15 ml of culture medium before addition of 5 ml cell suspension (2 rats/flask). Cultures were incubated at 37°C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂ for 10 days, medium was changed for the first time after 4 days and thereafter twice a week. This procedure resulted in a mixed glial culture containing an astrocytic layer, microglia and OPCs.

After 10 days, OPC purification was carried out according to the different properties of the diverse cell types on the surface of the culture flask. As a first step, flasks were shaken for 2 h at 180 rpm, at RT to achieve detachment and removal of debris and a part of the microglial cell population. Another 22 h of shaking were needed for the rest of microglia and OPCs to detach from the astrocytic layer. To separate OPCs from microglia, the supernatant of each flask was then placed on a 10 cm petri dish and incubated for 20 min at 37°C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂ to attain the attachment of the microglia on the surface of the dish. The supernatant which consisted of ~98% OPCs was transferred from the dishes to a centrifuge tube and was centrifuged for 10 min at 1500 rpm. The pellet was then resuspended with a glass Pasteur pipette in 1 ml SATO medium [DMEM GlutaMax-l; 5 µg/ml bovine insulin; 50 µg/ml human transferrin; 100 µg/ml BSA (Carl Roth); 6.2 ng/ml progesterone; 16 µg/ml putrescine, 5 ng/ml sodium selenite; 400 ng/ml T3 (tri-iodo-thyronine); 400 ng/ml T4 (thyroxin; all Sigma-Aldrich); 4 mM L-glutamine; 100 U/ml penicillin/0.1 mg/l streptomycin (both Thermo Fisher Scientific)]. Cell number was counted under the light microscope using Thoma chambers (10 µl cell suspension and 10 µl trypan blue, Lonza) and the yield of the obtained cells was then calculated to 30000 cells/well (for 24-well plates), 2.4 x 10⁶ (for 6-well plates) or 5000 cells/well (for 96-well plates). Upon seeding, cells were left to attach to the bottom of the wells for 1.5 h at 37°C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂ in SATO medium (500, 3000 and 200 µl/well, respectively) and then spontaneous differentiation was induced via addition of differentiation medium (SATO; 0.5% FBS) in form of medium change. At the same time corresponding compound treatments were applied. Medium change was performed after 3 days.

3.2.1.3. Immunocytochemistry for the rat oligodendroglial cells.

For immunofluorescence staining cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA, MERCK) in PBS. Cells in 24-well plates were washed 3 times before and after application of 500 µl PFA, and fixed for 10 min at RT. For fixation of cells in 96-well plates, half of the medium was removed and 8% PFA was carefully added on the surface to reach a final concentration of 4%. Fixation was performed for 15 min and was terminated via 3 washing steps with PBS. Plates were preserved at 4°C.

Immunofluorescence staining was performed for marker expression analysis. Cells seeded on coverslips were fixed after 3 or 6 days of spontaneous differentiation and coverslips were placed on parafilm to stain for MBP on day 3 and MOG on day 6. Cells in 96-well plates were fixed after 1 day and stained for the p57kip2 protein directly in the plates. Unspecific staining was prevented everywhere by blocking with 10% normal goat serum (Sigma-Aldrich) for 45 min at RT. Staining procedures with primary rat anti-myelin basic protein (MBP, 1:250, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA Cat# MCA409S, RRID:AB 325004) were performed in blocking solution containing 0.02% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich) overnight at 4°C. Rabbit anti-p57kip2 primary antibody (Sigma-Aldrich Cat# P0357, RRID:AB 260850) was diluted 1:250 in blocking solution and applied overnight at 4°C. For staining with mouse anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody (MOG, 1:500, Merck Millipore, Cat# MAB5680, RRID:AB 1587278) cells were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in blocking solution and 0.01% in antibody solution and the primary antibody was applied similarly overnight at 4°C. Upon 3 washing steps with PBS the secondary antibodies goat anti-rat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11006, RRID:AB 2534074), goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat#A32728, RRID:AB 2633277) or goat antirabbit Alexa Fluor 594 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11037, RRID:AB 2534095) in PBS were applied for 2 h at RT. Nuclei were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole (DAPI, 1:100, Roche), added in the secondary antibody solution. Finally, the coverslips were washed 3 times with PBS and mounted using Citifluor AF1 mountant solution (Electron Microscopy Sciences). Coverslips were fixed on microscopic slides (Engelbrecht)
with nail polish. Stained 96-well plates were also washed 3 times with PBS and after the last step 200 μ I PBS/well were added for preservation of stained cells. Solutions were added at a volume of 90 μ I/coverslip or 100 μ I/well.

For image acquisition and analysis, the Zeiss Axionplan2 microscope (Carl Zeiss Microscopy, Jena, Germany) and the ImageJ BioVoxxel software (BioVoxxel Toolbox, RRID:SCR_015825) were used, respectively. Nine images per coverslip were captured in a Z like pattern using 20x magnification and the same exposure times throughout each experiment. Two coverslips were analyzed per condition. For quantification, the total cell number per field was assessed via DAPI staining. Subsequently, the number of protein marker-positive cells in relation to the total cell number was calculated and expressed as percentage. The analysis of the anti-p57kip2 staining will be described later in this section.

3.2.1.4. Chemical compound library screening

A phenotypic screening for compounds with the potential to promote p57kip2's protein nuclear exclusion was established. To this goal, the Prestwick Chemical Library (Prestwick) was chosen, and a total of 1280 small molecules were tested on primary rat OPCs, seeded onto PDL coated 96-well plates at a density of 5000 cells/well, as previously described. All compounds were applied at a concentration of 10 µM and the cells were allowed to differentiate for 24 h. The library was delivered at a concentration of 10 mM in DMSO, compounds were further diluted to 2 mM in DMSO and kept at -80°C until use. A maximum of 5 freeze-thaw cycles was performed for each plate. The compounds reached their final concentration upon a further intermediate 1/100 dilution in differentiation medium directly before the application onto the cells. Of note, to avoid cell detachment only half medium change was performed. Specifically, 100 µl SATO medium were removed and additional 100 µl differentiation medium with 2 times higher FBS and compound concentration were added (for overview of the consecutive dilutions see table below).

	Initial concentration	Dilution	Final concentration
1	10 mM	1/5 in DMSO	2 mM
2	2 mM	1/100 in differentiation medium	20 µM
3	20 µM	1/2 in differentiation medium	10 µM

The screening included application of 1 µM of the S1P agonist FTY720/Fingolimod [Echelon Biosciences; (Miron et al., 2008)] in triplicates on each plate as a positive control and differentiation medium +/- 0.5% DMSO as negative controls. Each compound was tested in triplicates within each individual experiment and each experiment was conducted twice. As previously described, the determination of the subcellular localization of the p57kip2 protein was accessed by means of immunofluorescence staining using the primary rabbit anti-p57kip2 antibody (p57kip2, 1:250, Sigma-Aldrich Cat# P0357, RRID:AB_260850) and the secondary goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 594 antibody (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11037, RRID:AB_2534095) in combination with DAPI.

Automated capturing of nine images per well with a 20x magnification was performed using the BD Pathway 855 High-Content Cell Analyzer (BD Biosciences). Data acquisition was performed with the Attovision v.1.7.1 software package (BD Biosciences). Briefly, the nuclear region of interest was defined according to the DAPI staining and the outer borders of the cytoplasmic according to the p57kip2 staining. Signal intensity of the p57kip2 staining was then automatically measured in each region of interest and data were exported as Excel files (Microsoft office). Analysis of the acquired data was conducted via an algorithm designed in house using the Matlab Software R2015a [Mathworks, Inc, RRID:SCR_001622; (Manousi et al., 2021); see box next page].

```
%This code calculates the percentage of cells with prevailed nuclear
   %p57kip2 localization in one well, give that the p57kip2 signal intensity
   %in the two regions (nucl vs. cyto) is provided as input.
   %The only parameter that changes is the threshold nucl(line 22), which
    %compensates for differences in the overall signal intensity among the
    %plates. This threshold is being set upon manual analysis of the positive and
    %negative controls and under our experimental conditions was always 1000+/-
8
    %200.
9
    %Note: this threshold has to be set for each plate and is strictly being kept
    %constant for the whole plate.
   A=xlsread('excel file name','excel sheet name','cytoplasmic p57 intensity values:nuclear p57 intensity values');
12 cyto=A(:,1);
13 nucl=A(:,2);
14 r=cyto./nucl;
15 p=(numel(r));
16 j=0;
17 k=0;
18 while j<=1000;</pre>
      if r>=1.3;
20
          j=j+1;
          break
        else and(r<1.3,nucl>1100);
            k=j+0;
24
            break
        end
26 end
27 w=double(ans);
28 s=sum(ans,1);
29 l=(s/p)*100;
       fprintf('%% cells with nuclear p57kip2: %f\n',1)
```

The values of the p57kp2 signal intensity in the two regions of interest separately were provided as input. The output of the analysis was the percentage of cells with prevailed nuclear p57kip2 localization (1.3 times more) in each well. Following, the mean of the triplicates for each tested compound was calculated and compared to a specific threshold. As hit compounds, were chosen those which induced equal or greater than 0.75 fold change in nuclear localization of the p57kip2 protein in comparison to the negative controls. This threshold was chosen based on previous experiments in our research group and corresponds to the maximum increase in nuclear exclusion between days 1 and 3 upon initiation of spontaneous differentiation that has been detected. This time window is considered critical since it represents the time when significant transition of OPCs to oligodendrocytes takes places (Göttle et al., 2015). This threshold was kept constant throughout the screening. Since that staining was performed in a non-automated way and the overall intensity was varying among the experiments, an additional threshold was used to

compensate for variations in the signal intensity of the staining among the several plates and was adapted in every run accordingly. To this end, positive and negative controls were used as means of calibration.

3.2.2. Human fetal oligodendroglial cell culture

3.2.2.1. Preparation of human fetal oligodendroglial cell culture

These experiments were conducted by our collaborators in the Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal, QC H4A 3K9, Canada and were published as part of the study from Manousi et al., 2021. The culture was prepared from human fetal second-trimester (14-17 weeks) telencephalon tissue samples which were collected from elective abortions and provided by the University of Washington Birth Defects Research Laboratory, Seattle, Washington, USA, within an NIH supported program (MP-37-2014-540; 13-244-PED; eReviews 3345). Tissue digestion was performed with 0.25% trypsin (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 25 µg/mL DNase I (Roche) to obtain dissociated cells. Isolation of OPCs, that comprised only ~0.1% of the total cells ware conducted via Magnetic-activated cell sorting using immunomagnetic beads coated with O4 antibody (Miltenyi Biotec, Cat# 130-096-670, RRID:AB 2847907). This experimental procedure is well established by our collaborators and previously published elsewhere (Cui et al., 2012; Cui et al., 2010; Leong et al., 2014). Isolated OPCs were then plated in 96-wells plates coated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich) and extracellular matrix (ECM-gel from Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm murine sarcoma, Sigma-Aldrich) at a density of 10000 cells/well. Cells were cultured in DMEM-F12 media supplemented with N1, B27 supplement, 10 ng/ml PDGF-AA and 10 ng/ml bFGF (all Sigma-Aldrich) for 4 days before the initiation of the compound treatment. Compounds were tested as triplicates for 4 and 6 days. Medium change was performed every 2 days.

3.2.2.2. Immunocytochemistry for the human fetal oligodendroglial cells Cells were live stained with application of primary mouse anti-O4 (1:200, R&D Systems Cat# MAB1326, RRID:AB_357617), and hybridoma anti-GalC IgG3 (GC, 1:50, Montreal

Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada) monoclonal antibodies for 15 min at 37°C and then fixed with 4% PFA for 10 min in RT. Secondary antibodies goat anti-mouse IgM-Alexa Fluor 647 (1:500, SouthernBiotech Cat# 1021-31, RRID:AB_2794254) to O4 and goat anti-mouse IgG3-Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-21151, RRID:AB_2535784) to GC were applied for 30 min at RT. Cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33258 (1:1000, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# H3569, RRID:AB_2651133). Following cell imaging, the O4- and GC-positive cells were counted, and their percentage was calculated in two independent preparations from human donor tissues (HF601 and HF603).

3.2.3. Western blotting

These experiments were conducted in collaboration with Laura Reiche and Dr. Jessica Schira-Heinen. For western blot analysis, OPCs were seeded at a density of 2.4 x 10^6 cells/well in PDL coated 6-well plates and after incubation in Sato medium for 1.5 h, cells were treated either with 0.1 µM parbendazole or with the corresponding DMSO concentration for control in differentiation medium for 1 h. Cell detachment was achieved with removal of the medium, 3 washing steps with 1.5 ml ice cold PBS and incubation with 1.5 ml pre-warmed trypsin-EDTA (Capricorn Scientific; diluted 1:1 with PBS) for 3 min at 37° C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂. Following incubation, the enzymatic reaction was stopped with differentiation medium. Cells were then scraped thoroughly; surface was washed once with 1.5 ml PBS and all supernatants were collected in a centrifuge tube. In the next step, cells were centrifuged at 2100 rpm for 10 min at 4°C, supernatant was discarded, and pellets were frozen on dry ice prior to storage at -80°C.

Cell lysis was carried out on ice with approximately 60 µl 1x radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA buffer, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) pro sample, supplemented with HALT[™] Protease-/Phosphatase inhibitor cocktail and EDTA (both Thermo Fisher Scientific; 1:100). Upon pellet resuspension in lysis buffer, samples were subjected to 10 seconds (sec) of sonication with an ultrasound homogenizer

(SonopulsHD2070, 50% power, pulse 0.5 sec on and 0.5 sec off) and subsequently centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C, to proceed with the supernatant.

For determination of the protein concentration 5 ml of the supernatant were diluted 1:3 in deionized water. Similarly, protein standard series (BSA-stocks: 0 µg/ml, 31.25 µg/ml, 62.5 µg/ml, 125 µg/ml, 250 µg/ml, 500 µg/ml, 1000 µg/ml, 2000 µg/ml) were thawed and diluted 1:3 in water. The next steps were performed according to the instructions of the manufacturer of the DC[™] Protein Assay Kit II (Bio-Rad). Each sample and standard were measured in duplicate. For each replicate 25 µl Reagent A and 0.5 µl of Reagent S were used. First 5 µl of samples or standards were transferred to a 96-round well plate (Corning), followed by addition of a mix of A and S reagents and 200 µl of Reagent B. Plates were immediately covered with aluminum foil and protein quantification with the Infinite M200 Pro plate reader (TECAN) was performed within the next 10 min (for the main settings see the table below).

Parameter	Setting
Mode	Absorption
Multiple reads per well Square (filled)	3 x 3
Multiple reads per well (Border)	2000 µm
Wavelength	540 nm
Bandwidth	9 nm
Number of flashes	25
Settle Time	0 ms

Samples were then subjected to standard sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) gel electrophoresis using Bolt 12% Bis-Tris Plus mini protein gel (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Pro lane 20 µg sample were loaded along with the Bolt LDS Sample Buffer (4x), Bolt Reducing Agent (10x) (both Thermo Fisher Scientific) and deionized water as shown in the table below.

Reagent	Reduced Sample
Sample	xμL
Bolt LDS Sample Buffer (4x)	10 µL
Bolt Reducing Agent (10x)	4 µl
Deionized water	to 26 μL

Total Volume

40 µL

Samples were incubated at 70°C for 10 min and spun down before use. The Bolt MOPS SDS Run Buffer (20x) was diluted to 1x with deionized water and added to the chamber of the XCell SureLock Mini-Cell Electrophoresis System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Upon short rinsing of the gel with deionized water and placement in the chambers, samples along with 4 µl Magic Marker (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 8 µl SeeBlue™ Pre-stained Protein Standard (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were loaded to the wells. Gels run at constant voltage, 15 min at 50 V, afterwards 200 V for around 40 min. The run was paused 10 min before it was finished to load 5 µl Pierce™ Lane Marker Non-Reducing Sample Buffer in each well and then it was restarted to the end.

For the semi-dry western blotting, first the Pierce[™] 1-Step Transfer Buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was diluted 1:5 in distilled water. In total 50 ml were required per gel. The nitrocellulose membrane and the filters (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were equilibrated in prediluted 1-Step buffer for 5 min. First two filter papers were placed in the center of the bottom part of the cassette (anode) and then the membrane. The size of the gel was corrected and upon immerging in distilled water for 5-15 sec to facilitate easy positioning, it was placed on the top of the membrane. Two more pre-wetted filter papers were placed on top of the gel and the cathode lid (top of cassette) was placed on the top. Of note, the efficiency of the transfer is heavily dependent on the proper removal of air bubbles after the addition of every layer. Power Blotter–Semi-dry Transfer System run using the settings presented in the table below.

Methods	Constant	Default [min]	Run	Time
Low MW (< 25 kDa)	1.3 Amps	5		
Mixed-Range MW (25-150 kDa)	1.3 Amps	7		
High MW (>150 kDa)	1.3 Amps	10		
Std Semi Dry	25 Volts	60		
1.5 mm thick gels or unknown gel size	1.3 Amps	10		

For evaluation of the efficiency of protein transfer following SDS electrophoresis the Pierce Reversible Protein Stain Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used. For staining, the membrane was quickly rinsed with ultrapure water and 15 ml of the MemCode Reversible Protein Stain was added to the membrane. Upon incubation for 30 sec on a rotary platform shaker, stained proteins appeared as turquoise-blue bands. Background staining was then removed with 3 subsequent steps of washing with 15 ml of the MemCode Destain Reagent and incubation for 5 min in the same reagent on a rotary platform shaker. Following, the membrane was washed 4 times with ultrapure water and was incubated in water for 5 min on a rotary platform shaker. Photos were taken using the Fusion FX device (Vilber Lourmat) to detect the total amount of loaded protein. Afterwards, staining was removed by incubation in 20 ml MemCod Stain Eraser for 2 min on a rotary platform shaker and 4 washing steps with ultrapure water followed by incubation for 5 min on a rotary platform shaker.

For specific protein detection first unspecific binding was blocked with 1% skimmed milk powder (Carl Roth) in 20 ml TBS (20 mM Tris base, 150 mM NaCl ad 1000 ml ddH2O; pH adjusted to 7.6 using HCI) per membrane for 1 h on a rotary shaker at RT. Application of the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-p38 (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology Cat# 9212, RRID:AB_330713), rabbit anti-p-p38 (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology Cat# 9211, RRID:AB 331641), mouse anti-GAPDH (1:5000, Merck Millipore Cat# MAB374, RRID:AB 2107445), was performed in 10 ml TBS Tween solution [TBST, 1x TBS; 0.05 % (v/v) Tween 20] implemented with 1% skimmed milk, overnight on a rotary shaker at 4°C. The next day, membrane was washed 3 times with TBST for 10 min on a rotary shaker each and following the secondary antibodies anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked (1:2000, Cell Signaling Technology Cat# 7074, RRID:AB_2099233) and anti-mouse IgG (H+L), made in horse (1:5000, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA Cat# PI-2000, RRID:AB 2336177) were diluted in 10 ml TBST and applied to the membrane for 1 h on a rotary shaker at RT. Signals were visualized using Super Signal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) applied for 5 min. Membranes were first used to detect p-p38 and afterwards stripped for the detection of p38 and the housekeeping protein (GAPDH), all in a sequential manner on the same membrane to ensure reliable quantification (see chapter 8.3). Stripping was performed with incubation of the membrane with 10 ml ReBlot Plus Strong Solution (10x, Merck Millipore) diluted 1:10 with distilled water for 15 min at RT on the shaker. Finally, membrane was washed with TBST for 10 min and afterwards two 2 times with TBS for 5 min each. Protein bands were quantified using the Fusion FX software (Vilber Lourmat). The intensity for the bands was determined and normalized to the total amount of the loaded protein, as well as the intensity of the GAPDH band of the corresponding sample.

3.2.4. Organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices

3.2.4.1. Preparation of organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices

Preparation of organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices was performed according to an established protocol (Birgbauer et al., 2004; Jadasz et al., 2018) with the addition of a few adaptations. For this purpose, P7 Wistar rats of both sexes were anesthetized with isoflurane for 3 min, disinfected with 70% ethanol and sacrificed via decapitation. The whole brain was carefully detached from the skull and placed in a petri dish filled with ice cold Ringer solution (Fresenius Kabi) implemented with 1 mM MgCl2•6H2O (SERVA), 5 mM HEPES (Thermo Fisher Scientific), pH: 7.2, where the cerebellum was separated from the rest of the brain using a scalpel. The intact cerebellum was then embedded in 4% agarose (UltraPure Low Melting Point; Thermo Fisher Scientific; diluted in Ringer solution) and mounted vertically to the flat metal chuck of the HM 650V microtome (Thermo Fisher Scientific) using a drop of superglue (UHU). Afterwards, the metal chuck with the attached cerebellum was placed in a magnetic buffer tray which was filled with ice cold Ringer solution. Sagittal sections, 350 µm thick, were made using the following settings: cutting frequency: 50 Hz, cutting amplitude: 1 mm, cutting speed: 12 mm/s and plated onto cell culture inserts (hydrophilic PTFE, pore size: 0.4 µm, diameter 30 mm; Merck Millipore) in 6-well plates upon addition of 1 ml of culture medium [50% MEM, 25% HBSS +/+, 25% heat inactivated horse serum; containing 100 U/ml penicillin/0.1 mg/ml streptomycin (all Thermo Fisher Scientific), 5 mg/ml D-glucose monohydrate (Merck Millipore)] underneath the membrane. Of note, the culturing plates are prepared at least 1 h before the initiation of the sectioning and inserts were equilibrated with

addition of 1 ml culture medium on their top and incubation at 37°C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂. The top side of the insert was carefully dried via aspiration before plating to allow attachment of the slices. Compounds were applied 4 h later as medium change. From a single animal 6 to 8 cerebellar slices were obtained, plated onto 2 inserts, and kept in culture for 3 to 7 days (37°C, 98% humidity, 5% CO₂). For each individual experiment slices from one animal were used to test one compound and the corresponding DMSO control.

3.2.4.2. Immunohistochemistry for organotypic cultures of cerebellar slices

Prior to fixation slices were washed once with 1 ml PBS both on the top and underneath the insert. They were fixed with 4% PFA for 20 min at RT and then washed 3 times in the same fashion with PBS. Cultures were preserved in PBS at 4°C until the initiation of the immunofluorescence staining. Staining procedure was performed free-floating with the slices being still attached to the inserts. To do so the central part of the insert was separated from the outer plastic ring and placed in a well of a 12-well plate followed by addition of PBS. Each solution was added at a volume of 500 µl. Initially, permeabilization of cells was performed with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS and non-specific binding was prevented by incubation in blocking solution [10% NGS (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% BSA (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS]. Primary antibodies rabbit anti-neurofilament (NF, 1:1000, Abcam, Cat# ab8135. RRID:AB 306298), rat anti-MBP (1:250,Bio-Rad Cat# MCA409S, RRID:AB 325004) and mouse anti-OLIG2 (OLIG2, 1:500, Merck Millipore Cat# MABN50, RRID:AB 10807410) were diluted in primary antibody solution [10% NGS, 1% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS]. Secondary antibodies goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 405 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-31556, RRID:AB 221605), goat anti-rat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11006, RRID:AB_2534074) and goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 647 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A32728, RRID:AB 2633277) were diluted in secondary antibody solution (1% NGS, 1% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS). All solutions were incubated overnight at 4°C and slices were finally mounted upwards on a microscopic slide (Engelbrecht) using Citifluor and covered with a square-shaped glass which was fixed with a few drops of nail polish. Image acquisition was performed with a confocal microscope (CLSM 510, Carl Zeiss Microscopy) and analyzed with the Zen 2 Blue Edition (Carl ZEISS Microscopy, ZEN Digital Imaging for Light Microscopy, RRID:SCR_013672) and ImageJ BioVoxxel software packages. In total 3 images (40x magnification) per field were obtained via Z-stack scanning covering 2 µm depth in total and prior the analysis they were projected onto a single plane via orthogonal projection. The orthogonal projection enabled a better tracking of the MBP-positive cell processes and the detection of the characteristic structure of a myelinating MBP/OLIG2-positive cell which was defined as criterion for the analysis (Fig. 10a-a'''). To assess the number of myelinating oligodendrocytes in relation to the total number of OLIG2-positive cells 12-16 fields from similar structures were analyzed for all conditions.

3.2.5. Cuprizone-mediated demyelination and remyelination mouse model

All in vivo experiments were performed with ethical care in the animal facility of the Heinrich-Heine-University (Zentrale Einrichtung für Tierforschung wissenschaftliche und Tierschutzaufgaben; ZETT) under pathogen-free conditions. Seven-week-old female C57BL/6 mice (Janvier Labs) delivered to the animal facility, were separated into groups of 2 or 3 and left for 1 week to get acquainted to the environment before the initiation of the experiment. During this time animals were fed standard rodent chow (SSNIFF, Cat# V1534). As inclusion criteria same age and body weight between 17-19 gr were used. The software G*Power was used to compute a required size of six animals per group with effect size d 2.6 and confidence interval 95%. Demyelination was induced by feeding animals with 0.2% (w/w) cuprizone [bis(cyclohexanone)oxaldihydrazone]-containing diet [either from Envigo (Cat# TD.140803) or from SSNIFF Spezialdiäten GmbH (maintenance diet pellets 10 mm, V1534 implemented with 0.2% cuprizone, Sigma-Aldrich, CAS 370-81-0) for 6 weeks. Spontaneous remyelination was initiated thereafter upon switch to the standard rodent chow.

Parbendazole (MedChem Express, CAS 14255-87-9) was administered at a concentration 1.14 mg/ml and using 20 mg/kg body weight as dose. Parbendazole stock concentration of

13.33 mg/ml in DMSO was further diluted using sterile saline solution (Fresenius Kabi) implemented with 2% Tween 80 (Sigma-Aldrich). A total volume of 350 µl of the parbendazole solution or the corresponding vehicle solution (8.6% DMSO in sterile saline solution implemented with 2% Tween 80) was administered daily via intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections for the last 17 days of cuprizone treatment. Preparation of the solution was performed under sterile conditions and the injection was prepared in the animal facility to avoid contamination with external pathogens. Injections were performed using 1 ml syringes (Braun) and 0.45 x 10 mm needles (BD Microlance 3). Danazol (Sigma-Aldrich, CAS 17230-88-5) was initially dissolved in DMSO for a stock concentration of 30 mg/ml and was diluted before use 1:1 in Tween 80 to increase stability in aqueous solutions. Preparation of the solution was performed under sterile conditions and only after entering the animal facility, it was further diluted down to a final concentration of 0.4 mg/ml in drinking water from the same source as always to avoid contamination with external pathogens. Every day 5 ml of fresh solution was prepared per animal to perform oral administration of danazol at a dose of 100 mg/kg body weight. Vehicle-treated animals were administered the same amount of water implemented with 1.3% DMSO and 1.3% Tween 80. Body weight of the animals was controlled twice a week throughout the experiments. A decrease of more than 10% would be indication of suffering and reason for immediate sacrifice of the animal. One week upon cuprizone withdrawal, treated and naïve animals of the same age were deeply anesthetized using isoflurane inhalation for 2 min and transcardially perfused with 20 ml PBS followed by 20 ml 4% PFA in PBS. Unresponsive mice to toe/tail pinches were fixed in a supine position (lying on their back) by taping the forepaws to a surface made of Styrofoam inside a chemical fume hood. An incision through the skin with surgical scissors along the thoracic midline from beneath the xiphoid process up to the clavicle was made and was followed by two additional from the xiphoid process along the base of the ventral ribcage laterally. Following exposure of the thoracic field, the thoracic musculature and ribcage between the breastbone and medial rib insertion points were cut and incision was extended up to the clavicles. Thereafter, the pericardial sac was completely torn and the skin underneath the

neck along with the ribcage were pinned upwards to expose the heart. Connective tissue around the heart was removed. The beating heart was then fixed with blunt forceps, a butterfly needle (BD Vacutainer) was inserted to the left ventricle, and a small incision in the right atrium was made. The needle was kept fixed throughout the process with the fingers. Upon perfusion, animals were decapitated, and brains were then removed and post-fixed overnight in 4% PFA (3 ml) at 4°C on a rotary shaker. For an overview of the groups of animals included in this study see table below.

Age	CPZ	Remyeli	No of	Treatment/duration (days)
(weeks)/	(weeks)	nation	animals	
sex		(weeks)		
8/female	6	1	5	Parbendazole (20 mg/kg); i.p.; 350 µl/ 17
8/female	6	1	5	Vehicle Par. (8.6% DMSO in sterile saline
				solution with 2% Tween 80); i.p. 350 $\mu\text{l}/$ 17
8/female	6	1	5	Danazol (100 mg/kg); oral/ 17
8/female	6	1	5	Vehicle Dan. (1.3% DMSO in drinking water
				with 1.3% Tween 80)
15/female	-	-	6	Naive

Following post-fixation, cryoprotection of mouse brains was performed in 30% sucrose (Carl Roth; in PBS) at 4°C for 48 h on a rotary shaker. Brains were then embedded in Tissue-Tek OCT medium (Sakura Finetek), frozen in ice cold 2-Methylbutane (Merck) and stored at - 80°C until sectioning with cryostat (Leica CM3050S). For the sectioning SuperFrost Plus microscope slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were used. A total of 40 coronal 10 µm sections per region of interest were prepared and stored at -80°C. Regions of interest, medial (Bregma -0.82 to -1.22 mm) and caudal (Bregma -1.94 to -2.34 mm) parts of corpus callosum, were defined according to (Franklin & Paxinos, 2008).

For immunohistochemical staining, sections were first thawed and air-dried for 10 min at RT. Rehydration was performed for 5 min in distilled water, followed by transfer to -20°C acetone (Merck) for 5 min. Afterwards, 2 washing steps first in 1x TBS (20x TBS: 122 gr TRIS, 180 gr NaCl at 1000ml H_2O ; pH 7.6) and then 1x TBS-T (TBS implemented with 0.02% Triton X-

100; pH 7.6) for 5 min each were performed. A waterproof ring was drawn around each section using a Mini Pap Pen (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to allow application of the solutions (approximately 60 µl per section). Non-specific staining was blocked with 10% biotin-free bovine serum albumin (BSA, Carl Roth) in TBS-T or 10% normal donkey serum (NDS, Sigma-Aldrich) in TBS-T for 30 min at RT. Primary antibody solution (10% BSA in 1x TBS or 10% NDS in 1x TBS) was then applied and incubated overnight at 4°C. The following primary antibodies were used: mouse anti-APC (CC1, 1:500, GeneTex Cat# GTX16794, RRID:AB 422404); rabbit anti-glutathione-S-transferase pi (GSTpi, 1:2000, Enzo Life Sciences, Cat# ADI-MSA-101-E, RRID:AB 2039147); goat anti-PDGFR (alpha/CD140A, 1:250, Neuromics, Cat# GT15150, RRID:AB 2737233); rat anti-PLP [PLP, 1:250, kind gift from B. Trapp and R. Dutta, Dept. of Neurosciences, Cleveland Clinic, OH, USA (Chen et al., 2015)]. Slices were then washed twice in 1x TBS for 5 min each. Secondary antibodies were diluted 1:200 and applied for 30 min along with DAPI (1:50) in PBS at RT. The following secondary antibodies were used: goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 594 (1:200, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11037, RRID:AB 2534095); goat anti-rat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11006, RRID:AB 2534074); goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11008, RRID:AB 143165); goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A32728, RRID:AB 2633277); donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11055, RRID:AB 2534102). Two final washing steps were performed with 1x TBS-T and 1x TBS for 5 min each and the sections were mounted with Shandon™ Immu-Mount (Thermo Fisher Scientific). For image acquisition and analysis, a CLSM and the Zen 2 Blue edition and ImageJ BioVoxxel software packages were used, respectively. Photos were taken with a 20x magnification along the midline of the corpus callosum. For each mouse 4 coronal sections were stained and analyzed (2 from the medial and 2 from the caudal region of interest).

3.2.6. Statistical analysis

Graph design and statistical analyses were performed using the GraphPad Prism 8.0.2 software (GraphPad Prism, San Diego, CA, RRID:SCR_002798). The absence of Gaussian

distribution of the data was assessed via Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Statistical significance between two groups was assessed via unpaired Mann-Whitney U test and among three groups with Tukey's range test following one-way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical significance was determined at *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. n represents the number of independent experiments. The G*Power 3.1.9.2 software (Faul et al., 2009) and the Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test (two groups) were used to compute *a priori* sample size for the *in vivo* experiments.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Phenotypic screening for compounds that promote p57kip2's nucleocytoplasmic shuttling¹

Previous data from our research group indicate that nuclear exclusion of the p57kip2 protein is an early event during the course of spontaneous oligodendroglial cell differentiation and that altered gene expression or nucleocytoplasmic shuttling dynamics have an impact on the process (Göttle et al., 2015; Kremer et al., 2009). Based on this information a phenotypic compound screening using p57kip2's protein subcellular localization as readout to identify pharmacological compounds with the potential to positively regulate already early stages of oligodendrogenesis (Fig. 5a) was established and performed (Manousi et al., 2021). For this purpose, the Prestwick Chemical Library, a widely used collection of mostly FDA/MDA (US Food and Drug Administration/Europeans Medicines Agency) approved small molecules was chosen and tested on primary OPC cultures. All compounds were applied in triplicates at a concentration of 10 µM and upon 24 h of spontaneous differentiation, cells were fixated and stained for the p57kip2 protein. The application of positive (1 µM Fingolimod) and negative (differentiation medium with or without 0.5% DMSO) controls (Fig. 5c-c") on each 96-well plate worked as means of calibration compensating for differences in the intensity of each individual staining and all the experimental procedures were performed by the same person under the same conditions to increase efficiency of the screening. Image acquisition for determination of the subcellular localization of the protein was performed automatically using the BD Pathway 855 High-Content Cell Analyzer. Measurements and analysis of the signal intensity were performed as well in an automated manner using the Attovision v.1.7.1 software and an algorithm designed in house, respectively. As threshold for hit consideration was used a \geq 0.75 fold change in nuclear localization of the protein in comparison to the negative controls. For the primary hit selection each experiment was repeated twice and for confirmation all primary hits were tested three more times using the same experimental set

¹ Parts of these results are published in Manousi et al, 2021; see chapter 8.1

up. Only effects detected at least three times in total (out of five) were considered sufficient for hit compound determination.

Primary hits: enhanced p57kip2 nuclear exclusion after 1 day

- 1 Mebeverine hydrochloride
- 2 Ifenprodil tartrate
- 3 Halcinonide
- 4 Benzamil hydrochloride
- 5 Opipramol dihydrochloride
- 6 Biotin
- 7 Felodipine
- 8 Alverine citrate salt
- 9 Methocarbamol
- **10** Hexamethonium dibromide dihydrate
- **11** Diflunisal
- 12 Isoxicam
- **13** Sulfamethoxypyridazin
- 14 Azaguanine-8
- 15 Ethambutol dihydrochloride
- **16** Propafenone hydrochloride
- 17 Norcyclobenzaprine
- **18** Pentamidine isethionate
- 19 Methiazole
- 20 (+,-)-Synephrine
- 21 Lansoprazole
- 22 Leflunomide
- 23 Denatonium benzoate
- 24 Norgestimate
- 25 Pizotifen malate

- 26 Fluvoxamine maleate
- 27 Acyclovir hydrochloride
- 28 Mianserine hydrochloride
- 29 Cilnidipine
- 30 Danazol
- **31** Aminohippuric acid
- **32** Acetopromazine maleate salt
- 33 Furaltadone
- 34 Guaifenesin
- **35** Bendroflumethiazide
- 36 Propidium iodide
- 37 Methotrimeprazine maleat salt
- 38 Fosfosal
- **39** Tolcapone
- 40 Nocodazole
- 41 Doxepin hydrochloride
- 42 Clomipramine hydrochloride
- 43 Vincamine
- 44 Ketoconazole
- 45 Fusidic acid sodium salt
- 46 Cisapride
- 47 Thiorphan
- 48 Oxybenzone
- 49 Hymecromone
- 50 Methyldopate hydrochloride
- 51 Parbendazole

The screening has been successfully completed with a total number of 1280 tested compounds and out of these, 51 primary hits were identified (for the complete list see table above). Upon confirmation 21 substances (Fig. 5d) were found to reproducibly enhance p57kip2 translocation to the nucleus (as shown for benzamil hydrochloride in Fig. 5c"). In addition, doxorubicin was found to induce exclusive nuclear localization of the p57kip2

protein (data not shown). The results of the three validation rounds are presented in Annex; paragraph 8.4.1. Although, the evaluation of the statistical data quality of the screening was not satisfactory [Z factor<0; (Zhang et al., 1999)] hit overlap with other screenings for compounds with promyelinating properties, namely ifenprodil and isoxicam, was detected. Furthermore, some of the identified hits are related to pathways that have previously been described to regulate oligodendroglial cell lineage progression and survival, as for example the histamine receptor-3 (H3R) inverse agonist GSK247246 (Chen et al., 2017) and benztropine which targets muscarinic receptors (Deshmukh et al., 2013), thus proving the biological significance and efficiency of the screening.

а	non-differentiating OPC	 Screening criteria: 24 h compound stimulation Automated image acquisition and data Negative controls: Differentiation media Positive control: 1 μM Fingolimod Hit selectivity: ≥0.75 fold change in nu Reproducibility for primary hit selection Reproducibility for primary hit confirmation 	um +/- DMSO clear p57kip2 n: 1-2 times
b		C C	C'
	tested substances	280	
		p57kip2	2 p57kip2
	primary hits	51 Fingolimod	Benzamil
	confirmed hits	21 C"	C'''
	promoting OPC diff.		**
		p57kip2	2 p57kip2
	Confirmed prin	nary hits: enhanced p57kip2 nuclear exclusio	n after 1d
d	categories	compounds	reproducibility
	lon channels	Benzamil hydrochloride Felodipine	(4 out of 5) (4 out of 5)
	Ion channels	lfenprodil	(4 Out 01 5)
		nenpreun	(3 out of 5)
	NOAID	Isoxicam	(3 out of 5) (3 out of 5)
	NSAIDs	Fosfosal	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4)
		Fosfosal Nocodazole	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4)
	NSAIDs Anthelmintics	Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5)
		Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 4)
		Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole Alverine citrate salt	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5)
		Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 4)
		Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole Alverine citrate salt Pizotifen Fluvoxamine maleate Mianserine hydrochloride	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 5)
	Anthelmintics	Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole Alverine citrate salt Pizotifen Fluvoxamine maleate Mianserine hydrochloride Acetopromazine maleate salt	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 4)
	Anthelmintics	Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole Alverine citrate salt Pizotifen Fluvoxamine maleate Mianserine hydrochloride Acetopromazine maleate salt Doxepine	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4)
	Anthelmintics	Fosfosal Nocodazole Parbendazole Methiazole Alverine citrate salt Pizotifen Fluvoxamine maleate Mianserine hydrochloride Acetopromazine maleate salt	(3 out of 5) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 4) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (5 out of 5) (4 out of 5) (4 out of 4)

Figure 5. *In vitro* phenotypic screening led to the identification of compounds that promote nuclear exclusion of the p57kip2 protein in primary rat OPCs. Presentation of the readout and the experimental setup of the primary screening procedure (a). Funnel illustration showing the progression of the screening (b). Representative images taken using the BD Pathway 855 High-Content Cell Analyzer visualizing p57kip2's subcellular localization upon treatment with the negative controls, differentiation medium without (control) and with 0.5% DMSO, the positive control Fingolimod (1μM)

Others

Hexamethonium dibromide dihydrate

Mebeverine hydrocloride

Pentamidine isethionate

Danazol

Opipramol

(3 out of 5)

(3 out of 5)

(5 out of 5)

(4 out of 4) (3 out of 5) and a prominent primary hit benzamil hydrochloride (c-c'''). Image magnification: 10x. List of the confirmed primary hits, assigned to different categories according to their biological significance (d). Arrows in c-c''' indicate at cells with cytoplasmic p57kip2 localization. Scale bars: 10µm. Figure 1 from (**Manousi et al., 2021**) Anastasia, M., Peter, G., Laura, R., Qiao-Ling, C., Luke, M. H., Rainer, A., Joel, G., Jessica, S.-H., Jack, P. A., Hans-Peter, H., & Patrick, K. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. EBioMedicine, 65, 103276. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276.

4.2. Secondary screening resulted in identification of compounds that promote OPC differentiation *in vitro*²

The first step for the assessment of myelin repair properties was to screen the primary hit compounds for their capacity to promote transition from OPCs to mature myelinating oligodendrocytes. To this goal, rat primary OPCs were cultured and stimulated with compound concentrations ranging from 10 to 0.001 µM. Cells were allowed to differentiate for three days upon compound stimulation and the expression of the late protein myelin marker MBP was detected. Potential cytotoxic effects were accessed via evaluation of total cell numbers (DAPI counts, data not shown). This secondary screening led to the identification of four substances with the capacity to positively modulate OPC differentiation both at early and late stages and the most efficient and well-tolerated concentrations were determined [Fig. 6; (Manousi et al., 2021)].

Stimulation with 0.02 μ M parbendazole, 0.1 μ M methiazole or 5 μ M danazol significantly increased the number of MBP-positive oligodendrocytes (Fig. 6m-o). Treatment with 0.1 μ M nocodazole led to a non-significant induction of MBP-positivity, however reproducibly resulted in more complex morphological phenotypes (Fig. 6i-i', p). The absence of significance of the nocodazole induced effects is attributed to cytotoxicity, which was revealed as a 31.43% decrease of the total cell number (DAPI counts). The compounds which were found to significantly induce oligodendrogenesis were additionally evaluated upon 6 days of application, using as myelin marker the MOG protein, to further assess their differentiation promoting effects and their tolerability. Cells treated with 0.02 μ M

² Parts of these results are published in Manousi et al, 2021; see chapter 8.1

parbendazole for six days were characterized by increased MOG-positivity (Fig. 2s). Methiazole and danazol induced similar effects in cellular maturation at this stage, however to a lower extent (Fig. 6q-r). Of note, treatment with the benzimidazole derivatives, parbendazole and methiazole not only increased the percentage of MOG-positivity but also led to enhanced morphological maturation of the cells (Fig. 6k-l'). In addition, no significant differences in the cell counts were detected suggesting good tolerability of the tested compounds. These experiments suggest that p57kip2's subcellular localization can efficiently be used as an early OPC marker which can successfully lead to identification of compounds promoting both early and late stages of cell differentiation.



Figure 6. Secondary screening resulted in identification of compounds with long-term OPC differentiation promoting properties. Representative images taken during the primary screening using the BD Pathway 855 High-Content Cell Analyzer visualizing the subcellular localization of the p57kip2 protein upon a 24-hour long stimulation with 0.5% DMSO (a), danazol (b), methiazole (c), parbendazole (d), and nocodazole (e) each at a concentration of 10 μ M. Immunocytochemical analysis for the mature myelin marker MBP upon a three-day long stimulation of primary OPCs with 5 μ M danazol (m), 0.1 μ M methiazole (n), 0.02 μ M parbendazole (o), and 0.1 μ M nocodazole (p). Immunocytochemical analysis for the mature myelin marker MOG upon a six days long stimulation with 5 μ M danazol (q), 0.1 μ M methiazole (r), and 0.02 μ M parbendazole (s). For each substance as

control are indicated cells stimulated with the corresponding DMSO concentration diluted in differentiation medium. Representative images for MBP (f-i') and MOG staining (j-I'). Arrows in representative pictures point at cells with cytoplasmic p57kip2 localization in a-e and arrowheads point to MBP-positive cells in f-i' or MOG-positive cells in j-l'. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. Scale bars: 20 µm. Data are shown as mean values and error bars represent SEM. Numbers of independent experiments n = 6 for (m), n = 4 for (n, p, q), n = 5 for (o, s), n = 3 for (r). Statistical significance was assessed using Mann-Whitney U test, unpaired data: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. Dan, danazol; Par, parbendazole; Met, methiazole; Noc, nocodazole; MBP myelin basic protein; MOG myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. Figure 2 from (Manousi et al., 2021) Anastasia, M., Peter, G., Laura, R., Qiao-Ling, C., Luke, M. H., Rainer, A., Joel, G., Jessica, S.-H., Jack, P. A., Hans-Peter, H., & Patrick, K. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. EBioMedicine, 65, 103276. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276.

Following are presented preliminary results of the validation of the rest of primary hits in terms of MBP expression upon a three-day long treatment (Fig. 7). Of note, the here presented graphs depict the most promising, in terms of viability and MBP-induction, results that emerged upon testing of the corresponding compounds at concentrations of 10, 5, 1, and 0.1 μ M. The complete data set emerged from this secondary screening is presented in Annex; paragraph 8.4.2. More thorough investigation including additional replications of independent experiments and concentrations series is required to determine their impact on OPC differentiation. In addition, the compounds hexamethonium dibromide dihydrate, mebeverine hydrochloride, and ifenprodil were not included in this validation and therefore no evidence for their effects can be provided.



Figure 7. Preliminary results on the capacity of the less promising primary hit compounds to promote OPC differentiation. Immunocytochemical analysis for the mature myelin marker MBP upon a three-day long stimulation of primary OPCs with 1 μ M alverine citrate salt (a), 0.1 μ M benzamil hydrochloride (b), 0.1 μ M cisapride (c), 1 μ M pentamidine isethionate (d), 1 μ M doxepin hydrochloride (e), 1 μ M fluvoxamine maleate (f), 1 μ M felodipine (g), 1 μ M isoxicam (h), 0.1 μ M tolcapone (i), 5 μ M fosfosal (j), 0.1 μ M mianserine hydrochloride (k), 1 μ M opipramol dihydrochloride (l), 0.1 μ M acetopromazine maleate salt (m), 1 μ M pizotifen malate (n). Data are shown as mean values and error bars represent SEM. Numbers of independent experiments n = 1 for (a, c, g, h, i, l, m), n=2 for (j, k), n=3 for (d, e, f, n), n=4 for (b).

4.3. Selected hit compounds promote oligodendroglial cell differentiation in primary human fetal OPCs³

To determine the translational potential of the identified promyelinating compounds, their effects on human cells were investigated. These experiments were conducted by our collaborators Prof. Antel, Dr. Cui and Dr. Healy (Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal, QC H4A 3K9, Canada). To do so, human fetal brain-derived O4-selected oligodendroglial progenitor cells (Cui et al., 2012; Cui et al., 2010; Leong et al., 2014) were grown for four days and then stimulated for another four or six days with parbendazole (0.002 μ M and 0.02 μ M), methiazole (0.01 μ M and 0.1 μ M), or danazol (0.5 μ M and 5 μ M) (Fig. 8a-d). Nocodazole was excluded from this analysis due to the detected cytotoxic effects in rat OPC culture. For technical reasons in total two completely different preparations from human donor tissues were used (HF601 and HF603) which resulted in quantitatively diverging expression levels. For this reason, calculation of mean values and statistical analysis were avoided to prevent false estimations of population variances and low statistical power.

However, double staining with anti-O4 and anti-galactocerebroside (GC) antibodies revealed that all three substances clearly induced an increase in the percentage of morphologically matured human oligodendroglial cells (compare Fig. 8e",8f",8g",8h") as well as their ability to express GC. Cells of batch HF601 consistently showed increased degrees of anti-galactocerebrosidase (GC)-positivity at time points four and six and using all tested substance concentrations (Fig. 8a,b). Human OPCs of batch HF603 which were generally less mature, showed increased GC-positivity after four days of treatment but appeared sensitive to high parbendazole and methiazole concentrations (Fig. 8c,d). In summary, the most consistent effects were observed for danazol 5 µM both at time points four and six days, whereas the higher concentrations of parbendazole and methiazole resulted in a reduction of the cell numbers of the second preparation (HF603), particularly at the later time point. This suggests additional titration and long-term toxicology investigations to be

³ These results are published in Manousi et al, 2021; see chapter 8.1

conducted in the future to further assess the extent of these effects. Nevertheless, these data suggest time- and dose-dependent effects of hit compounds with only high danazol concentrations inducing progressively increasing enhance of cell differentiation and parbendazole and methiazole exerting a strong positive regulatory role at low concentrations, which leads to an overall net acceleration of lineage progression.



Figure 8. Selected hit compounds promote primary human fetal OPC differentiation in vitro. Human OPCs of two different preparations (HF601, HF603) were cultured in the presence of 0.5 µM and 5 μ M danazol, 0.002 μ M and 0.02 μ M parbendazole, or 0.01 μ M and 0.1 μ M methiazole, or DMSO as control. The results of each preparation are presented separately (HF601 in a,b and HF603 in c,d) and correspond in total to two independent experiments. Representative pictures of HF601 cells after six days of treatment (e-f"). Note that all three substances induced a clear morphological maturation of cells. Data are shown as means of a single experiment (derived from three replicates per condition) but due to large variations and the still rather low number of repetitions no statistical significance was calculated. Scale bars 20 µm. Figure 3 from (Manousi et al., 2021) Anastasia, M., Peter, G., Laura, R., Qiao-Ling, C., Luke, M. H., Rainer, A., Joel, G., Jessica, S.-H., Jack, P. A., Hans-Peter, H., & Patrick, K. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. EBioMedicine, 65, 103276. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276.

4.4. Members of the benzimidazole class of compounds accelerate developmental myelination *ex vivo*⁴

As parbendazole, methiazole and danazol exerted a positive impact on *in vitro* oligodendroglial cell differentiation both in the rat and human system it was of interest to investigate whether they can also exert similar effects on developmental myelination. To do so again the rat system was chosen and specifically, *ex vivo* organotypic cerebellar slices cultures from Wistar rats aged seven days. The number of OLIG2/MBP-positive myelinating oligodendrocytes within the slices was assessed according to specific morphological criteria (Fig. 10a-a'''). To find the appropriate timepoint of investigation slices were prepared, cultured, and fixated after three, four, five, and seven days in culture medium. Viability did not seem to be affected within a week, however, myelination appeared to be saturated at a great extent from day four on (Fig. 9a-d).



⁴ Parts of these results are published in Manousi et al, 2021; see chapter 8.1

Figure 9. *Ex vivo* cerebellar slice cultures are being rapidly myelinated within one week in culture. Organotypic cerebellar slices from P7 rats were cultured in medium for three, four, five, and seven days. Representative triple staining for OLIG2, MBP, and neurofilament (a-d). Scale bars: 20 μ m. Immunohistochemical analysis assessing the number of OLIG2/MBP-positive, myelinating oligodendrocytes in relation to the total number of OLIG2-positive cells in slices treated with 10 μ M danazol for four days and the corresponding DMSO concentration (control) (e). Data are shown as means and error bars represent SEM. Mann-Whitney U test, for unpaired data was used and data would be considered statistically significant at *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. Number of experiments: n = 6. Dan, danazol; NF, neurofilament; MBP, myelin basic protein.

Therefore, the effects of different applied concentrations of parbendazole (0.1 μ M), methiazole (1 μ M and 2 μ M) and danazol (5 μ M and 10 μ M) were investigated after 3 days of stimulation. Application of either 0.1 μ M parbendazole or 2 μ M methiazole induced a significant boost of myelination conducted by the endogenous oligodendroglial cell population as assessed by means of the capacity of OLIG2-positive cells to make up MBP-positive myelin sheaths and compared to the control (DMSO) conditions (Fig. 10b-g). The results from the application of 1 μ M methiazole were insignificant and they are presented in Annex; paragraph 8.4.3. Application of 10 μ M danazol revealed to exert the most prominent effects when compared to the other applied concentration (see Annex; paragraph 8.4.3) and a similar trend regarding the generation of myelinated segments to the parbendazole and methiazole. Nevertheless, no significant difference was detected (Fig. 10h). When the same concentration of danazol was then applied for 4 days, the effect on myelination was even less prominent, thus supporting the initial observation that myelination reaches already within 4 days a maturation level which does not favor the detection of effects on the process upon pharmacological modulation (Fig 9e).



Figure 10. Parbendazole and methiazole promote ex vivo developmental myelination. Organotypic cerebellar slices from P7 rats were stimulated with the hit compounds for three days. Exemplary pictures of a myelinating oligodendrocyte showing the morphological criteria used for the analysis (a-a""). Representative triple staining for OLIG2, MBP, and neurofilament for DMSO (b-c"") and parbendazole- (d-e") treated slices. Scale bars for the exemplary images (a-a"): 10 µm. Scale bars for the overview images (b,d): 100 µm. Scale bars for the detailed images (c-c"; e-e"): 20 µm. Immunohistochemical analysis assessing the number of OLIG2/MBP-positive, myelinating oligodendrocytes in relation to the total number of OLIG2-positive cells in slices treated with parbendazole (f), methiazole (g), danazol (h), and their corresponding DMSO concentrations (controls). Data are shown as means and error bars represent SEM. Mann-Whitney U test, for unpaired data was used and data were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05, p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Number of experiments: n = 5 in all treatments. Par, parbendazole; Met, methiazole; Dan, danazol; NF, neurofilament; MBP, myelin basic protein. Figure 4 from (Manousi et al., 2021) Anastasia, M., Peter, G., Laura, R., Qiao-Ling, C., Luke, M. H., Rainer, A., Joel, G., Jessica, S.-H., Jack, P. A., Hans-Peter, H., & Patrick, K. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. EBioMedicine, 103276. modulation 65. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276.

4.5. Parbendazole and danazol enhance remyelination in vivo⁵

To determine whether the hit compounds parbendazole and danazol have the potential to promote myelin repair, their impact on spontaneous remyelination was assessed. To this goal, the cuprizone-mediated mouse model of de- and remyelination was applied. This is a well-established method for identification of compounds able to boost the endogenous remyelination capacity of the CNS (Matsushima & Morell, 2001; Zhan et al., 2020). Given that *in vivo* experiments are time consuming and require a significant number of experimental animals, out of the three prominent hit compounds (danazol, parbendazole and methiazole) which emerged from the previous validation experiments we excluded methiazole from the first phase of these experiments since it belongs to the same chemical family as parbendazole, which showed the overall stronger potential both *in vitro* and *ex vivo*. Demyelination was achieved via 0.2% cuprizone diet for six weeks. Daily compound administration was applied intraperitoneally (i.p.) and danazol (100mg/kg) orally in drinking water. For each compound, the same number of cuprizone-treated mice were administered

⁵ These results are published in Manousi et al, 2021; see chapter 8.1

the corresponding vehicles. Body weight was in general increasing during the first four weeks and was mostly stable thereafter, indicating good tolerability of all treatments. No obvious behavioral changes were observed. To assess both the efficiency of cuprizone-mediated demyelination and the extent of remyelination, naïve (non-cuprizone-treated) animals of the same age were also included in the analysis. The effect of the compounds on remyelination was investigated one week upon cuprizone withdrawal (Fig. 11a).

First the efficiency of the cuprizone treatment was confirmed by the detection of significant differences in the percentage of PLP-positive (myelinated) area along the midline of the corpus callosum, following comparison of naïve with vehicle-treated groups (Fig. 11b,b',f,g,g',h). The same readout showed significant acceleration of spontaneous remyelination upon parbendazole administration in comparison to vehicle-treated counterparts (Fig. 11b-b",f). Moreover, a positive effect of the treatment on oligodendroglial cell development was revealed by a significant increase in the number of cells expressing the mature oligodendrocyte protein markers GSTπ (Fig. 11c-c",f') and CC1 (Fig. 11d-d",f') within the region of interest. This observation was supported by the opposite expression pattern of the early oligodendroglial marker PDGFR α , where the vehicle-treated group demonstrated significantly increased numbers of PDGFRa-positive cells as compared to the other two groups (naïve and parbendazole-treated mice, Fig. 11e-e",f"). No significant changes in the numbers of OLIG2-positive cells and almost no proliferative cells (Ki67-positive) were detected in the region of interest (data not shown). Interestingly, after one week of remyelination the PLP-positive area along the midline of the corpus callosum in danazoltreated animals was also significantly enhanced in comparison to the vehicle-treated ones (Fig. 11g-g",h). This positive effect on remyelination was accompanied by a statistically significant increase in the generation of GSTπ-positive cells, whereas numbers of CC1- and PDGFRα-positive cells remained at the same levels (Fig. 11h'-h''').



Figure 11. Parbendazole and danazol promote spontaneous remyelination in a cuprizoneinduced demyelination mouse model. Representation of the application scheme both for cuprizone treatment and compound administration (a). Representative images of the oligodendroglial protein marker expression along the midline of corpus callosum upon 1 week of remyelination (b-e"; g-g").

Image magnification: 10x. The extent of remyelination was revealed as differences in the percentage of PLP-expressing (myelinated) area in the defined region of interest among naïve, CPZ/vehicletreated and CPZ/substance-treated groups. Similarly, the impact of parbendazole and danazol on oligodendroglial cell differentiation and maturation was assessed by the number/mm² of mature (GSTπ, f',h'; CC1, f",h") and early (PGFRα, f",h") oligodendroglial protein marker-positive cells along the region. Naïve group n = 6 (n = 4 for the GST π analysis); residual groups n = 5 each. For each mouse 4 coronal sections were analyzed (2 from the medial and 2 from the caudal compartment). Data are shown as mean values and error bars represent SEM. Significance (95% confidence interval) was assessed using Tukey's range test following one-way ANOVA. Data were considered statistically significant at *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. CPZ, cuprizone; veh, vehicle; Par, parbendazole; Dan, danazol; PLP, myelin proteolipid protein; GSTπ, glutathione-S-transferase Pi; CC1, adenomatous polyposis coli protein (APC) clone CC1; PDGFRa, platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha. Scale bars: 100 µm. Figure 5 from (Manousi et al., 2021) Anastasia, M., Peter, G., Laura, R., Qiao-Ling, C., Luke, M. H., Rainer, A., Joel, G., Jessica, S.-H., Jack, P. A., Hans-Peter, H., & Patrick, K. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. EBioMedicine, 65, 103276. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276.

4.6. Parbendazole treatment induces early activation of p38MAPK in vitro⁶

After clearly showing an early positive effect of parbendazole on oligodendroglial lineage progression both in development and in myelin repair, available information about benzimidazole derivatives and parbendazole, in particular, were used to investigate the underlying mechanism of action in these experiments. Interestingly, p38MAPK activation has been associated with regulation of nuclear protein export (del Arco et al., 2000; Gomez et al., 2011; Seternes et al., 2002). Moreover, another benzimidazole derivative, namely omeprazole, was shown to induce *in vitro* OPC differentiation involving p38MAPK and ERK1/2 activation during early stages of the process (Zhu et al., 2019). In order to investigate whether p38MAPK is also activated in response to parbendazole in our primary culture, OPCs were stimulated with this substance for 60 minutes and indeed 2.3 times more phosphorylated p38MAPK protein in relation to the DMSO-treated control cells was detected (Fig. 12).

⁶ These results are published in Manousi et al, 2021; see chapter 8.1



Figure 12. OPC stimulation with parbendazole induces phosphorylation of p38MAPK. Rat primary OPCs were treated either with 0.01 µM parbendazole or the corresponding DMSO concentration (control) in differentiation medium for 60 minutes and harvested for Western blot analysis for the detection of p-p38, p38, and GAPDH proteins (a). Quantification of the relative protein expression (b). The relative protein expression of both the phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated forms of p38 was normalized over the total amount of the protein in the lysate and GAPDH expression. Data represent means of two independent experiments, while error bars represent SEM. Par, parbendazole; kDa, kilodalton. Figure 6 from (Manousi et al., 2021) Anastasia, M., Peter, G., Laura, R., Qiao-Ling, C., Luke, M. H., Rainer, A., Joel, G., Jessica, S.-H., Jack, P. A., Hans-Peter, H., & Patrick, K. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. 65. 103276. EBioMedicine, https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276.

5. DISCUSSION

Multiple sclerosis is the most common demyelinating disease in which an altered immune response leads to oligodendrocyte death and myelin destruction, thus resulting to neurodegeneration and permanent neurological damage (Noseworthy, 1999; Trapp & Nave, 2008). While the currently used treatments mainly act immunomodulatory and slow down the disease progression, lately the scientific interest is shifted towards the development of pharmacological approaches which can support the innate capacity of the CNS to repair the already existed damage (Kremer et al., 2019b; Kremer et al., 2019c). Specifically, a resident population of OPCs in the adult CNS is capable of differentiation and remyelination of demyelinated neurons, events that lead to neuroprotection, rapid signal transduction, and inversion of existed neuronal deficits (Dawson et al., 2003; Franklin & ffrench-Constant, 2017). However, the innate remyelination capacity of the CNS is inefficient and declines with disease progression, mainly due to inefficient OPC activation and differentiation to myelinating oligodendrocytes (Gruchot et al., 2019; Kuhlmann et al., 2008). Therefore, identification of compounds that promote OPC differentiation appears to be an effective approach for the treatment of demyelinating diseases such as MS. Although many substances have been repurposed towards this goal, with some of them, such as clemastine, to have already entered clinical trials (Kremer et al., 2019c), an efficient treatment for myelin repair is yet an unmet goal.

In this respect, this doctoral thesis aimed at the identification of myelin repair promoting compounds. To this end, a large-scale screening based on the known inhibitory role of the p57kip2 protein in oligodendroglial cell differentiation (Göttle et al., 2015) was established and conducted. Specifically, 1280 known small molecules were tested for their ability to promote nuclear exclusion of the p57kip2 protein, a process which is associated with OPC differentiation and maturation. From this primary screening 21 compounds with these properties were identified and then validated in terms of their potential to promote cell differentiation in rat primary OPC cultures. Four compounds were found to significantly accelerate transition of OPCs to mature oligodendrocytes *in vitro* and for three of them well-
tolerated concentrations were defined. These compounds, namely parbendazole, methiazole and danazol positively affected differentiation of human fetal OPCs and developmental myelination in rat cerebellar organotypic brain slices. Using a mouse cuprizone-induced deand remyelination model the myelin repair properties of parbendazole and danazol were investigated. Administration of both substances resulted in significant acceleration of remyelination and OPC differentiation in corpus callosum of intoxicated mice. As proof of concept, it was shown that the early regulatory effect of parbendazole treatment *in vitro* was associated with activation of the p38MAPK protein (Manousi et al., 2021).

5.1. Large scale screening for pharmacological compounds with the potential to promote p57kip2's nuclear exclusion and OPC differentiation

A significant number of unbiased large scale screening approaches, like the one described in this thesis, use large numbers of available active compounds and the existing knowledge about them, to identify and repurpose a few of them for myelin repair. These studies are either experimental or in silico. The experimental ones can be whole organism-based using testing on zebrafish (Buckley et al., 2010; Early et al., 2018; Preston et al., 2019) or cell-based using either OPC cultures (Deshmukh et al., 2013) or myelinating systems (Bijland et al., 2019; García-León et al., 2018; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016b; Mei et al., 2014) and they have been proven to be effective for the identification of compounds promoting OPC differentiation and survival or even directly myelination. In silico virtual screenings have also been applied for the identification of compounds with promyelinating properties (Parravicini et al., 2020).

Given that the rate limiting factor which leads to inefficient remyelination in demyelinating diseases is the limited capacity of adult OPCs to differentiate into myelinating oligodendrocytes, cell-based large-scale screenings which aim to identify compounds that promote this process constitute a powerful approach for the development of myelin repair therapies. In addition, the already existed information about these compounds can not only accelerate the process of drug development but it can also be used to shed light to the

underlying regulatory mechanisms of the transition from OPCs to mature oligodendrocytes. Taking this into account a collection of mainly FDA/EMA- (US Food and Drug Administration/Europeans Medicines Agency) approved compounds was chosen for this thesis. In addition, 98% of these small molecules were predicted to have a high blood-brainbarrier (BBB) penetrance, a characteristic very crucial for the translational significance of this study given that the cell targets of such a therapy are exclusively localized in the CNS. Of note, the tested compounds in this study constitute an enriched version of the Prestwick Library used in two other screening setups for identification of OPC differentiation promoting drugs, however using different cell types and readouts (Buckley et al., 2010; Porcu et al., 2015). The 23 primary hits which emerged from the screening established by Porcu et al. were directly assigned to different categories according to their biological relevance and the mechanistic insights of the mode of action of two prominent ones, halcinonide and clobetasol, were described. Moreover, the three dose-response strategy (1 µM, 10 µM, and 25μ M) of this screening provided information regarding the dose-dependent tolerability and effectivity of the compounds in respect to OPC differentiation. This prior knowledge contributed to the decision to catholically apply the concentration of 10 µM in the here described screening, a restriction that had to be made for practical reasons. Similarly, the use of the same library in a screening that involved direct compound application to larval zebrafish again led to identification of 25 compounds with promyelinating properties which were assigned to different categories according to their known cellular and molecular properties (Buckley et al., 2010), thus indicating the potential of this compound collection in the field of myelin repair.

Although the choice of this compound library led to successful screenings in both two previously discussed two studies and in the screening described in this thesis, highthroughput or targeted screenings may require more sophisticated methods for the library selection to increase their efficiency. This goal can be achieved via determination of the structural and topological uniqueness of each compound to avoid redundancy using cheminformatics tools like the Bemis-Murcko scaffold analysis (Bemis & Murcko, 1996) and

comparison of the characteristics of the commercially available libraries and compounds in databases for virtual screenings and catalogs of vendors, as for example the ZINC database (Sterling & Irwin, 2015).

Most of the published cell-based screenings for pharmacological compounds promoting oligodendrogenesis used either stem cell-derived OPCs (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Cui et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018; Najm et al., 2015; Suo et al., 2019) or cell lines (Joubert et al., 2010; Peppard et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015) and only a few used primary rodent OPC cultures (Chen et al., 2017; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Eleuteri et al., 2017; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a; Rosler et al., 2016). The here presented screening is based on compound testing on primary cells, a condition closer related to the *in vivo* situation, as compared to cell lines and stem cell-derived cultures, to increase the translational significance of the findings.

A common feature of most of these screening approaches is the use of MBP both on gene and protein level as readout (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a; Mei et al., 2014; Najm et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015; Suo et al., 2019). Some others used morphological maturation (Joubert et al., 2010; Peppard et al., 2015) and changes in metabolic activity (Eleuteri et al., 2017) as readouts instead. In all cases a long-term stimulation of at least two days was used and they aimed at identification of compounds that promote transition from the OPC stage to mature myelinating oligodendrocytes. This study on the contrary aimed to identify effects resulted only after 24 hours upon the initiation of the compound stimulation. The use of this novel readout, p57kip2's protein subcellular localization, allowed investigation of regulatory events happening early during differentiation, within a time-window much smaller than the ones used by other screenings.

The effectivity of this approach was proven by the fact that some of the identified primary hits are known to modulate molecular mechanisms which are implicated in the regulation of OPC differentiation (Cheli et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2014; Fan et al., 2015; Preisner et al., 2015).

These compounds are either nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs; e.g. fosfosal) or ion channel modulators (e.g. benzamil hydrocloride), and neurotransmitter receptor modulators (e.g. alverine citrate salt). Another proof or concept for this study is the overlap with hits previously detected by other screenings, namely ifenprodil (Hubler et al., 2018; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a; Najm et al., 2015) and isoxicam (Buckley et al., 2010). This overlap, although significant, it was minor which is a fact that can be explained by the use of different cell types, collections of tested compounds and concentrations between other screening assays and this one. Another prominent explanation is the novelty of the readout used in this study which addresses earlier stages of oligodendroglial cell differentiation and possibly also different regulatory mechanisms.

Although the biological significance of the here presented screening approach was validated by the number and the nature of the confirmed hits and the identification of compounds among them with myelin repair properties, the evaluation of the statistical data quality was not satisfactory, as revealed by the negative value of the Z factor, a universally used measure of statistical effect size (Zhang et al., 1999). The major explanation is the use of primary cell culture. Besides the advantages of such a culture on a translational level, it is characterized by the drawback of heterogeneity among independent experiments. Differences in the maturation stage of the isolated OPCs and their differentiation potential, in combination with the narrow window of time that p57kip2's protein nuclear exclusion takes place, may have led to an overlook of compound- and control-induced effects. In addition, even though all the parameters that could affect cell behavior were kept stable throughout the whole screening procedure, it should be noted that all the experimental procedures were performed in a non-automated way. Another reason that may have caused missed effects or failure to reproduce the already detected ones is the single applied concentration of each tested compound. Approaches to overcome this limitation used by others, constitute the multiple-dose strategy (Porcu et al., 2015) and performance of toxicity assays prior to the primary screening (Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a).

Four out of 21 confirmed primary hits significantly increased transition from the OPC stage to mature oligodendrocytes and these effects were detectable throughout the whole process. Nuclear localization of the p57kip2 protein is associated with early stages of oligodendroglial cell differentiation, while cytoplasmic p57kip2 is detected in more mature, differentiation competent cells (Kremer et al., 2009). Moreover, enforced nuclear exclusion or overexpression of the protein affect the lineage progression (Göttle et al., 2015). Taken these findings into account more hits could be expected to be characterized to induce a greater differentiation potential. An explanation for the small number of hit compounds that promoted oligodendrogenesis in this study (see results section; paragraph 4.2 and Annex; paragraph 8.4.2) is that for this secondary screening only MBP protein expression at day three was investigated and therefore, critical time points of the effect for some compounds may have been missed. In addition, inappropriate tested concentrations, or activation at later stages (later than the 24 hours of stimulation during the screening procedure) of additional adverse pathways which interfered with cell differentiation or viability may also explain the absence of the desired effects. More thorough validation of the primary hits is needed to further assess their impact in lineage progression. An effective and time saving way to do so is to first calculate the EC50 value via generation of a dose-response curve and fitting the data to a dose-response function using the appropriate software. This is an approach which has been used in several screening approaches to rank primary hits according to their potency and then prioritize them accordingly for further validation (Chen et al., 2017; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016a, 2016b; Najm et al., 2015; Parravicini et al., 2020; Peppard et al., 2015; Porcu et al., 2015; Rosler et al., 2016).

Despite the limitations of the method, this screening not only led to the identification of compounds with promyelinating properties but also clearly suggested a novel screening readout which can further lead to drug repurposing for myelin repair when applied in large scale screenings with modified setups. This notion is also supported by a recent publication from our research group, which suggests that teriflunomide not only exerts

immunomodulatory effects but also promotes p57kip2 shuttling along with concomitant OPC differentiation and myelination *in vitro* (Göttle et al., 2018).

5.2. Translation to the human system

Translation of the findings from other systems into the human is a crucial determinant for a successful screening for therapeutic compounds with pro-myelinating properties. OPC differentiation in the rodent and the human system share many similar regulatory mechanisms and surface marker expression profiles. However, there are significant differences in their transcriptome, as well as in the temporal aspects and regulation both of oligodendroglial cell development and myelination (Pol et al., 2017), reviewed in (Barateiro & Fernandes, 2014; Dietz et al., 2016). Hence, including cells of human origin in such a study is essential for the determination of treatment-induced effects on species-conserved regulatory signaling pathways. As previously discussed, most of the published screenings in this field are based on the use of rodent cells and only a few of them have addressed this aspect. Specifically, human OPCs generated from skin fibroblast-derived human iPSC line and hESC lines (Najm et al., 2015), human glioma cell line (Hubler et al., 2018) and human PMD patient iPSC-derived cells used for generation of oligocortical spheroids (Elitt et al., 2018) have been used to reproduce pharmacological effects on cells of rodent origin.

This study was designed in a way that allows the identification of compounds with modulatory effects that target non-region dependent and evolutionary conserved molecular mechanisms. Precisely, the impact of the confirmed hit application on oligodendroglial lineage development was detected in cells derived from three different brain regions, namely cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and corpus callosum during the progress of this study, thus indicating targeting of globally active regulatory mechanisms. Notably, prior to the initiation of the here presented screening, Göttle et al. using both rat and human primary OPC cultures could show that the regulatory effects of p57kip2 in oligodendroglial cell differentiation consist an evolutionary conserved mechanism (Göttle et al., 2015). Although these findings significantly contributed to the choice of this specific readout for its translational potential, given the multiple possible targets each applied compound may have, it was of essence to

investigate their effects in other systems as well. To this end, the rat, mouse, and human systems were used and the impact of both danazol and the benzimidazole derivatives was to be successfully detected.

The testing on human OPCs was performed in collaboration with Prof. Antel, Dr. Cui and Dr. Healy (Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal, QC H4A 3K9, Canada). Our collaborators tested the impact of danazol, methiazole and parbendazole on human fetal OPCs using a well-established and broadly applied protocol (Cui et al., 2012; Cui et al., 2010; Kremer et al., 2016b; Leong et al., 2014). Fetal OPCs were extracted from telencephalic regions between gestational weeks 14 and 17, which is a timepoint that corresponds to a stage where OPCs can already be observed in the forebrain and they start to increase their numbers in the ganglionic eminences and in the cortical ventricular zone/subventricular zone (Jakovcevski et al., 2009). Of note, this protocol was used in the past in a similar way as in this study, leading to translation of the promoting effects of indomethacin in OPC differentiation from the murine to the human system, thus highlighting its potential as a promising therapy for myelin repair (Preisner et al., 2015). In another study, the use of this cell culture allowed elucidation of the underlying mechanism of fingolimod application in OPC differentiation (Cui et al., 2014). The here presented experiments indeed indicated that the identified hit compounds target evolutionary conserved molecular mechanisms, since all three compounds positively affected differentiation of human fetal OPCs. However, these data emerged from two independent preparations of cells from a different maturation stage, and they were characterized by heterogeneity. Therefore, to specifically describe their impact throughout the process of differentiation more experiments are required. As discussed earlier, as beneficial the use of primary cultures as it is, differences in the maturation stage of the cells or in their differentiation potential, among different experiments it to be expected and for this reason more technical replicates usually are needed to draw a conclusion. In this respect, our collaborators showed in the past that fetal OPCs from different gestational weeks behave differently in cell culture, with oligodendrocyte lineage marker expression and myelination being proportional to age and

the survival rate being inversely proportional (Cui et al., 2012). According to our observations, although both cell preparations were performed around the same gestational week, it cannot be excluded that they represent different developmental stages which are diversely regulated or even distinct populations as previously shown for the rodent system (Kessaris et al., 2006).

5.3. Systematic assessment of hit compound-mediated myelin repair activities

Screening platforms for direct identification of compounds with myelination promoting properties have been established and performed (García-León et al., 2018; Lariosa-Willingham et al., 2016b; Mei et al., 2014) and new technologies are under development (Bijland et al., 2019; Kerman et al., 2015). Myelination is a complex process, dependent on several stages of oligodendroglial lineage development and many regulatory processes, reviewed in (Mitew et al., 2014; Nave & Werner, 2014). Therefore, direct identification of compounds that promote myelination, may not lead directly to information regarding their mode of action and the targeted regulatory processes. In addition, establishing such screenings requires more complex technologies and analytical methods. On the contrary, targeting specifically oligodendroglial cell differentiation in monoculture is easier to be established and ensures higher probability of molecular target and regulatory process determination. Moreover, as inefficient OPC differentiation is the main rate-limiting factor for myelin repair in demyelinating diseases such as MS (Chang et al., 2002; J. K. Huang et al., 2011; Kuhlmann et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2020; Wolswijk, 1998), pharmacological boost of this process holds already a great therapeutic potential in this regard. Such screenings though, should be followed by validation in terms of impact of the hit compounds on myelination to eventually lead to identification of compounds with myelin repair properties. In this respect, co-culture systems (Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Parravicini et al., 2020; Suo et al., 2019), electrospun fibers (Allimuthu et al., 2019; Elitt et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018), in vivo approaches with neonatal rats (Najm et al., 2015) and organotypic cerebellar slice cultures (Eleuteri et al., 2017; Najm et al., 2015) have led to successful validation of hits with pro-differentiation properties.

Cerebellar slice cultures when compared to in vitro cultures, they have the advantage of maintaining their three-dimensional structure, cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions, thus allowing to a great extent replication of the in vivo myelination process. The use of cerebellar slices offers temporal and regional defined conditions for reproducible results (Jaeger et al., 1988; Notterpek et al., 1993). In addition, most of the analyzed white tracts come from the middle cerebellar peduncle and they are among the longest in the mammalian brain, an advantageous characteristic for evaluation of myelination (Suzuki et al., 2012). As for the temporal components, in the here presented study the cerebellar slices were prepared at P7, which corresponds to the developmental stage in rodents when white matter tracts contain more than 80% immature oligodendrocytes and the myelination initiates (Dean et al., 2011). While at this stage the first MBP-positive cells start appearing, at day P14 they become abundant, thus suggesting the period around day P7 as the most optimal for testing of compounds with the potential to regulate developmental myelination (Bielke & Seiger, 1989; Hardy & Friedrich, 1996). Literature suggests, equilibration of the slices for 3 days to allow clearance of debris and stabilization of the slices, and then another 3 or 4 days of compound treatment (Barateiro & Fernandes, 2014). In the experiments of this study, 4 hours of equilibrium were enough for transparency of the slices to be detected and they ensured a better quality of the culture when compared to 24 hours of equilibrium (data not shown). Moreover, to have a defined image of the progress of myelination in our experimental setup, a timeline was conducted (3, 4, 5, and 7 days) and showed that even after 4 days in vitro, myelination was in an advanced level. Such differences in the lineage progression and myelination may emerge from minor adaptations in the protocol, as for example thickness of the slices or glucose concentration in the medium, or due to different handling of the slices during preparation. Therefore, each experimenter should keep these parameters constant and thoroughly investigate the behavior of the slices in his hand before initiation of an experimental procedure.

Although developmental myelination and remyelination after injury share many common aspects, the latter cannot be considered recapitulation of the first (Franklin & ffrench-

Constant, 2008; Taveggia et al., 2010). Upon comparison between fetal and adult human OPCs was shown that they are characterized by differential miRNA expression and that the later are even comprised of phenotypically distinct subsets, therefore suggesting different regulatory mechanisms of OPC differentiation in the adult brain (Leong et al., 2014). On that account, investigation of the applied compounds on developmental myelination is not sufficient for determination of their translational potential as therapeutics for demyelinating disorders. To this goal, a few different animal models have been developed for the investigation of OPC development in injury and disease. Specifically, as previously introduced, evaluation of the impact of hit compounds on remyelination is most of the times the final validation step upon screenings for compounds with myelin repair properties (Chen et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Eleuteri et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2018; Hubler et al., 2018; Mei et al., 2014; Najm et al., 2015; Parravicini et al., 2020; Suo et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019). For this purpose, in this study the well-established cuprizonemediated demyelination model was chosen, based on the little or no implication of adaptive immunity in the processes of demyelination and also spontaneous remyelination, which initiates directly upon retrieval of the intoxicant, reviewed in (Kipp et al., 2009; Skripuletz et al., 2011; Vega-Riquer et al., 2019). These characteristics make this model ideal for testing regulatory properties of compounds specifically on adult oligodendroglial cell development and remyelination and preferred choice for the validation following screenings for promyelinating treatments (Cui et al., 2019; Deshmukh et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Suo et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019).

Using this model, it was shown that the leading compounds parbendazole and danazol significantly accelerate OPC differentiation and spontaneous myelin repair upon cuprizone retrieval. In opposition to the clear-cut changes of parbendazole administration in oligodendroglial lineage progression along the midline of corpus callosum, danazol induced only a small significant increase in the number of $GST\pi$ -positive cells. The less prominent effects of danazol can be explained by the fact that it was administered orally, which enables limited control over the consumed doses. Besides, this compound is characterized by poor

aqueous solubility and dissolution (Chen et al., 2004). To overcome this obstacle, a freshly prepared solution was applied daily, and the surfactant Tween 80 was added to the aqueous solution to increase stability. However, application of a higher concentration or a different surfactant, such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) esters of fatty acids instead could lead to effects that are more prominent. Alternatively, direct drug delivery into the stomach (via gastric gavage) may also be more efficient. Apart from substance solubility, another parameter taken into account during the design of these experiments was the predicted ability of both compounds to penetrate the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) according to the ADMET criteria (Dong et al., 2018). As this parameter is a determinant for the effectivity of a treatment, before a compound enters a clinical trial, BBB permeability should be specifically assessed to avoid false positive or negative results from this analysis. This can be done either in vitro (Kaisar et al., 2017), or in animal models with methods such as microdialysis (Bourne, 2003; Ducey et al., 2012) and autoradiography (Stumpf, 2012), followed by other studies for drug distribution in the CNS (X. Liu et al., 2006; Loryan et al., 2013). Moreover, regarding toxicity, parbendazole has been only reported to cause teratogenic effects in sheep and cattle at concentrations higher or equal to 60 mg/kg body weight (Szabo, 1989), which exceed the here applied concentration. Accordingly, danazol is an FDA approved treatment for endometriosis with only minor reported side effects (Dmowski et al., 1971). In this study, no cytotoxic effects have been investigated, however the positive effects on oligodendroglial cell development suggest otherwise. In addition, none of the animals included in this study showed obvious signs of suffering.

In these experiments, compound administration was initiated while microgliosis, astrogliosis, OPC proliferation, and oligodendrogenesis were still ongoing, with newly formed oligodendrocytes being vulnerable to cuprizone intoxication (Vega-Riquer et al., 2019). In addition, this study does not include determination of danazol- and parbendazole-induced effects on OPC proliferation or microglial and astrocyte activation, therefore, these effects along with cytoprotection cannot be fully excluded. However, upon comparison of the numbers of OLIG2-positive cells in substance and vehicle treated-mice significant differences

did not emerge (data not shown), thus speaking against a prominent impact on proliferation. Moreover, based on the here described in vitro and ex vivo data, this study suggests that the positive effects of these compounds on remyelination, are primarily induced via enhancement of OPC differentiation. Another aspect, which was not investigated in these experiments, were the effects of the treatments on neuroprotection. According to the current literature (Schultz et al., 2017; Zendedel et al., 2013) acute axonal injury is primarily taking place during active demyelination and only low levels can be detected at the time point of analysis in the traditional cuprizone set-up that has also been used in this study (6 weeks of cuprizone application and 1 week of remyelination). Similarly, absence of acute axonal injury was reported for remyelinated shadow plagues in MS patients and the chronic EAE animal model (Kornek et al., 2000). Hence, in order to describe to what degree compound treatment (positively affecting axonal remyelination) exerts an additional impact on axon integrity alternative experiments will have to be performed in future. To further elucidate the impact of these two leading compounds on regenerative processes upon demyelination, more elaborated analyses, including earlier time-points of analysis (i.e., 4, 5, and 6 weeks of cuprizone application) are required.

5.4. Biomedical translation process for multiple sclerosis treatment development

As previously explained cuprizone-evoked lesions resemble those of pattern III MS, while temporal aspects of demyelination and remyelination are also similar to MS pathology (Liu et al., 2010). However, the classic cuprizone-induced demyelination model, as used in this study, can be considered a useful model for the study of remyelination but no MS animal model, due to fundamental differences in pathology, mainly reflecting the absence of inflammatory cell infiltration from the periphery (Matsushima & Morell, 2001; Vega-Riquer et al., 2019).

One limitation of this model is that young animals are used, at an age which corresponds to a human age of below 18 years old, and therefore pathology similar to pediatric MS (Dutta & Trapp, 2014; Flurkey et al., 2007; Goodin, 2014). In addition, remyelination in young mice is

progressing rapidly, thus hindering detection of myelin repair promoting activities (Lindner et al., 2009; Skripuletz et al., 2011). For these reasons, protocols for chronic cuprizonemediated demyelination have been established using mice aged six months, a developmental stage which represents young adulthood in humans and especially around the age when MS symptoms usually begin (Dutta & Trapp, 2014; Flurkey et al., 2007; Goodin, 2014). In this chronic model, both the older age and the prolonged cuprizone application contribute to severe phenotypes which are followed by less prominent remyelination capacity and persisting pathological symptoms (Armstrong et al., 2006; Gingele et al., 2020; Lindner et al., 2009; Mason et al., 2004; Nomura et al., 2019). Chronic demyelination not only allows better study of oligodendendroglial cell regeneration and remyelination but also a more thorough determination of activities related to microglial and astrocytic activation, as well as acute axonal injury (Lindner et al., 2009). Extended remyelination after acute demyelination and inefficient remyelination in chronic lesions which allows neurodegeneration and permanent neurological deficits to develop are also characteristics of MS pathology (Lucchinetti et al., 1999; Ludwin, 1994; Prineas & Connell, 1979; Raine & Cross, 1989). Suggested etiology for the declined remyelination capacity during the course of the disease is the limited rate of oligodendrogenesis, which is caused due to the negative impact of aging (Doucette et al., 2010; Sim et al., 2002) and the lesion environment (Chang et al., 2000; John et al., 2002; Scolding et al., 1998; Wolswijk, 1998) on OPC proliferation and differentiation, the axonal damage (Raine & Cross, 1989; Silber & Sharief, 1999), and the inability of long-termed demyelinated axons to be remyelinated (Chang et al., 2002). Therefore, application of the lead compounds that emerged from this study in the chronic cuprizone demyelinating model, may enable determination of their effects in regulatory mechanisms that lead to diminished remyelination capacity in chronic MS lesions during disease progression and their impact on other glial cells and neurons.

Moreover, the use of the EAE rodent model for MS would allow investigation of the lead compounds in the context of immunomodulation and oligodendroglial cell development in an inflammatory environment which recapitulates the inflammatory MS lesion sites, reviewed in

(Denic et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 2014). The here presented study aimed to identify regenerative properties of chemical compound application. As the occurrence of demyelination and remyelination in EAE are not precisely defined, this model is not ideal for this purpose and therefore it was not chosen for validation of the hit compounds (Ransohoff, 2012). However, as variations of the experimental setup in EAE enable independent study of specific stages of MS progression such as relapsing-remitting EAE (Tuohy et al., 1989) and chronic progressive demyelination (Procaccini et al., 2015; Tompkins et al., 2002), a follow up study in this direction would increase the translational potential of our findings. In fact, as discussed earlier, there are reported studies where both non-immune driven, gliotoxinmediated demyelination models and EAE were employed for a more detailed characterization of treatment-induced effects (Deshmukh et al., 2013; Najm et al., 2015; Suo et al., 2019). Interestingly, Najm et al. addressed this question regarding miconazole and clobetazol first with an LPC-induced in vivo model of demyelination and following with the relapsing-remitting PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁-induced EAE model and the MOG₃₅₋₅₅-induced EAE which induces a relative controlled immune response and chronic progressive demyelination, thus showing only remyelinating properties for miconazole and a combinatory positive effect with immunomodulation for clobetasol (Najm et al., 2015).

Another distinctive feature of MS pathology which determines drug distribution in the CNS and thus the efficacy of a treatment is the BBB breakdown, which is induced by inflammation (Grossman et al., 1986; Katz et al., 1993; Silver et al., 2001; Spencer et al., 2018). BBB permeability is not affected by non-inflammatory demyelination, therefore the cuprizone demyelination model is not addressing this aspect (Bakker & Ludwin, 1987). In EAE similar to MS, activated immune cells from the periphery induce BBB leakage (Balasa et al., 2020; Wolburg-Buchholz et al., 2009; Wolburg et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2016), hence using this animal model will enable determination of the administrated doses and compound distribution in CNS, as regulated by conditions that resemble the MS- affected brain.

Another pitfall of understanding MS pathology and developing regenerative approaches is the heterogeneity in the oligodendroglial cell populations in the adult brain (Foerster et al., 2019; Leong et al., 2014). Notably, using both tissue samples from EAE-mice and human MS-brains altered oligodendrocyte heterogeneity was reported when compared to the healthy counterparts, which can at least in part be explained as response to the inflammatory environment (Falcão et al., 2018; Jäkel et al., 2019). To further define the reasons for the inefficient remyelination in MS, more histological analyses using tissue from active/demyelinating MS lesions were performed, suggesting that oligodendroglial cell behavior and the progress of myelin sheath formation vary according to the type of lesion and even the exact location within the lesion due to the hostile environment and the extent of the demyelinating episode (Brück et al., 1994; Heß et al., 2020). In addition, as mentioned before there are phenotypic differences between human and rodent OPCs which cannot be overseen (Jäkel et al., 2019; Perlman et al., 2020). Taken these impediments into account, investigation of drug-induced effects in MS tissue may prevent unmet goals of clinical trials later during drug development. As broad compound testing in MS tissue is practically not feasible, one possibility to this goal is to investigate the role of known lead compound targeted mechanisms in lesion development, oligodendrogenesis and myelin development using MS tissue. A bright example in this regard comes from our research group, where upon showing a positive regulatory role of the CXCL12 receptor CXCR7 in OPC differentiation in the inflamed rat brain (Göttle et al., 2010), the effects were validated using human fetal OPC cultures and in addition, its expression in MS remyelinating lesions was detected (Kremer et al., 2016b). The differential expression of CXCR7 in different types of MS lesions strongly suggests implication of the regulatory mechanism in remyelination in the context of the disease, thus suggesting a prominent therapeutic potential of its pharmacological modulation for myelin repair (Kremer et al., 2016b).

5.5. Drug repurposing and hit compound target identification

Drug target identification is a critical step in drug development and contributes to the investigation of molecular and cellular mechanisms implicated in several pathologies (Núñez

et al., 2012). Various databases of known targets and computational models for potential target predictions facilitate this process with low requirements in terms of time and cost (Chen et al., 2016). In this study confirmed primary hits were assigned into categories according to the most prominent potential targets (Fig. 1d), upon interrogation of the databases DrugBank (Law et al., 2014), STITCH (Kuhn et al., 2014), ChEMBL (Gaulton et al., 2017) and the web server SwissTargetPrediction (Gfeller et al., 2014). Interestingly, in most cases molecular mechanisms implicated in oligodendroglial cell development were emerged as known or potential targets. Despite the significant information these databases and computational models offer, false predictions and off-targets (Chartier et al., 2017) complicate target identification. To overcome these difficulties extensive literature research in the context of the study and experimental work are required.

In this respect, literature research was conducted for the validated hits methiazole, parbendazole, nocodazole and danazol. The first three belong to the compound family called benzimidazoles, which has been related to anti-cancer, anti-protozoal, anti-helminthic, antiinflammatory, anti-microbial, anti-viral, and analgesic activities (Salahuddin et al., 2017). Most of them are used in veterinary medicine where in some cases teratogenic or cytotoxic effects have been reported (Radostits, 2007), while others, such as the anti-ulcer treatments pantoprazole and omeprazole are broadly used in human medicine without significant implication of adverse effects. Methiazole's cell cycle profile linked this compound with parbendazole and two other microtubule destabilizing agents (Lo et al., 2017), therefore suggesting effects mediated via similar mechanisms. Specifically, based on the observation that parbendazole stimulation induces phosphorylated p38MAPK protein in rat primary OPC culture, it is suggested here that both parbendazole and methiazole induce alterations in microtubule dynamics via a p38MAPK-related mechanism. In line with these findings, similar phosphorylation events were previously reported in response to omeprazole stimulation (Zhu et al., 2019). Acute nocodazole stimulation at nanomolar concentrations, in contrast, was shown to promote OPC maturation via increased microtubule arborization, while at micromolar levels increased cytotoxicity and adverse effects during in vitro myelination were observed (Lee & Hur, 2020). This reported nocodazole-induced toxicity, is in accordance with the here reported findings and advocates the exclusion from further validation in this study.

Danazol is a testosterone derivative, initially approved by the FDA as treatment for endometriosis, which has reported anti-gonadotropic and anti-estrogenic properties (Dmowski et al., 1971). As danazol is a largely studied and approved drug, retrieving information about its mode of action and application both from databases (e.g., DrugBank) and the literature is much easier than for the benzimidazole derivatives. In fact, it has been studied in cancer research for its cytotoxic properties against, among others, leukemic and multidrug-resistant cancer cells (Chang et al., 2019; Podhorecka et al., 2016). The only reported effect of this compound in the context of oligodendoglial cell biology prior to this study was rescue of MBP expression in a zebrafish mutant featuring partial or complete loss of MBP transcripts in the peripheral nervous system (Diamantopoulou et al., 2019). However, the findings of this study are supported by the fact that other steroids are known to induce myelin repair activities. Precisely, progesterone and nestorone were shown to improve oligodendroglial cell maturation and remyelination a chronic model of cuprizone mediated demyelination (EI-Etr et al., 2015). Moreover, other studies demonstrated remyelination properties of testosterone and its synthetic analogue 7α -methyl-19promoting nortestosterone treatment in both chronic and acute demyelinated lesions via androgen receptor activation (Bielecki et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2013).

The here presented study aimed to elucidate the underlying mechanism of p57kip2's nuclear exclusion and the mediation of its regulatory impact on oligodendroglial cell differentiation. Previous work from our research group has brought to light regulatory mechanisms of the intracellular p57kip2 translocation related to gene expression (via Ascl1 and Hes5), cytoskeletal dynamics (via LIMK-1), cell cycle exit [CDK2; (Göttle et al., 2015)] as well as vascular ATPase activity (Göttle et al., 2019), however, the exact cascades are not yet known. Predicted/known targets of the primary hits emerged from the screening conducted for the purpose of this study, suggest that extrinsic signals targeting ion channels (benzamil

hydrochloride) and neurotransmitter receptors (alverine citrate salt), microtubule dynamics (benzimidazoles), steroid hormone receptors (danazol), COX1/2, and STAT5 (isoxicam and fosfosal) may be involved in the p57kip2 shuttling during OPC differentiation (Fig. 1d). As parbendazole showed the most prominent pro-differentiation and myelin repair effects a deeper look at the underlying mechanism was taken. Previous observations illustrating that CXCL12 chemokine stimulation induces MAPK phosphorylation and OPC differentiation (Göttle et al., 2010) are in accordance with the experimental data regarding parbendazole mediated p38MAPK activation in this study. In addition, p57kip2's nucleocytoplasmatic shuttling in differentiating oligodendrocytes has been shown to be mediated through the exporting 1 [CRM1, (Göttle et al., 2015)]. Interestingly, p38MAPK activation has been associated with nuclear transport of several proteins such as MAPK-activated protein kinase 5 (MK5), NFAT and E2F1, in all cases in a CRM1 dependent manner (del Arco et al., 2000; Ivanova & Dagnino, 2007; Seternes et al., 2002). Taken together, more extensive study of parbendazole mediated p38MAPK activation may shed light to the underlying mechanism of p57kip2 nuclear shuttling.

To further investigate the effects on oligodendroglial cell development induced by danazol and benzimidazole derivate treatment, bioinformatic data are currently being analyzed. Specifically, available differential gene expression profiles in oligodendroglial cells resulted from danazol and a microtubule destabilizing agent administration in mice, are being evaluated using Gene Ontology (GO) Term Enrichment using PANTHER Gene List Analysis tools (Mi et al., 2019). Once specific clusters of genes related to molecular processes relevant to OPC differentiation and remyelination are identified to be regulated, transcriptional changes will be investigated in the context of remyelination following cuprizone mediated demyelination. To this goal, using the same experimental setup and compound administration ways, RNA samples from the area along the midline of the medial and caudal compartments of the corpus callosum (where the highest levels of demyelination were detected by means of immunohistochemistry) will be extracted and investigated via quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR).

5.6. Conclusion

The present thesis suggests the subcellular localization of a potent inhibitor of oligodendroglial cell differentiation, namely p57kip2 protein, as differentiation competence marker. Using this readout, a phenotypic compound screening for small molecules with the potential to promote OPC differentiation was established and successfully performed. During this screening 21 primary hits were found to induce nuclear exclusion of the protein and among them methiazole, parbendazole, and danazol were found to promote differentiation of both rat and human primary OPCs, as well as *ex vivo* myelination in the rat system. Parbendazole and danazol enhanced OPC differentiation and remyelination upon toxin mediated demyelination in mice. Given that different biological systems (rat, mouse and human) and brain areas (cerebral cortex, cerebellum, corpus callosum) were included in this study, these data suggest evolutionary conserved molecular targets, thus highlighting their biomedical translational potential.

These results suggest parbendazole and danazol as lead compounds for optimization later in the process of drug development for the treatment of MS. Their effects in an inflammatory background or in other cell types in the CNS remain to be shown. In addition, known or predicted targets of all primary hits can be used to shed light to the underlying mechanism of p57kip2 translocation. Of great interest would be a follow up study of the p38MAPK related effects observed upon parbendazole stimulation and elucidation of a possible link to the nuclear exclusion of the p57kip2 protein. Finally, investigation of the differential gene expression during remyelination in the cuprizone model induced by parbendazole and danazol will provide more concrete information about their molecular targets.

6. REFERENCES

- Abiraman, K., Pol, S. U., Bara, M. A., Chen, G.-D., Khaku, Z. M., Wang, J., Thorn, D., Vedia,
 B. H., Ekwegbalu, E. C., Li, J.-X., Salvi, R. J., & Sim, F. J. (2015). Anti-Muscarinic
 Adjunct Therapy Accelerates Functional Human Oligodendrocyte Repair. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 35(8), 3676.
- Ackerman, S. D., & Monk, K. R. (2016). The scales and tales of myelination: using zebrafish and mouse to study myelinating glia. *Brain research*, *1641*(Pt A), 79-91.
- Agius, E., Soukkarieh, C., Danesin, C., Kan, P., Takebayashi, H., Soula, C., & Cochard, P. (2004). Converse control of oligodendrocyte and astrocyte lineage development by Sonic hedgehog in the chick spinal cord. *Developmental Biology*, *270*(2), 308-321.
- Allimuthu, D., Hubler, Z., Najm, F. J., Tang, H., Bederman, I., Seibel, W., Tesar, P. J., & Adams, D. J. (2019). Diverse Chemical Scaffolds Enhance Oligodendrocyte Formation by Inhibiting CYP51, TM7SF2, or EBP. *Cell Chemical Biology*, *26*(4), 593-599.e594.
- Almazan, G., Honegger, P., Du Pasquier, P., & Matthieu, J. M. (1986). Dexamethasone Stimulates the Biochemical Differentiation of Fetal Forebrain Cells in Reaggregating Cultures. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 8(1), 14-23.
- Álvarez-Lafuente, R., De las Heras, V., Bartolomé, M., Picazo, J. J., & Arroyo, R. (2004). Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis and Human Herpesvirus 6 Active Infection. *Archives of Neurology*, *61*(10), 1523-1527.
- Arber, S., Barbayannis, F. A., Hanser, H., Schneider, C., Stanyon, C. A., Bernard, O., & Caroni, P. (1998). Regulation of actin dynamics through phosphorylation of cofilin by LIM-kinase. *Nature*, 393(6687), 805-809.
- Armstrong, R. C., Le, T. Q., Flint, N. C., Vana, A. C., & Zhou, Y.-X. (2006). Endogenous Cell Repair of Chronic Demyelination. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 65(3), 245-256.
- Arnett, H. A., Mason, J., Marino, M., Suzuki, K., Matsushima, G. K., & Ting, J. P. Y. (2001). TNFα promotes proliferation of oligodendrocyte progenitors and remyelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *4*(11), 1116-1122.
- Ashikawa, Y., Nishimura, Y., Okabe, S., Sasagawa, S., Murakami, S., Yuge, M., Kawaguchi,
 K., Kawase, R., & Tanaka, T. (2016). Activation of Sterol Regulatory Element Binding
 Factors by Fenofibrate and Gemfibrozil Stimulates Myelination in Zebrafish [Original
 Research]. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 7(206).
- Atkins, C. M., & Sweatt, J. D. (1999). Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Activity-Dependent Neuron–Glia Signaling in Output Fibers of the Hippocampus. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(17), 7241.

- Azevedo, F. A. C., Carvalho, L. R. B., Grinberg, L. T., Farfel, J. M., Ferretti, R. E. L., Leite, R.
 E. P., Filho, W. J., Lent, R., & Herculano-Houzel, S. (2009). Equal numbers of neuronal and nonneuronal cells make the human brain an isometrically scaled-up primate brain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *513*(5), 532-541.
- Azim, K., & Butt, A. M. (2011). GSK3β negatively regulates oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination in vivo. *Glia*, *59*(4), 540-553.
- Back, S. A., Tuohy, T. M. F., Chen, H., Wallingford, N., Craig, A., Struve, J., Luo, N. L., Banine, F., Liu, Y., Chang, A., Trapp, B. D., Bebo, B. F., Rao, M. S., & Sherman, L. S. (2005). Hyaluronan accumulates in demyelinated lesions and inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor maturation. *Nature Medicine*, *11*(9), 966-972.
- Bakker, D. A., & Ludwin, S. K. (1987). Blood-brain barrier permeability during Cuprizoneinduced demyelination: Implications for the pathogenesis of immune-mediated demyelinating diseases. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 78(2), 125-137.
- Balakrishnan, A., Belfiore, L., Chu, T.-H., Fleming, T., Midha, R., Biernaskie, J., & Schuurmans, C. (2020). Insights Into the Role and Potential of Schwann Cells for Peripheral Nerve Repair From Studies of Development and Injury. *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience*, *13*, 608442.
- Balasa, R., Barcutean, L., Balasa, A., Motataianu, A., Roman-Filip, C., & Manu, D. (2020).
 The action of TH17 cells on blood brain barrier in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Human Immunology*, *81*(5), 237-243.
- Bannister, A. J., & Kouzarides, T. (2011). Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell research*, *21*(3), 381-395.
- Bansal, R., Winkler, S., & Bheddah, S. (1999). Negative Regulation of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation by Galactosphingolipids. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(18), 7913.
- Baraban, M., Koudelka, S., & Lyons, D. A. (2018). Ca2+ activity signatures of myelin sheath formation and growth in vivo. *Nature neuroscience*, *21*(1), 19-23.
- Baraban, M., Mensch, S., & Lyons, D. A. (2016). Adaptive myelination from fish to man. *Brain research*, *1641*, 149-161.
- Barateiro, A., & Fernandes, A. (2014). Temporal oligodendrocyte lineage progression: In vitro models of proliferation, differentiation and myelination. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research, 1843(9), 1917-1929.
- Barcellos, L., & Thomson, G. (2003). Genetic Analysis of Multiple Sclerosis in Europeans. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *143*, 1-6.
- Baron, W., Colognato, H., & French-Constant, C. (2005). Integrin-growth factor interactions as regulators of oligodendroglial development and function. *Glia*, *51*(1), 80-80.
- Barradas, P. C., Ferraz, A. S., Ferreira, A. A., Daumas, R. P., & Moura, E. G. (2000). 2'3'cyclic nucleotide 3'phosphodiesterase immunohistochemistry shows an

impairment on myelin compaction in hypothyroid rats. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, *18*(8), 887-892.

- Barres, B. A., Lazar, M. A., & Raff, M. C. (1994). A novel role for thyroid hormone, glucocorticoids and retinoic acid in timing oligodendrocyte development. *Development*, 120(5), 1097.
- Barres, B. A., & Raff, M. C. (1993). Proliferation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells depends on electrical activity in axons. *Nature*, *361*(6409), 258-260.
- Barros, C. S., Nguyen, T., Spencer, K. S. R., Nishiyama, A., Colognato, H., & Müller, U. (2009). β1 integrins are required for normal CNS myelination and promote AKTdependent myelin outgrowth. *Development*, *136*(16), 2717.
- Bauer, N. M., Moos, C., van Horssen, J., Witte, M., van der Valk, P., Altenhein, B., Luhmann,
 H. J., & White, R. (2012). Myelin basic protein synthesis is regulated by small non-coding RNA 715. *EMBO reports*, *13*(9), 827-834.
- Baumann, N., & Pham-Dinh, D. (2001). Biology of Oligodendrocyte and Myelin in the Mammalian Central Nervous System. *Physiological reviews*, *81*(2), 871-927.
- Baydyuk, M., Morrison, V. E., Gross, P. S., & Huang, J. K. (2020). Extrinsic Factors Driving Oligodendrocyte Lineage Cell Progression in CNS Development and Injury. *Neurochemical research*, 45(3), 630-642.
- Becher, B., Bechmann, I., & Greter, M. (2006). Antigen presentation in autoimmunity and CNS inflammation: how T lymphocytes recognize the brain. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 84(7), 532-543.
- Bechler, Marie E., Byrne, L., & ffrench-Constant, C. (2015). CNS Myelin Sheath Lengths Are an Intrinsic Property of Oligodendrocytes. *Current Biology*, *25*(18), 2411-2416.
- Bemis, G. W., & Murcko, M. A. (1996). The Properties of Known Drugs. 1. Molecular Frameworks. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *39*(15), 2887-2893.
- Bercury, K. K., Dai, J., Sachs, H. H., Ahrendsen, J. T., Wood, T. L., & Macklin, W. B. (2014). Conditional ablation of raptor or rictor has differential impact on oligodendrocyte differentiation and CNS myelination. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *34*(13), 4466-4480.
- Bercury, Kathryn K., & Macklin, Wendy B. (2015). Dynamics and Mechanisms of CNS Myelination. *Developmental cell*, *32*(4), 447-458.
- Bergles, D. E., & Richardson, W. D. (2015). Oligodendrocyte Development and Plasticity. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, *8*(2), a020453-a020453.
- Bergmann, C. C., Lane, T. E., & Stohlman, S. A. (2006). Coronavirus infection of the central nervous system: host-virus stand-off. *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, *4*(2), 121-132.
- Bernard, F., Moreau-Fauvarque, C., Heitz-Marchaland, C., Zagar, Y., Dumas, L., Fouquet, S., Lee, X., Shao, Z., Mi, S., & Chédotal, A. (2012). Role of transmembrane

semaphorin Sema6A in oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination. *Glia*, *60*(10), 1590-1604.

- Bernardo, A., Bianchi, D., Magnaghi, V., & Minghetti, L. (2009). Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-γ Agonists Promote Differentiation and Antioxidant Defenses of Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 68(7), 797-808.
- Bernardo, A., De Simone, R., De Nuccio, C., Visentin, S., & Minghetti, L. (2013). The nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ promotes oligodendrocyte differentiation through mechanisms involving mitochondria and oscillatory Ca2+ waves. *Biological Chemistry*, *394*(12), 1607-1614.
- Besson, A., Dowdy, S. F., & Roberts, J. M. (2008). CDK Inhibitors: Cell Cycle Regulators and Beyond. *Developmental cell*, *14*(2), 159-169.
- Beyer, F., Jadasz, J., Samper Agrelo, I., Schira-Heinen, J., Groh, J., Manousi, A.,
 Bütermann, C., Estrada, V., Reiche, L., Cantone, M., Vera, J., Viganò, F., Dimou, L.,
 Müller, H. W., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2020). Heterogeneous fate choice of
 genetically modulated adult neural stem cells in gray and white matter of the central
 nervous system. *Glia*, 68(2), 393-406.
- Bhat, R. V., Axt, K. J., Fosnaugh, J. S., Smith, K. J., Johnson, K. A., Hill, D. E., Kinzler, K.
 W., & Baraban, J. M. (1996). Expression of the APC tumor suppressor protein in oligodendroglia. *Glia*, *17*(2), 169-174.
- Bhatheja, K., & Field, J. (2006). Schwann cells: Origins and role in axonal maintenance and regeneration. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, *38*(12), 1995-1999.
- Bielecki, B., Mattern, C., Ghoumari, A. M., Javaid, S., Smietanka, K., Abi Ghanem, C., Mhaouty-Kodja, S., Ghandour, M. S., Baulieu, E.-E., Franklin, R. J. M., Schumacher, M., & Traiffort, E. (2016). Unexpected central role of the androgen receptor in the spontaneous regeneration of myelin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(51), 14829.
- Bijland, S., Thomson, G., Euston, M., Michail, K., Thümmler, K., Mücklisch, S., Crawford, C.
 L., Barnett, S. C., McLaughlin, M., Anderson, T. J., Linington, C., Brown, E. R.,
 Kalkman, E. R., & Edgar, J. M. (2019). An in vitro model for studying CNS white matter: functional properties and experimental approaches. *F1000Research*, *8*, 117-117.
- Bin, J. M., Harris, S. N., & Kennedy, T. E. (2016). The oligodendrocyte-specific antibody 'CC1' binds Quaking 7. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *139*(2), 181-186.
- Birgbauer, E., Rao, T. S., & Webb, M. (2004). Lysolecithin induces demyelination in vitro in a cerebellar slice culture system. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *78*(2), 157-166.

- Bjartmar, C., Hildebrand, C., & Loinder, K. (1994). Morphological heterogeneity of rat oligodendrocytes: Oligodendrocytes: Electron microscopic studies on serial sections. *Glia*, 11(3), 235-244.
- Bjelke, B., & Seiger, A. (1989). Morphological distribution of MBP-like immunoreactivity in the brain during development. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 7(2), 145-164.
- Blakemore, W. F., Eames, R. A., Smith, K. J., & McDonald, W. I. (1977). Remyelination in the spinal cord of the cat following intraspinal injections of lysolecithin. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 33(1), 31-43.
- Bögler, O., Wren, D., Barnett, S. C., Land, H., & Noble, M. (1990). Cooperation between two growth factors promotes extended self-renewal and inhibits differentiation of oligodendrocyte-type-2 astrocyte (O-2A) progenitor cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 87(16), 6368-6372.
- Boison, D., Bussow, H., Urso, D., Muller, H. W., & Stoffel, W. (1995). Adhesive properties of proteolipid protein are responsible for the compaction of CNS myelin sheaths. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(8), 5502.
- Bongarzone, E. R., Howard, S. G., Schonmann, V., & Campagnoni, A. T. (1998).
 Identification of the Dopamine D3 Receptor in Oligodendrocyte Precursors: Potential Role in Regulating Differentiation and Myelin Formation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(14), 5344.
- Bonkowsky, J. L., Nelson, C., Kingston, J. L., Filloux, F. M., Mundorff, M. B., & Srivastava, R. (2010). The burden of inherited leukodystrophies in children. *Neurology*, *75*(8), 718.
- Borniger, J. C., & Hesp, Z. C. (2016). Enhancing Remyelination through a Novel Opioid-Receptor Pathway. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *36*(47), 11831.
- Bourne, J. A. (2003). Intracerebral microdialysis: 30 years as a tool for the neuroscientist. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, *30*(1-2), 16-24.
- Boyd, A., Zhang, H., & Williams, A. (2013). Insufficient OPC migration into demyelinated lesions is a cause of poor remyelination in MS and mouse models. *Acta neuropathologica*, *125*(6), 841-859.
- Brakeman, J. S. F., Gu, S. H., Wang, X. B., Dolin, G., & Baraban, J. M. (1999). Neuronal localization of the adenomatous polyposis coli tumor suppressor protein. *Neuroscience*, 91(2), 661-672.
- Braun, P., Sandillon, F., Am, E., Matthieu, J., & Privat, A. (1988). Immunocytochemical Localization by Electron Microscopy of 2',3'Cyclic Nucleotide 3'Phosphodiesterase in Developing Oligodendrocytes of Normal and Mutant Brain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *8*, 3057-3066.

- Bronstein, J. M., Tiwari-Woodruff, S., Buznikov, A. G., & Stevens, D. B. (2000). Involvement of OSP/claudin-11 in oligodendrocyte membrane interactions: role in biology and disease. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *59*(6), 706-711.
- Brück, W., Schmied, M., Suchanek, G., Brück, Y., Breitschopf, H., Poser, S., Piddlesden, S.,
 & Lassmann, H. (1994). Oligodendrocytes in the early course of multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, *35*(1), 65-73.
- Bruinsma, I. B., van Dijk, M., Bridel, C., van de Lisdonk, T., Haverkort, S. Q., Runia, T. F., Steinman, L., Hintzen, R. Q., Killestein, J., Verbeek, M. M., Teunissen, C. E., & de Jong, B. A. (2017). Regulator of oligodendrocyte maturation, miR-219, a potential biomarker for MS. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *14*(1), Article 235.
- Brunner, C., Lassmann, H., Waehneldt, T. V., Matthieu, J.-M., & Linington, C. (1989). Differential Ultrastructural Localization of Myelin Basic Protein, Myelin/Oligodendroglial Glycoprotein, 2',3'-Cyclic Nucleotide 3'and Phosphodiesterase in the CNS of Adult Rats. Journal of Neurochemistry, 52(1), 296-304.
- Buckley, C. E., Goldsmith, P., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2008). Zebrafish myelination: a transparent model for remyelination? *Disease models & amp; mechanisms*, *1*(4-5), 221-228.
- Buckley, C. E., Marguerie, A., Roach, A. G., Goldsmith, P., Fleming, A., Alderton, W. K., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2010). Drug reprofiling using zebrafish identifies novel compounds with potential pro-myelination effects. *Neuropharmacology*, 59(3), 149-159.
- Buetler, T. M., & Eaton, D. L. (1992). Glutathione S-transferases: Amino acid sequence comparison, classification and phylogenetic relationship. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part C*, *10*(2), 181-203.
- Bujalka, H., Koenning, M., Jackson, S., Perreau, V. M., Pope, B., Hay, C. M., Mitew, S., Hill, A. F., Lu, Q. R., Wegner, M., Srinivasan, R., Svaren, J., Willingham, M., Barres, B. A., & Emery, B. (2013). MYRF is a membrane-associated transcription factor that autoproteolytically cleaves to directly activate myelin genes. *PLoS biology*, *11*(8), e1001625-e1001625.
- Bunge, M. B., Bunge, R. P., & Pappas, G. D. (1962). Electron microscopic demonstration of connections between glia and myelin sheaths in the developing mammalian central nervous system. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 12(2), 448-453.
- Bunge, M. B., Bunge, R. P., & Ris, H. (1961). Ultrastructural Study of Remyelination in an Experimental Lesion in Adult Cat Spinal Cord. *The Journal of Biophysical and Biochemical Cytology*, *10*(1), 67-94.
- Bunge, R. P. (1968). Glial cells and the central myelin sheath. *Physiological reviews*, *48*(1), 197-251.

- Butt, A., & Verkhratsky, A. (2018). Neuroglia: Realising their true potential. *Brain and neuroscience advances*, *2*, 2398212818817495-2398212818817495.
- Butt, A. M., Ibrahim, M., Ruge, F. M., & Berry, M. (1995). Biochemical subtypes of oligodendrocyte in the anterior medullary velum of the rat as revealed by the monoclonal antibody Rip. *Glia*, 14(3), 185-197.
- Buttery, P. C., & ffrench-Constant, C. (1999). Laminin-2/Integrin Interactions Enhance Myelin Membrane Formation by Oligodendrocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 14(3), 199-212.
- Cai, J., Qi, Y., Hu, X., Tan, M., Liu, Z., Zhang, J., Li, Q., Sander, M., & Qiu, M. (2005).
 Generation of Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cells from Mouse Dorsal Spinal Cord
 Independent of Nkx6 Regulation and Shh Signaling. *Neuron*, *45*(1), 41-53.
- Canoll, P. D., Musacchio, J. M., Hardy, R., Reynolds, R., Marchionni, M. A., & Salzer, J. L. (1996). GGF/Neuregulin Is a Neuronal Signal That Promotes the Proliferation and Survival and Inhibits the Differentiation of Oligodendrocyte Progenitors. *Neuron*, 17(2), 229-243.
- Casaccia-Bonnefil, P., Hardy, R. J., Teng, K. K., Levine, J. M., Koff, A., & Chao, M. V. (1999). Loss of p27Kip1 function results in increased proliferative capacity of oligodendrocyte progenitors but unaltered timing of differentiation. *Development*, *126*(18), 4027-4037.
- Cassiani-Ingoni, R., Coksaygan, T., Xue, H., Reichert-Scrivner, S., Wiendl, H., Rao, M., & Magnus, T. (2006). Cytoplasmic translocation of Olig2 in adult glial progenitors marks the generation of reactive astrocytes following autoimmune inflammation. Exp Neurol 201:349-358. *Experimental Neurology*, 201, 349-358.
- Cavaliere, F., Urra, O., Alberdi, E., & Matute, C. (2012). Oligodendrocyte differentiation from adult multipotent stem cells is modulated by glutamate. *Cell death & disease*, *3*(2), e268-e268.
- Cha, Y., Erez, T., Reynolds, I. J., Kumar, D., Ross, J., Koytiger, G., Kusko, R., Zeskind, B., Risso, S., Kagan, E., Papapetropoulos, S., Grossman, I., & Laifenfeld, D. (2018).
 Drug repurposing from the perspective of pharmaceutical companies. *British journal* of pharmacology, 175(2), 168-180.
- Chang, A., Nishiyama, A., Peterson, J., Prineas, J., & Trapp, B. D. (2000). NG2-Positive Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells in Adult Human Brain and Multiple Sclerosis Lesions. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(17), 6404.
- Chang, A., Tourtellotte, W. W., Rudick, R., & Trapp, B. D. (2002). Premyelinating Oligodendrocytes in Chronic Lesions of Multiple Sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 346(3), 165-173.

- Chang, Y., Teng, Y.-N., Lin, K.-I., Wang, C., Morris-Natschke, S., Lee, K.-H., & Hung, C.-C. (2019). Danazol mediates collateral sensitivity via STAT3/Myc related pathway in multidrug-resistant cancer cells. *Scientific Reports*, 9.
- Chapman, H., Waclaw, R. R., Pei, Z., Nakafuku, M., & Campbell, K. (2013). The homeobox gene *Gsx2* controls the timing of oligodendroglial fate specification in mouse lateral ganglionic eminence progenitors. *Development*, *140*(11), 2289.
- Chari, D. M., Zhao, C., Kotter, M. R., Blakemore, W. F., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2006). Corticosteroids delay remyelination of experimental demyelination in the rodent central nervous system. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 83(4), 594-605.
- Chartier, M., Morency, L.-P., Zylber, M. I., & Najmanovich, R. J. (2017). Large-scale detection of drug off-targets: hypotheses for drug repurposing and understanding side-effects. *BMC pharmacology & toxicology*, *18*(1), 18-18.
- Cheifetz, S., & Moscarello, M. A. (1985). Effect of bovine basic protein charge microheterogeneity on protein-induced aggregation of unilamellar vesicles containing a mixture of acidic and neutral phospholipids. *Biochemistry*, *24*(8), 1909-1914.
- Cheli, V. T., Santiago González, D. A., Spreuer, V., & Paez, P. M. (2015). Voltage-gated Ca2+ entry promotes oligodendrocyte progenitor cell maturation and myelination in vitro. *Experimental Neurology*, 265, 69-83.
- Chen, J., Zuo, S., Wang, J., Huang, J., Zhang, X., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., Han, J., Xiong, L., Shi, M., & Liu, Z. (2014). Aspirin promotes oligodendrocyte precursor cell proliferation and differentiation after white matter lesion. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, 6, 7-7.
- Chen, X., Vaughn, J. M., Yacaman, M. J., Williams, R. O., & Johnston, K. P. (2004). Rapid Dissolution of High-Potency Danazol Particles Produced by Evaporative Precipitation into Aqueous Solution. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 93(7), 1867-1878.
- Chen, X., Yan, C. C., Zhang, X., Zhang, X., Dai, F., Yin, J., & Zhang, Y. (2016). Drug–target interaction prediction: databases, web servers and computational models. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, *17*(4), 696-712.
- Chen, Y., Wu, H., Wang, S., Koito, H., Li, J., Ye, F., Hoang, J., Escobar, S. S., Gow, A., Arnett, H. A., Trapp, B. D., Karandikar, N. J., Hsieh, J., & Lu, Q. R. (2009). The oligodendrocyte-specific G protein-coupled receptor GPR17 is a cell-intrinsic timer of myelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *12*(11), 1398-1406.
- Chen, Y., Zhen, W., Guo, T., Zhao, Y., Liu, A., Rubio, J. P., Krull, D., Richardson, J. C., Lu,
 H., & Wang, R. (2017). Histamine Receptor 3 negatively regulates oligodendrocyte differentiation and remyelination. *PloS one*, *12*(12), e0189380-e0189380.
- Chen, Z.-x., & Riggs, A. D. (2011). DNA Methylation and Demethylation in Mammals *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *286*(21), 18347-18353.

- Chen, Z., Chen, J. T., Johnson, M., Gossman, Z. C., Hendrickson, M., Sakaie, K., Martinez-Rubio, C., Gale, J. T., & Trapp, B. D. (2015). Cuprizone does not induce CNS demyelination in nonhuman primates. *Annals of clinical and translational neurology*, 2(2), 208-213.
- Cheng, X., Wang, Y., He, Q., Qiu, M., Whittemore, S. R., & Cao, Q. (2007). Bone morphogenetic protein signaling and olig1/2 interact to regulate the differentiation and maturation of adult oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, 25(12), 3204-3214.
- Chew, L.-J., Shen, W., Ming, X., Senatorov, V. V., Chen, H.-L., Cheng, Y., Hong, E., Knoblach, S., & Gallo, V. (2011). SRY-Box Containing Gene 17 Regulates the Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway in Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(39), 13921.
- Chrast, R., Saher, G., Nave, K.-A., & Verheijen, M. H. G. (2011). Lipid metabolism in myelinating glial cells: lessons from human inherited disorders and mouse models. *Journal of lipid research*, *52*(3), 419-434.
- Chu, T., Shields, L. B. E., Zhang, Y. P., Feng, S.-Q., Shields, C. B., & Cai, J. (2017).
 CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 Chemokine Axis in the Central Nervous System: Therapeutic Targets for Remyelination in Demyelinating Diseases. *The Neuroscientist*, 23(6), 627-648.
- Coelho, R. P., Payne, S. G., Bittman, R., Spiegel, S., & Sato-Bigbee, C. (2007). The Immunomodulator FTY720 Has a Direct Cytoprotective Effect in Oligodendrocyte Progenitors. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 323(2), 626.
- Cohen, R. I. (2005). Exploring oligodendrocyte guidance: 'to boldly go where no cell has gone before'. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, *62*(5), 505.
- Cohen, R. I., Rottkamp, D. M., Maric, D., Barker, J. L., & Hudson, L. D. (2003). A role for semaphorins and neuropilins in oligodendrocyte guidance. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 85(5), 1262-1278.
- Coleman, M. (2005). Axon degeneration mechanisms: commonality amid diversity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *6*(11), 889-898.
- Colognato, H., Baron, W., Avellana-Adalid, V., Relvas, J. B., Evercooren, A. B.-V., Georges-Labouesse, E., & ffrench-Constant, C. (2002). CNS integrins switch growth factor signalling to promote target-dependent survival. *Nature Cell Biology*, *4*(11), 833-841.
- Colonna, M., & Butovsky, O. (2017). Microglia Function in the Central Nervous System During Health and Neurodegeneration. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *35*(1), 441-468.

- Coman, I., Barbin, G., Charles, P., Zalc, B., & Lubetzki, C. (2005). Axonal signals in central nervous system myelination, demyelination and remyelination. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 233(1), 67-71.
- Conforti, L., Gilley, J., & Coleman, M. P. (2014). Wallerian degeneration: an emerging axon death pathway linking injury and disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *15*(6), 394-409.
- Conway, G. D., O'Bara, M. A., Vedia, B. H., Pol, S. U., & Sim, F. J. (2012). Histone deacetylase activity is required for human oligodendrocyte progenitor differentiation. *Glia*, *60*(12), 1944-1953.
- Cózar, M., Lucas, M., & Monreal, J. (1987). Ionophoric properties of the proteolipid apoprotein from bovine brain myelin. *Biochemistry international*, *14*, 833-841.
- Crawford, A. H., Tripathi, R. B., Foerster, S., McKenzie, I., Kougioumtzidou, E., Grist, M., Richardson, W. D., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2016). Pre-Existing Mature Oligodendrocytes Do Not Contribute to Remyelination following Toxin-Induced Spinal Cord Demyelination. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *186*(3), 511-516.
- Cui, Q.-L., D'Abate, L., Fang, J., Leong, S. Y., Ludwin, S., Kennedy, T. E., Antel, J., & Almazan, G. (2012). Human Fetal Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells from Different Gestational Stages Exhibit Substantially Different Potential to Myelinate. *Stem Cells and Development*, *21*(11), 1831-1837.
- Cui, Q. L., Fang, J., Kennedy, T. E., Almazan, G., & Antel, J. P. (2014). Role of p38MAPK in S1P receptor-mediated differentiation of human oligodendrocyte progenitors. *Glia*, 62(8), 1361-1375.
- Cui, Q. L., Fragoso, G., Miron, V. E., Darlington, P. J., Mushynski, W. E., Antel, J., & Almazan, G. (2010). Response of Human Oligodendrocyte Progenitors to Growth Factors and Axon Signals. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 69(9), 930-944.
- Cui, X., Guo, Y.-e., Fang, J.-h., Shi, C.-j., Suo, N., Zhang, R., & Xie, X. (2019). Donepezil, a drug for Alzheimer's disease, promotes oligodendrocyte generation and remyelination. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, *40*(11), 1386-1393.
- Czopka, T. (2016). Insights into mechanisms of central nervous system myelination using zebrafish. *Glia*, *64*(3), 333-349.
- Czopka, T., Ffrench-Constant, C., & Lyons, D. A. (2013). Individual oligodendrocytes have only a few hours in which to generate new myelin sheaths in vivo. *Developmental cell*, *25*(6), 599-609.
- D'Rozario, M., Monk, K. R., & Petersen, S. C. (2017). Analysis of myelinated axon formation in zebrafish. *Methods in cell biology*, *138*, 383-414.

- Dai, J., Bercury, K. K., Jin, W., & Macklin, W. B. (2015). Olig1 Acetylation and Nuclear Export Mediate Oligodendrocyte Development. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(48), 15875-15893.
- Dandapani, S., Rosse, G., Southall, N., Salvino, J. M., & Thomas, C. J. (2012). Selecting, Acquiring, and Using Small Molecule Libraries for High-Throughput Screening. *Current protocols in chemical biology*, *4*, 177-191.
- Dawson, M. R. L., Levine, J. M., & Reynolds, R. (2000). NG2-expressing cells in the central nervous system: Are they oligodendroglial progenitors? *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 61(5), 471-479.
- Dawson, M. R. L., Polito, A., Levine, J. M., & Reynolds, R. (2003). NG2-expressing glial progenitor cells: an abundant and widespread population of cycling cells in the adult rat CNS. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *24*(2), 476-488.
- De Angelis, F., Bernardo, A., Magnaghi, V., Minghetti, L., & Tata, A. M. (2012). Muscarinic receptor subtypes as potential targets to modulate oligodendrocyte progenitor survival, proliferation, and differentiation. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 72(5), 713-728.
- de Castro, F., & Bribián, A. (2005). The molecular orchestra of the migration of oligodendrocyte precursors during development. *Brain Research Reviews*, 49(2), 227-241.
- de Castro, F., Bribián, A., & Ortega, M. C. (2013). Regulation of oligodendrocyte precursor migration during development, in adulthood and in pathology. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, *70*(22), 4355-4368.
- de Faria, O., Jr., Gonsalvez, D. G., Nicholson, M., & Xiao, J. (2019). Activity-dependent central nervous system myelination throughout life. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *148*(4), 447-461.
- de Faria, P. J., Kessaris, N., Andrew, P., Richardson, W. D., & Li, H. (2014). New Olig1null mice confirm a non-essential role for Olig1 in oligodendrocyte development. *BMC Neuroscience*, *15*(1), 12.
- de Ferra, F., Engh, H., Hudson, L., Kamholz, J., Puckett, C., Molineaux, S., & Lazzarini, R. A. (1985). Alternative splicing accounts for the four forms of myelin basic protein. *Cell*, *43*(3, Part 2), 721-727.
- de la Fuente, A. G., Errea, O., van Wijngaarden, P., Gonzalez, G. A., Kerninon, C., Jarjour, A. A., Lewis, H. J., Jones, C. A., Nait-Oumesmar, B., Zhao, C., Huang, J. K., ffrench-Constant, C., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2015). Vitamin D receptor-retinoid X receptor heterodimer signaling regulates oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation. *The Journal of cell biology*, *211*(5), 975-985.

- Dean, J. M., Moravec, M. D., Grafe, M., Abend, N., Ren, J., Gong, X., Volpe, J. J., Jensen, F.
 E., Hohimer, A. R., & Back, S. A. (2011). Strain-specific differences in perinatal rodent oligodendrocyte lineage progression and its correlation with human. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *33*(3-4), 251-260.
- Deber, C. M., & Reynolds, S. J. (1991). Central nervous system myelin: structure, function, and pathology. *Clinical biochemistry*, *24*(2), 113-134.
- Decker, L., Avellana-Adalid, V., Nait-Oumesmar, B., Durbec, P., & Baron-Van Evercooren, A. (2000). Oligodendrocyte Precursor Migration and Differentiation: Combined Effects of PSA Residues, Growth Factors, and Substrates. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *16*(4), 422-439.
- Decker, L., Durbec, P., Rougon, G., & Evercooren, A. B.-V. (2002). Loss of Polysialic Residues Accelerates CNS Neural Precursor Differentiation in Pathological Conditions. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 19(2), 225-238.
- Defrancesco, M., Marksteiner, J., Deisenhammer, E., Kemmler, G., Djurdjevic, T., & Schocke, M. (2012). Impact of White Matter Lesions and Cognitive Deficits on Conversion from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD*, *34*.
- del Arco, P. G., Martínez-Martínez, S., Maldonado, J. L., Ortega-Pérez, I., & Redondo, J. M. (2000). A Role for the p38 MAP Kinase Pathway in the Nuclear Shuttling of NFATp *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(18), 13872-13878.
- Del Bigio, M. R. (1995). The ependyma: A protective barrier between brain and cerebrospinal fluid. *Glia*, *14*(1), 1-13.
- Denic, A., Johnson, A. J., Bieber, A. J., Warrington, A. E., Rodriguez, M., & Pirko, I. (2011). The relevance of animal models in multiple sclerosis research. *Pathophysiology : the official journal of the International Society for Pathophysiology*, *18*(1), 21-29.
- DePaula-Silva, A. B., Hanak, T. J., Libbey, J. E., & Fujinami, R. S. (2017). Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus infection of SJL/J and C57BL/6J mice: Models for multiple sclerosis and epilepsy. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *308*, 30-42.
- Deshmukh, V. A., Tardif, V., Lyssiotis, C. A., Green, C. C., Kerman, B., Kim, H. J., Padmanabhan, K., Swoboda, J. G., Ahmad, I., Kondo, T., Gage, F. H., Theofilopoulos, A. N., Lawson, B. R., Schultz, P. G., & Lairson, L. L. (2013). A regenerative approach to the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, *502*(7471), 327-332.
- Diamantopoulou, E., Baxendale, S., de la Vega de León, A., Asad, A., Holdsworth, C. J., Abbas, L., Gillet, V. J., Wiggin, G. R., & Whitfield, T. T. (2019). Identification of compounds that rescue otic and myelination defects in the zebrafish adgrg6 (gpr126) mutant. *eLife*, *8*, e44889.

- Díaz, R. S., Monreal, J., & Lucas, M. (1990). Calcium Movements Mediated by Proteolipid Protein and Nucleotides in Liposomes Prepared with the Endogenous Lipids from Brain White Matter. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 55(4), 1304-1309.
- Dietz, K. C., Polanco, J. J., Pol, S. U., & Sim, F. J. (2016). Targeting human oligodendrocyte progenitors for myelin repair. *Experimental Neurology*, *283*(Pt B), 489-500.
- Ding, Y., & Brunden, K. R. (1994). The cytoplasmic domain of myelin glycoprotein P0 interacts with negatively charged phospholipid bilayers. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, *269*(14), 10764-10770.
- Dmowski, W. P., Scholer, H. F. L., Mahesh, V. B., & Greenblatt, R. B. (1971). Danazol—a Synthetic Steroid Derivative with Interesting Physiologic Properties *†. *Fertility and Sterility*, *22*(1), 9-18.
- Dong, J., Wang, N.-N., Yao, Z.-J., Zhang, L., Cheng, Y., Ouyang, D., Lu, A.-P., & Cao, D.-S. (2018). ADMETIab: a platform for systematic ADMET evaluation based on a comprehensively collected ADMET database. *Journal of Cheminformatics*, *10*(1), 29.
- Döring, A., Sloka, S., Lau, L., Mishra, M., van Minnen, J., Zhang, X., Kinniburgh, D., Rivest, S., & Yong, V. W. (2015). Stimulation of monocytes, macrophages, and microglia by amphotericin B and macrophage colony-stimulating factor promotes remyelination. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(3), 1136-1148.
- Doucette, J. R., Jiao, R., & Nazarali, A. J. (2010). Age-Related and Cuprizone-Induced Changes in Myelin and Transcription Factor Gene Expression and in Oligodendrocyte Cell Densities in the Rostral Corpus Callosum of Mice. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 30(4), 607-629.
- Du, C., Duan, Y., Wei, W., Cai, Y., Chai, H., Lv, J., Du, X., Zhu, J., & Xie, X. (2016). Kappa opioid receptor activation alleviates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and promotes oligodendrocyte-mediated remyelination. *Nature Communications*, *7*, 11120-11120.
- Dubois-Dalcq, M., Behar, T., Hudson, L., & Lazzarini, R. A. (1986). Emergence of three myelin proteins in oligodendrocytes cultured without neurons. *The Journal of cell biology*, *102*(2), 384-392.
- Ducey, M. W., Regel, A. R., Nandi, P., Lunte, C. E., & Lunte, S. M. (2012). 2.25 -Microdialysis Sampling in the Brain: Analytical Approaches and Challenges. In J. Pawliszyn (Ed.), *Comprehensive Sampling and Sample Preparation* (pp. 535-557). Academic Press.
- Dugas, J. C., Cuellar, T. L., Scholze, A., Ason, B., Ibrahim, A., Emery, B., Zamanian, J. L., Foo, L. C., McManus, M. T., & Barres, B. A. (2010). Dicer1 and miR-219 Are

Required for Normal Oligodendrocyte Differentiation and Myelination. *Neuron*, *65*(5), 597-611.

- Dugger, B. N., & Dickson, D. W. (2017). Pathology of Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, *9*(7), a028035.
- Duncan, I. D., Brower, A., Kondo, Y., Curlee, J. F., Jr., & Schultz, R. D. (2009). Extensive remyelination of the CNS leads to functional recovery. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(16), 6832-6836.
- Duncan, I. D., Radcliff, A. B., Heidari, M., Kidd, G., August, B. K., & Wierenga, L. A. (2018). The adult oligodendrocyte can participate in remyelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(50), E11807-E11816.
- Dupree, J. L., Mason, J. L., Marcus, J. R., Stull, M., Levinson, R., Matsushima, G. K., & Popko, B. (2004). Oligodendrocytes assist in the maintenance of sodium channel clusters independent of the myelin sheath. *Neuron glia biology*, *1*(3), 179-192.
- Dutta, R., & Trapp, B. D. (2014). Relapsing and progressive forms of multiple sclerosis: insights from pathology. *Current opinion in neurology*, *27*(3), 271-278.
- Dyck, S. M., & Karimi-Abdolrezaee, S. (2015). Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans: Key modulators in the developing and pathologic central nervous system. *Experimental Neurology*, 269, 169-187.
- Early, J. J., Cole, K. L., Williamson, J. M., Swire, M., Kamadurai, H., Muskavitch, M., & Lyons, D. A. (2018). An automated high-resolution in vivo screen in zebrafish to identify chemical regulators of myelination. *eLife*, 7, e35136.
- Ebrahimi-Barough, S., Massumi, M., Kouchesfahani, H. M., & Ai, J. (2013). Derivation of Preoligodendrocytes from Human Endometrial Stromal Cells by Using Overexpression of MicroRNA 338. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, *51*(2), 337-343.
- Egawa, N., Shindo, A., Hikawa, R., Kinoshita, H., Liang, A. C., Itoh, K., Lok, J., Maki, T., Takahashi, R., Lo, E. H., & Arai, K. (2019). Differential roles of epigenetic regulators in the survival and differentiation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *Glia*, 67(4), 718-728.
- El-Etr, M., Rame, M., Boucher, C., Ghoumari, A. M., Kumar, N., Liere, P., Pianos, A., Schumacher, M., & Sitruk-Ware, R. (2015). Progesterone and nestorone promote myelin regeneration in chronic demyelinating lesions of corpus callosum and cerebral cortex. *Glia*, 63(1), 104-117.
- Elbaz, B., Aaker, J. D., Isaac, S., Kolarzyk, A., Brugarolas, P., Eden, A., & Popko, B. (2018). Phosphorylation State of ZFP24 Controls Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *Cell Reports*, 23(8), 2254-2263.

- Elbaz, B., & Popko, B. (2019). Molecular Control of Oligodendrocyte Development. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *42*(4), 263-277.
- Eleuteri, C., Olla, S., Veroni, C., Umeton, R., Mechelli, R., Romano, S., Buscarinu, M. C., Ferrari, F., Calò, G., Ristori, G., Salvetti, M., & Agresti, C. (2017). A staged screening of registered drugs highlights remyelinating drug candidates for clinical trials. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 45780.
- Elitt, M. S., Shick, H. E., Madhavan, M., Allan, K. C., Clayton, B. L. L., Weng, C., Miller, T. E., Factor, D. C., Barbar, L., Nawash, B. S., Nevin, Z. S., Lager, A. M., Li, Y., Jin, F., Adams, D. J., & Tesar, P. J. (2018). Chemical Screening Identifies Enhancers of Mutant Oligodendrocyte Survival and Unmasks a Distinct Pathological Phase in Pelizaeus-Merzbacher Disease. *Stem Cell Reports*, *11*(3), 711-726.
- Emery, B. (2010). Regulation of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation and Myelination. *Science*, *330*(6005), 779.
- Emery, B., Agalliu, D., Cahoy, J. D., Watkins, T. A., Dugas, J. C., Mulinyawe, S. B., Ibrahim,
 A., Ligon, K. L., Rowitch, D. H., & Barres, B. A. (2009). Myelin gene regulatory factor
 is a critical transcriptional regulator required for CNS myelination. *Cell*, *138*(1), 172-185.
- Emery, B., & Lu, Q. R. (2015). Transcriptional and Epigenetic Regulation of Oligodendrocyte Development and Myelination in the Central Nervous System. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 7(9), a020461-a020461.
- Eng, L. F., Chao, F.-C., Gerstl, B., Pratt, D. R., & Tavaststjerna, M. G. (1968). Maturation of human white matter myelin. Fractionation of the myelin membrane proteins. *Biochemistry*, 7(12), 4455-4465.
- Falcão, A. M., van Bruggen, D., Marques, S., Meijer, M., Jäkel, S., Agirre, E., Samudyata, Floriddia, E. M., Vanichkina, D. P., Ffrench-Constant, C., Williams, A., Guerreiro-Cacais, A. O., & Castelo-Branco, G. (2018). Disease-specific oligodendrocyte lineage cells arise in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, *24*(12), 1837-1844.
- Fan, L.-W., Bhatt, A., Tien, L.-T., Zheng, B., Simpson, K. L., Lin, R. C. S., Cai, Z., Kumar, P.,
 & Pang, Y. (2015). Exposure to serotonin adversely affects oligodendrocyte development and myelination in vitro. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *133*(4), 532-543.
- Fancy, S. P. J., Baranzini, S. E., Zhao, C., Yuk, D.-I., Irvine, K.-A., Kaing, S., Sanai, N., Franklin, R. J. M., & Rowitch, D. H. (2009). Dysregulation of the Wnt pathway inhibits timely myelination and remyelination in the mammalian CNS. *Genes & amp; development*, 23(13), 1571-1585.
- Fancy, S. P. J., Harrington, E. P., Yuen, T. J., Silbereis, J. C., Zhao, C., Baranzini, S. E., Bruce, C. C., Otero, J. J., Huang, E. J., Nusse, R., Franklin, R. J. M., & Rowitch, D. H.

(2011). Axin2 as regulatory and therapeutic target in newborn brain injury and remyelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *14*(8), 1009-1016.

- Fancy, S. P. J., Zhao, C., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2004). Increased expression of Nkx2.2 and Olig2 identifies reactive oligodendrocyte progenitor cells responding to demyelination in the adult CNS. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 27(3), 247-254.
- Fang, N., Cheng, J., Zhang, C., Chen, K., Zhang, C., Hu, Z., Bi, R., Furber, K. L., Thangaraj, M., Nazarali, A. J., & Ji, S. (2019). Sirt2 epigenetically down-regulates PDGFRα expression and promotes CG4 cell differentiation. *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)*, *18*(10), 1095-1109.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160.
- Feigenson, K., Reid, M., See, J., Crenshaw, E. B., & Grinspan, J. (2009). Feigenson K, Reid
 M, See J, Crenshaw EB, Grinspan JB. Wnt signaling is sufficient to perturb oligodendrocyte maturation. Mol Cell Neurosci 42: 255-265. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences*, 42, 255-265.
- Fenoll, R., Pujol, J., Esteba-Castillo, S., de Sola, S., Ribas-Vidal, N., García-Alba, J.,
 Sánchez-Benavides, G., Martínez-Vilavella, G., Deus, J., Dierssen, M., Novell-Alsina,
 R., & de la Torre, R. (2017). Anomalous White Matter Structure and the Effect of Age
 in Down Syndrome Patients. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *57*, 61-70.
- Ferguson, B., Matyszak, M. K., Esiri, M. M., & Perry, V. H. (1997). Axonal damage in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *120 (Pt 3)*, 393-399.
- Fewou, S. N., Ramakrishnan, H., Büssow, H., Gieselmann, V., & Eckhardt, M. (2007). Downregulation of Polysialic Acid Is Required for Efficient Myelin Formation*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(22), 16700-16711.
- ffrench-Constant, C., & Raff, M. C. (1986). Proliferating bipotential glial progenitor cells in adult rat optic nerve. *Nature*, *319*(6053), 499-502.
- Fischer, A. J., Zelinka, C., Gallina, D., Scott, M. A., & Todd, L. (2014). Reactive microglia and macrophage facilitate the formation of Müller glia-derived retinal progenitors. *Glia*, 62(10), 1608-1628.
- Fitzpatrick, J.-M. K., Anderson, R. C., & McDermott, K. W. (2015). MicroRNA: Key regulators of oligodendrocyte development and pathobiology. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 65, 134-138.
- Fletcher, J. L., Wood, R. J., Nguyen, J., Norman, E. M. L., Jun, C. M. K., Prawdiuk, A. R., Biemond, M., Nguyen, H. T. H., Northfield, S. E., Hughes, R. A., Gonsalvez, D. G., Xiao, J., & Murray, S. S. (2018). Targeting TrkB with a Brain-Derived Neurotrophic

Factor Mimetic Promotes Myelin Repair in the Brain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *38*(32), 7088-7099.

- Flores, A. I., Narayanan, S. P., Morse, E. N., Shick, H. E., Yin, X., Kidd, G., Avila, R. L., Kirschner, D. A., & Macklin, W. B. (2008). Constitutively Active Akt Induces Enhanced Myelination in the CNS. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(28), 7174.
- Flurkey, K., Currer, J., & Harrison, D. (2007). The Mouse in Aging Research. *The Mouse in Biomedical Research*, *3*.
- Flynn, S. W., Lang, D. J., Mackay, A. L., Goghari, V., Vavasour, I. M., Whittall, K. P., Smith, G. N., Arango, V., Mann, J. J., Dwork, A. J., Falkai, P., & Honer, W. G. (2003).
 Abnormalities of myelination in schizophrenia detected in vivo with MRI, and postmortem with analysis of oligodendrocyte proteins. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *8*(9), 811-820.
- Foerster, S., Hill, M. F. E., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2019). Diversity in the oligodendrocyte lineage: Plasticity or heterogeneity? *Glia*, 67(10), 1797-1805.
- Foerster, S., Neumann, B., McClain, C., Di Canio, L., Chen, C., Reich, D., Simons, B., & Franklin, R. (2020). *Proliferation is a requirement for differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells during CNS remyelination*.
- Fogal, B., McClaskey, C., Yan, S., Yan, H., & Rivkees, S. (2010). Diazoxide Promotes Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cell Proliferation and Myelination. *PloS one*, *5*, e10906.
- Fogarty, M., Richardson, W. D., & Kessaris, N. (2005). A subset of oligodendrocytes generated from radial glia in the dorsal spinal cord. *Development*, *132*(8), 1951.
- Fok-Seang, J., DiProspero, N. A., Meiners, S., Muir, E., & Fawcett, J. W. (1998). Cytokineinduced changes in the ability of astrocytes to support migration of oligodendrocyte precursors and axon growth. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *10*(7), 2400-2415.
- Franklin, K. B. J., & Paxinos, G. (2008). *The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates* (3rd ed.). New York:Elsevier.
- Franklin, R. J. M., & ffrench-Constant, C. (2008). Remyelination in the CNS: from biology to therapy. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *9*(11), 839-855.
- Franklin, R. J. M., & ffrench-Constant, C. (2017). Regenerating CNS myelin from mechanisms to experimental medicines. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *18*(12), 753-769.
- Franklin, R. J. M., & Kotter, M. R. (2008). The biology of CNS remyelination. *Journal of Neurology*, *255*(1), 19-25.
- Freemantle, E., Chen, G. G., Cruceanu, C., Mechawar, N., & Turecki, G. (2013). Analysis of oxysterols and cholesterol in prefrontal cortex of suicides. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *16*(6), 1241-1249.
- Frohman, E. M., Racke, M. K., & Raine, C. S. (2006). Multiple Sclerosis The Plaque and Its Pathogenesis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *354*(9), 942-955.
- Fu, H., Cai, J., Clevers, H., Fast, E., Gray, S., Greenberg, R., Jain, M. K., Ma, Q., Qiu, M., Rowitch, D. H., Taylor, C. M., & Stiles, C. D. (2009). A Genome-Wide Screen for Spatially Restricted Expression Patterns Identifies Transcription Factors That Regulate Glial Development. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(36), 11399.
- Furusho, M., Kaga, Y., Ishii, A., Hébert, J. M., & Bansal, R. (2011). Fibroblast Growth Factor Signaling Is Required for the Generation of Oligodendrocyte Progenitors from the Embryonic Forebrain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(13), 5055.
- Fyffe-Maricich, S. L., Karlo, J. C., Landreth, G. E., & Miller, R. H. (2011). The ERK2 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Regulates the Timing of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(3), 843.
- Gacias, M., Gerona-Navarro, G., Plotnikov, Alexander N., Zhang, G., Zeng, L., Kaur, J., Moy, G., Rusinova, E., Rodriguez, Y., Matikainen, B., Vincek, A., Joshua, J., Casaccia, P., & Zhou, M.-M. (2014). Selective Chemical Modulation of Gene Transcription Favors Oligodendrocyte Lineage Progression. *Chemistry & Biology*, *21*(7), 841-854.
- Gadea, A., Aguirre, A., Haydar, T. F., & Gallo, V. (2009). Endothelin-1 Regulates Oligodendrocyte Development. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(32), 10047.
- Gaesser, J. M., & Fyffe-Maricich, S. L. (2016). Intracellular signaling pathway regulation of myelination and remyelination in the CNS. *Experimental Neurology*, 283(Pt B), 501-511.
- Galabova-Kovacs, G., Catalanotti, F., Matzen, D., Reyes, G. X., Zezula, J. r., Herbst, R., Silva, A., Walter, I., & Baccarini, M. (2008). Essential role of B-Raf in oligodendrocyte maturation and myelination during postnatal central nervous system development. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 180(5), 947-955.
- Gallo, V., & Armstrong, R. C. (1995). Developmental and growth factor-induced regulation of nestin in oligodendrocyte lineage cells. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(1), 394.
- Galloway, D. A., & Moore, C. S. (2016). miRNAs As Emerging Regulators of Oligodendrocyte
 Development and Differentiation. *Frontiers in cell and developmental biology*, *4*, 59.
 Retrieved 2016, from
- Gambi, D., Di Cesare, N., Di Trapani, G., Macchi, G., & Sbriccoli, A. (1989). Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in guinea pig: variability of response to intradermal emulsion injection. *The Italian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, *10*(1), 33-41.
- Garbern, J. Y. (2007). Garbern, J.Y. Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease: Genetic and cellular pathogenesis. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 64, 50-65. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS*, 64, 50-65.

- García-León, J. A., Kumar, M., Boon, R., Chau, D., One, J., Wolfs, E., Eggermont, K., Berckmans, P., Gunhanlar, N., de Vrij, F., Lendemeijer, B., Pavie, B., Corthout, N., Kushner, S. A., Dávila, J. C., Lambrichts, I., Hu, W.-S., & Verfaillie, C. M. (2018).
 SOX10 Single Transcription Factor-Based Fast and Efficient Generation of Oligodendrocytes from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Stem Cell Reports*, *10*(2), 655-672.
- Gard, A. L., & Pfeiffer, S. E. (1990). Two proliferative stages of the oligodendrocyte lineage (A2B5+O4- and O4+GalC-) under different mitogenic control. *Neuron*, *5*(5), 615-625.
- Gard, A. L., & Pfeiffer, S. E. (1993). Glial Cell Mitogens bFGF and PDGF Differentially Regulate Development of O4+GalC- Oligodendrocyte Progenitors. *Developmental Biology*, 159(2), 618-630.
- Garthwaite, G., Hampden-Smith, K., Wilson, G. W., Goodwin, D. A., & Garthwaite, J. (2015). Nitric oxide targets oligodendrocytes and promotes their morphological differentiation. *Glia*, 63(3), 383-399.
- Gaulton, A., Hersey, A., Nowotka, M., Bento, A. P., Chambers, J., Mendez, D., Mutowo, P.,
 Atkinson, F., Bellis, L. J., Cibrián-Uhalte, E., Davies, M., Dedman, N., Karlsson, A.,
 Magariños, M. P., Overington, J. P., Papadatos, G., Smit, I., & Leach, A. R. (2017).
 The ChEMBL database in 2017. *Nucleic acids research*, *45*(D1), D945-D954.
- Gautier, H. O. B., Evans, K. A., Volbracht, K., James, R., Sitnikov, S., Lundgaard, I., James,
 F., Lao-Peregrin, C., Reynolds, R., Franklin, R. J. M., & Káradóttir, R. T. (2015).
 Neuronal activity regulates remyelination via glutamate signalling to oligodendrocyte
 progenitors. *Nature Communications*, 6, 8518-8518.
- Geren, B. B., & Schmitt, F. O. (1954). The structure of the Schwann cell and its relation to the axon in certain invertebrate nerve fibers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *40*(9), 863-870.
- Gfeller, D., Grosdidier, A., Wirth, M., Daina, A., Michielin, O., & Zoete, V. (2014). SwissTargetPrediction: a web server for target prediction of bioactive small molecules. *Nucleic acids research*, 42(Web Server issue), W32-W38.
- Ghiani, C. A., Eisen, A. M., Yuan, X., DePinho, R. A., McBain, C. J., & Gallo, V. (1999b).
 Neurotransmitter receptor activation triggers p27(Kip1)and p21(CIP1) accumulation and G1 cell cycle arrest in oligodendrocyte progenitors. *Development*, *126*(5), 1077.
- Ghiani, C. A., Yuan, X., Eisen, A. M., Knutson, P. L., DePinho, R. A., McBain, C. J., & Gallo, V. (1999a). Voltage-Activated K+ Channels and Membrane Depolarization Regulate Accumulation of the Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitors p27Kip1 and p21CIP1 in Glial Progenitor Cells. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(13), 5380.
- Gibson, E. M., Purger, D., Mount, C. W., Goldstein, A. K., Lin, G. L., Wood, L. S., Inema, I., Miller, S. E., Bieri, G., Zuchero, J. B., Barres, B. A., Woo, P. J., Vogel, H., & Monje,

M. (2014). Neuronal activity promotes oligodendrogenesis and adaptive myelination in the mammalian brain. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *344*(6183), 1252304-1252304.

- Gingele, S., Henkel, F., Heckers, S., Moellenkamp, T. M., Hümmert, M. W., Skripuletz, T., Stangel, M., & Gudi, V. (2020). Delayed Demyelination and Impaired Remyelination in Aged Mice in the Cuprizone Model. *Cells*, 9(4), 945.
- Ginhoux, F., Lim, S., Hoeffel, G., Low, D., & Huber, T. (2013). Origin and differentiation of microglia. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *7*, 45-45.
- Goebbels, S., Oltrogge, J. H., Kemper, R., Heilmann, I., Bormuth, I., Wolfer, S., Wichert, S.
 P., Möbius, W., Liu, X., Lappe-Siefke, C., Rossner, M. J., Groszer, M., Suter, U.,
 Frahm, J., Boretius, S., & Nave, K.-A. (2010). Elevated Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5Trisphosphate in Glia Triggers Cell-Autonomous Membrane Wrapping and
 Myelination. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(26), 8953.
- Goldman, S. A., Nedergaard, M., & Windrem, M. S. (2012). Glial progenitor cell-based treatment and modeling of neurological disease. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 338(6106), 491-495.
- Gomes, W. A., Mehler, M. F., & Kessler, J. A. (2003). Transgenic overexpression of BMP4 increases astroglial and decreases oligodendroglial lineage commitment. *Developmental Biology*, 255(1), 164-177.
- Gomez, O., Sanchez-Rodriguez, A., Le, M., Sanchez-Caro, C., Molina-Holgado, F., & Molina-Holgado, E. (2011). Cannabinoid receptor agonists modulate oligodendrocyte differentiation by activating PI3K/Akt and the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathways. *British journal of pharmacology*, *163*(7), 1520-1532.
- Gong, Z., Ju, B., & Wan, H. (2001). Green fluorescent protein (GFP) transgenic fish and their applications. *Genetica*, *111*(1), 213-225.
- Gonzalez, G. A., Hofer, M. P., Syed, Y. A., Amaral, A. I., Rundle, J., Rahman, S., Zhao, C., & Kotter, M. R. N. (2016). Tamoxifen accelerates the repair of demyelinated lesions in the central nervous system. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 31599. Retrieved 2016/08//, from
- Goodin, D. S. (2014). Chapter 11 The epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: insights to disease pathogenesis. In D. S. Goodin (Ed.), *Handbook of clinical neurology* (Vol. 122, pp. 231-266). Elsevier.
- Göttle, P., Förster, M., Gruchot, J., Kremer, D., Hartung, H. P., Perron, H., & Küry, P. (2019).
 Rescuing the negative impact of human endogenous retrovirus envelope protein on oligodendroglial differentiation and myelination. *Glia*, 67(1), 160-170.
- Göttle, P., Kremer, D., Jander, S., Odemis, V., Engele, J., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2010). Activation of CXCR7 receptor promotes oligodendroglial cell maturation. *Annals of Neurology*, 68(6), 915-924.

- Göttle, P., Manousi, A., Kremer, D., Reiche, L., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2018). Teriflunomide promotes oligodendroglial differentiation and myelination. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *15*(1), 76-76.
- Göttle, P., Sabo, J. K., Heinen, A., Venables, G., Torres, K., Tzekova, N., Parras, C. M., Kremer, D., Hartung, H.-P., Cate, H. S., & Küry, P. (2015). Oligodendroglial maturation is dependent on intracellular protein shuttling. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(3), 906-919.
- Govier-Cole, A. E., Wood, R. J., Fletcher, J. L., Gonsalvez, D. G., Merlo, D., Cate, H. S., Murray, S. S., & Xiao, J. (2019). Inhibiting Bone Morphogenetic Protein 4 Type I Receptor Signaling Promotes Remyelination by Potentiating Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *eNeuro*, 6(2), ENEURO.0399-0318.2019.
- Gow, A., & Lazzarini, R. A. (1996). A cellular mechanism governing the severity of Pelizaeus–Merzbacher disease. *Nature Genetics*, *13*(4), 422-428.
- Grimaldi, P., Parras, C., Guillemot, F., Rossi, F., & Wassef, M. (2009). Origins and control of the differentiation of inhibitory interneurons and glia in the cerebellum. *Developmental Biology*, *328*(2), 422-433.
- Grinspan, J. B., Edell, E., Carpio, D. F., Beesley, J. S., Lavy, L., Pleasure, D., & Golden, J. A. (2000). Stage-specific effects of bone morphogenetic proteins on the oligodendrocyte lineage. *Journal of Neurobiology*, *43*(1), 1-17.
- Grinspan, J. B., & Franceschini, B. (1995). Platelet-derived growth factor is a survival factor for PSA-NCAM + oligodendrocyte pre-progenitor cells. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *41*(4), 540-551.
- Grossman, R. I., Gonzalez-Scarano, F., Atlas, S. W., Galetta, S., & Silberberg, D. H. (1986). Multiple sclerosis: gadolinium enhancement in MR imaging. *Radiology*, *161*(3), 721-725.
- Gruchot, J., Weyers, V., Göttle, P., Förster, M., Hartung, H.-P., Küry, P., & Kremer, D. (2019). The Molecular Basis for Remyelination Failure in Multiple Sclerosis. *Cells*, *8*(8).
- Guardiola-Diaz, H. M., Ishii, A., & Bansal, R. (2012). Erk1/2 MAPK and mTOR signaling sequentially regulates progression through distinct stages of oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Glia*, *60*(3), 476-486.
- Gudz, T. I., Schneider, T. E., Haas, T. A., & Macklin, W. B. (2002). Myelin proteolipid protein forms a complex with integrins and may participate in integrin receptor signaling in oligodendrocytes. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 22(17), 7398-7407.
- Guo, F., Lang, J., Sohn, J., Hammond, E., Chang, M., & Pleasure, D. (2015). Canonical Wnt signaling in the oligodendroglial lineage–puzzles remain. *Glia*, *63*(10), 1671-1693.

- Guo, Y.-E., Suo, N., Cui, X., Yuan, Q., & Xie, X. (2018). Vitamin C promotes oligodendrocytes generation and remyelination. *Glia*, *66*(7), 1302-1316.
- Gupta, R., Rowshan, K., Chao, T., Mozaffar, T., & Steward, O. (2004). Chronic nerve compression induces local demyelination and remyelination in a rat model of carpal tunnel syndrome. *Experimental Neurology*, 187(2), 500-508.
- Haanstra, K., Jagessar, S. A., Bauchet, A.-L., Doussau, M., Fovet, C.-M., Heijmans, N., Hofman, S., Veth, J., Bajramovic, J., Kap, Y., Laman, J., Touin, H., Watroba, L., Bauer, J., Lachapelle, F., Serguera, C., & Hart, B. (2013). Induction of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis With Recombinant Human Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein in Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant in Three Non-human Primate Species. *Journal of neuroimmune pharmacology : the official journal of the Society on NeuroImmune Pharmacology*, 8.
- Hahn, J. W., Jagwani, S., Kim, E., Rendell, V. R., He, J., Ezerskiy, L. A., Wesselschmidt, R., Coscia, C. J., & Belcheva, M. M. (2010). Mu and kappa opioids modulate mouse embryonic stem cell-derived neural progenitor differentiation via MAP kinases. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *112*(6), 1431-1441.
- Hajihosseini, M., Tham, T. N., & Dubois-Dalcq, M. (1996). Origin of Oligodendrocytes within the Human Spinal Cord. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(24), 7981.
- Hall, S. M. (1972). The Effect of Injections of Lysophosphatidyl Choline into White Matter of the Adult Mouse Spinal Cord. *Journal of Cell Science*, *10*(2), 535.
- Hall, S. M., & Williams, P. L. (1970). Studies on the 'Incisures' of Schmidt and Lanterman. *Journal of Cell Science*, 6(3), 767.
- Hammond, T. R., Gadea, A., Dupree, J., Kerninon, C., Nait-Oumesmar, B., Aguirre, A., & Gallo, V. (2014). Astrocyte-derived endothelin-1 inhibits remyelination through notch activation. *Neuron*, *81*(3), 588-602.
- Hampton, D. W., Innes, N., Merkler, D., Zhao, C., Franklin, R. J. M., & Chandran, S. (2012).
 Focal Immune-Mediated White Matter Demyelination Reveals an Age-Associated Increase in Axonal Vulnerability and Decreased Remyelination Efficiency. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *180*(5), 1897-1905.
- Hanani, M. (2005). Satellite glial cells in sensory ganglia: from form to function. *Brain Research Reviews*, *48*(3), 457-476.
- Hardy, R., & Friedrich, V. (1996). Progressive remodeling of the oligodendrocyte process arbor during myelinogenesis. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *18 4*, 243-254.
- Hardy, R., & Reynolds, R. (1991). Proliferation and differentiation potential of rat forebrain oligodendroglial progenitors both in vitro and in vivo. *Development*, *111*(4), 1061.
- Haroutunian, V., Katsel, P., Roussos, P., Davis, K. L., Altshuler, L. L., & Bartzokis, G. (2014). Myelination, oligodendrocytes, and serious mental illness. *Glia*, *62*(11), 1856-1877.

- Harrington, E. P., Zhao, C., Fancy, S. P. J., Kaing, S., Franklin, R. J. M., & Rowitch, D. H. (2010). Oligodendrocyte PTEN is required for myelin and axonal integrity, not remyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, 68(5), 703-716.
- Hartley, M. D., Banerji, T., Tagge, I. J., Kirkemo, L. L., Chaudhary, P., Calkins, E., Galipeau, D., Shokat, M. D., DeBell, M. J., Van Leuven, S., Miller, H., Marracci, G., Pocius, E., Banerji, T., Ferrara, S. J., Meinig, J. M., Emery, B., Bourdette, D., & Scanlan, T. S. (2019). Myelin repair stimulated by CNS-selective thyroid hormone action. *JCI insight*, *4*(8), e126329.
- Hartline, D. K., & Colman, D. R. (2007). Rapid Conduction and the Evolution of Giant Axons and Myelinated Fibers. *Current Biology*, *17*(1), R29-R35.
- Hashimoto, R., Hori, K., Owa, T., Miyashita, S., Dewa, K., Masuyama, N., Sakai, K., Hayase,
 Y., Seto, Y., Inoue, Y. U., Inoue, T., Ichinohe, N., Kawaguchi, Y., Akiyama, H.,
 Koizumi, S., & Hoshino, M. (2016). Origins of oligodendrocytes in the cerebellum,
 whose development is controlled by the transcription factor, Sox9. *Mechanisms of Development*, *140*, 25-40.
- Hauser, S. L., & Oksenberg, J. R. (2006). The Neurobiology of Multiple Sclerosis: Genes, Inflammation, and Neurodegeneration. *Neuron*, *52*(1), 61-76.
- He, D., Marie, C., Zhao, C., Kim, B., Wang, J., Deng, Y., Clavairoly, A., Frah, M., Wang, H.,
 He, X., Hmidan, H., Jones, B. V., Witte, D., Zalc, B., Zhou, X., Choo, D. I., Martin, D.
 M., Parras, C., & Lu, Q. R. (2016). Chd7 cooperates with Sox10 and regulates the onset of CNS myelination and remyelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *19*(5), 678-689.
- He, D., Wang, J., Lu, Y., Deng, Y., Zhao, C., Xu, L., Chen, Y., Hu, Y.-C., Zhou, W., & Lu, Q.
 R. (2017). IncRNA Functional Networks in Oligodendrocytes Reveal Stage-Specific Myelination Control by an IncOL1/Suz12 Complex in the CNS. *Neuron*, *93*(2), 362-378.
- He, H., Hu, Z., Xiao, H., Zhou, F., & Yang, B. (2018). The tale of histone modifications and its role in multiple sclerosis. *Human Genomics*, *12*(1), 31.
- He, Y., Dupree, J., Wang, J., Sandoval, J., Li, J., Liu, H., Shi, Y., Nave, K. A., & Casaccia-Bonnefil, P. (2007). The Transcription Factor Yin Yang 1 Is Essential for Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Differentiation. *Neuron*, *55*(2), 217-230.
- He, Y., Sandoval, J., & Casaccia-Bonnefil, P. (2007). Events at the transition between cell cycle exit and oligodendrocyte progenitor differentiation: the role of HDAC and YY1. *Neuron glia biology*, *3*(3), 221-231.
- Heinen, A., Kremer, D., Göttle, P., Kruse, F., Hasse, B., Lehmann, H., Hartung, H. P., & Küry, P. (2008). The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p57kip2 is a negative regulator of Schwann cell differentiation and in vitro myelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *105*(25), 8748-8753.

- Hejr, H., Ghareghani, M., Zibara, K., Ghafari, M., Sadri, F., Salehpour, Z., Hamedi, A., Negintaji, K., Azari, H., & Ghanbari, A. (2017). The ratio of 1/3 linoleic acid to alpha linolenic acid is optimal for oligodendrogenesis of embryonic neural stem cells. *Neuroscience Letters*, 651, 216-225.
- Hemmer, B., Archelos, J. J., & Hartung, H.-P. (2002). New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*(4), 291-301.
- Hennen, S., Wang, H., Peters, L., Merten, N., Simon, K., Spinrath, A., Blättermann, S., Akkari, R., Schrage, R., Schröder, R., Schulz, D., Vermeiren, C., Zimmermann, K., Kehraus, S., Drewke, C., Pfeifer, A., König, G. M., Mohr, K., Gillard, M., Müller, C. E., Lu, Q. R., Gomeza, J., & Kostenis, E. (2013). Decoding signaling and function of the orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR17 with a small-molecule agonist. *Science signaling*, 6(298), ra93-ra93.
- Herculano-Houzel, S. (2014). The glia/neuron ratio: How it varies uniformly across brain structures and species and what that means for brain physiology and evolution. *Glia*, *62*(9), 1377-1391.
- Heß, K., Starost, L., Kieran, N. W., Thomas, C., Vincenten, M. C. J., Antel, J., Martino, G., Huitinga, I., Healy, L., & Kuhlmann, T. (2020). Lesion stage-dependent causes for impaired remyelination in MS. *Acta neuropathologica*, *140*(3), 359-375.
- Hickman, S., Izzy, S., Sen, P., Morsett, L., & El Khoury, J. (2018). Microglia in neurodegeneration. *Nature neuroscience*, *21*(10), 1359-1369.
- Hill, R. A., Li, A. M., & Grutzendler, J. (2018). Lifelong cortical myelin plasticity and agerelated degeneration in the live mammalian brain. *Nature neuroscience*, *21*(5), 683-695.
- Hirano, A., & Dembitzer, H. M. (1982). Further studies on the transverse bands. *Journal of Neurocytology*, *11*(6), 861-866.
- Höftberger, R., & Lassmann, H. (2018). Chapter 19 Inflammatory demyelinating diseases of the central nervous system. In G. G. Kovacs & I. Alafuzoff (Eds.), *Handbook of clinical neurology* (Vol. 145, pp. 263-283). Elsevier.
- Holley, J. E., Gveric, D., Newcombe, J., Cuzner, M. L., & Gutowski, N. J. (2003). Astrocyte characterization in the multiple sclerosis glial scar. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, 29(5), 434-444.
- Hornig, J., Fröb, F., Vogl, M. R., Hermans-Borgmeyer, I., Tamm, E. R., & Wegner, M. (2013).
 The Transcription Factors Sox10 and Myrf Define an Essential Regulatory Network
 Module in Differentiating Oligodendrocytes. *PLOS Genetics*, *9*(10), e1003907.

- Howard, B. M., Zhicheng, M., Filipovic, R., Moore, A. R., Antic, S. D., & Zecevic, N. (2008).
 Radial glia cells in the developing human brain. *The Neuroscientist : a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry*, *14*(5), 459-473.
- Hsieh, J., Aimone, J. B., Kaspar, B. K., Kuwabara, T., Nakashima, K., & Gage, F. H. (2004).
 IGF-I instructs multipotent adult neural progenitor cells to become oligodendrocytes.
 Journal of Cell Biology, *164*(1), 111-122.
- Hu, J., Deng, L., Wang, X., & Xu, X.-M. (2009). Effects of extracellular matrix molecules on the growth properties of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in vitro. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 87(13), 2854-2862.
- Hu, Q.-D., Ang, B.-T., Karsak, M., Hu, W.-P., Cui, X.-Y., Duka, T., Takeda, Y., Chia, W., Sankar, N., Ng, Y.-K., Ling, E.-A., Maciag, T., Small, D., Trifonova, R., Kopan, R., Okano, H., Nakafuku, M., Chiba, S., Hirai, H., Aster, J. C., Schachner, M., Pallen, C. J., Watanabe, K., & Xiao, Z.-C. (2003). F3/Contactin Acts as a Functional Ligand for Notch during Oligodendrocyte Maturation. *Cell*, *115*(2), 163-175.
- Hu, Y., Lee, X., Ji, B., Guckian, K., Apicco, D., Pepinsky, R. B., Miller, R. H., & Mi, S. (2011).
 Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulator fingolimod (FTY720) does not promote remyelination in vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *48*(1), 72-81.
- Huang, J., Vogel, G., Yu, Z., Almazan, G., & Richard, S. (2011). Type II Arginine Methyltransferase PRMT5 Regulates Gene Expression of Inhibitors of Differentiation/DNA Binding Id2 and Id4 during Glial Cell Differentiation*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(52), 44424-44432.
- Huang, J. K., Jarjour, A. A., Nait Oumesmar, B., Kerninon, C., Williams, A., Krezel, W., Kagechika, H., Bauer, J., Zhao, C., Evercooren, A. B.-V., Chambon, P., ffrench-Constant, C., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2011). Retinoid X receptor gamma signaling accelerates CNS remyelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *14*(1), 45-53.
- Hubler, Z., Allimuthu, D., Bederman, I., Elitt, M. S., Madhavan, M., Allan, K. C., Shick, H. E., Garrison, E., T. Karl, M., Factor, D. C., Nevin, Z. S., Sax, J. L., Thompson, M. A., Fedorov, Y., Jin, J., Wilson, W. K., Giera, M., Bracher, F., Miller, R. H., Tesar, P. J., & Adams, D. J. (2018). Accumulation of 8,9-unsaturated sterols drives oligodendrocyte formation and remyelination. *Nature*, *560*(7718), 372-376.
- Hudson, L. D. (2004). Chapter 16 Proteolipid Protein Gene. In R. A. Lazzarini, J. W. Griffin,
 H. Lassman, K.-A. Nave, R. Miller, & B. D. Trapp (Eds.), *Myelin Biology and Disorders* (pp. 401-420). Academic Press.
- Hughes, E. G., Kang, S. H., Fukaya, M., & Bergles, D. E. (2013). Oligodendrocyte progenitors balance growth with self-repulsion to achieve homeostasis in the adult brain. *Nature neuroscience*, *16*(6), 668-676.

Hughes, E. G., Orthmann-Murphy, J. L., Langseth, A. J., & Bergles, D. E. (2018). Myelin remodeling through experience-dependent oligodendrogenesis in the adult somatosensory cortex. *Nature neuroscience*, *21*(5), 696-706.

Hughes, R. A. C. (2002). Peripheral neuropathy. BMJ, 324(7335), 466.

- Hughes, S. M., Lillien, L. E., Raff, M. C., Rohrer, H., & Sendtner, M. (1988). Ciliary neurotrophic factor induces type-2 astrocyte differentiation in culture. *Nature*, 335(6185), 70-73.
- Hussain, R., Ghoumari, A. M., Bielecki, B., Steibel, J., Boehm, N., Liere, P., Macklin, W. B., Kumar, N., Habert, R., Mhaouty-Kodja, S., Tronche, F., Sitruk-Ware, R., Schumacher, M., & Ghandour, M. S. (2013). The neural androgen receptor: a therapeutic target for myelin repair in chronic demyelination. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *136*(1), 132-146.
- Huxley, A. F., & Stämpeli, R. (1949). Evidence for saltatory conduction in peripheral myelinated nerve fibres. *The Journal of physiology*, *108*(3), 315-339.
- Huynh, J. L., Garg, P., Thin, T. H., Yoo, S., Dutta, R., Trapp, B. D., Haroutunian, V., Zhu, J.,
 Donovan, M. J., Sharp, A. J., & Casaccia, P. (2014). Epigenome-wide differences in pathology-free regions of multiple sclerosis-affected brains. *Nature neuroscience*, *17*(1), 121-130.
- Ichimura, T., & Ellisman, M. H. (1991). Three-dimensional fine structure of cytoskeletalmembrane interactions at nodes of Ranvier. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 20(8), 667-681.
- Irvine, K. A., & Blakemore, W. F. (2006). Age increases axon loss associated with primary demyelination in cuprizone-induced demyelination in C57BL/6 mice. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *175*(1), 69-76.
- Irvine, K. A., & Blakemore, W. F. (2008). Remyelination protects axons from demyelinationassociated axon degeneration. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *131*(6), 1464-1477.
- Ishibashi, T., Dakin, K. A., Stevens, B., Lee, P. R., Kozlov, S. V., Stewart, C. L., & Fields, R.
 D. (2006). Astrocytes promote myelination in response to electrical impulses. *Neuron*, 49(6), 823-832.
- Ishibashi, T., Lee, P. R., Baba, H., & Fields, R. D. (2009). Leukemia inhibitory factor regulates the timing of oligodendrocyte development and myelination in the postnatal optic nerve. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *87*(15), 3343-3355.
- Ishii, A., Furusho, M., & Bansal, R. (2013). Sustained Activation of ERK1/2 MAPK in Oligodendrocytes and Schwann Cells Enhances Myelin Growth and Stimulates Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Expansion. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(1), 175.
- Ishii, A., Fyffe-Maricich, S. L., Furusho, M., Miller, R. H., & Bansal, R. (2012). ERK1/ERK2 MAPK Signaling is Required to Increase Myelin Thickness Independent of

Oligodendrocyte Differentiation and Initiation of Myelination. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(26), 8855.

- Ivanova, I. A., & Dagnino, L. (2007). Activation of p38- and CRM1-dependent nuclear export promotes E2F1 degradation during keratinocyte differentiation. *Oncogene*, *26*(8), 1147-1154.
- Jackman, N., Ishii, A., & Bansal, R. (2009). Oligodendrocyte development and myelin biogenesis: parsing out the roles of glycosphingolipids. *Physiology (Bethesda, Md.)*, 24, 290-297.
- Jadasz, J. J., Rivera, F. J., Taubert, A., Kandasamy, M., Sandner, B., Weidner, N., Aktas, O., Hartung, H.-P., Aigner, L., & Küry, P. (2012). p57kip2 regulates glial fate decision in adult neural stem cells. *Development*, 139(18), 3306.
- Jadasz, J. J., Tepe, L., Beyer, F., Samper Agrelo, I., Akkermann, R., Spitzhorn, L.-S., Silva,
 M. E., Oreffo, R. O. C., Hartung, H.-P., Prigione, A., Rivera, F. J., Adjaye, J., & Küry,
 P. (2018). Human mesenchymal factors induce rat hippocampal- and human neural stem cell dependent oligodendrogenesis. *Glia*, 66(1), 145-160.
- Jaeger, C. B., Kapoor, R., & Llinás, R. (1988). Cytology and organization of rat cerebellar organ cultures. *Neuroscience*, *26*(2), 509-538.
- Jäkel, S., Agirre, E., Mendanha Falcão, A., van Bruggen, D., Lee, K. W., Knuesel, I., Malhotra, D., Ffrench-Constant, C., Williams, A., & Castelo-Branco, G. (2019). Altered human oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, *566*(7745), 543-547.
- Jakovcevski, I., Filipovic, R., Mo, Z., Rakic, S., & Zecevic, N. (2009). Oligodendrocyte development and the onset of myelination in the human fetal brain. *Frontiers in neuroanatomy*, *3*, 5-5.
- Jarriault, S., Le Bail, O., Hirsinger, E., Pourquié, O., Logeat, F., Strong, C. F., Brou, C., Seidah, N. G., & Isra I, A. (1998). Delta-1 activation of notch-1 signaling results in HES-1 transactivation. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *18*(12), 7423-7431.
- Jeffery, N. D., & Blakemore, W. F. (1995). Remyelination of mouse spinal cord axons demyelinated by local injection of lysolecithin. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 24(10), 775-781.
- John, G. R., Shankar, S. L., Shafit-Zagardo, B., Massimi, A., Lee, S. C., Raine, C. S., & Brosnan, C. F. (2002). Multiple sclerosis: Re-expression of a developmental pathway that restricts oligodendrocyte maturation. *Nature Medicine*, *8*(10), 1115-1121.
- Joubert, L., Foucault, I., Sagot, Y., Bernasconi, L., Duval, F., Alliod, C., Frossard, M.-J., Pescini Gobert, R., Curchod, M.-L., Salvat, C., Nichols, A., Pouly, S., Rommel, C., Roach, A., & Hooft van Huijsduijnen, R. (2010). Chemical inducers and transcriptional

markers of oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *88*(12), 2546-2557.

- Jung, C. G., Kim, H. J., Miron, V. E., Cook, S., Kennedy, T. E., Foster, C. A., Antel, J. P., & Soliven, B. (2007). Functional consequences of S1P receptor modulation in rat oligodendroglial lineage cells. *Glia*, 55(16), 1656-1667.
- Junker, A., Krumbholz, M., Eisele, S., Mohan, H., Augstein, F., Bittner, R., Lassmann, H., Wekerle, H., Hohlfeld, R., & Meinl, E. (2009). MicroRNA profiling of multiple sclerosis lesions identifies modulators of the regulatory protein CD47. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *132*(12), 3342-3352.
- Kaisar, M. A., Sajja, R. K., Prasad, S., Abhyankar, V. V., Liles, T., & Cucullo, L. (2017). New experimental models of the blood-brain barrier for CNS drug discovery. *Expert* opinion on drug discovery, 12(1), 89-103.
- Kang, S. H., Fukaya, M., Yang, J. K., Rothstein, J. D., & Bergles, D. E. (2010). NG2+ CNS Glial Progenitors Remain Committed to the Oligodendrocyte Lineage in Postnatal Life and following Neurodegeneration. *Neuron*, 68(4), 668-681.
- Kap, Y. S., Jagessar, S. A., Dunham, J., & 't Hart, B. A. (2016). The common marmoset as an indispensable animal model for immunotherapy development in multiple sclerosis. *Drug Discovery Today*, *21*(8), 1200-1205.
- Karim, H., Kim, S. H., Lauderdale, K., Lapato, A. S., Atkinson, K., Yasui, N., Yamate-Morgan, H., Sekyi, M., Katzenellenbogen, J. A., & Tiwari-Woodruff, S. K. (2019). Analogues of ERβ ligand chloroindazole exert immunomodulatory and remyelinating effects in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 503. Retrieved 2019/01//, from
- Karus, M., Ulc, A., Ehrlich, M., Czopka, T., Hennen, E., Fischer, J., Mizhorova, M., Qamar, N., Brüstle, O., & Faissner, A. (2016). Regulation of oligodendrocyte precursor maintenance by chondroitin sulphate glycosaminoglycans. *Glia*, 64(2), 270-286.
- Katz, D., Taubenberger, J. K., Cannella, B., McFarlin, D. E., Raine, C. S., & McFarland, H. F. (1993). Correlation between magnetic resonance imaging findings and lesion development in chronic, active multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, *34*(5), 661-669.
- Keirstead, H. S., & Blakemore, W. F. (1997). Identification of Post-mitotic Oligodendrocytes Incapable of Remyelination within the Demyelinated Adult Spinal Cord. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 56(11), 1191-1201.
- Keough, M. B., Rogers, J. A., Zhang, P., Jensen, S. K., Stephenson, E. L., Chen, T., Hurlbert, M. G., Lau, L. W., Rawji, K. S., Plemel, J. R., Koch, M., Ling, C.-C., & Yong, V. W. (2016). An inhibitor of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan synthesis promotes central nervous system remyelination. *Nature Communications*, *7*, 11312-11312.

- Kerman, B. E., Kim, H. J., Padmanabhan, K., Mei, A., Georges, S., Joens, M. S., Fitzpatrick, J. A. J., Jappelli, R., Chandross, K. J., August, P., & Gage, F. H. (2015). In vitro myelin formation using embryonic stem cells. *Development 142*(12), 2213-2225.
- Kessaris, N., Fogarty, M., Iannarelli, P., Grist, M., Wegner, M., & Richardson, W. D. (2006).
 Competing waves of oligodendrocytes in the forebrain and postnatal elimination of an embryonic lineage. *Nature neuroscience*, 9(2), 173-179.
- Kessaris, N., Jamen, F., Rubin, L. L., & Richardson, W. D. (2004). Cooperation between sonic hedgehog and fibroblast growth factor/MAPK signalling pathways in neocortical precursors. *Development*, 131(6), 1289.
- Kettenmann, H., & Verkhratsky, A. (2008). Neuroglia: the 150 years after. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *31*(12), 653-659.
- Khalaj, A. J., Hasselmann, J., Augello, C., Moore, S., & Tiwari-Woodruff, S. K. (2016). Nudging oligodendrocyte intrinsic signaling to remyelinate and repair: Estrogen receptor ligand effects. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology*, 160, 43-52.
- Kim, H., Shin, J., Kim, S., Poling, J., Park, H.-C., & Appel, B. (2008). Notch-regulated oligodendrocyte specification from radial glia in the spinal cord of zebrafish embryos. *Developmental Dynamics*, 237(8), 2081-2089.
- Kim, H. J., Kim, S. J., Kim, H. S., Choi, C. G., Kim, N., Han, S., Jang, E. H., Chung, S. J., & Lee, C. S. (2013). Alterations of mean diffusivity in brain white matter and deep gray matter in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience Letters*, *550*, 64-68.
- Kim, H. J., Miron, V. E., Dukala, D., Proia, R. L., Ludwin, S. K., Traka, M., Antel, J. P., & Soliven, B. (2011). Neurobiological effects of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulation in the cuprizone model. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 25(5), 1509-1518.
- Kimelberg, H. K. (2010). Functions of Mature Mammalian Astrocytes: A Current View. *The Neuroscientist*, *16*(1), 79-106.
- Kimelberg, H. K., & Nedergaard, M. (2010). Functions of astrocytes and their potential as therapeutic targets. *Neurotherapeutics*, 7(4), 338-353.
- Kipp, M., Clarner, T., Dang, J., & Copray, S. (2009). The cuprizone animal model: New insights into an old story. *Acta neuropathologica*, *118*, 723-736.
- Kiray, H., Lindsay, S. L., Hosseinzadeh, S., & Barnett, S. C. (2016). The multifaceted role of astrocytes in regulating myelination. *Experimental Neurology*, *283*(Pt B), 541-549.
- Kirby, B. B., Takada, N., Latimer, A. J., Shin, J., Carney, T. J., Kelsh, R. N., & Appel, B. (2006). In vivo time-lapse imaging shows dynamic oligodendrocyte progenitor behavior during zebrafish development. *Nature neuroscience*, *9*(12), 1506-1511.

- Klugmann, M., Schwab, M. H., Pühlhofer, A., Schneider, A., Zimmermann, F., Griffiths, I. R.,
 & Nave, K.-A. (1997). Assembly of CNS Myelin in the Absence of Proteolipid Protein. *Neuron*, *18*(1), 59-70.
- Knapp, P. E., Maderspach, K., & Hauser, K. F. (1998). Endogenous opioid system in developing normal and jimpy oligodendrocytes: μ and κ opioid receptors mediate differential mitogenic and growth responses. *Glia*, 22(2), 189-201.
- Koch-Henriksen, N., & Sørensen, P. S. (2010). The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. *The Lancet Neurology*, *9*(5), 520-532.
- Kondo, T., & Raff, M. (2000). Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cells Reprogrammed to Become Multipotential CNS Stem Cells. *Science*, *289*(5485), 1754.
- Kondo, Y., Wenger, D. A., Gallo, V., & Duncan, I. D. (2005). Galactocerebrosidase-deficient oligodendrocytes maintain stable central myelin by exogenous replacement of the missing enzyme in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(51), 18670-18675.
- Korinek, V., Barker, N., Willert, K., Molenaar, M., Roose, J., Wagenaar, G., Markman, M., Lamers, W., Destree, O., & Clevers, H. (1998). Two members of the Tcf family implicated in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling during embryogenesis in the mouse. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *18*(3), 1248-1256.
- Kornek, B., Storch, M. K., Weissert, R., Wallstroem, E., Stefferl, A., Olsson, T., Linington, C., Schmidbauer, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Multiple Sclerosis and Chronic Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis: A Comparative Quantitative Study of Axonal Injury in Active, Inactive, and Remyelinated Lesions. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 157(1), 267-276.
- Kotter, M. R., Li, W.-W., Zhao, C., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2006). Myelin Impairs CNS Remyelination by Inhibiting Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cell Differentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *26*(1), 328.
- Kotter, M. R., Stadelmann, C., & Hartung, H.-P. (2011). Enhancing remyelination in disease—can we wrap it up? *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *134*(7), 1882-1900.
- Kremer, D., Akkermann, R., Küry, P., & Dutta, R. (2019b). Current advancements in promoting remyelination in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England)*, 25(1), 7-14.
- Kremer, D., Aktas, O., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2011). The complex world of oligodendroglial differentiation inhibitors. *Annals of Neurology*, *69*(4), 602-618.
- Kremer, D., Cui, Q.-L., Göttle, P., Kuhlmann, T., Hartung, H.-P., Antel, J., & Küry, P. (2016b). CXCR7 Is Involved in Human Oligodendroglial Precursor Cell Maturation. *PloS one*, *11*(1), e0146503-e0146503.

- Kremer, D., Göttle, P., Flores-Rivera, J., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2019c). Remyelination in multiple sclerosis: from concept to clinical trials. *Current opinion in neurology*, *32*(3).
- Kremer, D., Göttle, P., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2016a). Pushing Forward: Remyelination as the New Frontier in CNS Diseases. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *39*(4), 246-263.
- Kremer, D., Gruchot, J., Weyers, V., Oldemeier, L., Göttle, P., Healy, L., Ho Jang, J., Kang T. Xu, Y., Volsko, C., Dutta, R., Trapp, B. D., Perron, H., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2019a). pHERV-W envelope protein fuels microglial cell-dependent damage of myelinated axons in multiple sclerosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(30), 15216.
- Kremer, D., Heinen, A., Jadasz, J., Göttle, P., Zimmermann, K., Zickler, P., Jander, S., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2009). p57kip2 is dynamically regulated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and interferes with oligodendroglial maturation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(22), 9087-9092.
- Kremer, D., Schichel, T., Förster, M., Tzekova, N., Bernard, C., van der Valk, P., van Horssen, J., Hartung, H.-P., Perron, H., & Küry, P. (2013). Human endogenous retrovirus type W envelope protein inhibits oligodendroglial precursor cell differentiation. *Annals of Neurology*, 74(5), 721-732.
- Kuboyama, K., Tanga, N., Suzuki, R., Fujikawa, A., & Noda, M. (2017). Protamine neutralizes chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan-mediated inhibition of oligodendrocyte differentiation. *PloS one*, *12*(12), e0189164-e0189164.
- Kuhlbrodt, K., Herbarth, B., Sock, E., Hermans-Borgmeyer, I., & Wegner, M. (1998). Sox10, a novel transcriptional modulator in glial cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *18*(1), 237-250.
- Kuhlmann, T., Miron, V., Cuo, Q., Wegner, C., Antel, J., & Brück, W. (2008). Differentiation block of oligodendroglial progenitor cells as a cause for remyelination failure in chronic multiple sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *131*(7), 1749-1758.
- Kuhn, M., Szklarczyk, D., Pletscher-Frankild, S., Blicher, T. H., von Mering, C., Jensen, L. J.,
 & Bork, P. (2014). STITCH 4: integration of protein-chemical interactions with user data. *Nucleic acids research*, *42*(Database issue), D401-407.
- Kulkarni, P., Yellanki, S., Medishetti, R., Sriram, D., Saxena, U., & Yogeeswari, P. (2017).
 Novel Zebrafish EAE model: A quick in vivo screen for multiple sclerosis. *Multiple sclerosis and related disorders*, *11*, 32-39.
- Kumar, S., Cole, R., Chiappelli, F., & de Vellis, J. (1989). Differential regulation of oligodendrocyte markers by glucocorticoids: post-transcriptional regulation of both proteolipid protein and myelin basic protein and transcriptional regulation of glycerol

phosphate dehydrogenase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *86*(17), 6807-6811.

- Kurtzke, J. (2000). Multiple sclerosis in time and space Geographic clues to cause. *Journal of neurovirology*, *6 Suppl 2*, S134-140.
- Küry, P., Greiner-Petter, R., Cornely, C., Jürgens, T., & Müller, H. W. (2002). Mammalian Achaete Scute Homolog 2 Is Expressed in the Adult Sciatic Nerve and Regulates the Expression of Krox24, Mob-1, CXCR4, and p57kip2 in Schwann Cells. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(17), 7586.
- Küry, P., Kremer, D., & Göttle, P. (2018). Drug repurposing for neuroregeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Neural regeneration research*, *13*(8), 1366-1367.
- Lang, J., Maeda, Y., Bannerman, P., Xu, J., Horiuchi, M., Pleasure, D., & Guo, F. (2013). Adenomatous Polyposis Coli Regulates Oligodendroglial Development. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 33(7), 3113.
- Langseth, A. J., Munji, R. N., Choe, Y., Huynh, T., Pozniak, C. D., & Pleasure, S. J. (2010). Writs influence the timing and efficiency of oligodendrocyte precursor cell generation in the telencephalon. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *30*(40), 13367-13372.
- Lariosa-Willingham, K. D., Rosler, E. S., Tung, J. S., Dugas, J. C., Collins, T. L., & Leonoudakis, D. (2016a). A high throughput drug screening assay to identify compounds that promote oligodendrocyte differentiation using acutely dissociated and purified oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *BMC research notes*, *9*(1), 419. Retrieved 2016/09//, from
- Lariosa-Willingham, K. D., Rosler, E. S., Tung, J. S., Dugas, J. C., Collins, T. L., & Leonoudakis, D. (2016b). Development of a central nervous system axonal myelination assay for high throughput screening. *BMC Neuroscience*, *17*(1), 16.
- Larocque, D., Galarneau, A., Liu, H.-N., Scott, M., Almazan, G., & Richard, S. (2005). Protection of p27Kip1 mRNA by quaking RNA binding proteins promotes oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Nature neuroscience*, *8*(1), 27-33.
- Lassmann, H. (2014). Mechanisms of white matter damage in multiple sclerosis. *Glia*, 62(11), 1816-1830.
- Lassmann, H., & Bradl, M. (2017). Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. *Acta neuropathologica*, *133*(2), 223-244.
- Lassmann, H., Brück, W., & Lucchinetti, C. F. (2007). The Immunopathology of Multiple Sclerosis: An Overview. *Brain Pathology*, *17*(2), 210-218.
- Lau, L. W., Cua, R., Keough, M. B., Haylock-Jacobs, S., & Yong, V. W. (2013). Pathophysiology of the brain extracellular matrix: a new target for remyelination. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *14*(10), 722-729.

- Law, V., Knox, C., Djoumbou, Y., Jewison, T., Guo, A. C., Liu, Y., Maciejewski, A., Arndt, D., Wilson, M., Neveu, V., Tang, A., Gabriel, G., Ly, C., Adamjee, S., Dame, Z. T., Han, B., Zhou, Y., & Wishart, D. S. (2014). DrugBank 4.0: shedding new light on drug metabolism. *Nucleic acids research*, *42*(Database issue), D1091-1097.
- Lee, B. Y., & Hur, E.-M. (2020). A Role of Microtubules in Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. International journal of molecular sciences, 21(3), 1062.
- Lee, H. K., Chaboub, L. S., Zhu, W., Zollinger, D., Rasband, M. N., Fancy, S. P. J., & Deneen, B. (2015a). Daam2-PIP5K is a regulatory pathway for Wnt signaling and therapeutic target for remyelination in the CNS. *Neuron*, *85*(6), 1227-1243.
- Lee, H. K., Laug, D., Zhu, W., Patel, J. M., Ung, K., Arenkiel, B. R., Fancy, S. P. J., Mohila, C., & Deneen, B. (2015b). Apcdd1 stimulates oligodendrocyte differentiation after white matter injury. *Glia*, 63(10), 1840-1849.
- Lee, J. Y., Taghian, K., & Petratos, S. (2014). Axonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis: can we predict and prevent permanent disability? *Acta neuropathologica communications*, 2, 97. Retrieved 2014/08//, from
- Lee, K., De Repentigny, Y., Saulnier, R., Rippstein, P., Macklin, W., & Kothary, R. (2006). Dominant-negative β1 integrin mice have region-specific myelin defects accompanied by alterations in MAPK activity. *Glia*, *53*, 836-844.
- Lee, M. H., Reynisdóttir, I., & Massagué, J. (1995). Cloning of p57KIP2, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor with unique domain structure and tissue distribution. *Genes & development*, *9*(6), 639-649.
- Lee, S., Chong, S. Y. C., Tuck, S. J., Corey, J. M., & Chan, J. R. (2013). A rapid and reproducible assay for modeling myelination by oligodendrocytes using engineered nanofibers. *Nature Protocols*, *8*(4), 771-782.
- Lee, X., Yang, Z., Shao, Z., Rosenberg, S. S., Levesque, M., Pepinsky, R. B., Qiu, M., Miller, R. H., Chan, J. R., & Mi, S. (2007). NGF regulates the expression of axonal LINGO-1 to inhibit oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(1), 220-225.
- Lees, M. B., & Brostoff, S. W. (1984). Proteins of Myelin. In P. Morell (Ed.), *Myelin* (pp. 197-224). Springer US.
- Lendahl, U., Zimmerman, L. B., & McKay, R. D. G. (1990). CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. *Cell*, *60*(4), 585-595.
- Leong, S. Y., Rao, V. T. S., Bin, J. M., Gris, P., Sangaralingam, M., Kennedy, T. E., & Antel, J. P. (2014). Heterogeneity of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in adult human brain. *Annals of clinical and translational neurology*, 1(4), 272-283.

- Letzen, B. S., Liu, C., Thakor, N. V., Gearhart, J. D., All, A. H., & Kerr, C. L. (2010). MicroRNA Expression Profiling of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation from Human Embryonic Stem Cells. *PloS one*, *5*(5), e10480.
- Levine, J. M., Reynolds, R., & Fawcett, J. W. (2001). The oligodendrocyte precursor cell in health and disease. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *24*(1), 39-47.
- Li, C., Tropak, M. B., Gerlai, R., Clapoff, S., Abramow-Newerly, W., Trapp, B., Peterson, A., & Roder, J. (1994). Myelination in the absence of myelin-associated glycoprotein. *Nature*, 369(6483), 747-750.
- Li, H., Lu, Y., Smith, H. K., & Richardson, W. D. (2007). Olig1 and Sox10 Interact Synergistically to Drive &It;em>Myelin Basic Protein&It;/em> Transcription in Oligodendrocytes. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(52), 14375.
- Li, Y., Guo, B., Yang, R., Xiao, Z., Gao, X., Yu, J., Li, S., & Luo, Y. (2018). A novel long noncoding RNA Inc158 promotes the differentiation of mouse neural precursor cells into oligodendrocytes by targeting nuclear factor-IB. *Neuroreport*, *29*(13).
- Licht-Mayer, S., Campbell, G. R., Canizares, M., Mehta, A. R., Gane, A. B., McGill, K., Ghosh, A., Fullerton, A., Menezes, N., Dean, J., Dunham, J., Al-Azki, S., Pryce, G., Zandee, S., Zhao, C., Kipp, M., Smith, K. J., Baker, D., Altmann, D., Anderton, S. M., Kap, Y. S., Laman, J. D., Hart, B. A. t., Rodriguez, M., Watzlawick, R., Schwab, J. M., Carter, R., Morton, N., Zagnoni, M., Franklin, R. J. M., Mitchell, R., Fleetwood-Walker, S., Lyons, D. A., Chandran, S., Lassmann, H., Trapp, B. D., & Mahad, D. J. (2020). Enhanced axonal response of mitochondria to demyelination offers neuroprotection: implications for multiple sclerosis. *Acta neuropathologica*, *140*(2), 143-167.
- Lima, F. R. S., da Fonseca, A. C. C., Faria, G. P., Dubois, L. G. F., Alves, T. R., Faria, J., & Neto, V. M. (2010). The Origin of Microglia and the Development of the Brain. In H. Ulrich (Ed.), *Perspectives of Stem Cells: From tools for studying mechanisms of neuronal differentiation towards therapy* (pp. 171-189). Springer Netherlands.
- Lin, J.-P., Mironova, Y. A., Shrager, P., & Giger, R. J. (2017). LRP1 regulates peroxisome biogenesis and cholesterol homeostasis in oligodendrocytes and is required for proper CNS myelin development and repair. *eLife*, 6, e30498.
- Lindner, M., Fokuhl, J., Linsmeier, F., Trebst, C., & Stangel, M. (2009). Chronic toxic demyelination in the central nervous system leads to axonal damage despite remyelination. *Neuroscience Letters*, *453*(2), 120-125.
- Linnington, C., Webb, M., & Woodhams, P. L. (1984). A novel myelin-associated glycoprotein defined by a mouse monoclonal antibody. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *6*(6), 387-396.

- Liu, A., Li, J., Marin-Husstege, M., Kageyama, R., Fan, Y., Gelinas, C., & Casaccia-Bonnefil,
 P. (2006). A molecular insight of Hes5-dependent inhibition of myelin gene expression: old partners and new players. *The EMBO journal*, 25(20), 4833-4842.
- Liu, J., Liu, J., Magri, L., Zhang, F., Marsh, N. O., Albrecht, S., Huynh, J. L., Kaur, J., Kuhlmann, T., Zhang, W., Slesinger, P. A., & Casaccia, P. (2015). Chromatin landscape defined by repressive histone methylation during oligodendrocyte differentiation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(1), 352-365.
- Liu, L., Belkadi, A., Darnall, L., Hu, T., Drescher, C., Cotleur, A. C., Padovani-Claudio, D., He, T., Choi, K., Lane, T. E., Miller, R. H., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2010). CXCR2-positive neutrophils are essential for cuprizone-induced demyelination: relevance to multiple sclerosis. *Nature neuroscience*, *13*(3), 319-326.
- Liu, S., Ren, C., Qu, X., Wu, X., Dong, F., Chand, Y. K., Fan, H., Yao, R., & Geng, D. (2017). miR-219 attenuates demyelination in cuprizone-induced demyelinated mice by regulating monocarboxylate transporter 1. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 45(2), 249-259.
- Liu, X., Smith, B. J., Chen, C., Callegari, E., Becker, S. L., Chen, X., Cianfrogna, J., Doran,
 A. C., Doran, S. D., Gibbs, J. P., Hosea, N., Liu, J., Nelson, F. R., Szewc, M. A., &
 Van Deusen, J. (2006). Evaluation of Cerebrospinal Fluid Concentration and Plasma
 Free Concentration As a Surrogate Measurement for Brain Free Concentration. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, *34*(9), 1443.
- Liu, Y. (2019). New ex vivo demyelination/remyelination models to defeat multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica. *Neural regeneration research*, *14*(10), 1715-1716.
- Lo, Y.-C., Senese, S., France, B., Gholkar, A. A., Damoiseaux, R., & Torres, J. Z. (2017). Computational Cell Cycle Profiling of Cancer Cells for Prioritizing FDA-Approved Drugs with Repurposing Potential. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 11261.
- Lopez Juarez, A., He, D., & Richard Lu, Q. (2016). Oligodendrocyte progenitor programming and reprogramming: Toward myelin regeneration. *Brain research*, *1638*(Pt B), 209-220.
- Loryan, I., Fridén, M., & Hammarlund-Udenaes, M. (2013). The brain slice method for studying drug distribution in the CNS. *Fluids and barriers of the CNS*, *10*, 6.
- Louapre, C., Govindarajan, S. T., Giannì, C., Langkammer, C., Sloane, J. A., Kinkel, R. P., & Mainero, C. (2015). Beyond focal cortical lesions in MS. *Neurology*, *85*(19), 1702.
- Lourenço, T., & Grãos, M. (2016). Modulation of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation by Mechanotransduction. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *10*(277).
- Louvi, A., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (2006). Notch signalling in vertebrate neural development. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 7(2), 93-102.

Love, S. (2006). Demyelinating diseases. Journal of Clinical Pathology, 59(11), 1151.

- Lu, Q. R., Yuk, D.-i., Alberta, J. A., Zhu, Z., Pawlitzky, I., Chan, J., McMahon, A. P., Stiles, C.
 D., & Rowitch, D. H. (2000). Sonic Hedgehog–Regulated Oligodendrocyte Lineage
 Genes Encoding bHLH Proteins in the Mammalian Central Nervous System. *Neuron*, 25(2), 317-329.
- Lucchinetti, C., Brück, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (1999). A quantitative analysis of oligodendrocytes in multiple sclerosis lesions. A study of 113 cases. *Brain : a journal of neurology, 122 (Pt 12),* 2279-2295.
- Lucchinetti, C., Brück, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: Implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, *47*(6), 707-717.
- Ludwin, S. K. (1994). Central nervous system remyelination: Studies in chronically damaged tissue. *Annals of Neurology*, *36*(S1), S143-S145.
- Ludwin, S. K. (1997). The Pathobiology of the Oligodendrocyte. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, *56*(2), 111-124.
- Ly, P. T. T., Stewart, C., & Pallen, C. J. (2018). PTPα is required for laminin-2-induced Fyn– Akt signaling to drive oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Journal of Cell Science*, *131*(15), jcs212076.
- Lyssiotis, C. A., Walker, J., Wu, C., Kondo, T., Schultz, P. G., & Wu, X. (2007). Inhibition of histone deacetylase activity induces developmental plasticity in oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *104*(38), 14982-14987.
- Mabie, P. C., Mehler, M. F., Marmur, R., Papavasiliou, A., Song, Q., & Kessler, J. A. (1997).
 Bone Morphogenetic Proteins Induce Astroglial Differentiation of Oligodendroglial– Astroglial Progenitor Cells. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *17*(11), 4112.
- Maceyka, M., Harikumar, K. B., Milstien, S., & Spiegel, S. (2012). Sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling and its role in disease. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *22*(1), 50-60.
- Magalon, K., Zimmer, C., Cayre, M., Khaldi, J., Bourbon, C., Robles, I., Tardif, G., Viola, A., Pruss, R. M., Bordet, T., & Durbec, P. (2012). Olesoxime accelerates myelination and promotes repair in models of demyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, *71*(2), 213-226.
- Mahad, D. H., Trapp, B. D., & Lassmann, H. (2015). Pathological mechanisms in progressive multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, *14*(2), 183-193.
- Mahad, D. J., Ziabreva, I., Campbell, G., Lax, N., White, K., Hanson, P. S., Lassmann, H., & Turnbull, D. M. (2009). Mitochondrial changes within axons in multiple sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *132*(Pt 5), 1161-1174.
- Mannervik, B., Alin, P., Guthenberg, C., Jensson, H., Tahir, M. K., Warholm, M., & Jörnvall, H. (1985). Identification of three classes of cytosolic glutathione transferase common

to several mammalian species: correlation between structural data and enzymatic properties. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *82*(21), 7202.

- Manousi, A., Göttle, P., Reiche, L., Cui, Q.-L., Healy, L. M., Akkermann, R., Gruchot, J., Schira-Heinen, J., Antel, J. P., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. *EBioMedicine*, 65, 103276.
- Marangon, D., Boccazzi, M., Lecca, D., & Fumagalli, M. (2020). Regulation of Oligodendrocyte Functions: Targeting Lipid Metabolism and Extracellular Matrix for Myelin Repair. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9(2), 470.
- Marin-Husstege, M., Muggironi, M., Liu, A., & Casaccia-Bonnefil, P. (2002). Histone deacetylase activity is necessary for oligodendrocyte lineage progression. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 22(23), 10333-10345.
- Marinelli, C., Bertalot, T., Zusso, M., Skaper, S. D., & Giusti, P. (2016). Systematic Review of Pharmacological Properties of the Oligodendrocyte Lineage. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *10*, 27-27.
- Maruyama, S., Tsukada, H., Nishiyama, S., Kakiuchi, T., Fukumoto, D., Oku, N., & Yamada,
 S. (2008). In Vivo Quantitative Autoradiographic Analysis of Brain Muscarinic
 Receptor Occupancy by Antimuscarinic Agents for Overactive Bladder Treatment.
 Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 325(3), 774.
- Mason, J. L., Toews, A., Hostettler, J. D., Morell, P., Suzuki, K., Goldman, J. E., & Matsushima, G. K. (2004). Oligodendrocytes and progenitors become progressively depleted within chronically demyelinated lesions. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *164*(5), 1673-1682.
- Mastronardi, F. G., Noor, A., Wood, D. D., Paton, T., & Moscarello, M. A. (2007). Peptidyl argininedeiminase 2 CpG island in multiple sclerosis white matter is hypomethylated. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *85*(9), 2006-2016.
- Matsumoto, S., Banine, F., Feistel, K., Foster, S., Xing, R., Struve, J., & Sherman, L. S. (2016). Brg1 directly regulates Olig2 transcription and is required for oligodendrocyte progenitor cell specification. *Developmental Biology*, *413*(2), 173-187.
- Matsuoka, S., Edwards, M. C., Bai, C., Parker, S., Zhang, P., Baldini, A., Harper, J. W., & Elledge, S. J. (1995). p57KIP2, a structurally distinct member of the p21CIP1 Cdk inhibitor family, is a candidate tumor suppressor gene. *Genes & development*, *9*(6), 650-662.
- Matsushima, G. K., & Morell, P. (2001). The Neurotoxicant, Cuprizone, as a Model to Study Demyelination and Remyelination in the Central Nervous System. *Brain Pathology*, *11*(1), 107-116.

- Mayer, M., Bhakoo, K., & Noble, M. (1994). Ciliary neurotrophic factor and leukemia inhibitory factor promote the generation, maturation and survival of oligodendrocytes in vitro. *Development*, *120*(1), 143.
- Maysami, S., Nguyen, D., Zobel, F., Pitz, C., Heine, S., Hoepfner, M., & Stangel, M. (2006). Modulation of rat oligodendrocyte precursor cells by the chemokine CXCL12. *Neuroreport*, *17*, 1187-1190.
- McCarthy, D. P., Richards, M. H., & Miller, S. D. (2012). Mouse models of multiple sclerosis: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and Theiler's virus-induced demyelinating disease. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 900, 381-401.
- McCarthy, K. D., & de Vellis, J. (1980). Preparation of separate astroglial and oligodendroglial cell cultures from rat cerebral tissue. *The Journal of cell biology*, *85*(3), 890-902.
- McKenzie, I. A., Ohayon, D., Li, H., Paes de Faria, J., Emery, B., Tohyama, K., & Richardson, W. D. (2014). Motor skill learning requires active central myelination. *Science*, *346*(6207), 318.
- Medina-Rodríguez, E. M., Arenzana, F. J., Pastor, J., Redondo, M., Palomo, V., García de Sola, R., Gil, C., Martínez, A., Bribián, A., & de Castro, F. (2013). Inhibition of endogenous phosphodiesterase 7 promotes oligodendrocyte precursor differentiation and survival. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 70(18), 3449-3462.
- Medina-Rodríguez, E. M., Bribián, A., Boyd, A., Palomo, V., Pastor, J., Lagares, A., Gil, C., Martínez, A., Williams, A., & de Castro, F. (2017). Promoting in vivo remyelination with small molecules: a neuroreparative pharmacological treatment for Multiple Sclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 43545. Retrieved 2017/03//, from
- Meffre, D., Shackleford, G. G., Hichor, M., Gorgievski, V., Tzavara, E. T., Trousson, A., Ghoumari, A. M., Deboux, C., Nait Oumesmar, B., Liere, P., Schumacher, M., Baulieu, E.-E., Charbonnier, F., Grenier, J., & Massaad, C. (2015). Liver X receptors alpha and beta promote myelination and remyelination in the cerebellum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(24), 7587-7592.
- Mei, F., Fancy, S. P. J., Shen, Y.-A. A., Niu, J., Zhao, C., Presley, B., Miao, E., Lee, S., Mayoral, S. R., Redmond, S. A., Etxeberria, A., Xiao, L., Franklin, R. J. M., Green, A., Hauser, S. L., & Chan, J. R. (2014). Micropillar arrays as a high-throughput screening platform for therapeutics in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, *20*(8), 954-960.
- Mei, F., Lehmann-Horn, K., Shen, Y.-A. A., Rankin, K. A., Stebbins, K. J., Lorrain, D. S., Pekarek, K., A Sagan, S., Xiao, L., Teuscher, C., von Büdingen, H. C., Wess, J., Lawrence, J. J., Green, A. J., Fancy, S. P., Zamvil, S. S., & Chan, J. R. (2016b).

Accelerated remyelination during inflammatory demyelination prevents axonal loss and improves functional recovery. *eLife*, *5*, e18246.

- Mei, F., Mayoral, S. R., Nobuta, H., Wang, F., Desponts, C., Lorrain, D. S., Xiao, L., Green,
 A. J., Rowitch, D., Whistler, J., & Chan, J. R. (2016a). Identification of the Kappa-Opioid Receptor as a Therapeutic Target for Oligodendrocyte Remyelination. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 36(30), 7925-7935.
- Mei, F., Wang, H., Liu, S., Niu, J., Wang, L., He, Y., Etxeberria, A., Chan, J. R., & Xiao, L. (2013). Stage-Specific Deletion of Olig2 Conveys Opposing Functions on Differentiation and Maturation of Oligodendrocytes. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(19), 8454.
- Mekki-Dauriac, S., Agius, E., Kan, P., & Cochard, P. (2002). Bone morphogenetic proteins negatively control oligodendrocyte precursor specification in the chick spinal cord. *Development*, *129*(22), 5117.
- Merchán, P., Bribián, A., Sánchez-Camacho, C., Lezameta, M., Bovolenta, P., & de Castro,
 F. (2007). Sonic hedgehog promotes the migration and proliferation of optic nerve oligodendrocyte precursors. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *36*(3), 355-368.
- Merrill, J. E. (2009). In Vitro and In Vivo Pharmacological Models to Assess Demyelination and Remyelination. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *34*(1), 55-73.
- Merten, N., Fischer, J., Simon, K., Zhang, L., Schröder, R., Peters, L., Letombe, A.-G., Hennen, S., Schrage, R., Bödefeld, T., Vermeiren, C., Gillard, M., Mohr, K., Lu, Q. R., Brüstle, O., Gomeza, J., & Kostenis, E. (2018). Repurposing HAMI3379 to Block GPR17 and Promote Rodent and Human Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *Cell Chemical Biology*, 25(6), 775-786.e775.
- Meyer, D. J., Coles, B., Pemble, S. E., Gilmore, K. S., Fraser, G. M., & Ketterer, B. (1991). Theta, a new class of glutathione transferases purified from rat and man. *Biochemical Journal*, 274(2), 409-414.
- Mi, H., Muruganujan, A., Huang, X., Ebert, D., Mills, C., Guo, X., & Thomas, P. D. (2019). Protocol Update for large-scale genome and gene function analysis with the PANTHER classification system (v.14.0). *Nature Protocols*, *14*(3), 703-721.
- Mi, S., Hu, B., Hahm, K., Luo, Y., Kam Hui, E. S., Yuan, Q., Wong, W. M., Wang, L., Su, H., Chu, T.-H., Guo, J., Zhang, W., So, K.-F., Pepinsky, B., Shao, Z., Graff, C., Garber, E., Jung, V., Wu, E. X., & Wu, W. (2007). LINGO-1 antagonist promotes spinal cord remyelination and axonal integrity in MOG-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nature Medicine*, *13*(10), 1228-1233.
- Mi, S., Lee, X., Shao, Z., Thill, G., Ji, B., Relton, J., Levesque, M., Allaire, N., Perrin, S., Sands, B., Crowell, T., Cate, R. L., McCoy, J. M., & Pepinsky, R. B. (2004). LINGO-1

is a component of the Nogo-66 receptor/p75 signaling complex. *Nature neuroscience*, 7(3), 221-228.

- Mi, S., Miller, R. H., Lee, X., Scott, M. L., Shulag-Morskaya, S., Shao, Z., Chang, J., Thill, G., Levesque, M., Zhang, M., Hession, C., Sah, D., Trapp, B., He, Z., Jung, V., McCoy, J. M., & Pepinsky, R. B. (2005). LINGO-1 negatively regulates myelination by oligodendrocytes. *Nature neuroscience*, *8*(6), 745-751.
- Michalski, J.-P., Anderson, C., Beauvais, A., De Repentigny, Y., & Kothary, R. (2011). The Proteolipid Protein Promoter Drives Expression outside of the Oligodendrocyte Lineage during Embryonic and Early Postnatal Development. *PloS one*, *6*, e19772.
- Michel, K., Zhao, T., Karl, M., Lewis, K., & Fyffe-Maricich, S. L. (2015). Translational control of myelin basic protein expression by ERK2 MAP kinase regulates timely remyelination in the adult brain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(20), 7850-7865.
- Miller, R. H., Dinsio, K., Wang, R., Geertman, R., Maier, C. E., & Hall, A. K. (2004). Patterning of spinal cord oligodendrocyte development by dorsally derived BMP4. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *76*(1), 9-19.
- Miller, R. H., Payne, J., Milner, L., Zhang, H., & Orentas, D. M. (1997). Spinal cord oligodendrocytes develop from a limited number of migratory, highly proliferative precursors. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *50*(2), 157-168.
- Miller, S., Vanderlugt, C., Smith Begolka, W., Pao, W., Yauch, R., Neville, K., Katz-Levy, Y., Carrizosa, A., & Kim, B. (1997). Persistent infection with Theiler's virus leads to CNS autoimmunity via epitope spreading. *Nature Medicine*, *3*.
- Miron, V. E., Boyd, A., Zhao, J.-W., Yuen, T. J., Ruckh, J. M., Shadrach, J. L., van Wijngaarden, P., Wagers, A. J., Williams, A., Franklin, R. J. M., & ffrench-Constant, C. (2013). M2 microglia and macrophages drive oligodendrocyte differentiation during CNS remyelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *16*(9), 1211-1218.
- Miron, V. E., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2014). Macrophages and CNS remyelination. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *130*(2), 165-171.
- Miron, V. E., Jung, C. G., Kim, H. J., Kennedy, T. E., Soliven, B., & Antel, J. P. (2008). FTY720 modulates human oligodendrocyte progenitor process extension and survival. *Annals of Neurology*, 63(1), 61-71.
- Miron, V. E., Ludwin, S. K., Darlington, P. J., Jarjour, A. A., Soliven, B., Kennedy, T. E., & Antel, J. P. (2010). Fingolimod (FTY720) enhances remyelination following demyelination of organotypic cerebellar slices. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 176(6), 2682-2694.
- Mitew, S., Gobius, I., Fenlon, L. R., McDougall, S. J., Hawkes, D., Xing, Y. L., Bujalka, H., Gundlach, A. L., Richards, L. J., Kilpatrick, T. J., Merson, T. D., & Emery, B. (2018).

Pharmacogenetic stimulation of neuronal activity increases myelination in an axonspecific manner. *Nature Communications*, *9*(1), 306.

- Mitew, S., Hay, C. M., Peckham, H., Xiao, J., Koenning, M., & Emery, B. (2014). Mechanisms regulating the development of oligodendrocytes and central nervous system myelin. *Neuroscience*, *276*, 29-47.
- Mohan, H., Friese, A., Albrecht, S., Krumbholz, M., Elliott, C. L., Arthur, A., Menon, R., Farina, C., Junker, A., Stadelmann, C., Barnett, S. C., Huitinga, I., Wekerle, H., Hohlfeld, R., Lassmann, H., Kuhlmann, T., Linington, C., & Meinl, E. (2014). Transcript profiling of different types of multiple sclerosis lesions yields FGF1 as a promoter of remyelination. *Acta neuropathologica communications*, *2*, 168-168.
- Molofsky, A. V., Krencik, R., Ullian, E. M., Tsai, H.-h., Deneen, B., Richardson, W. D., Barres,
 B. A., & Rowitch, D. H. (2012). Astrocytes and disease: a neurodevelopmental perspective. *Genes & development*, *26*(9), 891-907.
- Monge, M., Kadiiski, D., Jacque, C. M., & Zalc, B. (1986). Oligodendroglial Expression and Deposition of Four Major Myelin Constituents in the Myelin Sheath during Development. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *8*(4), 222-235.
- Monk, K. R., Feltri, M. L., & Taveggia, C. (2015). New insights on schwann cell development. *Glia*, 63(8), 1376-1393.
- Montag, D., Giese, K. P., Bartsch, U., Martini, R., Lang, Y., Blüthmann, H., Karthigasan, J., Kirschner, D. A., Wintergerst, E. S., Nave, K.-A., Zielasek, J., Toyka, K. V., Lipp, H.-P., & Schachner, M. (1994). Mice deficient for the glycoprotein show subtle abnormalities in myelin. *Neuron*, *13*(1), 229-246.
- Montani, L. (2020). Lipids in regulating oligodendrocyte structure and function. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*.
- Morello, D., Dautigny, A., Pham-Dinh, D., & Jollès, P. (1986). Myelin proteolipid protein (PLP and DM-20) transcripts are deleted in jimpy mutant mice. *The EMBO journal*, *5*(13), 3489-3493.
- Mori, S., & Leblond, C. P. (1970). Electron microscopic identification of three classes of oligodendrocytes and a preliminary study of their proliferative activity in the corpus callosum of young rats. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 139(1), 1-29.
- Morissette, N., & Carbonetto, S. (1995). Laminin alpha 2 chain (M chain) is found within the pathway of avian and murine retinal projections. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(12), 8067.
- Morris, G., Maes, M., Murdjeva, M., & Puri, B. K. (2019). Do Human Endogenous Retroviruses Contribute to Multiple Sclerosis, and if So, How? *Molecular neurobiology*, *56*(4), 2590-2605.

- Moyon, S., Dubessy, A. L., Aigrot, M. S., Trotter, M., Huang, J. K., Dauphinot, L., Potier, M. C., Kerninon, C., Melik Parsadaniantz, S., Franklin, R. J. M., & Lubetzki, C. (2015). Demyelination causes adult CNS progenitors to revert to an immature state and express immune cues that support their migration. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *35*(1), 4-20.
- Moyon, S., Huynh, Jimmy L., Dutta, D., Zhang, F., Ma, D., Yoo, S., Lawrence, R., Wegner,
 M., John, Gareth R., Emery, B., Lubetzki, C., Franklin, Robin J. M., Fan, G., Zhu, J.,
 Dupree, Jeffrey L., & Casaccia, P. (2016). Functional Characterization of DNA
 Methylation in the Oligodendrocyte Lineage. *Cell Reports*, *15*(4), 748-760.
- Moyon, S., Ma, D., Huynh, J. L., Coutts, D. J. C., Zhao, C., Casaccia, P., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2017). Efficient Remyelination Requires DNA Methylation. *eNeuro*, 4(2), ENEURO.0336-0316.2017.
- Murphy, M. P. (2009). How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *The Biochemical journal*, *417*(1), 1-13.
- Mutsaers, S. E., & Carroll, W. M. (1998). Focal accumulation of intra-axonal mitochondria in demyelination of the cat optic nerve. *Acta neuropathologica*, *96*(2), 139-143.
- Najm, F. J., Madhavan, M., Zaremba, A., Shick, E., Karl, R. T., Factor, D. C., Miller, T. E., Nevin, Z. S., Kantor, C., Sargent, A., Quick, K. L., Schlatzer, D. M., Tang, H., Papoian, R., Brimacombe, K. R., Shen, M., Boxer, M. B., Jadhav, A., Robinson, A. P., Podojil, J. R., Miller, S. D., Miller, R. H., & Tesar, P. J. (2015). Drug-based modulation of endogenous stem cells promotes functional remyelination in vivo. *Nature*, *522*(7555), 216-220.
- Nakajima, K., Ikenaka, K., Kagawa, T., Aruga, J., Nakao, J., Nakahira, K., Shiota, C., Kim, S.
 U., & Mikoshiba, K. (1993). Novel Isoforms of Mouse Myelin Basic Protein Predominantly Expressed in Embryonic Stage. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *60*(4), 1554-1563.
- Nakatani, H., Martin, E., Hassani, H., Clavairoly, A., Maire, C. L., Viadieu, A., Kerninon, C., Delmasure, A., Frah, M., Weber, M., Nakafuku, M., Zalc, B., Thomas, J.-L., Guillemot, F., Nait-Oumesmar, B., & Parras, C. (2013). Ascl1/Mash1 Promotes Brain Oligodendrogenesis during Myelination and Remyelination. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(23), 9752.
- Narayanan, S., Flores, A., Wang, F., & Macklin, W. (2009). Akt Signals through the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Pathway to Regulate CNS Myelination. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *29*, 6860-6870.
- Näthke, I. (2006). Cytoskeleton out of the cupboard: colon cancer and cytoskeletal changes induced by loss of APC. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *6*(12), 967-974.

- Nave, K.-A. (2010a). Myelination and support of axonal integrity by glia. *Nature*, *468*(7321), 244-252.
- Nave, K.-A. (2010b). Myelination and the trophic support of long axons. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *11*(4), 275-283.
- Nave, K.-A., & Ehrenreich, H. (2014). Myelination and Oligodendrocyte Functions in Psychiatric Diseases. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 71(5), 582-584.
- Nave, K.-A., & Werner, H. B. (2014). Myelination of the Nervous System: Mechanisms and Functions. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, *30*(1), 503-533.
- Nave, K. A., Lai, C., Bloom, F. E., & Milner, R. J. (1987). Splice site selection in the proteolipid protein (PLP) gene transcript and primary structure of the DM-20 protein of central nervous system myelin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 84(16), 5665-5669.
- Nery, S., Wichterle, H., & Fishell, G. (2001). Sonic hedgehog contributes to oligodendrocyte specification in the mammalian forebrain. *Development*, *128*(4), 527.
- Neumann, H., Medana, I., Bauer, J., & Lassmann, H. (2002). Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in autoimmune and degenerative CNS diseases. . *Trends in Neurosciences*, *25*, 313-319.
- Nishiyama, A., Boshans, L., Goncalves, C. M., Wegrzyn, J., & Patel, K. D. (2016). Lineage, fate, and fate potential of NG2-glia. *Brain research*, *1638*(Pt B), 116-128.
- Nishiyama, A., Komitova, M., Suzuki, R., & Zhu, X. (2009). Polydendrocytes (NG2 cells): multifunctional cells with lineage plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *10*(1), 9-22.
- Niu, J., Mei, F., Wang, L., Liu, S., Tian, Y., Mo, W., Li, H., Lu, Q. R., & Xiao, L. (2012). Phosphorylated olig1 localizes to the cytosol of oligodendrocytes and promotes membrane expansion and maturation. *Glia*, 60(9), 1427-1436.
- Noble, M., Murray, K., Stroobant, P., Waterfield, M. D., & Riddle, P. (1988). Platelet-derived growth factor promotes division and motility and inhibits premature differentiation of the oligodendrocyte/type-2 astrocyte progenitor ceil. *Nature*, *333*(6173), 560-562.
- Nomura, T., Bando, Y., Nakazawa, H., Kanemoto, S., & Yoshida, S. (2019). Pathological changes in mice with long term cuprizone administration. *Neurochemistry International*, *126*, 229-238.
- Noorbakhsh, F., Ellestad, K. K., Maingat, F., Warren, K. G., Han, M. H., Steinman, L., Baker, G. B., & Power, C. (2011). Impaired neurosteroid synthesis in multiple sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *134*(Pt 9), 2703-2721.
- Norden, D. M., & Godbout, J. P. (2013). Review: microglia of the aged brain: primed to be activated and resistant to regulation. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, *39*(1), 19-34.

- Noseworthy, J. H. (1999). Progress in determining the causes and treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, *399*(6738), A40-A47.
- Notterpek, L. M., Bullock, P. N., Malek-Hedayat, S., Fisher, R., & Rome, L. H. (1993). Myelination in cerebellar slice cultures: Development of a system amenable to biochemical analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *36*(6), 621-634.
- Novgorodov, A. S., El-Awani, M., Bielawski, J., Obeid, L. M., & Gudz, T. I. (2007). Activation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1P5 inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor migration. *The FASEB Journal*, *21*(7), 1503-1514.
- Núñez, S., Venhorst, J., & Kruse, C. G. (2012). Target–drug interactions: first principles and their application to drug discovery. *Drug Discovery Today*, *17*(1), 10-22.
- O'Loughlin, E., Madore, C., Lassmann, H., & Butovsky, O. (2018). Microglial Phenotypes and Functions in Multiple Sclerosis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, *8*(2), a028993.
- O'Shea, T. M., Burda, J. E., & Sofroniew, M. V. (2017). Cell biology of spinal cord injury and repair. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *127*(9), 3259-3270.
- Omari, K. M., John, G., Lango, R., & Raine, C. S. (2006). Role for CXCR2 and CXCL1 on glia in multiple sclerosis. *Glia*, *53*(1), 24-31.
- Orentas, D. M., & Miller, R. H. (1996). The Origin of Spinal Cord Oligodendrocytes Is Dependent on Local Influences from the Notochord. *Developmental Biology*, *177*(1), 43-53.
- Paez, P. M., Fulton, D., Colwell, C. S., & Campagnoni, A. T. (2009). Voltage-operated Ca2+ and Na+ channels in the oligodendrocyte lineage. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 87(15), 3259-3266.
- Pang, Y., Fan, L.-W., Tien, L.-T., Dai, X., Zheng, B., Cai, Z., Lin, R. C. S., & Bhatt, A. (2013).
 Differential roles of astrocyte and microglia in supporting oligodendrocyte development and myelination in vitro. *Brain and Behavior*, *3*(5), 503-514.
- Park, H.-C., & Appel, B. (2003). Delta-Notch signaling regulates oligodendrocyte specification. *Development*, *130*(16), 3747.
- Park, J. B., Yiu, G., Kaneko, S., Wang, J., Chang, J., & He, Z. (2005). A TNF Receptor Family Member, TROY, Is a Coreceptor with Nogo Receptor in Mediating the Inhibitory Activity of Myelin Inhibitors. *Neuron*, 45(3), 345-351.
- Parravicini, C., Lecca, D., Marangon, D., Coppolino, G. T., Daniele, S., Bonfanti, E., Fumagalli, M., Raveglia, L., Martini, C., Gianazza, E., Trincavelli, M. L., Abbracchio, M. P., & Eberini, I. (2020). Development of the first in vivo GPR17 ligand through an iterative drug discovery pipeline: A novel disease-modifying strategy for multiple sclerosis. *PloS one*, *15*(4), e0231483-e0231483.

- Pedraza, C. E., Taylor, C., Pereira, A., Seng, M., Tham, C.-S., Izrael, M., & Webb, M. (2014). Induction of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation and In Vitro Myelination by Inhibition of Rho-Associated Kinase. ASN neuro, 6(4), 1759091414538134.
- Peles, E., & Salzer, J. L. (2000). Molecular domains of myelinated axons. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *10*(5), 558-565.
- Pendleton, J. C., Shamblott, M. J., Gary, D. S., Belegu, V., Hurtado, A., Malone, M. L., & McDonald, J. W. (2013). Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans inhibit oligodendrocyte myelination through PTPσ. *Experimental Neurology*, *247*, 113-121.
- Peppard, J. V., Rugg, C. A., Smicker, M. A., Powers, E., Harnish, E., Prisco, J., Cirovic, D., Wright, P. S., August, P. R., & Chandross, K. J. (2015). High-Content Phenotypic Screening and Triaging Strategy to Identify Small Molecules Driving Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cell Differentiation. *Journal of Biomolecular Screening*, *20*(3), 382-390.
- Perlman, K., Couturier, C. P., Yaqubi, M., Tanti, A., Cui, Q.-L., Pernin, F., Stratton, J. A., Ragoussis, J., Healy, L., Petrecca, K., Dudley, R., Srour, M., Hall, J. A., Kennedy, T. E., Mechawar, N., & Antel, J. P. (2020). Developmental trajectory of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in the human brain revealed by single cell RNA sequencing. *Glia*, *68*(6), 1291-1303.
- Peters, A. (1964). Observations on the connexions between myelin sheaths and glial cells in the optic nerves of young rats. *Journal of anatomy*, *98*(Pt 1), 125-134.
- Peters, A. (2004). A fourth type of neuroglial cell in the adult central nervous system. *Journal of Neurocytology*, *33*(3), 345-357.
- Peters, A., Palay, S. L., & Webster, H. D. (1991). *The fine structure of the nervous system: The neurons and supporting cells* (3rd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Pfeiffer, S. E., Warrington, A. E., & Bansal, R. (1993). The oligodendrocyte and its many cellular processes. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *3*(6), 191-197.
- Philips, T., Bento-Abreu, A., Nonneman, A., Haeck, W., Staats, K., Geelen, V., Hersmus, N., Küsters, B., Van Den Bosch, L., Van Damme, P., Richardson, W. D., & Robberecht, W. (2013). Oligodendrocyte dysfunction in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *136*(Pt 2), 471-482.
- Plemel, J. R., Michaels, N. J., Weishaupt, N., Caprariello, A. V., Keough, M. B., Rogers, J. A., Yukseloglu, A., Lim, J., Patel, V. V., Rawji, K. S., Jensen, S. K., Teo, W., Heyne, B., Whitehead, S. N., Stys, P. K., & Yong, V. W. (2018). Mechanisms of lysophosphatidylcholine-induced demyelination: A primary lipid disrupting myelinopathy. *Glia*, 66(2), 327-347.
- Podhorecka, M., Macheta, A., Chocholska, S., Bojarska-Junak, A., Szymczyk, A., Goracy, A., Dmoszynska, A., & Hus, M. (2016). Danazol induces apoptosis and cytotoxicity of

leukemic cells alone and in combination with purine nucleoside analogs in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Annals of hematology*, *95*(3), 425-435.

- Pohl, H. B. F., Porcheri, C., Mueggler, T., Bachmann, L. C., Martino, G., Riethmacher, D., Franklin, R. J. M., Rudin, M., & Suter, U. (2011). Genetically Induced Adult Oligodendrocyte Cell Death Is Associated with Poor Myelin Clearance, Reduced Remyelination, and Axonal Damage. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(3), 1069.
- Pol, S. U., Polanco, J. J., Seidman, R. A., O'Bara, M. A., Shayya, H. J., Dietz, K. C., & Sim, F. J. (2017). Network-Based Genomic Analysis of Human Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Differentiation. *Stem Cell Reports*, 9(2), 710-723.
- Poliak, S., & Peles, E. (2003). The local differentiation of myelinated axons at nodes of Ranvier. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *4*(12), 968-980.
- Ponath, G., Park, C., & Pitt, D. (2018). The Role of Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 217-217.
- Poncet, C., Soula, C., Trousse, F., Kan, P., Hirsinger, E., Pourquié, O., Duprat, A.-M., & Cochard, P. (1996). Induction of oligodendrocyte progenitors in the trunk neural tube by ventralizing signals: effects of notochord and floor plate grafts, and of sonic hedgehog. *Mechanisms of Development*, 60(1), 13-32.
- Porcu, G., Serone, E., De Nardis, V., Di Giandomenico, D., Lucisano, G., Scardapane, M.,
 Poma, A., & Ragnini-Wilson, A. (2015). Clobetasol and Halcinonide Act as
 Smoothened Agonists to Promote Myelin Gene Expression and RxRγ Receptor
 Activation. *PloS one*, *10*(12), e0144550. Retrieved 2015, from
- Pozniak, C. D., Langseth, A. J., Dijkgraaf, G. J. P., Choe, Y., Werb, Z., & Pleasure, S. J. (2010). Sox10 directs neural stem cells toward the oligodendrocyte lineage by decreasing Suppressor of Fused expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(50), 21795-21800.
- Preisner, A., Albrecht, S., Cui, Q.-L., Hucke, S., Ghelman, J., Hartmann, C., Taketo, M. M., Antel, J., Klotz, L., & Kuhlmann, T. (2015). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug indometacin enhances endogenous remyelination. *Acta neuropathologica*, *130*(2), 247-261.
- Preston, M., Gong, X., Su, W., Matsumoto, S. G., Banine, F., Winkler, C., Foster, S., Xing, R., Struve, J., Dean, J., Baggenstoss, B., Weigel, P. H., Montine, T. J., Back, S. A., & Sherman, L. S. (2013). Digestion products of the PH20 hyaluronidase inhibit remyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, *73*(2), 266-280.
- Preston, M. A., Finseth, L. T., Bourne, J. N., & Macklin, W. B. (2019). A novel myelin protein zero transgenic zebrafish designed for rapid readout of in vivo myelination. *Glia*, *67*(4), 650-667.

- Preston, M. A., & Macklin, W. B. (2015). Zebrafish as a model to investigate CNS myelination. *Glia*, 63(2), 177-193.
- Prineas, J. W., & Connell, F. (1979). Remyelination in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, *5*(1), 22-31.
- Pringle, N. P., & Richardson, W. D. (1993). A singularity of PDGF alpha-receptor expression in the dorsoventral axis of the neural tube may define the origin of the oligodendrocyte lineage. *Development*, *117*(2), 525.
- Privat, A., Jacque, C., Bourre, J. M., Dupouey, P., & Baumann, N. (1979). Absence of the major dense line in myelin of the mutant mouse 'shiverer'. *Neuroscience Letters*, *12*(1), 107-112.
- Procaccini, C., De Rosa, V., Pucino, V., Formisano, L., & Matarese, G. (2015). Animal models of Multiple Sclerosis. *European journal of pharmacology*, 759, 182-191.
- Proia, R. L., & Hla, T. (2015). Emerging biology of sphingosine-1-phosphate: its role in pathogenesis and therapy. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *125*(4), 1379-1387.
- Pu, A., Stephenson, E. L., & Yong, V. W. (2018). The extracellular matrix: Focus on oligodendrocyte biology and targeting CSPGs for remyelination therapies. *Glia*, 66(9), 1809-1825.
- Pugliatti, M., Sotgiu, S., & Rosati, G. (2002). The worldwide prevalence of multiple sclerosis. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, *104*(3), 182-191.
- Qi, Y., Cai, J., Wu, Y., Wu, R., Lee, J., Fu, H., Rao, M., Sussel, L., Rubenstein, J., & Qiu, M. (2001). Control of oligodendrocyte differentiation by the Nx2.2 homeodomain transcription factor. *Development*, *128*(14), 2723.
- Qin, J., Sikkema, A. H., van der Bij, K., de Jonge, J. C., Klappe, K., Nies, V., Jonker, J. W., Kok, J. W., Hoekstra, D., & Baron, W. (2017). GD1a Overcomes Inhibition of Myelination by Fibronectin via Activation of Protein Kinase A: Implications for Multiple Sclerosis. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 37(41), 9925-9938.
- Qin, W., Zhang, M., Piao, Y., Guo, D., Zhu, Z., Tian, X., Li, Q., & Yu, C. (2012). Wallerian Degeneration in Central Nervous System: Dynamic Associations between Diffusion Indices and Their Underlying Pathology. *PloS one*, 7, e41441.
- Rabadán, M. A., Cayuso, J., Le Dréau, G., Cruz, C., Barzi, M., Pons, S., Briscoe, J., & Martí,
 E. (2012). Jagged2 controls the generation of motor neuron and oligodendrocyte progenitors in the ventral spinal cord. *Cell death and differentiation*, *19*(2), 209-219.
- Radostits, O., Done, S. (2007). *Veterinary Medicine: A textbook of the diseases of cattle, horses, sheep, pigs and goats* (10 ed.). Elsevier London.
- Raff, M. C. (1989). Glial cell diversification in the rat optic nerve. Science, 243(4897), 1450.

- Raff, M. C., Abney, E. R., & Miller, R. H. (1984). Two glial cell lineages diverge prenatally in rat optic nerve. *Developmental Biology*, *106*(1), 53-60.
- Raff, M. C., Miller, R. H., & Noble, M. (1983). A glial progenitor cell that develops in vitro into an astrocyte or an oligodendrocyte depending on culture medium. *Nature*, 303(5916), 390-396.
- Raff, M. C., Mirsky, R., Fields, K. L., Lisak, R. P., Dorfman, S. H., Silberberg, D. H., Gregson, N. A., Leibowitz, S., & Kennedy, M. C. (1978). Galactocerebroside is a specific cell-surface antigenic marker for oligodendrocytes in culture. *Nature*, 274(5673), 813-816.
- Raine, C., & Cross, A. (1989). Axonal dystrophy as a consequence of long-term demyelination. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology, 60(5), 714-725.
- Raine, C. S. (1984). Morphology of Myelin and Myelination. In P. Morell (Ed.), *Myelin* (pp. 1-50). Springer US.
- Rankin, K. A., Mei, F., Kim, K., Shen, Y.-A. A., Mayoral, S. R., Desponts, C., Lorrain, D. S., Green, A. J., Baranzini, S. E., Chan, J. R., & Bove, R. (2019). Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators Enhance CNS Remyelination Independent of Estrogen Receptors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 39(12), 2184-2194.
- Ranscht, B., Clapshaw, P. A., Price, J., Noble, M., & Seifert, W. (1982). Development of oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells studied with a monoclonal antibody against galactocerebroside. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 79(8), 2709-2713.
- Ransohoff, R. M. (2012). Animal models of multiple sclerosis: the good, the bad and the bottom line. *Nature neuroscience*, *15*(8), 1074-1077.
- Ransom, B. R., Yamate, C. L., Black, J. A., & Waxman, S. G. (1985). Rat optic nerve: Disruption of gliogenesis with 5-azacytidine during early postnatal development. *Brain research*, 337(1), 41-49.
- Rasband, M. N., & Macklin, W. B. (2012). Chapter 10 Myelin Structure and Biochemistry. In
 S. T. Brady, G. J. Siegel, R. W. Albers, & D. L. Price (Eds.), *Basic Neurochemistry* (*Eighth Edition*) (pp. 180-199). Academic Press.
- Rasband, M. N., & Shrager, P. (2000). Ion channel sequestration in central nervous system axons. *The Journal of physiology*, *525 Pt 1*(Pt 1), 63-73.
- Reiche, L., Göttle, P., Lane, L., Duek, P., Park, M., Azim, K., Schütte, J., Manousi, A., Schira-Heinen, J., & Küry, P. (2021). C21orf91 Regulates Oligodendroglial Precursor Cell
 Fate—A Switch in the Glial Lineage? *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *15*(69).

- Reynolds, R., & Wilkin, G. P. (1988). Development of macroglial cells in rat cerebellum. II. An in situ immunohistochemical study of oligodendroglial lineage from precursor to mature myelinating cell. *Development*, *102*(2), 409.
- Rivera-Quiñones, C., McGavern, D., Schmelzer, J. D., Hunter, S. F., Low, P. A., & Rodriguez, M. (1998). Absence of neurological deficits following extensive demyelination in a class I-deficient murine model of multiple sclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, 4(2), 187-193.
- Rivers, L. E., Young, K. M., Rizzi, M., Jamen, F., Psachoulia, K., Wade, A., Kessaris, N., & Richardson, W. D. (2008). PDGFRA/NG2 glia generate myelinating oligodendrocytes and piriform projection neurons in adult mice. *Nature neuroscience*, *11*(12), 1392-1401.
- Rizo, J. (2018). Mechanism of neurotransmitter release coming into focus. *Protein Science*, 27(8), 1364-1391.
- Roach, A., Takahashi, N., Pravtcheva, D., Ruddle, F., & Hood, L. (1985). Chromosomal mapping of mouse myelin basic protein gene and structure and transcription of the partially deleted gene in shiverer mutant mice. *Cell*, *42*(1), 149-155.
- Robinson, A. P., Harp, C. T., Noronha, A., & Miller, S. D. (2014). The experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model of MS: utility for understanding disease pathophysiology and treatment. *Handbook of clinical neurology*, *122*, 173-189.
- Rodgers, J. M., Robinson, A. P., Rosler, E. S., Lariosa-Willingham, K., Persons, R. E., Dugas, J. C., & Miller, S. D. (2015). IL-17A activates ERK1/2 and enhances differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells. *Glia*, 63(5), 768-779.
- Roggeri, A., Schepers, M., Tiane, A., Rombaut, B., van Veggel, L., Hellings, N., Prickaerts, J., Pittaluga, A., & Vanmierlo, T. (2020). Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor Modulators and Oligodendroglial Cells: Beyond Immunomodulation. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *21*(20), 7537.
- Rosati, G. (2001). The prevalence of multiple sclerosis in the world: an update. *Neurological Sciences*, *22*(2), 117-139.
- Rosenberg, S. S., Kelland, E. E., Tokar, E., De La Torre, A. R., & Chan, J. R. (2008). The geometric and spatial constraints of the microenvironment induce oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(38), 14662.
- Rosenbluth, J. (1999). A brief history of myelinated nerve fibers: one hundred and fifty years of controversy. *Journal of Neurocytology*, *28*(4), 251-262.
- Rosin, C., Colombo, S., Calver, A. A., Bates, T. E., & Skaper, S. D. (2005). Dopamine D2 and D3 receptor agonists limit oligodendrocyte injury caused by glutamate oxidative stress and oxygen/glucose deprivation. *Glia*, *52*(4), 336-343.

- Rosler, E. S., Lariosa-Willingham, K. D., Tung, J. S., Dugas, J. C., Collins, T. L., & Leonoudakis, D. (2016). Development of a high throughput drug screening assay to identify compounds that protect oligodendrocyte viability and differentiation under inflammatory conditions. *BMC research notes*, 9(1), 444.
- Rowitch, D., & Kriegstein, A. (2010). Developmental genetics of vertebrate glial-cell specification. *Nature*, *468*, 214-222.
- Rowitch, D. H. (2004). Glial specification in the vertebrate neural tube. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *5*(5), 409-419.
- Ruckh, Julia M., Zhao, J.-W., Shadrach, Jennifer L., van Wijngaarden, P., Rao, Tata N.,
 Wagers, Amy J., & Franklin, Robin J. M. (2012). Rejuvenation of Regeneration in the
 Aging Central Nervous System. *Cell Stem Cell*, *10*(1), 96-103.
- Rutecki, P. A. (1992). Neuronal excitability: voltage-dependent currents and synaptic transmission. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society*, 9(2), 195-211.
- Sachs, H. H., Bercury, K. K., Popescu, D. C., Narayanan, S. P., & Macklin, W. B. (2014). A new model of cuprizone-mediated demyelination/remyelination. ASN neuro, 6(5), 1759091414551955.
- Salahuddin, Shaharyar, M., & Mazumder, A. (2017). Benzimidazoles: A biologically active compounds. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, *10*, S157-S173.
- Samanta, J., & Kessler, J. A. (2004). Interactions between ID and OLIG proteins mediate the inhibitory effects of BMP4 on oligodendroglial differentiation. *Development*, 131(17), 4131.
- Satoh, J., Tabunoki, H., Yamamura, T., Arima, K., & Konno, H. (2007). TROY and LINGO-1 expression in astrocytes and macrophages/microglia in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, *33*(1), 99-107.
- Sawada, H., Shimohama, S., Tamura, Y., Kawamura, T., Akaike, A., & Kimura, J. (1996). Methylphenylpyridium ion (MPP+) enhances glutamate-induced cytotoxicity against dopaminergic neurons in cultured rat mesencephalon. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 43(1), 55-62.
- Saxton, R. A., & Sabatini, D. M. (2017). mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. *Cell*, *168*(6), 960-976.
- Scaglione, A., Patzig, J., Liang, J., Frawley, R., Bok, J., Mela, A., Yattah, C., Zhang, J., Teo,
 S. X., Zhou, T., Chen, S., Bernstein, E., Canoll, P., Guccione, E., & Casaccia, P. (2018). PRMT5-mediated regulation of developmental myelination. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 2840.

- Schultz, V., van der Meer, F., Wrzos, C., Scheidt, U., Bahn, E., Stadelmann, C., Brück, W., & Junker, A. (2017). Acutely damaged axons are remyelinated in multiple sclerosis and experimental models of demyelination. *Glia*, 65(8), 1350-1360.
- Scolding, N., Franklin, R., Stevens, S., Heldin, C. H., Compston, A., & Newcombe, J. (1998).
 Oligodendrocyte progenitors are present in the normal adult human CNS and in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *121*(12), 2221-2228.
- See, J., Zhang, X., Eraydin, N., Mun, S.-B., Mamontov, P., Golden, J. A., & Grinspan, J. B. (2004). Oligodendrocyte maturation is inhibited by bone morphogenetic protein. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 26(4), 481-492.
- Segel, M., Neumann, B., Hill, M. F. E., Weber, I. P., Viscomi, C., Zhao, C., Young, A., Agley, C. C., Thompson, A. J., Gonzalez, G. A., Sharma, A., Holmqvist, S., Rowitch, D. H., Franze, K., Franklin, R. J. M., & Chalut, K. J. (2019). Niche stiffness underlies the ageing of central nervous system progenitor cells. *Nature*, *573*(7772), 130-134.
- Seternes, O. M., Johansen, B., Hegge, B., Johannessen, M., Keyse, S. M., & Moens, U. (2002). Both binding and activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) play essential roles in regulation of the nucleocytoplasmic distribution of MAPKactivated protein kinase 5 by cellular stress. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 22(20), 6931-6945.
- Shao, Z., Browning, J. L., Lee, X., Scott, M. L., Shulga-Morskaya, S., Allaire, N., Thill, G., Levesque, M., Sah, D., McCoy, J. M., Murray, B., Jung, V., Pepinsky, R. B., & Mi, S. (2005). TAJ/TROY, an Orphan TNF Receptor Family Member, Binds Nogo-66 Receptor 1 and Regulates Axonal Regeneration. *Neuron*, *45*(3), 353-359.
- Shen, S., Li, J., & Casaccia-Bonnefil, P. (2005). Histone modifications affect timing of oligodendrocyte progenitor differentiation in the developing rat brain. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 169(4), 577-589.
- Sherman, D. L., & Brophy, P. J. (2005). Mechanisms of axon ensheathment and myelin growth. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *6*(9), 683-690.
- Sherr, C. J., & Roberts, J. M. (1995). Inhibitors of mammalian G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Genes & amp; development*, 9(10), 1149-1163.
- Sherr, C. J., & Roberts, J. M. (1999). CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1phase progression. *Genes & development*, *13*(12), 1501-1512.
- Shi, B., Ding, J., Liu, Y., Zhuang, X., Zhuang, X., Chen, X., & Fu, C. (2014). ERK1/2 pathway-mediated differentiation of IGF-1-transfected spinal cord-derived neural stem cells into oligodendrocytes. *PloS one*, 9(8), e106038-e106038.
- Shields, S. A., Gilson, J. M., Blakemore, W., & Franklin, R. J. (2000). Remyelination occurs as extensively but more slowly in old rats compared to young rats after gliotoxininduced CNS demyelination. *Glia*, *29*, 102.

- Shimizu, T., Kagawa, T., Wada, T., Muroyama, Y., Takada, S., & Ikenaka, K. (2005). Wnt signaling controls the timing of oligodendrocyte development in the spinal cord. *Developmental Biology*, *282*(2), 397-410.
- Shin, D., Shin, J.-Y., McManus, M. T., Ptácek, L. J., & Fu, Y.-H. (2009). Dicer ablation in oligodendrocytes provokes neuronal impairment in mice. *Annals of Neurology*, 66(6), 843-857.
- Shirazi, H. A., Rasouli, J., Ciric, B., Rostami, A., & Zhang, G.-X. (2015). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 enhances neural stem cell proliferation and oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Experimental and molecular pathology*, 98(2), 240-245.
- Silber, E., & Sharief, M. K. (1999). Axonal degeneration in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *170*(1), 11-18.
- Silver, N. C., Tofts, P. S., Symms, M. R., Barker, G. J., Thompson, A. J., & Miller, D. H. (2001). Quantitative contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging to evaluate blood-brain barrier integrity in multiple sclerosis: a preliminary study. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 7(2), 75-82.
- Sim, F. J., Zhao, C., Penderis, J., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2002). The Age-Related Decrease in CNS Remyelination Efficiency Is Attributable to an Impairment of Both Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Recruitment and Differentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(7), 2451.
- Simon, C., Götz, M., & Dimou, L. (2011). Progenitors in the adult cerebral cortex: Cell cycle properties and regulation by physiological stimuli and injury. *Glia*, *59*(6), 869-881.
- Simons, M., & Trotter, J. (2007). Wrapping it up: the cell biology of myelination. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *17*(5), 533-540.
- Skripuletz, T., Gudi, V., Hackstette, D., & Stangel, M. (2011). De- and remyelination in the CNS white and grey matter induced by cuprizone: the old, the new, and the unexpected. *Histology and histopathology*, *26*(12), 1585-1597.
- Smith, K. J., Blakemore, W. F., & McDonald, W. I. (1979). Central remyelination restores secure conduction. *Nature*, *280*(5721), 395-396.
- Smith, R. S., & Koles, Z. J. (1970). Myelinated nerve fibers: computed effect of myelin thickness on conduction velocity. *The American journal of physiology*, 219(5), 1256-1258.
- Snaidero, N., Möbius, W., Czopka, T., Hekking, Liesbeth H. P., Mathisen, C., Verkleij, D., Goebbels, S., Edgar, J., Merkler, D., Lyons, David A., Nave, K.-A., & Simons, M. (2014). Myelin Membrane Wrapping of CNS Axons by PI(3,4,5)P3-Dependent Polarized Growth at the Inner Tongue. *Cell*, *156*(1), 277-290.
- Sobel, R. A. (2005). Ephrin A Receptors and Ligands in Lesions and Normal-Appearing White Matter in Multiple Sclerosis. *Brain Pathology*, *15*(1), 35-45.

- Sobottka, B., Ziegler, U., Kaech, A., Becher, B., & Goebels, N. (2012). CNS Live Imaging Reveals a New Mechanism of Myelination: The Liquid Croissant Model. *Glia*, *59*, 1841-1849.
- Sofroniew, M. V., & Vinters, H. V. (2010). Astrocytes: biology and pathology. *Acta neuropathologica*, *119*(1), 7-35.
- Sohn, J., Natale, J., Chew, L.-J., Belachew, S., Cheng, Y., Aguirre, A., Lytle, J., Nait-Oumesmar, B., Kerninon, C., Kanai-Azuma, M., Kanai, Y., & Gallo, V. (2006).
 Identification of Sox17 as a Transcription Factor That Regulates Oligodendrocyte Development. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(38), 9722.
- Sommer, I., & Schachner, M. (1981). Monoclonal antibodies (O1 to O4) to oligodendrocyte cell surfaces: An immunocytological study in the central nervous system. *Developmental Biology*, *83*(2), 311-327.
- Spencer, J. I., Bell, J. S., & DeLuca, G. C. (2018). Vascular pathology in multiple sclerosis: reframing pathogenesis around the blood-brain barrier. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; amp; Psychiatry, 89*(1), 42.
- Srivastava, T., Sherman, L. S., & Back, S. A. (2020). Dysregulation of Hyaluronan Homeostasis During White Matter Injury. *Neurochemical research*, *45*(3), 672-683.
- Stephenson, E. L., Zhang, P., Ghorbani, S., Wang, A., Gu, J., Keough, M. B., Rawji, K. S., Silva, C., Yong, V. W., & Ling, C.-C. (2019). Targeting the Chondroitin Sulfate Proteoglycans: Evaluating Fluorinated Glucosamines and Xylosides in Screens Pertinent to Multiple Sclerosis. ACS Central Science, 5(7), 1223-1234.
- Sterling, T., & Irwin, J. J. (2015). ZINC 15--Ligand Discovery for Everyone. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 55(11), 2324-2337.
- Stevens, B., Porta, S., Haak, L. L., Gallo, V., & Fields, R. D. (2002). Adenosine: A Neuron-Glial Transmitter Promoting Myelination in the CNS in Response to Action Potentials. *Neuron*, 36(5), 855-868.
- Stidworthy, M. F., Genoud, S., Li, W.-W., Leone, D. P., Mantei, N., Suter, U., & Franklin, R. J.
 M. (2004). Notch1 and Jagged1 are expressed after CNS demyelination, but are not a major rate-determining factor during remyelination. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *127*(9), 1928-1941.
- Stoffels, J. M. J., de Jonge, J. C., Stancic, M., Nomden, A., van Strien, M. E., Ma, D.,
 Šišková, Z., Maier, O., ffrench-Constant, C., Franklin, R. J. M., Hoekstra, D., Zhao,
 C., & Baron, W. (2013). Fibronectin aggregation in multiple sclerosis lesions impairs
 remyelination. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *136*(1), 116-131.
- Stolt, C. C., Lommes, P., Friedrich, R. P., & Wegner, M. (2004). Transcription factors Sox8 and Sox10 perform non-equivalent roles during oligodendrocyte development despite functional redundancy. *Development*, 131(10), 2349.
- Stolt, C. C., Rehberg, S., Ader, M., Lommes, P., Riethmacher, D., Schachner, M., Bartsch, U., & Wegner, M. (2002). Terminal differentiation of myelin-forming oligodendrocytes depends on the transcription factor Sox10. *Genes & development*, *16*(2), 165-170.
- Stolt, C. C., Schlierf, A., Lommes, P., Hillgärtner, S., Werner, T., Kosian, T., Sock, E., Kessaris, N., Richardson, W. D., Lefebvre, V., & Wegner, M. (2006). SoxD Proteins Influence Multiple Stages of Oligodendrocyte Development and Modulate SoxE Protein Function. *Developmental cell*, *11*(5), 697-709.
- Stumpf, W. E. (2012). Drugs in the brain cellular imaging with receptor microscopic autoradiography. *Progress in Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, 47(1), 1-26.
- Su, W., Foster, S. C., Xing, R., Feistel, K., Olsen, R. H. J., Acevedo, S. F., Raber, J., & Sherman, L. S. (2017). CD44 Transmembrane Receptor and Hyaluronan Regulate Adult Hippocampal Neural Stem Cell Quiescence and Differentiation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 292(11), 4434-4445.
- Su, W., Matsumoto, S., Banine, F., Srivastava, T., Dean, J., Foster, S., Pham, P., Hammond,
 B., Peters, A., Girish, K. S., Rangappa, K. S., Basappa, Jose, J., Hennebold, J. D.,
 Murphy, M. J., Bennett-Toomey, J., Back, S. A., & Sherman, L. S. (2020). A modified
 flavonoid accelerates oligodendrocyte maturation and functional remyelination. *Glia*, *68*(2), 263-279.
- Subei, A. M., & Cohen, J. A. (2015). Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulators in multiple sclerosis. *CNS drugs*, *29*(7), 565-575.
- Sugimori, M., Nagao, M., Parras, C. M., Nakatani, H., Lebel, M., Guillemot, F., & Nakafuku,
 M. (2008). Ascl1 is required for oligodendrocyte development in the spinal cord.
 Development, 135(7), 1271.
- Suo, N., Guo, Y.-E., He, B., Gu, H., & Xie, X. (2019). Inhibition of MAPK/ERK pathway promotes oligodendrocytes generation and recovery of demyelinating diseases. *Glia*, 67(7), 1320-1332.
- Suzuki, K., & Suzuki, Y. (1970). Globoid cell leucodystrophy (Krabbe's disease): deficiency of galactocerebroside beta-galactosidase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 66(2), 302-309.
- Suzuki, L., Coulon, P., Sabel-Goedknegt, E. H., & Ruigrok, T. J. H. (2012). Organization of Cerebral Projections to Identified Cerebellar Zones in the Posterior Cerebellum of the Rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(32), 10854.
- Swiss, V. A., Nguyen, T., Dugas, J., Ibrahim, A., Barres, B., Androulakis, I. P., & Casaccia, P. (2011). Identification of a Gene Regulatory Network Necessary for the Initiation of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *PloS one*, *6*(4), e18088.

- Syed, Y. A., Hand, E., Möbius, W., Zhao, C., Hofer, M., Nave, K. A., & Kotter, M. R. (2011). Inhibition of CNS Remyelination by the Presence of Semaphorin 3A. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(10), 3719.
- Szabo, K. T. (1989). *Congenital malformations in laboratory and farm animals*. Academic Press.
- Talbott, J. F., Loy, D. N., Liu, Y., Qiu, M. S., Bunge, M. B., Rao, M. S., & Whittemore, S. R. (2005). Endogenous Nkx2.2+/Olig2+ oligodendrocyte precursor cells fail to remyelinate the demyelinated adult rat spinal cord in the absence of astrocytes. *Experimental Neurology*, 192(1), 11-24.
- Tamura, Y., Kataoka, Y., Cui, Y., Takamori, Y., Watanabe, Y., & Yamada, H. (2007). Intracellular translocation of glutathione S-transferase pi during oligodendrocyte differentiation in adult rat cerebral cortex in vivo. *Neuroscience*, *148*(2), 535-540.
- Tansey, F. A., & Cammer, W. (1991). A Pi Form of Glutathione-S-Transferase Is a Myelinand Oligodendrocyte-Associated Enzyme in Mouse Brain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *57*(1), 95-102.
- Targett, M. P., Sussmant, J., Scoldingt, N., O'Leary, M. T., Compston, D. A. S., & Blakemore,
 W. F. (1996). Failure to achieve remyelination of demyelinated rat axons following transplantation of glial cells obtained from the adult human brain. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, 22(3), 199-206.
- Taveggia, C., Feltri, M. L., & Wrabetz, L. (2010). Signals to promote myelin formation and repair. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 6(5), 276-287.
- Taylor, C. M., Marta, C. B., Bansal, R., & Pfeiffer, S. E. (2004). Chapter 3 The Transport, Assembly, and Function of Myelin Lipids. In R. A. Lazzarini, J. W. Griffin, H. Lassman, K.-A. Nave, R. Miller, & B. D. Trapp (Eds.), *Myelin Biology and Disorders* (pp. 57-88). Academic Press.
- Tekki-Kessaris, N., Woodruff, R., Hall, A. C., Gaffield, W., Kimura, S., Stiles, C. D., Rowitch,
 D. H., & Richardson, W. D. (2001). Hedgehog-dependent oligodendrocyte lineage specification in the telencephalon. *Development*, *128*(13), 2545.
- The Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, G., Barcellos, L. F., Oksenberg, J. R., Green, A. J., Bucher, P., Rimmler, J. B., Schmidt, S., Garcia, M. E., Lincoln, R. R., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Haines, J. L., & Hauser, S. L. (2002). Genetic basis for clinical expression in multiple sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *125*(1), 150-158.
- Tiane, A., Schepers, M., Rombaut, B., Hupperts, R., Prickaerts, J., Hellings, N., van den Hove, D., & Vanmierlo, T. (2019). From OPC to Oligodendrocyte: An Epigenetic Journey. *Cells*, 8(10), 1236.

- Timsit, S., Martinez, S., Allinquant, B., Peyron, F., Puelles, L., & Zalc, B. (1995). Oligodendrocytes originate in a restricted zone of the embryonic ventral neural tube defined by DM-20 mRNA expression. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(2), 1012.
- Tkachev, D., Mimmack, M. L., Ryan, M. M., Wayland, M., Freeman, T., Jones, P. B., Starkey, M., Webster, M. J., Yolken, R. H., & Bahn, S. (2003). Oligodendrocyte dysfunction in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *The Lancet*, *362*(9386), 798-805.
- Tokino, T., Urano, T., Furuhata, T., Matsushima, M., Miyatsu, T., Sasaki, S., & Nakamura, Y. (1996). Characterization of the human p57KIP2 gene: alternative splicing, insertion/deletion polymorphisms in VNTR sequences in the coding region, and mutational analysis. *Human genetics*, 97(5), 625-631.
- Tompkins, S. M., Padilla, J., Dal Canto, M. C., Ting, J. P. Y., Van Kaer, L., & Miller, S. D. (2002). De Novo Central Nervous System Processing of Myelin Antigen Is Required for the Initiation of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 168(8), 4173.
- Torre-Fuentes, L., Moreno-Jiménez, L., Pytel, V., Matías-Guiu, J. A., Gómez-Pinedo, U., & Matías-Guiu, J. (2020). Experimental models of demyelination and remyelination [Modelos experimentales de desmielinización-remielinización]. Neurologia (Barcelona, Spain), 35(1), 32-39.
- Traka, M., Arasi, K., Avila, R. L., Podojil, J. R., Christakos, A., Miller, S. D., Soliven, B., & Popko, B. (2010). A genetic mouse model of adult-onset, pervasive central nervous system demyelination with robust remyelination. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *133*(10), 3017-3029.
- Traka, M., Podojil, J. R., McCarthy, D. P., Miller, S. D., & Popko, B. (2016). Oligodendrocyte death results in immune-mediated CNS demyelination. *Nature neuroscience*, *19*(1), 65-74.
- Trapp, B. D. (1990). Myelin-Associated Glycoprotein Location and Potential Functionsa. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *605*(1), 29-43.
- Trapp, B. D., Andrews, S. B., Cootauco, C., & Quarles, R. (1989). The myelin-associated glycoprotein is enriched in multivesicular bodies and periaxonal membranes of actively myelinating oligodendrocytes. *The Journal of cell biology*, 109(5), 2417-2426.
- Trapp, B. D., & Bernsohn, J. (1978). Essential fatty acid deficiency and CNS myelin: Biochemical and morphological observations. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 37(3), 249-266.
- Trapp, B. D., & Nave, K.-A. (2008). Multiple Sclerosis: An Immune or Neurodegenerative Disorder? *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *31*(1), 247-269.

- Trapp, B. D., Peterson, J., Ransohoff, R. M., Rudick, R., Mörk, S., & Bö, L. (1998). Axonal Transection in the Lesions of Multiple Sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 338(5), 278-285.
- Trapp, B. D., & Quarles, R. H. (1982). Presence of the myelin-associated glycoprotein correlates with alterations in the periodicity of peripheral myelin. *The Journal of cell biology*, 92(3), 877-882.
- Trapp, B. D., & Stys, P. K. (2009). Virtual hypoxia and chronic necrosis of demyelinated axons in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, *8*(3), 280-291.
- Tripathi, R. B., Clarke, L. E., Burzomato, V., Kessaris, N., Anderson, P. N., Attwell, D., & Richardson, W. D. (2011). Dorsally and Ventrally Derived Oligodendrocytes Have Similar Electrical Properties but Myelinate Preferred Tracts. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(18), 6809.
- Trotter, J., Bitter-Suermann, D., & Schachner, M. (1989). Differentiation-regulated loss of the polysialylated embryonic form and expression of the different polypeptides of the neural cell adhesion molecule by cultured oligodendrocytes and myelin. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *22*(4), 369-383.
- Trujillo-Estrada, L., Gomez-Arboledas, A., Forner, S., Cadete, M. A., Gutierrez, A., Baglietto-Vargas, D., & LaFerla, F., M. (2019). Astrocytes: From the Physiology to the Disease. *Current Alzheimer Research*, 16(8), 675-698.
- Tryoen-Tóth, P., Gavériaux-Ruff, C., & Labourdette, G. (2000). Down-regulation of μ-opioid receptor expression in rat oligodendrocytes during their development in vitro. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *60*, 10-20.
- Tsuneishi, S., Takada, S., Motoike, T., Ohashi, T., Sano, K., & Nakamura, H. (1991). Effects of dexamethasone on the expression of myelin basic protein, proteolipid protein, and glial fibrillary acidic protein genes in developing rat brain. *Developmental Brain Research*, *61*(1), 117-123.
- Tsunoda, I., Tanaka, T., Terry, E. J., & Fujinami, R. S. (2007). Contrasting roles for axonal degeneration in an autoimmune versus viral model of multiple sclerosis: When can axonal injury be beneficial? *The American Journal of Pathology*, *170*(1), 214-226.
- Tuohy, T. M. F., Wallingford, N., Liu, Y., Chan, F. H., Rizvi, T., Xing, R., Bebo, B., Rao, M. S.,
 & Sherman, L. S. (2004). CD44 overexpression by oligodendrocytes: A novel mouse model of inflammation-independent demyelination and dysmyelination. *Glia*, 47(4), 335-345.
- Tuohy, V. K., Lu, Z., Sobel, R. A., Laursen, R. A., & Lees, M. B. (1989). Identification of an encephalitogenic determinant of myelin proteolipid protein for SJL mice. *The Journal* of *Immunology*, 142(5), 1523.

- Turnescu, T., Arter, J., Reiprich, S., Tamm, E. R., Waisman, A., & Wegner, M. (2018). Sox8 and Sox10 jointly maintain myelin gene expression in oligodendrocytes. *Glia*, 66(2), 279-294.
- Tyler, W. A., Gangoli, N., Gokina, P., Kim, H. A., Covey, M., Levison, S. W., & Wood, T. L. (2009). Activation of the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Is Essential for Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(19), 6367.
- Tyler, W. A., Jain, M. R., Cifelli, S. E., Li, Q., Ku, L., Feng, Y., Li, H., & Wood, T. L. (2011). Proteomic identification of novel targets regulated by the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway during oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Glia*, *59*(11), 1754-1769.
- Udvadia, A. J., & Linney, E. (2003). Windows into development: historic, current, and future perspectives on transgenic zebrafish. *Developmental Biology*, *256*(1), 1-17.
- Valk, J., & van der Knaap, M. S. (1989). Wallerian Degeneration and Demyelination Secondary to Neuronal and Axonal Degeneration. In J. Valk & M. S. van der Knaap (Eds.), *Magnetic Resonance of Myelin, Myelination, and Myelin Disorders* (pp. 319-326). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Vallstedt, A., Klos, J., & Ericson, J. (2005). Multiple Dorsoventral Origins of Oligodendrocyte Generation in the Spinal Cord and Hindbrain. *Neuron*, *45*, 55-67.
- van der Star, B. J., Vogel, D. Y. S., Kipp, Markus, Puentes, Fabiola, Baker, D., & Amor, S. (2012). In Vitro and In Vivo Models of Multiple Sclerosis. *CNS & Neurological Disorders Drug Targets*, *11*(5), 570-588.
- Vega-Riquer, J. M., Mendez-Victoriano, G., Morales-Luckie, R. A., & Gonzalez-Perez, O. (2019). Five Decades of Cuprizone, an Updated Model to Replicate Demyelinating Diseases. *Current neuropharmacology*, *17*(2), 129-141.
- Vela, J. M., Molina-Holgado, E., Arévalo-Martín, Á., Almazán, G., & Guaza, C. (2002). Interleukin-1 Regulates Proliferation and Differentiation of Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 20(3), 489-502.
- Verkhratsky, A., & Nedergaard, M. (2018). Physiology of Astroglia. *Physiological reviews*, *98 1*, 239-389.
- Vestal-Laborde, A. A., Eschenroeder, A. C., Bigbee, J. W., Robinson, S. E., & Sato-Bigbee, C. (2014). The opioid system and brain development: effects of methadone on the oligodendrocyte lineage and the early stages of myelination. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *36*(5), 409-421.
- Vielkind, U., Walencewicz, A., Levine, J. M., & Bohn, M. C. (1990). Type II glucocorticoid receptors are expressed in oligodendrocytes and astrocytes. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 27(3), 360-373.
- Vinukonda, G., Dohare, P., Arshad, A., Zia, M. T., Panda, S., Korumilli, R., Kayton, R., Hascall, V. C., Lauer, M. E., & Ballabh, P. (2016). Hyaluronidase and Hyaluronan

Oligosaccharides Promote Neurological Recovery after Intraventricular Hemorrhage. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *36*(3), 872-889.

- Virtanen, J. O., & Jacobson, S. (2012). Viruses and multiple sclerosis. *CNS & neurological disorders drug targets*, *11*(5), 528-544.
- Volochnyuk, D. M., Ryabukhin, S. V., Moroz, Y. S., Savych, O., Chuprina, A., Horvath, D., Zabolotna, Y., Varnek, A., & Judd, D. B. (2019). Evolution of commercially available compounds for HTS. *Drug Discovery Today*, *24*(2), 390-402.
- Wagner, H. J., Munger, K. L., & Ascherio, A. (2004). Plasma viral load of Epstein–Barr virus and risk of multiple sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology*, *11*(12), 833-834.
- Wahl, S. E., McLane, L. E., Bercury, K. K., Macklin, W. B., & Wood, T. L. (2014). Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Promotes Oligodendrocyte Differentiation, Initiation and Extent of CNS Myelination. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(13), 4453.
- Wang, F., Ren, S.-Y., Chen, J.-F., Liu, K., Li, R.-X., Li, Z.-F., Hu, B., Niu, J.-Q., Xiao, L., Chan, J. R., & Mei, F. (2020). Myelin degeneration and diminished myelin renewal contribute to age-related deficits in memory. *Nature neuroscience*, 23(4), 481-486.
- Wang, H., Moyano, A. L., Ma, Z., Deng, Y., Lin, Y., Zhao, C., Zhang, L., Jiang, M., He, X.,
 Ma, Z., Lu, F., Xin, M., Zhou, W., Yoon, S. O., Bongarzone, E. R., & Lu, Q. R. (2017).
 miR-219 Cooperates with miR-338 in Myelination and Promotes Myelin Repair in the CNS. *Developmental cell*, 40(6), 566-582.e565.
- Wang, J., Ge, Y., & Xie, X.-Q. (2019). Development and Testing of Druglike Screening Libraries. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, *59*(1), 53-65.
- Wang, P., Gorter, R. P., de Jonge, J. C., Nazmuddin, M., Zhao, C., Amor, S., Hoekstra, D., & Baron, W. (2018). MMP7 cleaves remyelination-impairing fibronectin aggregates and its expression is reduced in chronic multiple sclerosis lesions. *Glia*, *66*(8), 1625-1643.
- Wang, S., Sdrulla, A. D., diSibio, G., Bush, G., Nofziger, D., Hicks, C., Weinmaster, G., & Barres, B. A. (1998). Notch Receptor Activation Inhibits Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. *Neuron*, *21*(1), 63-75.
- Wang, Z., Colognato, H., & ffrench-Constant, C. (2007). Contrasting effects of mitogenic growth factors on myelination in neuron–oligodendrocyte co-cultures. *Glia*, *55*(5), 537-545.
- Warf, B. C., Fok-Seang, J., & Miller, R. H. (1991). Evidence for the ventral origin of oligodendrocyte precursors in the rat spinal cord. *The Journal of neuroscience : the* official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 11(8), 2477-2488.
- Watanabe, M., Hadzic, T., & Nishiyama, A. (2004). Transient upregulation of Nkx2.2 expression in oligodendrocyte lineage cells during remyelination. *Glia*, *46*(3), 311-322.

- Watkins, T. A., Emery, B., Mulinyawe, S., & Barres, B. A. (2008). Distinct Stages of Myelination Regulated by γ-Secretase and Astrocytes in a Rapidly Myelinating CNS Coculture System. *Neuron*, *60*(4), 555-569.
- Waxman, S. G. (1977). Conduction in Myelinated, Unmyelinated, and Demyelinated Fibers. *Archives of Neurology*, *34*(10), 585-589.
- Waxman, S. G. (1980). Determinants of conduction velocity in myelinated nerve fibers. *Muscle & Nerve*, *3*(2), 141-150.
- Waxman, S. G. (2006). Axonal conduction and injury in multiple sclerosis: the role of sodium channels. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *7*(12), 932-941.
- Waxman, S. G., & Ritchie, J. M. (1993). Molecular dissection of the myelinated axon. *Annals of Neurology*, *33*(2), 121-136.
- Weiner, H. L. (2004). Multiple Sclerosis Is an Inflammatory T-Cell–Mediated Autoimmune Disease. *Archives of Neurology*, *61*(10), 1613-1615.
- Weng, Q., Chen, Y., Wang, H., Xu, X., Yang, B., He, Q., Shou, W., Chen, Y., Higashi, Y., van den Berghe, V., Seuntjens, E., Kernie, S. G., Bukshpun, P., Sherr, E. H., Huylebroeck, D., & Lu, Q. R. (2012). Dual-mode modulation of Smad signaling by Smad-interacting protein Sip1 is required for myelination in the central nervous system. *Neuron*, *73*(4), 713-728.
- Wheeler, N. A., & Fuss, B. (2016). Extracellular cues influencing oligodendrocyte differentiation and (re)myelination. *Experimental Neurology*, *283*(Pt B), 512-530.
- Whitesell, J. (2010). Inflammatory Neuropathies. Semin Neurol, 30(04), 356-364.
- Wilkins, A., Chandran, S., & Compston, A. (2001). A role for oligodendrocyte-derived IGF-1 in trophic support of cortical neurons. *Glia*, *36*(1), 48-57.
- Wolburg-Buchholz, K., Mack, A. F., Steiner, E., Pfeiffer, F., Engelhardt, B., & Wolburg, H. (2009). Loss of astrocyte polarity marks blood-brain barrier impairment during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Acta neuropathologica*, *118*(2), 219-233.
- Wolburg, H., Wolburg-Buchholz, K., & Engelhardt, B. (2004, 2004). Involvement of Tight Junctions During Transendothelial Migration of Mononuclear Cells in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. Neuroinflammation in Stroke, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Wolswijk, G. (1998). Chronic Stage Multiple Sclerosis Lesions Contain a Relatively Quiescent Population of Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cells. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(2), 601.
- Woodruff, R. H., & Franklin, R. J. M. (1999). Demyelination and remyelination of the caudal cerebellar peduncle of adult rats following stereotaxic injections of lysolecithin, ethidium bromide, and complement/anti-galactocerebroside: A comparative study. *Glia*, 25(3), 216-228.

- Woodruff, R. H., Fruttiger, M., Richardson, W. D., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2004). Platelet-derived growth factor regulates oligodendrocyte progenitor numbers in adult CNS and their response following CNS demyelination. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 25(2), 252-262.
- Wu, Y.-H., Gau, S. S.-F., Lo, Y.-C., & Tseng, W.-Y. I. (2014). White matter tract integrity of frontostriatal circuit in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Association with attention performance and symptoms. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(1), 199-212.
- Xiao, J., Ferner, A. H., Wong, A. W., Denham, M., Kilpatrick, T. J., & Murray, S. S. (2012). Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 signaling promotes oligodendrocyte myelination in vitro. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *122*(6), 1167-1180.
- Xiao, L., Ohayon, D., McKenzie, I. A., Sinclair-Wilson, A., Wright, J. L., Fudge, A. D., Emery,
 B., Li, H., & Richardson, W. D. (2016). Rapid production of new oligodendrocytes is required in the earliest stages of motor-skill learning. *Nature neuroscience*, *19*(9), 1210-1217.
- Xiao, L., Xu, H., Zhang, Y., Wei, Z., He, J., Jiang, W., Li, X., Dyck, L. E., Devon, R. M., Deng,
 Y., & Li, X. M. (2008). Quetiapine facilitates oligodendrocyte development and prevents mice from myelin breakdown and behavioral changes. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *13*(7), 697-708.
- Xie, C., Li, Z., Zhang, G.-X., & Guan, Y. (2014). Wnt Signaling in Remyelination in Multiple Sclerosis: Friend or Foe? *Molecular neurobiology*, *49*(3), 1117-1125.
- Xin, M., Yue, T., Ma, Z., Wu, F.-f., Gow, A., & Lu, Q. R. (2005). Myelinogenesis and axonal recognition by oligodendrocytes in brain are uncoupled in Olig1-null mice. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 25(6), 1354-1365.
- Yahn, S. L., Li, J., Goo, I., Gao, H., Brambilla, R., & Lee, J. K. (2020). Fibrotic scar after experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis inhibits oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Neurobiology of disease*, *134*, 104674-104674.
- Yamaguchi, Y., Ikenaka, K., Niinobe, M., Yamada, H., & Mikoshiba, K. (1996). Myelin proteolipid protein (PLP), but not DM-20, is an inositol hexakisphosphate-binding protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 271(44), 27838-27846.
- Yang, X., Yan, J., & Feng, J. (2016). Treatment with tanshinone IIA suppresses disruption of the blood-brain barrier and reduces expression of adhesion molecules and chemokines in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *European journal of pharmacology*, 771, 18-28.
- Yasuda, T., Tsumita, T., Nagai, Y., Mitsuzawa, E., & Ohtani, S. (1975). Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice. I. Induction of EAE with mouse spinal cord

homogenate and myelin basic protein. *The Japanese journal of experimental medicine*, 45 5, 423-427.

- Ye, F., Chen, Y., Hoang, T., Montgomery, R. L., Zhao, X.-h., Bu, H., Hu, T., Taketo, M. M., van Es, J. H., Clevers, H., Hsieh, J., Bassel-Duby, R., Olson, E. N., & Lu, Q. R. (2009). HDAC1 and HDAC2 regulate oligodendrocyte differentiation by disrupting the beta-catenin-TCF interaction. *Nature neuroscience*, *12*(7), 829-838.
- Ye, P., Carson, J., & Ercole, A. J. (1995). In vivo actions of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) on brain myelination: studies of IGF-I and IGF binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) transgenic mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(11), 7344.
- Yeung, M. S. Y., Djelloul, M., Steiner, E., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Possnert, G., Brundin, L., & Frisén, J. (2019). Dynamics of oligodendrocyte generation in multiple sclerosis.
 Nature, 566(7745), 538-542.
- Yokoo, T., Toyoshima, H., Miura, M., Wang, Y., Iida, K. T., Suzuki, H., Sone, H., Shimano, H., Gotoda, T., Nishimori, S., Tanaka, K., & Yamada, N. (2003). p57Kip2 Regulates Actin Dynamics by Binding and Translocating LIM-kinase 1 to the Nucleus. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(52), 52919-52923.
- You, Y., & Gupta, V. (2018). The Extracellular Matrix and Remyelination Strategies in Multiple Sclerosis. *eNeuro*, *5*(1), ENEURO.0435-0417.2018.
- Yu, N., Lariosa-Willingham, K. D., Lin, F.-F., Webb, M., & Rao, T. S. (2004). Characterization of lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine-1-phosphate-mediated signal transduction in rat cortical oligodendrocytes. *Glia*, 45(1), 17-27.
- Yu, T., & Lieberman, A. P. (2013). Npc1 acting in neurons and glia is essential for the formation and maintenance of CNS myelin. *PLOS Genetics*, 9(4), e1003462e1003462.
- Yu, Y., Chen, Y., Kim, B., Wang, H., Zhao, C., He, X., Liu, L., Liu, W., Wu, L. M. N., Mao, M., Chan, J. R., Wu, J., & Lu, Q. R. (2013). Olig2 targets chromatin remodelers to enhancers to initiate oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Cell*, *152*(1-2), 248-261.
- Yuen, T. J., Johnson, K. R., Miron, V. E., Zhao, C., Quandt, J., Harrisingh, M. C., Swire, M., Williams, A., McFarland, H. F., Franklin, R. J. M., & Ffrench-Constant, C. (2013). Identification of endothelin 2 as an inflammatory factor that promotes central nervous system remyelination. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *136*(Pt 4), 1035-1047.
- Zawadzka, M., Rivers, L. E., Fancy, S. P. J., Zhao, C., Tripathi, R., Jamen, F., Young, K., Goncharevich, A., Pohl, H., Rizzi, M., Rowitch, D. H., Kessaris, N., Suter, U., Richardson, W. D., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2010). CNS-Resident Glial Progenitor/Stem Cells Produce Schwann Cells as well as Oligodendrocytes during Repair of CNS Demyelination. *Cell Stem Cell*, 6(6), 578-590.

- Zeller, N. K., Hunkeler, M. J., Campagnoni, A. T., Sprague, J., & Lazzarini, R. A. (1984). Characterization of mouse myelin basic protein messenger RNAs with a myelin basic protein cDNA clone. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 81(1), 18-22.
- Zemann, B., Kinzel, B., Müller, M., Reuschel, R., Mechtcheriakova, D., Urtz, N., Bornancin, F., Baumruker, T., & Andreas, B. (2006). Sphingosine kinase type 2 is essential for lymphopenia induced by the immunomodulatory drug FTY720. *Blood*, *107*, 1454-1458.
- Zendedel, A., Beyer, C., & Kipp, M. (2013). Cuprizone-Induced Demyelination as a Tool to Study Remyelination and Axonal Protection. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, *51*(2), 567-572.
- Zhan, J., Mann, T., Joost, S., Behrangi, N., Frank, M., & Kipp, M. (2020). The Cuprizone Model: Dos and Do Nots. *Cells*, *9*(4).
- Zhang, J.-H., Chung, T. D. Y., & Oldenburg, K. R. (1999). A Simple Statistical Parameter for Use in Evaluation and Validation of High Throughput Screening Assays. *Journal of Biomolecular Screening*, *4*(2), 67-73.
- Zhang, J., Zhang, Z. G., Li, Y., Ding, X., Shang, X., Lu, M., Elias, S. B., & Chopp, M. (2015). Fingolimod treatment promotes proliferation and differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neurobiology of disease*, *76*, 57-66.
- Zhang, L., & Goldman, J. E. (1996). Developmental fates and migratory pathways of dividing progenitors in the postnatal rat cerebellum. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *370*(4), 536-550.
- Zhang, Y., Argaw, A. T., Gurfein, B. T., Zameer, A., Snyder, B. J., Ge, C., Lu, Q. R., Rowitch, D. H., Raine, C. S., Brosnan, C. F., & John, G. R. (2009). Notch1 signaling plays a role in regulating precursor differentiation during CNS remyelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(45), 19162-19167.
- Zhang, Y., Chen, K., Sloan, S. A., Bennett, M. L., Scholze, A. R., O'Keeffe, S., Phatnani, H. P., Guarnieri, P., Caneda, C., Ruderisch, N., Deng, S., Liddelow, S. A., Zhang, C., Daneman, R., Maniatis, T., Barres, B. A., & Wu, J. Q. (2014). An RNA-sequencing transcriptome and splicing database of glia, neurons, and vascular cells of the cerebral cortex. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *34*(36), 11929-11947.
- Zhang, Y., Taveggia, C., Melendez-Vasquez, C., Einheber, S., Raine, C. S., Salzer, J. L., Brosnan, C. F., & John, G. R. (2006). Interleukin-11 Potentiates Oligodendrocyte

Survival and Maturation, and Myelin Formation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(47), 12174.

- Zhang, Y., Zhang, H., Wang, L., Jiang, W., Xu, H., Xiao, L., Bi, X., Wang, J., Zhu, S., Zhang, R., He, J., Tan, Q., Zhang, D., Kong, J., & Li, X.-M. (2012). Quetiapine enhances oligodendrocyte regeneration and myelin repair after cuprizone-induced demyelination. *Schizophrenia Research*, *138*(1), 8-17.
- Zhao, C., Li, W.-W., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2006). Differences in the early inflammatory responses to toxin-induced demyelination are associated with the age-related decline in CNS remyelination. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *27*(9), 1298-1307.
- Zhao, X., Dai, J., Ma, Y., Mi, Y., Cui, D., Ju, G., Macklin, W. B., & Jin, W. (2014). Dynamics of ten-eleven translocation hydroxylase family proteins and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Glia*, *62*(6), 914-926.
- Zhou, Q., & Anderson, D. J. (2002). The bHLH Transcription Factors OLIG2 and OLIG1 Couple Neuronal and Glial Subtype Specification. *Cell*, *109*(1), 61-73.
- Zhu, K., Sun, J., Kang, Z., Zou, Z., Wu, X., Wang, Y., Wu, G., Harris, R. A., & Wang, J. (2019). Repurposing of omeprazole for oligodendrocyte differentiation and remyelination. *Brain research*, *1710*, 33-42.
- Zhu, Q., Zhao, X., Zheng, K., Li, H., Huang, H., Zhang, Z., Mastracci, T., Wegner, M., Chen,
 Y., Sussel, L., & Qiu, M. (2014). Genetic evidence that Nkx2.2 and Pdgfra are major
 determinants of the timing of oligodendrocyte differentiation in the developing CNS.
 Development 141(3), 548-555.
- Zhu, X., Hill, R. A., & Nishiyama, A. (2008). NG2 cells generate oligodendrocytes and gray matter astrocytes in the spinal cord. *Neuron glia biology*, *4*(1), 19-26.
- Zonouzi, M., Scafidi, J., Li, P., McEllin, B., Edwards, J., Dupree, J. L., Harvey, L., Sun, D., Hübner, C. A., Cull-Candy, S. G., Farrant, M., & Gallo, V. (2015). GABAergic regulation of cerebellar NG2 cell development is altered in perinatal white matter injury. *Nature neuroscience*, *18*(5), 674-682.

7. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

μΙ	microliter	CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase
μm	micrometer	CDKI	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
μM	micromolar	CGE	caudal ganglionic eminence
5-HAT	5-hydroxytryptamine	Cis	cisapride
Ace	acetopromazine maleate salt	CMAP	connectivity map
ADHD disord	attention deficit hyperactivity er	CNP phospl	2'3'-cyclic nucleotide 3'- hodiesterase
AEP	anterior entopeduncular area	CNS	central nervous system
ALS	amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	CPZ	cuprizone
Alv	alverine citrate salt	CRM1	exportin 1
	α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-	CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
isoxaz	olepropionic acid	CSPG	chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan
APC proteir	adenomatous polyposis coli า	CSPG type 4	4chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan
ASCL	1/MASH1achaete-scute homolog 1	Dan	danazol
ATX	autotaxin	DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
BBB	blood brain barrier	DHA	docosahexaenoic acid
	neurotrophin brain-derived rophic factor	DMEN	I Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
Ben	benzamil hydrochloride	DMSC	dimethylsulfoxide
BMP	bone morphogenetic protein	DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
BRG1	brahma-related 1 complex	Dox	doxepin hydrochloride
BSA	Bovine Albumin Fraction V	EAE encepl	experimental autoimmune halomyelitis
CC1 (APC)	adenomatous polyposis coli protein clone CC1		half maximal effective ntration

ECM	extracellular matrix	HAT	Histone acetyltransferase
EMA	Europeans Medicines Agency	HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
EpiSC	pluripotent mouse epiblast stem	HDAC	histone deacetylase
cell		hESC	human embryonic stem cell
FBS	fetal bovine serum	HTS	high-throughput screening
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration	i.p.	intraperitoneally
Fel	felodipine	IGF	insulin-like growth factor
FGF	fibroblast growth factor	iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cell
Fig.	figure	lso	isoxicam
Flu	fluvoxamine maleate	kDA	kilodalton
Fos	fosfosal	kg	kilogram
GABA	gamma-Aminobutyric acid	KOR	Kappa opioid receptor
GALC	galactocerebrosidase	LANU	/Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und
GalC	galactocerebroside	Verbra	ucherschutz Nordrhein-Westfalen
GO	gene ontology	LGE	lateral ganglionic eminence
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor	LIF	leukemia inhibitory factor
GR	glucocorticoid receptor	LIMK-	1LIM kinase-1
GSK3	glycogen synthase kinase 3	LINGC)-1leucine-rich repeat and Ig
GST	glutathione-S-transferase		n-containing, Nogo receptor- cting protein
•	iglutathione-S-transferase pi asmic isoform	LncRN	IA long noncoding RNAs
h	hour	LPC	lysophosphatidylcholine
H3K9	histone H3 lysine 9	LXR	liver X receptor
H3R	histamine receptor-3	MAG	myelin-associated glycoprotein
HA	hyaluronan	MBP	myelin basic protein
ЦA	nyalululan	MEM	minimum essential medium

Met	methiazole	Noc	nocodazole
mg	milligram	OPC	oligodendroglial precursor cell
MGE	medial ganglionic eminence	Opi	opipramol dihydrochloride
MHV	mouse hepatitis virus	Par	parbendazole
Mia	mianserine hydrochloride	PBS	Dulbecco's phosphate buffered
min	minute	saline	
ml	milliliter	PDE7	phosphodiesterase 7
mМ	millimolar	PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
MOBF	P myelin-associated oligodendrocyte	PDL	poly-D-lysine
basic	protein	PEG	polyethylene glycol
MOG	myelin oligodendrocyte	Pen	pentamidine isethionate
glycop	protein	PFA	paraformaldehyde
MOR	mu opioid receptor	Piz	pizotifen malate
MR	mineralocorticoid receptor	PLP	proteolipid protein
MS	multiple sclerosis	PMD	Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease
n	number of experiments	pMN	motor neuron progenitor domain
NCAN	1 neural cell adhesion molecule	PNS	peripheral nervous system
ncRN	Anoncoding RNAs	PPAR	γperoxisome proliferator-activated
NF	neurofilament		or gamma
NG2	neuron-glial antigen-2	PPMS	primary progressive MS
NgR1	Nogo-66 receptor	PRMT	protein arginine methyltransferase
NIH	National Institutes of Health	PSA	polysialic acid
NLS	nuclear localization sequence	QKI	RNA-binding protein Quaking
NMDA	N-methyl-d-aspartate	qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain
NMO	neuromyelitis optica	reactio	on
	101	ROCK	Rho-associated kinase

rpm	revolutions per minute	SREBPsterol responsive element bindin	
RRMS	S relapsing-remitting MS	proteir	1
RT	room temperature	TBS	Tris-Buffered Saline
RxRγ	Retinoic x Receptor gamma	TET	ten-eleven translocation
S1P	Sphingosine-1-Phosphate	TMEV virus	Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis
S1PR	sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor	TNFa	tumor necrosis factor a
SCAP	SREBP cleavage activating protein	Tol	tolcapone
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate	veh	vehicle
sec	second	VZ	ventricular zone
SEM	standard error of the mean	YY1	Yin Yang 1
Shh	Sonic hedgehog	ZETT	Zentrale Einrichtung für
SPMS	S secondary progressive MS	Tierfor	schung und wissenschaftliche
		Tiersc	hutzaufgaben

8. ANNEX

8.1. Published research article

Parts of this thesis are based on a published manuscript. According to the paragraph § 2 (4) of the doctoral regulations of the faculty of mathematics and natural sciences of Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf of 15.06.2018, such parts of the manuscript which have been reproduced or adapted are clearly marked in the thesis.

Complete reference to the manuscript:

Manousi, A., Göttle, P., Reiche, L., Cui, Q.-L., Healy, L. M., Akkermann, R., Gruchot, J., Schira-Heinen, J., Antel, J. P., Hartung, H.-P., & Küry, P. (2021). Identification of novel myelin repair drugs by modulation of oligodendroglial differentiation competence. EBioMedicine, 65, 103276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103276

Complete list of authors:

Anastasia Manousi (Doctoral candidate), Peter Göttle, Laura Reiche, Qiao-Ling Cui, Luke M. Healy, Rainer Akkermann, Joel Gruchot, Jessica Schira-Heinen, Jack P. Antel, Hans-Peter Hartunga, Patrick Küry.

Contribution of the doctoral researcher to the content of the manuscript: approx. 75%

Anastasia Manousi contributed to methodology, software design, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing-original draft, writing – review & editing, visualization, funding acquisition, data verification.

The writing of the original draft, as well as the review and the editing were conducted with consultation and supervision from Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry, and figure design in collaboration with Dr. Peter Göttle.

Experiments with human fetal brain-derived OPCs were conducted and analyzed by our collaborators Dr. Qiao-Ling Cui, Dr. Luke M. Healy and Prof. Dr. Jack P. Antel, in the

193

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal, QC H4A 3K9, Canada.

Western blot experiments were conducted and analyzed in our laboratory by Laura Reiche with consultancy from Dr. Jessica Schira-Heinen and Anastasia Manousi.

Dr. Rainer Akkermann and Joel Gruchot significantly contributed to the establishment of the *in vivo* cuprizone model.

Throughout this study Anastasia Manousi was offered technical assistance from Brigida Ziegler and Birgit Blomenkamp, while Dr. Michael Dietrich contributed with scientific consultancy and assistance to the handling of the BD Pathway 855 High-Content Cell Analyzer.

Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry and Dr. Peter Göttle conceptualized the project and Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry was responsible for the supervision of the study.

8.2. Manuscript in preparation

Many theoretical parts of this study (not marked) were used for the preparation of a literature review article entitled as "Pharmacologically active compounds at the service of myelin repair" authored by Anastasia Manousi and Prof. Dr. Küry. This article is not yet submitted.

8.3. Full western blots

Presentation of the full western blots used for the generation of the data presented in Fig. 10, as published in (Manousi et al., 2021). Evaluation of the efficiency of protein transfer following SDS electrophoresis was conducted using Pierce Reversible Protein Stain (Step 1). All staining procedures were performed in lanes 3 and 4 in a sequential manner (Steps 2-4) upon stripping of the same membrane. The areas of interest which were used for normalization to the total amount of the loaded protein are indicated with a red frame. MM refers to MagicMarkTM XP.

194



Annex



8.4. Negative results (unpublished data)

8.4.1. Validation of primary hits

In the table below is presented the complete unpublished data set from three validation rounds of the primary hits. All compounds were tested and analyzed as presented in paragraph 4.1. The data are presented in comparison to the negative [differentiation medium (DM) + DMSO] and positive controls (Fingolimod 1 μ M) and as mean values.

Compound	% Cells with	% Cells with	% Cells with
	nuclear	nuclear	nuclear
	p57kip2 DM	p57kip2	p57kip2
	+ DMSO	Fingolimod	Compound
Mebeverine	76.94	52.68	51.86
hydrochloride			
lfenprodil	76.94	52.68	57,71
Halcinonide	76.94	52.68	63.51
Benzamil hydrochloride	76.94	52.68	36.44
Opipramol	76.94	52.68	57.62
dihydrochloride			
Biotin	76.94	52.68	69.21
Felodipine	76.94	52.68	51.57
Alverine citrate salt	76.94	52.68	53,38
Methocarbamol	76.94	52.68	65.49
Hexamethonium	76.94	52.68	57.74
dibromide dihydrate			
Diflunisal	76.94	52.68	65.52
Isoxicam	76.94	52.68	57.17
Sulfamethoxypyridazin	76.94	52.68	62.58
Azaguanine-8	74.25	60.30	70.82
Ethambutol	74.25	60.30	69.83
dihydrochloride			
Propafenone	74.25	60.30	64.68
hydrochloride			
Norcyclobenzaprine	74.25	60.30	74.50
Pentamidine	74.25	60.30	45.15
isethionate			

Lansoprazole	74.25	60.30	67.00
Methiazole	74.25	60.30	54.28
(+,-)-Synephrine	74.25	60.30	72.99
Denatonium benzoate	74.25	60.30	70.19
Norgestimate	74.25	60.30	Partial
Norgestimate	74.23	00.50	cytotoxicity
Pizotifen malate	74.25	60.30	55.97
	_		
Fluvoxamine maleate	74.25	60.30	55.01
Acyclovir	75.71	56.16	66.67
Mianserine	75.71	56.16	57.01
hydrochloride			
Cilnidipine	75.71	56.16	Partial
			toxicity
Danazol	75.71	56.16	36.65
Aminohippuric acid	75.71	56.16	61.28
Acetopromazine	75.71	56.16	49.41
maleate salt			
Furaltadone	75.71	56.16	73.08
hydrochloride			
Guaifenesin	75.71	56.16	66.91
Bendroflumethiazide	75.71	56.16	68.30
Propidium iodide	75.71	56.16	90.72
Methotrimeprazine	75.71	56.16	72.44
maleat salt			
Fosfosal	75.71	56.16	56.98
Leflunomide	74.25	60.30	60.61
Tolcapone	75.71	56.16	52.92
Nocodazole	68.66	38.60	48.19
Doxepine	68.66	38.60	46.97
hydrochloride			
Clomipramine	68.66	38.60	Partial
hydrochloride			cytotoxicity
Vincamine	68.66	38.60	60.30
Ketoconazole	68.66	38.60	55.25
Fusidic acid sodium	68.66	38.60	62.69
salt			

Cisapride	68.66	38.60	50.59
Thiorphan	68.66	38.60	53.11
Oxybenzone	68.66	38.60	57.08
Hymecromone	68.66	38.60	62.99
Methyldopate	68.66	38.60	Partial
hydrochloride			cytotoxicity
Parbendazole	68.66	38.60	48.94

8.4.2. Secondary screening

In the table below are presented all the unpublished results from the secondary screening. All the compounds were applied at concentrations 10, 5, and 1 μ M for three days and analyzed as presented in the paragraph 4.2. Selected compounds were tested at concentrations 0.1, 0.02, and 0.01 μ M. The compounds ifenprodil, hexamethonium dibromide dihydrate, and mebeverine hydrocloride were not subjected to validation due to technical issues. The data are presented in comparison to the control (DMSO at the corresponding concentration) and as mean values and standard error of the mean (SEM). None of the here presented results are statistically significant.

Compound/concentration	Number of	% MBP+ cells	% MBP+ cells
	experiments	Compound/SEM	Control/SEM
Fluvoxamine maleate/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Fluvoxamine maleate/5 µM	4	21.52/6.74	21.51/6.55
Fluvoxamine maleate/1 µM	3	24.25/4.03	21.59/4.06
Fluvoxamine maleate/0.1 µM	6	22.18/3.56	22.11/3.76
Acetopromazine maleate salt/5	1	Extensive	
μΜ		cytotoxicity	
Acetopromazine maleate salt/5	1	29.26/6.46	29.36/6.12
μΜ			
Acetopromazine maleate salt/1	2	23.10/5.06	27.64/4.82
μΜ			
Acetopromazine maleate	1	27.87/10.62	24.72/7.12
salt/0.1 μM			
Mianserine hydrochloride/10	1	Extensive	

μM		cytotoxicity	
Mianserine hydrochloride/5 µM	1	16.76/9.44	24.72/7.12
Mianserine hydrochloride/1 µM	2	25.13/7.16	25.94/5.00
Mianserine hydrochloride/0.1	2	25.10/5.26	23.89/5.03
μΜ			
Cisapride/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Cisapride/5 µM	3	24.30/3.36	24.30/4.30
Cisapride/1 µM	4	22.99/2.81	22.18/3.55
Cisapride/0.1 µM	4	23.82/3.16	21.74/3.40
Tolcapone/10 μM	1	32.69/8.17	25.96/6.38
Tolcapone/5 μM	2	28.10/5.28	28.74/5.12
Tolcapone/1 μM	1	24.42/8.48	27.15/7.01
Tolcapone/0.1 μM	1	24.05/9.72	23.06/7.11
Fosfosal/10 µM	1	30.32/7.22	32.69/8.17
Fosfosal/5 µM	1	27.00/4.11	28.74/5.12
Fosfosal/1 µM	2	25.33/7.78	29.92/5.37
Fosfosal/0.1 µM	2	24.26/4.32	23.06/7.11
Doxepine hydrochloride/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Doxepine hydrochloride/5 µM	3	25.77/4.95	25.80/5.27
Doxepine hydrochloride/1 µM	3	26.12/6.53	26.22/5.28
Doxepine hydrochloride/0.1 µM	2	26.48/5.07	28.48/7.59
Pizotifen malate/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Pizotifen malate/5 μM	1	5.82/4.36	21.97/7.80
Pizotifen malate/1 μM	3	26.44/4.21	24.97/4.74
Pizotifen malate/0.1 μM	4	26.15/2.60	25.03/3.82
Pentamidine isethionate/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Pentamidine isethionate/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Pentamidine isethionate/1 µM	3	24.15/3.62	23.76/4.40
Pentamidine isethionate/0.1	3	25.54/4.46	24.35/4.10
μΜ			
Methiazole/10 µM	1	Extensive	

		cytotoxicity	
Methiazole/5 µM	2	44.10/10.60	26.94/7.83
Methiazole/1 µM	3	32.30/6.67	25.08/6.23
Parbendazole/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Parbendazole/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Isoxicam/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Isoxicam/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Fosfosal/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Fosfosal/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Nocodazole/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Nocodazole/1 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Nocodazole/0.01 µM	3	24.58/4.99	21.79/3.83
Danazol/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Danazol/1 μΜ	3	22.34/3.23	25.46/2.56
Benzamil hydrochloride/10 µM	2	6.55/1.33	10.40/3.84
Benzamil hydrochloride/5 µM	2	15.02/4.20	12.99/3.30
Benzamil hydrochloride/1 µM	4	20.32/7.46	13.69/3.66
Benzamil hydrochloride/1 µM	4	20.32/7.46	13.69/3.66
Benzamil hydrochloride/0.1 µM	3	25.89/6.43	22.90/3.70
Felodipine/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Felodipine/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Felodipine/1 µM	4	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	

Felodipine/0.1 μM	3	13.85/6.74	14.55/6.04
Felodipine/0.01 µM	3	14.02/5.12	14.23/3.24
Alverine citrate salt/10 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Alverine citrate salt/5 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Alverine citrate salt/1 µM	1	Extensive	
		cytotoxicity	
Alverine citrate salt/0.1 µM	3	19.56/4.81	14.55/6.04
Alverine citrate salt/0.01 µM	2	17.77/7.22	14.22/3.43

8.4.3. Validation in terms of ex vivo developmental myelination

In the table below are presented the unpublished results for the non-optimal compound concentrations applied on organotypic brain slices. Compound treatment and analysis were performed as presented in paragraph 4.4. The data are presented in comparison to the control (DMSO at the corresponding concentration) and as mean values and standard error of the mean (SEM). The here presented results are statistically significant.

Compound/concentration	Number of experiments	% myelinating/ OLIG2+ cells	% myelinating/ OLIG2+ cells
	-	Compound/SEM	Control/SEM
Methiazole/1 µM	3	33.96/4.50	37.31/4.39
Danazol/5 µM	3	35.43/4.80	35.12/4.31

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start with a big thank you to Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry for giving me the opportunity to become a member of his research group already as Master student and for trusting me with this project later on. I would like to thank him especially for all the times he patiently took the time to listen to all these naïve and crazy ideas of mine and all the free space I was given, because in a different case I would not have become the scientist I am today.

Many thanks to Prof. Dr. Markus Pauly for kindly accepting the mentoring of my thesis.

I would like to thank Dr. Peter Göttle for the supervision of my first steps in this laboratory and the introduction to the field.

Many thanks to my colleagues Dr. Janusz Jadasz, Dr. Rainer Akkermann, Dr. Felix Beyer, Dr. Kazum Azim, Dr. Jessica Schira Heinen, Dr. Andre Heinen, Dr. Nevena Tzekova, Dr. David Kremer, Moritz Förster, Lena Tepe, Valerie Ames and Calga Burcak Akagunduz for being an inspiration for me, for teaching me and for making me have so much fun at work.

There are no words to describe how thankful I am to have by my side all these years the craziest and most competent fellow PhD students. Special thanks to my friends Laura Reiche, Iria Samper Agrelo, Vivien Weyers, Joel Gruchot and Markley Silva for making this "trip" beautiful and never letting my smile going away!

I am grateful to have worked next to, and be taught by our technicians Brigida Ziegler, Marion Hendriks (Mama), Birgit Blomenkamp, Zippora Kohne and Julia Jadasz.

None of this would be possible without my friends Angeliki, Christian, Kiki, Polina, Maria and my beautiful flatmates Dennis, Davide, Alexa and Karen.

At this point, I would also like to thank my Bio-Bio friends. With them I started this crazy journey almost 13 years ago in a city called Larissa, and even after 8 years of being apart, we are still together in this. Chryssa A., Elena, Ioakeim, Ioanna, Themi, Niko, Giorgo, Chryssa T., Yolanda and Vasso thank you for being a huge inspiration for me, and the

203

funniest, the most charismatic, and good-hearted group of people I have the pleasure to have in my life.

Finally, I would like to thank from the bottom of my heart my beautiful family for supporting me all these years. Without them all the hard moments would be unbearable and the beautiful worthless, and I would never be able to make my dreams come true.

10. DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP

I declare under oath that I have produced my thesis independently and without any undue assistance by third parties under consideration of the 'Principles for the Safeguarding of Good Scientific Practice at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf.

Anastasia Manousi,

Düsseldorf, 21.07.2021

Name, Signature

Place, Date